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Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should be aware of in evaluating our business. These risks
include, but are not limited to, the following: * Our business is substantially dependent on the successful development of our
BET inhibitor product candidates; * We may encounter delays in enrolling patients and successfully completing clinical trials
for our product candidates, and may be delayed in, or prevented from, commencing such trials due to factors that are largely
beyond our control; ¢ Clinical drug development is very expensive, time- consuming and uncertain. Our preclinical studies and
clinical trials may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our current or any future product candidates, which
could prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization as well as prevent or delay our ability to pursue strategic
alternatives for our product candidates; * New chemical entities may require more time and resources for development, testing
and regulatory approval; * Results obtained in preclinical studies and completed clinical trials may not predict success in later
clinical trials; ¢ Top = line and preliminary data from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may
change as additional data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material
changes in the final data; * We have a limited history as a clinical- stage biopharmaceutical company developing product
candidates for immuno- inflammatory conditions, which may make it difficult to assess our future viability; « We may spend our
limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications
that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success; * We have not obtained regulatory approvals to
market our other pipeline product candidates, and we may be delayed in obtaining or fail to obtain such regulatory approvals and
to commercialize these product candidates; ¢ Our failure to successfully in- license, acquire, develop and market additional
product candidates or approved products could impair our ability to grow our business; * We may engage in strategic
transactions, which could impact our liquidity, increase our expenses and present significant distractions to our management; *
We may decide not to continue developing any of our product candidates at any time during development or of any of our
products after approval, which would reduce or eliminate our potential return on investment for those product candidates or
products; * We are subject to various U. S. federal, state, local and foreign health care fraud and abuse laws, including anti-
kickback, self- referral, false claims and fraud laws, health information privacy and security, and transparency laws, and any
violations by us of such laws could result in substantial penalties or other consequences including criminal sanctions, civil
penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm, and diminished profits and future earnings. Additionally, any challenge to or
investigation into our practices under these laws could cause adverse publicity and be costly to respond to, and thus could harm
our business; ¢ Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms in the United States may make it more difficult and costly for us to
obtain regulatory clearance or approval of our product candidates and to produce, market, and distribute our products after
clearance or approval is obtained; * We are subject to various risks and uncertainties arising out of the completed divestiture of
our commercial business, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, operations and stock price; and ¢ The
trading price of the shares of our common stock is volatile, and stockholders could incur substantial losses. PART I ITEM 1-
BUSINESS Overview We are a clinical- stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing preprietaryinnovative-and
differentiated therapies to treat chronic foer-the-treatmentofimmune—inflammatory and immune- mediated conditions —n
Attgust—Z(—)Q—l,—we—eﬂteﬁ—mte—a—&&nsaeﬁeﬂ—wnh Fay-TFherapeuttesEte-high unmet need . We have -formetly knowiras
u 1 et xclusive worldwide rights to research, develop and commercialize products

containing small molecule bromodomain and extra- terminal domain (“ BET ) inhibitors for the treatment of any disease,
disorder or condition in humans , which we licensed from Tay Therapeutics Ltd., formerly known as In4Derm Ltd ("
Tay'"). BET proteins are epigenetic enablers of transcription that regulate the expression of specific genes. Each BET
protein consists of two bromodomains (“ BD1 ” and “ BD2 ) and one end terminal (“ ET ”) domain . Through our
transaction with Tay, we obtained access to this-a library of new ehemteal-small molecule BET inhibitor compounds
including those that inhibit both BD1 and BD2 (“ pan- BD ” BET inhibitor) and that selectively inhibit BD2 (“ BD2-
selective ” BET inhibitor). Through our access to this library of new BET inhibitors, which comprise our InhiBET ™
portfolio , we plan to develop product candidates for a diverse set of therapeutic indications. We Based-on-data-generated-to
d&te—we—have chogen to initially focus our initiat-development cfforts fer-this-platformrwith these molecules on seleet

immune - mediated 1nﬂammat0ry disease-diseases , which are not being targeted by current
BET inhibitors in development . Our lead program is repibresib gel (also known as VYN201 ), a teealty-topically
administered , small molecule pan- bremedemain-BD 5-BET inhibitor designed as a “* soft ”” drug to address diseases
involving multiple, diverse inflammatory cell signaling pathways while providing low systemic exposure. In preclinical testing,
3¥N26+-repibresib produced consistent reductions in pro- inflammatory and disease- related biomarkers and improvements in
disease severity across a variety of inflammatory and fibrotic preclinical models. In November 2022, we initiated a Phase 1 +a-+
b-clinical trial evaluating a ¥¥N26+-eintment-for-topical formulation of repibresib first in healthy volunteers (Phase 1a)
and the-then treatment-ofin subjects (Phase 1b) with nonsegmental vitiligo (NSV), an immune- mediated condition that has
a high unmet need and only one approved therapy . In the first quarter of 2023, we announced positive preliminary safety
and tolerability, including pharmaeekinetie-and-hematology data , and predicted pharmacokinetic results (minimal systemic
exposures) from the Phase la portion of the trial. We initiated :Phe—ﬁfst—neﬁsegmeﬂfal—vﬁﬂ-rge-paﬁe&t—waﬁhdesed—ﬁthe Phase
b portion of the trial in NSV subjects in January 2023 s-and en-Oeteber-30;2023;-we-announced positive data from the Phase
1b trial +-in whieh-October 2023. We showed significant clinical imprevementimprovements in faetal-vitiligo involving the



face, which has the greatest psychosocial impact on patlents, after 16 weeks of treatment usmg the Faclal- Vitiligo area
Area seeﬂng—Scormg tnde*lndex (" F \/ASI") W v W . We
have-initiated Pha e § v Phase
2b trial to-with replbre51b gel in NSV subJects in June 2024. The Phase 2b trial is a randomized, double- blind, vehicle-
controlled trial evaluate-evaluating the optimal-dosing-and-peak—cfficacy , safety and pharmacokinetics of once- daily
repibresib gel in NSV subjects in three dose cohorts (1 %, 2 % or 3 % concentrations) compared to vehicle over 24
weeks, followed by a 28- week active treatment extension with subjects on vehicle crossing over to active doses. We
enrolled approximately 45 patients with-aetive-or-stablenonsegmental-vitilige-in the-seeond-quarter-of 2624-with-each arm
and expect to report top - line results from the 24- week double- blind portion of the trial antieipated-in mid- 2025. Our second
program is VYN202, an oral , small molecule BD2- selective BET inhibitor . Prior studies have shown that while BD1
modulates cell- cycling and homeostatic functions, BD2 regulates gene expression of pro- inflammatory mediators in cells

. VYN202 has been designed to achieve potential class- leading potency and selectivity {for BD2 vs. BD | j;maximum-peteney
Verstts—B—DQ—&ﬂd-ept—rmal—era—l—bieava-ﬁabi-hfy— Bv mdumumu BD2 seleul\ 1ly we believe VYN202 has the potential to be a
potent oral immunomodulator m v A g option for both acute control and
chronic management of 1 -rnaﬁruﬂe—lmmune medlated in ﬂdmmdlol\ -rnd-te&t-leﬂs——— condltlons W-here—Wlthout the damaging

A d-n Stg ; ; associated with

Phase la smUle asculdmg dose / mulllple ascending dose (" SAD / MAD") llldl 0fVYN202 in healt h\ \ olunuus and
announced positive data from this trial in December thesecond-quarterof2024 -. We observed that VYN202 had a
favorable safety and tolerability profile with no drug- related adverse events historically associated with earlier
generation, less BD2- selective BET inhibitors. VYN202 also demonstrated robust pharmacodynamic activity including
evidence of target engagement and inhibition of several inflammatory biomarkers relevant to immune- mediated
disorders in ex vivo stimulation assays. We initiated a Phase 1b trial in February 2025 in adult subjects with moderate-
to- severe plaque psoriasis. The Phase 1b trial is a randomized, double- blind, placebo- controlled trial of once daily
treatment with VYN202 capsules dosed for 12 weeks, to primarily evaluate the safety of VYN202 across four cohorts (0.
25 mg, 0. S mg, 1 mg doses and placebo), with secondary objectives that include pharmacokinetics and preliminary
evidence of efficacy via endpoints evaluating improvements from baseline in psoriasis area and severity index (PASI)
scores. The trial will also include a 4- week safety follow- up visit after completion of the 12- week dosing period. We
expect to enroll approximately 80 subjects with moderate- to- severe plaque psoriasis and to report top - line results from

the placebo- controlled trial by antieipatedin-the end seeond-hatf-of 2024-202S5 . Additionally HthePhasetaportiorrofthe

triatis-steeessfully-completed-, we plan-te-initiate-anticipate that the data from the Phase 1b trials— trial in subjeets-with
ﬂ&oe}er&te-—te-—severe—p aque ps(n 1asis subJects w1ll provnde key 1ns1ghts into VYN 202' s potential act1v1ty across a range aned

of 2025-immune-

medlated dlseases We intend to dd\ ance our pmduu Ldndl(lales lthLth further phases of clinical dev Llopmem toward
regulatory approval. As part of our strategy to maximize the value of our pipeline, we may partner with larger pharmaceutical
companies to expand and accelerate the development of our programs and explore other indications and therapeutic areas
outside of our core focus in immunelogy-immune- mediated diseases . BET Inhibition-Proteins: Key Epigenetic Regulators
of NF kB ﬂﬂd— an -I-mmuﬁe-—Orchestrator of{-ﬂﬂ&mﬁrateﬁ'—lnﬂammatlon -Btsease—BET plotuns are epmmcue enablers of

tr&nseﬂpt—teﬂs—ln some cases, BET proteins can activate oncogenes via BD1 huebv leading lo increased cell ploli[crallon and
survival and-an-nereasedrrthat may lead to formation of solid tumors and hematologic malignancies. BET inhibitors have the
potential to downregulate the expression of such oncogenes. These observations have resulted in the generation and clinical
investigation of BET inhibitors in several cancer subtypes by various pharmaceutical companies, including large

phdlll]dLLLlULdl u)mpdmes In addlllonte—rmpaet—mg—eﬂeegeﬂeﬁes— BET proteins can regulate the expression efmanyimitnity-
6 v etintg-the-transeription-of a wide range of pro- inflammatory andHmmunoregatatory-genes,

-}Wmlmarﬂy through the NF- kB pathway. NF- kB is a critical transcription factor in

inflammation that orchestrates production of key aetivate B-eells-and-T-eeHs-and-subseguentinflammatory proeesses

cytokines and activation of multiple immune cell types . The dysregulation of NF- kB pathway activation can lead to
several chronic immune- mediated conditions. BET Irhibiting-— Inhibition : A Potential Novel Mechanism for the
Treatment of Immune- Mediated Conditions Inhibition of BET proteins can prevents— prevent the continual dysregulated
/ hyperactivated signaling of the NF- kB pathway which occurs in many autoimmune diseases. A known family of drugs,
corticosteroids, have demonstrated efficacy in treating inflammation predominantly by inhibiting the NF- kB pathway.
These are a widely used class of anti- inflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs, but the-their formation-efeomplexes
required-to-faeilitate-transeription;thereby-suppressing-therapeutic use when given systemically is limited by many
endocrine and metabolic side effects mediated by the-other subseguent-transiation-of-pathways that are also impacted by
the-these agents eerrespendingproteitr. As-By inhibiting the NF- kB pathway through the specific bromodomain BD2,
BET inhibition could be a novel, non- steroidal, mechanism for the treatment of immune- mediated diseases without the




non- immune side effects of corticosteroids. Because most of such diseases are heterogenous and driven by multiple
immune pathways , BET inhibiters-inhibition eeuld-present-as-has an-attractive, non—sterotdal-therapeutie-optionfor-the
treatmentpotential to address a broad range of immune-immune - inflammatory-mediated discases due to its potential
impact on many of these pathways . The foHowinggraphte-diagram below depicts the inhibitterrrole of BET proteins in and
t-he—subsequeﬂt—dtsmpﬁeﬁ—ef—m-ﬂammatew—gene transcription via the NF- kB pathway, and eytekine-the subsequent effect of
disrupting this process on cxpression of inflammatory cytokines . Our Platform and Product Candidates InhiBET ™ BET
Inhibitor Platform Through our partnership with Tay, we have exclusive worldwide rights to research, develop and
commercialize products containing certain BET inhibitor compounds for the treatment of any disease, disorder or condition in
humans. See" —Development and License Agreements — Tay License Agreements." Utilizing our InhiBET platform and
through our preclinical and clinical activities, we are evaluating the impact that BET inhibitor compounds have on regulating
pro—inflammatery-proinflammatory cytokines. We are targeting indications whose pathogenesis is linked to the-pretiferation
excessive production of these speetfie-cytokines. We have selected development candidates and are developing formulations
that are designed to maximize the anti- inflammatory effect of the drag-drugs while minimizing safety concerns. Through our
InhiBET development platform, we believe we can demonstrate the potential utility of these BET inhibitor compounds and

develop therapre@ for a vanety of tmn&uﬁe-lmmune -m-ﬂammatefy—eeﬂdmeﬂs—medlated dlseases Rep1bres1b the-fel-lewmg

- Locally Admrnrqtered Pan BD BET lnhrbrtor Our lead BET mhrbrtor Candrdate in development is %%J%@-l—\%l%@-l—
repibresib gel, which was developed using the InhiBET platform and is a teealty-topically - administered pan—BB-BET
inhibitor. It is a first- in- class “ soft ”” pan- BD BET inhibitor that is being developed to address diseases involving multiple,
diverse inflammatory cell signaling pathways. Our goal with the ¥AN28+-repibresib program is to develop a therapy that
delivers a-potent, localized anti- inflammatory effeet-effects and can be rapidly cleared through the body' s metabolic processes
to avoid systemic abserptienreffects . We have conducted several preclinical studies which have demonstrated ¥ ¥IN20+
repibresib’ s anti- fibrotic and anti- inflammatory aetivity-activities and the ability to significantly reduce the expression of key
cytokines relevant to certain autoimmune diseases, including trrvitiligo, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis, and idiopathic
pulmonary fibrosis andrheamatotd-arthritis- In October 2023, we announced positive data from our Phase 1b trial of ¥¥IN26+
repibresib gel in subjects with NSV nensegmentab-vitthge-, which demonstrated clinical proof- of- concept for the use of this
BET inhibitor to treat an immune-immune - inflammatory-mediated discasc . We initiated a Phase 2b trial with repibresib
gel in NSV subjects in June 2024 . Based on data generated to date, we believe ¥¥N26+repibresib has the potential to be
highly versatile across multiple indications by serving as a locally - acting therapy with low systemic exposure. Nonsegmental
Vitiligo (NSV) Vitiligo is a chronic autoimmune depigmenting disorder of the skin, characterized by the loss of pigment-
producing cells known as melanocytes. Vitiligo is the most common depigmenting skin condition, with a prevalence estimated
at 0. 5-2 .0 % of the world population. An article published in the scientific journal , JAMA Dermatology , in 2021 estimated
that there were between 1. 9 million and 2. 8 million cases of vitiligo in the United States. Approximately 90 % of vitiligo cases
are characterized as nonsegmental, in which white patches appear symmetrically on both sides of the body. There is currently
only one drug, OPZELURA ® (ruxolitinib) cream, approved by the FDA for the treatment of NSV. nensegmental-vittigo;-and
that-That product includes a blaelkbex-boxed safety warning on its label. Based on preclinical and clinical data generated to
date, we believe that ¥¥IN26+-repibresib gel has the potential to offer a targeted ané-, efficacious , and a safe treatment option
for NSV that lowers the disease recurrence rate and can be effective for all skin terres-phototypes With fewer—- few side effects.
Phase 1 Clinical Trial Based in part on the data we observed from the preclinical vitiligo model described below, we
commenced a Phase | clinical trial evaluating ¥¥IN26+-repibresib topical ointment for the treatment of NSV nensegmentat
witilige-in November 2022. The trial was conducted at U. S.- based clinical centers. In the Phase 1a portion of the trial, single
ascending and multiple ascending doses of ¥¥N264-repibresib were applied topically once daily to 30 healthy volunteers in
five dose cohorts for two weeks with a one- week safety follow- up visit to evaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
of ¥AN20+-repibresib . Evaluated doses included 0. 025 %, 0. 1 %, 0. 5 %, 1. 0 % and 2. 0 % concentrations. There were no
serious adverse events and no dose adjustments were required. There were no clinically - relevant treatment emergent adverse
events, abnormal clinical laboratory results or electrocardiogram findings , and no discontinuations —Ne-healthy-veolunteers
withdrew-from-the-trial-for-anyreaser. We selected the 0. 5 %, 1. 0 % and 2. 0 % doses for further evaluation in the Phase 1b
portion of the trial. The Phase 1b portion was a 16- week open- label trial assessing the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics
of once- daily ¥¥IN26+-repibresib in 29 patients across the three dose cohorts. Exploratory efficacy of ¥ ¥IN26+-repibresib
was also evaluated, including its ability to arrest the progression of skin depigmentation and support skin repigmentation in
patients with active disease using rthreugh-ehanges+inF- VASI scoring . ©m-In October 36;-2023, we announced positive
results from the Phase 1b portion of the trial. Significant clinical improvement was observed in the 1. 0 % and 2. 0 % cohorts
with rapid onset of action and a dose- dependent response. Mean percentage reduction in F- VASI score from baseline after 16
weeks of treatment was 7. 5 %, 30. 2 % and 39. 0 % for the 0. 5 %, 1. 0 % and 2. 0 % cohorts, respectively. There were

VYN20+-was-generatly-wetttolerated-withrno clinically - relevant treatment emergent adverse events in any aeress—at-dose
eohorts— cohort . Fellewingextensive-testing-Phase 2 Clinical Trial Last year , we plan-to-evaluate-reformulated repibresib
in a once- daily gel fermutation-of VYN20+-for our apeeming-Phase 2b trial in patients-subjects with NSV nonsegmentat

ﬂ&hge— Wthh we e*peet—te—rm&ate-mltlated in the second quar ter of 2024 We—bel-teve—t-he—gel—fem&t&afmrr—ma—y—pfmﬂde

-P-hase—l—b—tﬂa-l—The ongoing Phaqe 2b trral is aﬁt—tei-pa-ted—te—be—a %4-—weelerandom1zed double blinded, Vehrcle controlled trial
evaluating subjects with NSV for 24 weeks, followed by a separate active treatment extension phase to-52-for an additional

28 weeks —Pending FDA-aceeptanee-of the-protoeol, the-with vehicle subjects crossing over to active doses at Week 24. The
trial wi-s evalaate-evaluating three-er-four arms ( ineluding-three active arms, one vehicle arm ) of once- daily repibresib



treatment-with-V-¥YIN26+-gel, with each arm enrolling approximately 45 subjects between46-and-56-patients-with active or
stable NSV nensegmental-vititige-. The primary efficacy endpoint of the trial is wibe-an evaluation of the proportion of
subjects achieving F- FVASES6- VASISO0 at week-Week 24 compared to vehicle. Based-on-ourexpeeted-timing-for-initiating-In
January 2025, we announced the completion of enrollment in the trial -we-. We anticipate top - line results from the 24-
week double- blind portion of the trial to be available in mid- 2025. Preclinical Studies for Multiple Indications We conducted a
preclinical study using an ex vivo skin model of vitiligo. The objectives of this study were to evaluate the potential of ¥¥N26+
repibresib to: * reduce Matrix-matrix Metaloproteinase-metalloproteinase - 9 (“ MMP- 9 ”) secretion, which allows for
melanocyte stabilization and limits loss of melanocytes / depigmentation in vitiligo; * reduce the soluble adhesion molecule, E-
cadherin, which is a biomarker of melanocyte loss due to degradation of matrix- bound E- cadherin by MMP- 9; ¢« minimize the
loss of melanocytes by assessing melanin pigment content; and * affeet-increase the expression of genes commonly associated
with melanogenesis (melanin synthesis, melanosome maturation and transport). In the preclinical study, ¥¥N264-repibresib
reduced the expression of key pro- inflammatory biomarkers relevant to the pathogenesis of vitiligo and resulted in marked
reduction in melanocyte loss. ¥¥N268+-Repibresib produced a dose- dependent reduction in MMP- 9 and soluble E- cadherin
and substantially reduced the loss of melanin pigment in the basal layers of skin at the 0. 1 % and 1 . 0 % concentrations. In
addition, M¥¥N26+-repibresib significantly upregulated WNT16, a member of the WNT family of genes , suggestive of
increased melanogenesis . The WNT / - catenin signaling pathway is known to be dysregulated in vitiligo and is believed to
play a key role in melanocyte regeneration. In additional in vitro assays using human CDS8 t- cells with repibresib: ¢
Repibresib was found to potently inhibit the differentiation of CD8 T- cells that are known to induce both a cytotoxic and
destabilizing effect on melanocytes, the primary cell type that produces melanin in skin. * Repibresib inhibited the
release of interferon- gamma which is a cytokine known to drive differentiation of CD8 T- cells. Plaque Psoriasis We
evaluated the impact of ¥¥N26+-repibresib on Th17- mediated inflammation in an established preclinical animal model of
psoriasis and an ex vivo human tissue study. T- helper 17, or Th17, cells are a CD4 T- cell subset characterized by production of
the interlenkin—t7-orH—17ahighly-inflammatory cytokine that, interleukin- 17, or IL- 17. Th17 cells plays— play an
important role in the pathogenesis of a diverse group of immune- mediated diseases, including psoriasis, fheuﬂaa-te-}d—psorlatlc
arthritis ;mltipleseteresis-, inflammatory bowel disease, and asﬂma—multlple sclerosis . In the animal model, depilated mice
were topically dosed with imiquimod cream to induce a psoriasis phenotype over a 7- day induction phase. A further 7- day
treatment phase evaluated three doses of ¥ ¥™N2684+-repibresib (0. 001 %, 0. 01 % and 0. 1 % concentrations) compared to a
highly potent topical glueoeortieosterotd—---- corticosteroid pfeéuet—pesﬁrve—eefﬁfe-l-(clobetasol propionate 0. 05 % cream)
used as a positive control, and a vehicle control. An imiquimod- naive control group (healthy control group) was also included
for ¥¥N20+-vehicle treatment. In these studies, treatment with ¥¥N26+-repibresib significantly reduced the expression of
several key pre—inflammatory-proinflammatory cytokines relevant to Th17- mediated autoimmune diseases. A dose-
dependent improvement in the signs ane-symptems-of inflammation was observed in ¥¥N26+-repibresib treatment groups, and
treatment with ¥ ¥IN26+-repibresib at all concentrations was well tolerated in the studtes-study . Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis
We evaluated an inhaled formulation of ¥ ¥N264+-repibresib in an established mouse model of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis.
Lung fibrosis was induced in mice using a single intratracheal dose of bleomycin. Fibrosis was left to develop for seven days,
and thoracic tomography images were obtained to stage fibrotic development. Animals were assigned to six treatment groups:
untreated and unstimulated control, placebo, and one of four doses of ¥¥N28+-repibresib (0. 1, 0. 2, 0. 5, and 1. 0 mg / mt-mL
), with six mice in each group. Each treatment group was dosed intratracheally every other day for 14 days. Changes in blood
oxygen saturation, Ashcroft scoring (a standardized numerical scale used to quantify the extent of lung fibrosis in histological
samples), lung hydroxyproline (a tissue biomarker for fibrosis), and volumetric lung function were assessed. Treatment with
V¥N20+repibresib at 0. 5 mg/mbmL and | mg / mtmL resulted in statistically significant reductions in Ashcroft scores and
levels of hydroxyproline compared to the placebo control group at day-Day 21. In addition, mean blood oxygen saturation for
the ¥¥N20+-repibresib | mg /mbmL group was 92. 4 % at day-Day 21, an 8. & % improvement compared to the placebo
group (83. 6 %). Mean blood oxygen saturation for the untreated and unstimulated control group was 95. 2 %. Thoracic
tomography revealed that ¥ ¥N26+-repibresib treatment groups experienced a dose- dependent improvement in functional lung
volume compared to the placebo control group. Rheumatoid Arthritis We conducted a preclinical study showing that intra-
articular injections of ¥ ¥N26+-repibresib resulted in significant inhibition of inflammation in a validated animal model of
rheumatoid arthritis. In the preclinical study, inflammatory arthritis was induced in BALB / ¢ mice. Each treatment group of
seven mice was injected with either (i) an intra- articular dose of ¥ ¥N26+-vehicle, (ii) an intra- articular dose of ¥¥IN26+
repibresib (with one of four concentrations ranging from 0. 01 to 10 mg/ kg), (iii) an intra- articular dose of dexamethasone (1
mg / kg) or (iv) a systemic dose of dexamethasone (1 mg/ kg, via intraperitoneal injection). The intra- articular doses were
administered on days 0, 3, 6 and 9 while the dexamethasone systemic injections were given daily beginning at day 0 through 11.
Each animal treated with the intra- articular injections received the injection in the ankle of one rear paw. The untreated rear
paw was assessed to evaluate any potential anti- inflammatory systemic effect. Treatment response was evaluated based on an
assessment of paw thickening or swelling (in millimeters) and arthritis scoring based on a five- point composite severity scale of
redness, swelling of the ankles and wrists, and paw thickness. Scoring in this model ranges from 0 (normal) to 4 (extensive signs
and symptoms of arthritis). Treatment with ¥ ¥N264+-repibresib resulted in marked inhibition of paw thickening at the 1 and 10
mg / kg doses. At both doses, the inhibition of paw thickening was statistically significant in the treated paw relative to the
untreated rear paw on day-Day 12 (p < 0. 01). In addition, limbs treated with ¥¥IN26+-repibresib at the | and 10 mg/ kg dose
levels had an average arthritis score of 0. 57 and 0. 67, respectively, or near normal. The arthritis score was significantly lower
in the treated paw at both doses relative to the non- treated paws on day-Day 12 (p < 0. 05). VYN202- Oral BD2- Selective BET
Inhibitor VYN202 is an oral , small molecule BD2- selectlve BET 1nh1b1t0r that has been demgned to achleve potentlal class-
leading potency and select1v1ty tfor BD2 vs. BD1 y;ms v 0 7. Systemic




BET inhibitors have historically targeted both BD1 and BD2 less selectively, eauastng-which we believe caused gastrointestinal
toxicity and bone marrow suppressive effects like thrombocytopenia. By maximizing BD2 selectivity, we believe VYN202 may
alleviate the therapeutte-Hmiting-toxicities observed by other less BD2- select1ve BET mlnbltms in development for oncolo

and have the potential to be a potent, oral immunomodulator motre et b g

for both acute control and chronic management of i#mmune-immune - mﬂ&mm&tefy—medlated tneieations—- condltlons where
the damaging effects of unrestricted mﬂdmmdtmy s1s_nalmg aeﬁvrtyhact1V1tles are common. -P-l&ﬁﬂed-l’hase +1a SAD / MAD
Clinical Trial We have completed a stubs 2 A e

eeﬁespeﬂdeﬂee—ffeﬁa—&re—F—BA—rﬂfefm—r&g—us—ﬂ%&Feﬂ%lese la el-l-n-tea-l-SAD / MAD tr1al 'IS-Oﬁ—he'l'd-Of VYN202 in healthy

volunteers and announced positive reqtesting-that-we-submit-data from an-additionatnenelinteat-study-this trial in December
2024 We observed that VYN202 had a favorable safety and tolerability profile reeently-ecompleted-the-additionat

at-with no drug— related adverse events hlstorlcally assoclated

&ial—h%healﬂay—veltﬁﬁeefs—ﬁr&re—seeeﬂd-qﬁ&ﬁefe%}%—wnh earller generatlon, less BD- selectlve BET 1nh1b1t0rs VYN202

also demonstrated robust pharmacodynamic activity including evidence of target engagement and inhibition of several
inflammatory biomarkers relevant tep-—- to tineresults-antieipated-immune- mediated disorders in the-seeend-hatf-of-ex vivo
stimulation assays. In February 2024-2025 —1{the-Phasetaportion-ofthe-trialis-sueeessfullycompleted-, we plan-to-initiate
initiated a Phase 1b trials— trial oV ¥IN262-n adult subjects with moderate- to- severe plaque psoriasis and-mederate-. The
Phase 1b trial is a randomized, double - to-blind, placebo - severe-adult—onsettheumatotd-arthritis-controlled trial to
primarily evaluate the safety of VYN202 administered orally once a day across four cohorts (0. 25 mg, 0. 5 mg, 1 mg
doses and placebo) ., with secondary objectives that include pharmacokinetics and preliminary evidence of efficacy via
endpoints evaluating improvements from PASI scores after 12 weeks. We expect to enroll approximately 80 subjects
with psoriasis and to report top - line results from antieipatedin-the seeoned-hatf-placebo- controlled trial by the end of 2025
. Additionally, we anticipate that the data from the Phase 1b trial in psoriasis subjects will provide key insights into
VYN202’ s potential activity across a range of immune- mediated diseases . Preclinical Data in Multiple Indications We
evaluated VYN202 in an established mouse model of psoriasis that was used earlier with repibresib gel (see above) . After
inducing a psoriasis phenotype in BALB —&-/ ¢ mice, treatment was administered intraperitoneally with ene-e£VYN202 doses ,
deucravacitinib (an allosteric TYK2 inhibitor approved for the treatment of moderate- to- severe plaque psoriasis ), or
placebo. VYN202 and deucravacitinib at equivalent dosing resulted in comparable onset of action and efficacy. Mice receiving
VYN202 3 mg/ kg had approximately 95 % mean reduction in psettasis-area-and-severity-tndex"-PASI Y-score from baseline
by day 7 of treatment, which was consistent with the results in the deucravacitinib 3 mg / kg group. Treatment with VYN202 3
mg / kg reduced the expression of IL- 17A, a major effector cytokine involved in the pathogenesis of psoriasis, by 93 %
compared to placebo. Treatment with VYN202 at all doses also resulted in a marked reduction of other disease- related
cytokines (IL- 1B, IL- 6, IL- 22, IL- 23, and TNF- o) compared to the placebo group. We evaluated VYN202 in a-twe preclinical
medelmodels of rheumatoid arthritis. In a 21- day collagen- induced arthritis (CIA) model, signs and symptoms of
inflammatory arthritis were induced in Lewis rats. Each treatment group orally received ene-ef-placebo, GSK620 (an early
generation less BD2- selective BET inhibitor) at 10 mg / kg, or VYN202 at one of three different dose strengths (1, 3, or 10 mg/
kg). Daily treatment with VYN202 10 mg / kg resulted in a 71 % reduction in the overall signs and symptoms of rheumatoid
arthritis at day 21 and a 79 % lower paw volume (a measure of swelling) compared to mice receiving placebo. Of the animals
treated with the highest dose of VYN202, 75 % presented with normal joint histopathology at the end of the study, whereas
animals treated with placebo experienced marked inflammatory cell infiltrate, granulation tissue, bone erosion and eartiagenous
---- cartilage ulceration. Freatment-with-The administration of VYN202 10 mg / kg also achieved a 98 % lower expression of
Immuneglobin-Gt-anti- collagen II antibody compared to placebo. In a biemarker-asseetated-21- day adjuvant- induced
arthritis (AIA) model in Lewis rats, test animals were randomly assigned to 7 groups: two vehicle groups,
dexamethasone, upadacitinib, and VYN202 at one of three different dose strengths (0. 1, 1, or 10 mg / kg). All but one of
the vehicle groups were induced with theumatotd-arthritis-the adjuvant to replicate signs and symptoms of inflammation
on the paws and joints of the animals. Induced animals were then orally administered either vehicle , reference
compound or VYN202 doses for 15 consecutive days. Compared to the vehicle adjuvant group, all strengths of VYN202
had a significant effect on inhibiting inflammation in the paws, comparable to the reference compound, upadacitinib.
The highest concentration of VYN202 resulted in an approximately 88 % reduction in paw volume compared to treatment
the vehicle group. Histopathology scores showed VYN202 had a significant effect on preventing ankle inflammation
compared to the control group with ptaeebe-VYN202 10 mg / kg having a 67 % reduction compared to control and
upadacitinib 10 mg / kg demonstrating a 56 % reduction compared to control . Manufacturing We currently contract with
third party manufacturers for all of our required raw materials, active ingredients and finished products for our preclinical
studies and clinical trials for our product candidates. We currently have no plans to establish our own manufacturing capabilities
and plan to continue to rely on third- party manufacturers for any future trials of our product candidates. Together with contract
manufacturing organizations (" CMOs"), we have developed the validation processes, methods, tests and / or controls that we
believe are suitable for the manufacturing of our product candidates and for defining their properties. Development stage
quantities of any products that we develop need to be manufactured in facilities ;-and by processes ;-that comply with the
requirements of the FDA and the regulatory agencies of other jurisdictions in which we may seek approval. We require all of our
CMOs to comply with these requirements and currently employ internal and external resources to manage our manufacturing
contractors. The relevant manufacturers of our product candidates for our current preclinical and clinical trials have advised us
that they are compliant with both the FDA’ s Good Laboratory Practices (" GLP") and the FDA' s current Good Manufacturing



Practice (" cGMP") guidances . Agreements with Tay Evaluation and Option Agreement In April 2021, we entered into an
Evaluation and Option Agreement (the" Option Agreement") with Tay. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, Tay granted us an
exclusive option to obtain certain exclusive worldwide rights to research, develop and commercialize products containing Tay’ s
BET inhibitor compounds for the treatment of any disease, disorder or condition in humans. Pursuant to the Option Agreement,
we agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to stabize;-develop and manufacture a product with a pan- BD BET inhibitor
as its active ingredient, and Tay agreed to provide a mutually agreed data package and select a new chemical entity development
candidate from its Oral BETi Compounds We paid a $ 1. 0 mllhon non- refundable ca%h payment to Tay upon execution of the
Option Agreement h be-us e ettrds-. Under the terms of
the Option Agreement, our optlon (the Oral Optlon”) Wlth re%pect to the Oral BET1 Compounds was to expire on June 30, 2022,
but in June 2022, we and Tay entered into a letter agreement to extend the option term to February 28, 2023. In February 2023,
we and Tay entered into an additional letter agreement pursuant to which the option term was further extended to April 30,
2023. We exercised the Oral Option for VYN202 on April 28, 2023 as described below. See" Part Il — Item 7. Management' s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — €CeHaberationrArrangements-Development and
License Agreements — Agreements with Tay Therapeutics — Evaluation and Option Agreement" for a discussion regarding
payments made to Tay in connection with the extension of the term for the Oral Option. License for Locally Administered Pan-
BD BET Inhibitor Program ( ¥¥N26+-Repibresib ) In August 2021, we exercised our option with respect to the ¥YIN26+
repibresib program and entered into a Heense-License agreement-Agreement (the" ¥¥IN26+-Repibresib License Agreement")
granting us a worldwide, exclusive license that is sublicensable through multiple tiers to exploit certain of Tay’ s pan- BD BET
inhibitor compounds in all fields. We have the sole responsibility for development, regulatory, marketing and
commercialization activities to be conducted for the licensed products at our sole cost and discretion. We are required to use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop and, if approved, commercialize such products. Pursuant to the ¥¥IN26+
Repibresib License Agreement, a joint development committee consisting of one representative from each party reviews the
progress of the development plan for the licensed products. Pursuant to the ¥¥N2684+-Repibresib License Agreement, we may
develop a product that contains or incorporates a specific BET inhibitor, whether alone or in combination with other active
ingredients, in any form, formulation, presentation, or dosage, and for any mode of administration. We made a $ 0. 5 million
cash payment to Tay in 2021 in connection with entering into the ¥¥N26+Repibresib License Agreement. Pursuant to the

3 ¥N26+-Repibresib License Agreement, we agreed to make cash payments to Tay upon the achievement of specified clinical
development and regulatory approval milestones with respect to each licensed topical product in the United States of up to $ 15.
75 million for all indications , of which $ 1. 8 million has been paid or accrued through December 31, 2024 . Tay is entitled
to additional milestone payments upon the achievement of regulatory approvals in certain non- U. S. jurisdictions. In addition,
with respect to any products we commercialize under the ¥¥IN264+-Repibresib License Agreement, we will pay tiered royalties
to Tay on net sales of such licensed products by us, our affiliates, or sublicensees, of 5 %, 7. 5 % and 10 % based on tiered
annual net sales of licensed products under the Repibresib License Agreement bands—- and the VYN202 License
Agreement, subject to specified reductions. We are obligated to pay royalties until the latest of (1) the tenth anniversary of the
first commercial sale of the relevant licensed product, (2) the expiration of the last valid claim of the licensed patent rights
covering such licensed product in such country and (3) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity for the relevant licensed product
in the relevant country, on a licensed product- by- licensed product and country- by- country basis . Pursuant to the Repibresib
License Agreement, we were granted a sublicense under certain intellectual property which was licensed to Tay by the
University of Dundee (“ Dundee ) pursuant to a certain license agreement between Tay and Dundee effective as of July
24,2020 and amended and restated on October 8, 2021 (the “ Head License ). On February 13, 2025, Tay and Dundee
entered into an agreement for the termination of the Head License and assignment of such intellectual property from
Dundee to Tay. Upon termination of the Head License, the Repibresib License Agreement was accordingly amended to
reflect the assignment of the intellectual property to Tay upon its payment in full to Dundee. The amendment does not
change any of Tay’ s or VYNE’ s rights or obligations under the Repibresib License Agreement, except that any
obligations owed by VYNE to Dundee with respect to repibresib are now owed to Tay . License for Selective BET Inhibitor
Program (VYN202) On April 28, 2023, we exercised the Oral Option and entered into a license agreement (the" VYN202
License Agreement") with Tay granting us a worldwide, exclusive license that is sublicensable through multiple tiers to exploit
certain of Tay’ s Oral BETi Compounds in all fields. We have the sole responsibility for development, regulatory, marketing
and commercialization activities to be conducted for the licensed products at our sole cost and discretion, and shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to develop and, if approved, commercialize such products. We may sublicense our rights to a
third party without Tay’ s consent. Pursuant to the VYN202 License Agreement, a joint development committee consisting of
one representative from each party reviews the progress of the development plan for the licensed products. We made a cash
payment of $ 3. 75 million to Tay in connection with entering into the VYN202 License Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the
VYN202 License Agreement, we agreed to make cash payments to Tay of up to $ 43. 75 million upon the achievement of
specified clinical development and regulatory approval milestones with respect to each licensed oral product in the United States
for all indications , of which $ 1. 3 million has been paid or accrued through December 31, 2024 . Tay is entitled to
additional milestone payments upon the achievement of regulatory approvals in certain non- U. S. jurisdictions. In addition, with
respect to any products we commercialize under the VYN202 License Agreement, we will pay tiered royalties to Tay on net
sales of such licensed products by us, our affiliates, or sublicensees, of 5 %, 7. 5 % and 10 % based on tiered annual net sales of
licensed products under the VYN202 License Agreement bands—- and the Repibresib License Agreement, subject to
specified reductions. We are obligated to pay royalties until the latest of (1) the tenth anniversary of the first commercial sale of
the relevant licensed product, (2) the expiration of the last valid claim of the licensed patent rights covering such licensed
product in such country and (3) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity for the relevant licensed product in the relevant country,




on a licensed product- by- licensed product and country- by- country basis. Intellectual Property Our intellectual property and
proprietary technology are essential to the development of our product candidates. We are committed to protecting our
intellectual property rights, core technologies and other know- how through a combination of patents, trademarks, domain
names, trade dress, trade secrets, copyrights, non- disclosure and confidentiality agreements, common interest agreements to
protect privileged confidential information, licenses, assignments of invention and other contractual arrangements with our
employees, scientific advisors, consultants, partners, suppliers, customers and others. These agreements and rights may,
however, be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. In addition, our trade secrets and other
proprietary and confidential information may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To the
extent that our employees, scientific advisors, consultants, partners, or other contractors use intellectual property owned by
others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know- how and inventions. Our success will
also depend at least in part on not infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. While we are diligent in our efforts to
investigate proprietary rights of third parties, no search is completely exhaustive. For example, a relevant patent or published
application could escape detection because of unusual terminology or use of terminology that is still evolving in developing
technological fields. Also, databases used in the searches may not be entirely complete. It is uncertain whether the issuance of
any third party patent would require us to alter our development strategies, alter our processes, obtain licenses or cease certain
activities. Our breach of any license agreements or failure to obtain a license to proprietary rights that we may require to develop
our current and future product candidates may have a material adverse impact on us. If third parties prepare and file patent
applications in the United States that also claim technology to which we have rights, we may have to participate in derivation,
interference or other proceedings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office (" USPTO") to determine derivation or
priority of invention. We may also have to participate in court proceedings or arbitration to defend and assert our rights. See"
Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property." Our BET inhibitor patent portfolio is licensed in and / or is
being developed by us and comprises or is derived from several PCT applications, various national applications and certain
provisional applications. ©ur-As of December 31, 2024, our patent portfolio in relation to our ¥¥IN264-repibresib program
includes a granted patent in the United Kingdom , Indonesia, Israel, India, Mexico, and South Africa and pending compound

and composition patent applications licensed by us from Tay and-the-Untverstty-of Pundee-. A PCT application covering the
compound, which published as WO 2020 /216779, was filed nationally in more than 15 jurisdictions, including the U. S.,

China, Europe, Eurasia , and Japan. Subject to being granted ¢witheutterminal-diselaimers)-and payments of the approprlate
maintenance fees, each patent will expire in 2040 —In-additiorr, a-without accounting for any potential patent term
adjustment in the U. S. A PCT application covering methods of use , which published as WO 2023 /081720, was filed
nationally in ten jurisdictions, including the U. S., China, Europe, Eurasia, and several-Japan. Subject to being granted
and payments of the appropriate maintenance fees, each patent will expire in 2042, without accounting for any potential
patent term adjustment in the U. S. In addition, a PCT application, which published as WO 2024 / 220589, was filed
nationally in ten jurisdictions, including the U. S., China, Europe, Eurasia, and Japan. Subject to being granted and
payments of the appropriate maintenance fees, each patent will expire in 2042, without accounting for any potential
patent term adjustment in the U. S. In addition, a PCT application, which published as WO 2024 / 220589, and a
provisional applieations— application directed to various uses thereef-of repibresib have been filed. Subject to the PCT
application being filed nationally, filing a non- provisional application , and these patent apphcatlom being granted fwithent
terminal-disetaimersy-and payments of the appropriate maintenance fees, each patent will expire in 2042 and 2044, respectively
, without accounting for any potential patent term adjustment in the U . Our-S. As of December 31, 2024, our patent
portfolio in relation to our VYN202 program includes a granted patent in the United Kingdom and pending compound and
composition patent applications licensed by us from Tay. A PCT application covering the compound, which published as WO
2023 /275542, was filed nationally in more than 15 jurisdictions, including the U. S., China, Europe, Eurasia and Japan. Subject
to being granted twithoutterminal-diselaimersy-and payments of the appropriate malntenance fees, each patent will expire in
2042 , without accounting for any potential patent term adjustment in the United States . Two additional compound and
composition PCT applications were also filed in relation to VYN202 and our oral BD2- selective BET inhibitor program
exclusively licensed by us from Tay. Subject to these PCT applications being filed nationally, one of which published as WO
2024 /018423, and the patent applications belng granted Gwitheutterminal-diselaimersy-and payments of the appropriate
maintenance fees, they— the patents will expire in 2043 , without accounting for any potential patent term adjustment in
the United States. In addition, a provisional application directed to VYN202 method of use has been filed. Subject to
filing a non- provisional and this patent application being granted and payments of the appropriate maintenance fees,
this patent would expire in 2045, without accounting for any potential patent term adjustment in the United States .
Patents extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in various
countries where patent protection is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to
country, depends on the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of legal remedies in the country. In most
countries in which we file, the patent term is 20 years from the earliest date of filing a non- provisional patent application. In the
United States, a patent term may be shortened if a patent is terminally disclaimed over another patent or as a result of delays in
patent prosecution by the patentee, and a patent’ s term may be lengthened by patent term adjustment, which compensates a
patentee for administrative delays by the USPTO in granting a patent or by patent term extension, which compensates a patentee
for delays at the FDA. The patent term of a European patent is 20 years from its filing date; however, unlike in the United
States, the European patent does not grant patent term adjustments. The European Union does have a compensation program
similar to patent term extension called supplementary patent certificate that would effectively extend the duration of protection
of the product for up to five years. Obtaining a patent term extension in the United States or a supplementary patent certificate in
the European Union is uncertain and will depend on eligibility and satisfying rigorous criteria in each jurisdiction. Competition



Our drug development activities face, and will continue to face, intense competition from organizations such as pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies, as well as academic and research institutions and government agencies. Our drug development
activities also face, and may continue to face, governmental actions designed to promote generic drug competition and lower
prices. Any product candidate that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with existing treatments, including
those that may have achieved broad market acceptance, and any new treatment that may become available in the future. Many of
the companies against which we are competing, or against which we may compete in the future, have significantly greater
financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, and preclinical and clinical development than we
do. Smaller or early- stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified
scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and subject registration for clinical trials, as well as in
acquiring technologies complementary to, or that may be necessary for, our development programs. For vitiligo, our primary
competitors include topical therapies such as generic and branded versions of calcineurin inhibitors, including ELIDEL,
marketed by Bausch Health; OPZELURA, a topical JAK inhibitor marketed by Incyte Corporation; branded and generic
versions of high potency steroids, including CLOBEX, marketed by Galderma Laboratories, LP; and other treatments including
various lasers and ultraviolet light- based therapies. In addition, there are several prescription product candidates under
development that could potentially be used to treat vitiligo and compete with ¥¥IN26+-repibresib gel , if approved, including
but not limited to oral JAK inhibitors being developed by Incyte, Pfizer and AbbVie. We intend to develop VYN202 for the
treatment of various immune- mediated condltlons Our 1n1tlal proof- of- concept indication is moderate- to- severe plaque
psoriasis and-medera severe-o nsetrheums s;each-of-which is a competitive market. The psoriasis market
includes several approved antl— IL-17 antlbody theraples 1nclud1ng COSENTYX, marketed by Novartis; TALTZ, marketed by
Eli Lilly; SILIQ, marketed by Bausch Health; and BIMZELX, marketed by UCB SA. Other classes of injectable biologics
approved for use in indications for which IL- 17 therapeutics are also approved include anti- [L- 12 /23 and anti TNFa,
monoclonal antibodies marketed by AbbVie, Sun Pharmaceutical Industries and Janssen Pharmaceuticals, among others.
Furthermore, the oral PDE4 inhibitor, OTEZLA, marketed by Amgen and oral TYK2 inhibitor, SOTYKTU, marketed by
Bristol Myers Squibb, are approved for the treatment of psoriasis. In addition, we are aware of other oral therapeutic candidates
including other TYK?2 inhibitors, oral IL- 17 inhibitors, and oral IL- 23 inhibitors being developed by JanssenPharmaeeutieals;
Takeda Pharmaceutical Company, Ventyx Biosciences, ane-Eli Lilly, LEO Pharma, Janssen Pharmaceuticals, among others .
We anticipate our second indication, subject to adequate levels of funding, will be rheumatoid arthritis which is also a
competitive market . Medications for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis include corticosteroids and disease- modifying anti-
rheumatic drugs (" DMARDs"). DMARDs include (i) methotrexate, sulfasalazine, leflunomide and hydroxychloroquine, (ii)
biologic DMARD:s, and (iii) targeted synthetic DMARDs such as JAK inhibitors. These drugs are produced and sold, or are
approved for marketing, by large pharmaceutical companies, 1nc1ud1ng Abele Amgen Brlstol Myers Squ1bb Ehitilty;
Johnson & Johnson, UCB, Roche, Eli Lilly, and Pfizer ;Nev ele-. [n addition,
several other companies are developing drugs for the treatment of rheumatmd arthr1t1s that 1f approved wortd-could compete
with VYN202 if the indication is pursued and approved. The commercial opportunity for our product candidates, if
approved, could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize drugs that are safer, more effective,
have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any drug we may develop. Our
competitors also may obtain FDA or other regulatory approval for their product candidates more rapidly than us, which could
result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before our product candidates are able to enter the market.
Government Regulation Our business is subject to extensive government regulation. Regulation by governmental authorities in
the United States and other jurisdictions is a significant factor in our research and development activities. Product approval
process in the United States Review and approval of drugs In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under the Federal
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (" FDCA") and implementing regulations. In general, new drug products require the submission
of'a New Drug Application (" NDA") and approval thereof by the FDA prior to being marketed in the United States. The
process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local and foreign
statutes and regulations requires the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with the
applicable U. S. requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or after approval may
subject an applicant to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions and enforcement actions brought by the FDA, the
Department of Justice or other governmental entities. Possible sanctions may include the FDA’ s refusal to approve pending
NDAs, withdrawal of an approval, imposition of a clinical hold, issuance of warning letters, product recalls, product seizures,
total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution,
disgorgement and civil or criminal penalties. The process required by the FDA prior to marketing and distributing a new drug
product in the United States generally involves the following: « completion of laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation
studies in compliance with the FDA” s Good Laboratory Practice (" GLP ") or other applicable regulations; * submission to
the FDA of an application for an IND which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin; ¢ approval by an
independent institutional review board (" IRB") at each clinical site before each trial may be initiated at that site; * performance
of adequate and well- controlled human clinical trials in accordance with Good Clinical Practice (" GCP") requirements to
establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use; ¢ preparation and submission to the FDA of a-an
NDA or supplemental NDA; ¢ satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory committee review, if applicable; ¢ satisfactory
completion of one or more FDA inspections of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the product or components
thereof are produced, to assess compliance with cGMP and to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to
preserve the drug’ s identity, strength, quality and purity;  satisfactory completion of FDA audits of clinical trial sites and the
sponsor’ s clinical trial records to assure compliance with GCPs and the integrity of the clinical data; * payment of user fees and




FDA review and approval of the-an NDA; and ¢ compliance with any post- approval requirements, including the potential
requirement to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (" REMS") and the potential requirement to conduct post-
approval studies. Preclinical studies Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation, as well as animal studies to assess the
potential safety and efficacy of the product candidate. Preclinical safety tests must be conducted in compliance with the FDA’ s
GLP regulations. The results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacturing information and analytical data, are submitted
to the FDA as part of an IND which must become effective before clinical trials may be commenced. Clinical trials in support of
an NDA Clinical trials involve the administration of an investigational product to human subjects under the supervision of
qualified investigators in accordance with GCP requirements, which include, among other things, the requirement that all
research subjects provide their informed consent in writing before their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials are
conducted under written trial protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the trial, the parameters to be used in
monitoring safety, and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol
amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. An IND becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA,
unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to a proposed clinical trial and places the trial on clinical
hold. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. We
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information-by-the-end-of the-first-quarterof 2624—In addition, an IRB representing each institution participating in the clinical
trial must review and approve the plan for any clinical trial before it commences at that institution, and the IRB must conduct
continuing review and reapprove the trial at least annually. The IRB must review and approve, among other things, the trial
protocol and informed consent information to be provided to trial subjects. An IRB must operate in compliance with FDA
regulations. Information about certain clinical trials must be submitted within specific timeframes to the National Institutes of
Health for public dissemination on their ClinicalTrials. gov website. Clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential
phases, which, in some cases, may overlap or be combined: ¢ Phase +1 : The drug is initially introduced into healthy human
subjects or patients with the target disease or condition and tested for safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism,
distribution, excretion and, if possible, to gain an early indication of its effectiveness and to determine optimal dosage. * Phase #
2 : The drug is administered to a limited patient population to identify possible short- term adverse effects and safety risks, to
preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the product for specific targeted diseases and to determine dosage tolerance and optimal
dosage. * Phase ##3 : The drug is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically dispersed clinical
trial sites, in well- controlled clinical trials to generate enough data to statistically evaluate the efficacy and safety of the product
for approval, to establish the overall risk- benefit profile of the product, and to provide adequate information for the labeling of
the product. Submission of &-an NDA to the FDA The results of the preclinical studies and clinical trials, together with other
detailed information, including information on the manufacture, control and composition of the product, are submitted to the
FDA as part of a-an NDA requesting approval to market the product candidate for a proposed indication. Under the Prescription
Drug User Fee Act (" PDUFA") as amended, applicants are required to pay fees to the FDA for reviewing an NDA. These user
fees, as well as the annual fees required for commercial manufacturing establishments and for approved products, can be
substantial. Each NDA submitted to the FDA for approval is reviewed for administrative completeness and reviewability within
60 days following submission of the application. If found complete, the FDA will * file ”” the NDA, thus triggering a full review
of the application. The FDA may refuse to file any NDA that it deems incomplete or not properly reviewable at the time of
submission. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in- depth substantive review. The FDA has agreed to
certain performance goals in the review of NDAs. Most applications for standard review drug products are reviewed within ten
to twelve months; most NDAs for priority review drugs are reviewed in six to eight months. The review process for both
standard and priority review may be extended by FDA for three additional months to consider certain late- submitted
information, or information intended to clarify information already provided in the submission. The FDA reviews an NDA to
determine, among other things, whether the drug is safe and effective and whether the facility in which it is manufactured,
processed, packaged or held meets standards designed to assure the product’ s continued safety, quality and purity. Before
approving &-an NDA, the FDA may inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured or facilities that are significantly
involved in the product development and distribution process, and will not approve the product unless cGMP compliance is
satisfactory at such facilities. The FDA may deny approval of a NDA if applicable statutory or regulatory criteria are not
satisfied, or it may require additional testing or information, which can delay the approval process. FDA approval of any
application may include many delays or may never be granted. If a product is approved, the approval will specify the indicated
uses for which the product may be marketed in the United States pursuant to that NDA, may require that warning statements be
included in the product labeling, may require that additional studies or trials be conducted following approval as a condition of
the approval, may impose restrictions and conditions on product distribution, prescribing or dispensing in the form of a REMS,
or may impose other limitations. After evaluating the NDA and all related information, including any advisory committee
recommendation, if applicable, and inspection reports regarding the manufacturing facilities and clinical trial sites, the FDA will
issue an approval letter or a complete response letter. A complete response letter generally outlines the deficiencies in the
submission and contains a statement of specific conditions that must be met in order to secure final approval of the NDA and
may require additional clinical or non- clinical testing in a resubmission to the NDA in order for the FDA to reconsider the
application. FDA has committed to reviewing such submissions in two or six months depending on the type of information
included in the resubmission. Even with submission of this additional information, the FDA ultimately may decide that the
application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval. If and when those conditions have been met to the FDA’ s
satisfaction, the FDA will typically issue an approval letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug
with specific prescribing information for specific indications. Even if the FDA approves a product, it may limit the approved



indications for use of the product, require that contraindications, warnings or precautions be included in the product labeling,
require that post- approval studies, including Phase 4 clinical trials, be conducted to further assess a drug’ s safety after approval,
require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the product after commercialization, or impose other conditions, including
distribution and use restrictions or other risk management mechanisms under a REMS, which can materially affect the potential
market and profitability of the product. Once a product is approved, marketing the product for other indicated uses or making
certain manufacturing or other changes requires FDA review and approval of a supplemental NDA or a new NDA, which may
require additional clinical data and review fees. In addition, further post- marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the
safety or efficacy of a product may be required. Also, product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory
standards is not maintained or if safety or manufacturing problems occur at any time following approval. In addition, new
government requirements may be established that could delay or prevent regulatory approval of our product candidates under
development. Special FDA Expedited Review and Approval Programs The FDA has various programs, including Fast Track
designation, Breakthrough Therapy designation, Accelerated Approval, and Priority Review, which are intended to expedite or
simplify the process for the development and FDA review of drugs that are intended for the treatment of serious or life-
threatening diseases or conditions and demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical needs. The purpose of these programs
is to provide important new drugs to patients earlier than under standard FDA review procedures. Under the fast track program,
the sponsor of a new product candidate may request that FDA designate the product candidate for a specific indication as a fast
track drug concurrent with, or after, the filing of the IND for the product candidate. Fast track designation provides opportunities
for frequent interactions with the FDA review team to expedite development and review of the product. FDA may initiate
review of sections of a fast track drug’ s NDA before the application is complete. This rolling review is available if the
applicant provides, and FDA approves, a schedule for the submission of the remaining information and the applicant pays
applicable user fees. However, FDA’ s time period goal for reviewing an application does not begin until the last section of the
NDA is submitted. In addition, a sponsor can request breakthrough therapy designation for a drug if it is intended, alone or in
combination with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious or life- threatening disease or condition, and preliminary clinical
evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically
significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. Drugs designated as
breakthrough therapies are eligible for intensive guidance from FDA on an efficient drug development program, organizational
commitment to the development and review of the product including involvement of senior managers, and, like fast track
products, are also eligible for rolling review of the NDA. Both fast track and breakthrough therapy products are also eligible for
accelerated approval and / or priority review, if relevant criteria are met. Under the FDA’ s accelerated approval regulations, the
FDA may approve a drug for a serious or life- threatening illness that provides meaningful therapeutic benefit to patients over
existing treatments based upon a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit, or on a clinical endpoint
that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, that is reasonably likely to predict an effect on irreversible
morbidity or mortality or other clinical benefit, taking into account the severity, rarity, or prevalence of the condition and the
availability or lack of alternative treatments. In clinical trials, a surrogate endpoint is a measurement of laboratory or clinical
signs of a disease or condition that substitutes for a direct measurement of how a patient feels, functions, or survives. Surrogate
endpoints can often be measured more easily or more rapidly than clinical endpoints. A product candidate approved on this basis
is subject to rigorous post- marketing compliance requirements, including the completion of Phase 4 or post- approval clinical
trials to confirm the effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure to conduct required post- approval studies, or confirm a clinical
benefit during post- marketing studies, will allow FDA to withdraw the drug from the market on an expedited basis. All
promotional materials for product candidates approved under accelerated approval regulations are subject to prior review by
FDA. Once #-an NDA is submitted for a product intended to treat a serious condition, the FDA may assign a priority review
designation if FDA determines that the product, if approved, would provide a significant improvement in safety or effectiveness.
A priority review means that the goal for the FDA to review an application is six months, rather than the standard review of ten
months under current PDUFA guidelines. Under the current PDUFA agreement, for NDAs for new molecular entities, these six-
and ten- month review periods are measured from the 60- day filing date rather than the receipt date, which typically adds
approximately two months to the timeline for review from the date of submission. Most products that are eligible for fast track
and / or breakthrough therapy designation are also likely to be considered appropriate to request and potentially receive a priority
review. Even if a product qualifies for one or more of these programs, the FDA may later decide that the product no longer
meets the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for FDA review or approval will not be shortened. In
addition, the manufacturer of an investigational drug for a serious or life- threatening disease is required to make available, such
as by posting on its website, its policy on responding to requests for expanded access. Furthermore, fast track designation,
breakthrough therapy designation, accelerated approval and priority review do not change the standards for approval and may
not ultimately expedite the development or approval process. Post- approval requirements Any drug products for which we
receive FDA approval will be subject to continuing regulation by the FDA. Certain requirements include, inter alia, record-
keeping requirements, reporting of adverse experiences with the product, providing the FDA with updated safety and efficacy
information on an annual basis or more frequently for specific events, product sampling and distribution requirements,
complying with certain electronic records and signature requirements and complying with FDA promotion and advertising
requirements. These promotion and advertising requirements include, among others, standards for direct- to- consumer
advertising, prohibitions against promoting drugs for uses or patient populations that are not described in the drug’ s approved
labeling, known as ““ off- label use, ”” and other promotional activities, such as those considered to be false or misleading. Failure
to comply with FDA requirements can have negative consequences, including the immediate discontinuation of noncomplying
materials, adverse publicity, enforcement letters from the FDA, mandated corrective advertising or communications with
doctors, and civil or criminal penalties. Such enforcement may also lead to scrutiny and enforcement by other government and



regulatory bodies. Although physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for off- label uses, manufacturers may not
encourage, market or promote such off- label uses. As a result, “ off- label promotion ” has formed the basis for litigation under
the Federal False Claims Act (" FCA") violations of which are subject to significant civil fines and penalties. In addition, under
the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, manufacturers of certain prescription products are required to disclose annually to
the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (" CMS") payments or transfers of value made to ““ covered recipients ”” and
teaching hospitals, and ownership or investment interests held by covered recipients and their immediate family members.
Reportable payments and transfers of value may be direct or indirect, in cash or kind, for any reason, and are required to be
disclosed even if the transfers are not related to an approved product. Failure to comply with the Physician Payments Sunshine
Act could result in penalties up to $ 1. 15 million per year. The manufacturing of any of our product candidates, if approved,
will be required to comply with applicable FDA manufacturing requirements contained in the FDA” s cGMP regulations. The
FDA’ s cGMP regulations require, among other things, quality control and quality assurance, as well as the corresponding
maintenance of comprehensive records and documentation. Drug manufacturers and other entities involved in the manufacture
and distribution of approved drugs are also required to register their establishments and list any products they make with the
FDA and to comply with related requirements in certain states. These entities are further subject to periodic unannounced
inspections by the FDA and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must
continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control to maintain cGMP compliance.
Discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in serious and extensive restrictions or other consequences for a
product, manufacturer or holder of an approved NDA, as well as lead to potential market disruptions. These restrictions or
consequences may include untitled or warning letters, recalls, suspension of a product until the FDA is assured that quality
standards can be met, and continuing oversight of manufacturing by the FDA under a *“ consent decree, ” which frequently
includes the imposition of costs and continuing inspections over a period of many years, as well as possible withdrawal of the
product from the market. In addition, changes to the manufacturing process generally require prior FDA approval before being
implemented. Other types of changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications and additional labeling claims,
are also subject to further FDA review and approval. The FDA also may require post- marketing testing, or Phase IV testing, as
well as REMS to monitor the effects of an approved product or place conditions on an approval that could otherwise restrict the
distribution or use of approved products. Pediatric trials and exclusivity Even when not pursuing a pediatric indication, under
the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003, an NDA or supplement thereto must contain data that are adequate to assess the
safety and effectiveness of the drug product for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations, and to support
dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product is safe and effective. Sponsors must also
submit pediatric trial plans prior to the assessment data. Those plans must contain an outline of the proposed pediatric trials the
applicant plans to conduct, including trial objectives and design, any deferral or waiver requests, and other information required
by regulation. The applicant, the FDA, and the FDA’ s internal review committee must then review the information submitted,
consult with each other, and agree upon a final plan. The FDA or the applicant may request an amendment to the plan at any
time. The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of the applicant, grant deferrals for submission of some or all
pediatric data until after approval of the product for use in adults, or full or partial waivers from the pediatric data requirements.
Additional requirements and procedures relating to deferral requests and requests for extension of deferrals are contained in the
Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act. Separately, in the event the FDA makes a written request for
pediatric data relating to a drug product, an NDA sponsor who submits such data may be entitled to pediatric exclusivity.
Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non- patent marketing exclusivity in the United States and, if granted, provides for the
attachment of an additional 6 months of marketing protection to the term of any existing regulatory exclusivity, including the
non- patent and orphan exclusivity. Patent term restoration and extension A patent claiming a new drug product may be eligible
for a limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, generally
referred to as the “ Hatch- Waxman Act, ” which permits an extension of the term of a patent for up to five years to compensate
patent holders for marketing time lost while developing the product and awaiting government approval during the FDA
regulatory review. The basis for the patent extension is the regulatory review period, which is basically composed of two parts,
a testing phase and an approval phase, less a reduction, if any, in either part for a period time where there was a finding of lack
of due diligence. The restoration period granted can be up to one- half the time between the effective date of an IND and the
submission date of an NDA (testing phase), plus the time between the submission date of an NDA and the ultimate approval
date (approval phase). Patent term extension cannot be used to extend the remaining term of a patent past a total of 14 years
from the product’ s approval date. Only one patent applicable to an approved drug product may be extended, and the application
for the extension must be submitted prior to the expiration of the patent in question and within 60 days of FDA approval. A
patent that covers multiple drugs for which approval is sought can only be extended in connection with one of the approvals and
the scope of the extended patent is limited to the approved drug. The USPTO reviews and approves the application for any
patent term extension in consultation with the FDA. The term of a patent which claims a human drug product, a method of using
the product, or a method of manufacturing the product may potentially be extended if it satisfies the various conditions
including that it is the first permitted commercial marketing or use of the drug. Review and approval of drug products outside
the United States In addition to regulations in the United States, we are subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing
manufacturing, clinical trials, commercial sales and distribution of our future products. Whether or not we obtain FDA approval
for a product candidate, we must obtain approval by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries before
commencing clinical trials or marketing in those countries. The approval process varies from country to country and can be
subject to uncertainties, and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. The requirements governing
the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from country to country. Regulation in
the European Economic Area In the European Economic Area (" EEA") which is composed of the Member States of the



European Union plus Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein, medicinal products can only be commercialized after obtaining a
Marketing Authorization (" MA"). There are two types of MAs: « The Community MA, which is issued by the European
Commission through the Centralized Procedure, based on the opinion of the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use
(" CHMP") of the European Medicines Agency (" EMA") and which is valid throughout the entire territory of the EEA. The
Centralized Procedure is mandatory for certain types of products, such as biotechnology medicinal products, orphan medicinal
products and medicinal products that contain a new active substance indicated for the treatment of AIDS, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes, auto- immune and viral diseases. The Centralized Procedure is optional for products
containing a new active substance not yet authorized in the EEA, or for products that constitute a significant therapeutic,
scientific or technical innovation or which are in the interest of public health in the EU. Under the Centralized Procedure the
maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization application (" MAA") is 210 days (excluding clock stops,
when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant in response to questions asked by the CHMP).
Accelerated evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when the authorization of a medicinal product is of
major interest from the point of view of public health and in particular from the viewpoint of therapeutic innovation. Under the
accelerated procedure the standard 210 days review period is reduced to 150 days. * National MAs, which are issued by the
competent authorities of the Member States of the EEA and only cover their respective territory, are available for products not
falling within the mandatory scope of the Centralized Procedure. Where a product has already been authorized for marketing in
a Member State of the EEA, this National MA can be recognized in another Member State through the Mutual Recognition
Procedure. If the product has not received a National MA in any Member State at the time of application, it can be approved
simultaneously in various Member States through the Decentralized Procedure. Prior to obtaining an MA in the EEA, applicants
have to demonstrate compliance with all measures included in a Pediatric Investigation Plan (" PIP") approved by the EEA
regulatory agency, covering all subsets of the pediatric population, unless the EEA regulatory agency has granted (1) a product-
specific waiver, (2) a class waiver or (3) a deferral for one or more of the measures included in the PIP. In the EEA, upon
receiving a MA, new chemical entities generally receive eight years of data exclusivity and an additional two years of market
exclusivity. If granted, data exclusivity prevents regulatory authorities in the EEA from referencing the innovator’ s data to
assess a generic application. During the additional two- year period of market exclusivity, a generic marketing authorization can
be submitted, and the innovator’ s data may be referenced, but no generic product can be marketed until the expiration of the
market exclusivity. However, there is no guarantee that a product will be considered by the EEA regulatory agencies to be a new
chemical entity, and products may not qualify for data exclusivity. Pharmaceutical coverage, pricing and reimbursement
Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any product and any product candidates for which
we obtain regulatory approval. In the United States and other markets, sales of any product, and any product candidates for
which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale, will depend in part on the availability of coverage and adequate
reimbursement from third party payors. Third party payors include government health administrative authorities, managed care
providers, private health insurers and other organizations. The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage
for a drug product may be separate from the process for setting the price or reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the
drug product. Third party payors may limit coverage to specific drug products on an approved list, or formulary, which might
not include all of the FDA- approved drug products for a particular indication. Third party payors are increasingly challenging
the price and examining the medical necessity and cost- effectiveness of medical products and services, in addition to their
safety and efficacy. A payor may not consider a product to be medically necessary or cost- effective. Moreover, a payor’ s
decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved, or that
other payors will similarly provide similar coverage for the product. Adequate third- party reimbursement may not be available
to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development. CMS
administers the Medicaid drug rebate program, in which pharmaceutical manufacturers pay quarterly rebates to each state
Medicaid agency. Generally, for branded prescription drugs marketed under NDAs, manufacturers are required to rebate the
greater of 23. 1 % of the average manufacturer price or the difference between such price and the best price during a specified
period (subject to inflation) . An additional rebate for products marketed under NDAs is payable if the average manufacturer
price increases at a rate higher than inflation, and other methodologies apply to new formulations of existing drugs. In addition,
the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the" ACA") revised certain definitions used for purposes of calculating the
rebates, including the definition of *“ average manufacturer price. ” Various state Medicaid programs have implemented
voluntary supplemental drug rebate programs that may provide states with additional manufacturer rebates in exchange for
preferred status on a state’ s formulary or for patient populations that are not included in the traditional Medicaid drug benefit
coverage. In the European Union, pricing and reimbursement schemes vary widely from country to country. Some countries
provide that drug products may be marketed only after a reimbursement price has been agreed. Some countries may require the
completion of additional studies or trials that compare the cost- effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently
available therapies. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of drug
products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal
products for human use. European Union member states may approve a specific price for a drug product or it may instead adopt
a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the drug product on the market. Other member
states allow companies to fix their own prices for drug products, but monitor and control company profits. The downward
pressure on health care costs in general, and particularly on prescription drugs, has become intense. As a result, increasingly
high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products. In addition, in some countries, cross- border imports from low-
priced markets exert competitive pressure that may reduce pricing within a country. Any country that has price controls or
reimbursement limitations for drug products may not allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements. Healthcare
Reform In March 2010, the then President of the United States signed one of the most significant healthcare reform measures in



decades, the ACA. The ACA substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers,
and significantly impacted the pharmaceutical industry. This comprehensive legislative overhaul was expected to extend
coverage to approximately 36 million previously uninsured Americans. The ACA also requires the pharmaceutical industry to
share in the costs of reform by increasing Medicaid rebates and expanding Medicaid rebates to cover Medicaid managed care
programs, among other things. The ACA also includes funding of pharmaceutical costs for Medicare patients in excess of the
prescription drug coverage limit and below the catastrophic coverage threshold. There have been executive, judicial,
Congres%lonal and pohtlcal Challenges and amendments to certain aspect% of the ACA F or example —t-he—A:GA—s—rnd-Wldua-l-

e*&mp-}e—on Auguqt 16, 2022 Prestdeﬁt—B-t&en—stgned—the Inﬂatlon Reductlon Act of 2022 ( “4 IRA 23 )was 51gned 1nto law
which among other things, extends enhanced subsidies for individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in ACA
marketplaces through plan year 2025. The IRA also eliminates the" donut hole" under the Medicare Part D program beginning
in 2025 by significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out- of- pocket cost and creating a new manufacturer discount
program. It is possible that there will be additional health reform measures. It is unclear how any such challenges, if any, and
other efforts to modify, repeal and replace the ACA will impact the ACA. Further, there has been increasing legislative and
enforcement interest in the United States with respect to drug pricing practices, including several recent U. S. Congressional
inquiries and federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, increase drug pricing transparency, expedite generic
competition, review relationships between pricing and manufacturer patient assistance programs, and reform government
program drug relmburqement methodologles At—For example, the IRA among t-he—other thlngs (1) dlrects -federa-l—level—'rﬁ

fespense+e—Btdeﬁ—s—e*eeﬂtW&efder—en—September—97292—l—the U. S. Department of Health and Human Serv1ce€ (“ HHS ”)

expenditure, slngle source drugs aﬂd—bie}egres—that have been on the market for at least 7 years covered under Medicare
(the “ Medicare Drug Price Negotiation Program ), and (ii) imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to
penalize price increases that outpace inflation. These provisions take effect progressively starting in fiscal year 2023. On August
20-15 , 2623-2024 , HHS announced the Hst-agreed- upon prices of the first ten drugs that were switbbe-subject to price
negotiations, although the Medicare drtg-Drug priee-Price negotiationrNegotiation programrProgram is currently subject to
legal challenges. -I-ﬂ—add-rﬁeﬁ-On J anuary 17 t-he—Brden—adn&tmstr&ﬁen—re{eased-&n—ZOZS HHS selected fifteen additional drugs

covered under Part D ¢

for price negotiation

in 2025 Each year thereafter more Part B and Part D products w1ll become sub]ect to the Medicare and-Medieaid

ttﬁhzed—m—aﬁyhhea}th—refeﬂﬁ—meaaﬁes—m—the—&&ure— Further on December 7 2023 t-he—Btdeﬁ—admrmstr&t-ten—anﬂeuﬁeed—an

initiative to control the price of prescription drugs through the use of march- in rights under the Bayh- Dole Act was announced
, allowing an agency to grant a compulsory license on a privately owned patent to third parties, if the invention was developed
with federal funding and the agency finds that certain statutory criteria apply. On December 8, 2023, the National Institute of
Standards and Technology published for comment a Draft Interagency Guidance Framework for Considering the Exercise of
March- In Rights which for the first time includes the price of a product as one factor an agency can use when deciding to
exercise march- in rights. While march- in rights have not previously been exercised, it is uncertain if that will continue under
the new framework. At the state level, legislatures are increasingly passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to
control pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts,
restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to
encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. For example, on January 5, 2024, the FDA approved Florida’
s Section 804 Importation Program (““ SIP ) proposal to import certain drugs from Canada for specific state healthcare
programs. It is unclear how this program will be implemented, including which drugs will be chosen, and whether it will be
subject to legal challenges in the United States or Canada. Other states have also submitted SIP proposals that are pending
review by the FDA. Any such approved importation plans, when implemented, may result in lower drug prices for products
covered by those programs. We anticipate that these and other healthcare reform efforts will continue to result in additional
downward pressure on drug pricing , particularly in light of recent U. S. Presidential and Congressional elections . Any
reduction in reimbursement from Medicare and other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from
private payors. Healthcare Laws Healthcare providers, physicians and third party payors play a primary role in the
recommendation and prescription of drug products that are granted marketing approval. Arrangements with healthcare
providers, third party payors and other customers are subject to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws
and regulations. Such restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:  the
federal healthcare Anti- Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of



an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service for which payment may be made, in whole
or in part, under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare or Medicaid. The term “ remuneration  has been broadly
interpreted to include anything of value, including cash, improper discounts, and free or reduced price items and services. The
intent standard under the federal Anti- Kickback Statute was amended by ACA to a stricter standard such that a person or entity
no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation.
Moreover, under the ACA, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the
federal Anti- Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil FCA. Additionally, many
states have similar laws that apply to their state health care programs as well as private payors. Violations of the federal or state
anti- kickback laws can result in exclusion from federal and state health care programs and substantial civil and criminal
penalties; ¢ the federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalties laws, including the federal FCA, which
prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false, fictitious or
fraudulent claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid or other federal healthcare programs, and knowingly making, using or
causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim to avoid, decrease or conceal an
obligation to pay money to the federal government. Even where pharmaceutical companies do not submit claims directly to
payors, they can be held liable under these laws if they are deemed to “ cause  the submission of false or fraudulent claims by,
for example, providing inaccurate billing or coding information to customers, promoting a product off- label, marketing
products of sub- standard quality, or paying a kickback that results in a claim for items or services. In addition, activities relating
to the reporting of wholesaler or estimated retail prices for pharmaceutical products, the reporting of prices used to calculate
Medicaid rebate information and other information affecting federal, state and third- party reimbursement for such products, and
the sale and marketing of such products, are subject to scrutiny under this law. Private individuals or whistleblowers can bring
FCA * qui tam ” actions on behalf of the government and may share in amounts recovered. Proof of intent to deceive is not
required to establish liability under the civil False Claims Act; * the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
of 1996 (" HIPAA") imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things, executing or attempting to execute a scheme to
defraud any healthcare benefit program, including any third party payors, knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a
healthcare benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a healthcare offense, and knowingly and willfully
falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statements or
representations, or making false statements relating to healthcare benefits, items, or services. Similar to the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it to have
committed a violation; « HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act ("
HITECH") and their implementing regulations, which imposes privacy, security, transmission and breach reporting obligations,
including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to individually identifiable health information including Protected Heath
Information (" PHI"), upon “ covered entities ™ subject to the law, such as health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and certain
healthcare providers, and their respective business associates and covered subcontractors that perform services on their behalf
that involve individually identifiable health information, including PHI. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary
penalties, amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state
attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce HIPAA laws and seek
attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. Other federal and state laws, such as the Federal Trade
Commission Act, also impose requirements with respect to individuals' personal information; « the federal Physician Payments
Sunshine Act requires certain manufacturers of prescription drugs, devices and medical supplies for which payment is available
under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’ s Health Insurance Program to annually report to CMS information related to
payments and other transfers of value to physicians, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists, chiropractors, certain other healthcare
professionals (such as nurse practitioners and physicians assistants), and teaching hospitals, and ownership and investment
interests held by physicians and their immediate family members. In addition, Section 6004 of the ACA requires annual
reporting of information about drug samples that manufacturers and authorized distributors provide to physicians; and ®
analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti- kickback and false claims laws, which may apply more
broadly than their U. S. federal analogues, such as to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or
services reimbursed by non- governmental third party payors, including private insurers; state laws that require drug companies
to comply with the industry’ s voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable compliance guidance promulgated by the
federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources;
state and local laws that require the licensure of sales representatives; state laws that require drug manufacturers to report
information related to drug pricing or payments and other transfers of value to healthcare providers or marketing expenditures
and pricing information; data privacy and security laws and regulations in foreign jurisdictions that may be more stringent than
those in the United States (such as the European Union, which adopted the General Data Protection Regulation (" GDPR")
which became effective in May 2018); state laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain
circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating
compliance efforts; and state laws related to insurance fraud in the case of claims involving private insurers. If our operations
are found to be in violation of any of the healthcare laws or regulations described above or any other healthcare regulations that
apply to us, we may be subject to significant penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines,
disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, imprisonment,
additional reporting obligations and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or consent decree,
reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which
could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and pursue our strategy. Environmental, Health and Safety Matters We
are subject to extensive environmental, health and safety laws and regulations in a number of jurisdictions governing, among



other things, (i) the use, storage, registration, handling, emission and disposal of chemicals, waste materials and sewage; and (ii)
chemical, air, water and ground contamination, air emissions and the cleanup of contaminated sites, including any contamination
that results from spills due to our failure to properly dispose of chemicals, waste materials and sewage. These laws, regulations
and permits could potentially require the expenditure by us of significant amounts for compliance or remediation. If we fail to
comply with such laws, regulations or permits, we may be subject to fines and other civil, administrative or criminal sanctions,
including the revocation of permits and licenses necessary to continue our business activities. In addition, we may be required to
pay damages or civil judgments in respect of third party claims, including those relating to personal injury (including exposure
to hazardous substances we use, store, handle, transport, manufacture or dispose of), property damage or contribution claims.
Some environmental, health and safety laws allow for strict, joint and several liability for remediation costs, regardless of
comparative fault. We may be identified as a responsible party under such laws. Such developments could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, laws and regulations relating to
environmental, health and safety matters are often subject to change. In the event of any changes or new laws or regulations, we
could be subject to new compliance measures or to penalties for activities which were previously permitted. The operations of
our subcontractors and suppliers are also subject to various laws and regulations relating to environmental, health and safety
matters, and their failure to comply with such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business and
reputation, result in an interruption or delay in the development or manufacture of our product candidates, or increase the costs
for the development or manufacture of our product candidates. Human Capital Resources As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we
had a total of -1-9—13 full time employees All of our ernployees are located in the United States —We-intend-to-add-atimited

; srams-. From time to time, we also retain independent contractors
and consultants to suppott our organization. We beheve our internal R & D capabilities coupled with our third- party R & D
consultants are sufficient to execute our clinical development strategy in a cost- effective manner. None of our employees are
represented by a labor union, and we consider our employee relations to be good. Attracting, retaining and developing
employees from a diverse-wide range of backgrounds to support our research, development and clinical activities is an integral
part of our human capital strategy and we believe we offer competitive compensation (including salary, incentive bonus, and
equity) and benefits packages. Corporate Information We were incorporated in October 2011 as a Delaware corporation under
the name Tigercat Pharma, Inc. We changed our name to VYNE Therapeutics Inc. in September 2020, following the merger
between Foamix Pharmaceuticals Ltd. ("' Feamix') and Menlo Therapeutics Inc. (our predecessor company ) ("' Menlo" ) in
March 2020. We are a ““ smaller reporting company, ” as defined in Rule 12b- 2 of the Exchange Act. As such, we are eligible to
take advantage of certain reduced or scaled disclosure requirements available to smaller reporting companies. See the risk factor
captioned “ We are eligible to report as a ‘ smaller reporting company,” and as a result of the reduced reporting requirements
applicable to such companies, our securities may be less attractive to investors ” for more information. Our principal executive
offices are located at 685 Route 202 /206 N., Suite 301, Bridgewater, NJ 08807. Our website is www. vynetherapeutics. com.
We may use our website to comply with disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Therefore, investors should monitor our
website in addition to following its press releases, filings with the SEC, public conference calls, and webcasts. The contents of
our website are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10- K or in any other report or
document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only. ITEM
1A- RISK FACTORS In conducting our business, we face many risks that may interfere with our business objectives. Some of
these risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, we are
subject to various risks resulting from changing economic, political, industry, business and financial conditions. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. You should carefully consider the following factors and other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. If any of the negative events referred to below occur, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could suffer. In any such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline. Risks
Related to Development of Our Product Candidates Our business is substantially dependent on the successful development of
our BET inhibitor product candidates. Our current development pipeline consists of our BET inhibitor product candidates,
repibresib gel ( VYN201 ) and VYN202, which we are developing for the treatment of immuno- inflammatory diseases. The
success of our business is dependent on our successful development and / or our ability to pursue strategic initiatives, including
identifying and consummating transactions with third- party partners, to further develop, obtain marketing approval for and / or
commercialize, these product candidates. Our ability to successfully progress these candidates may be hampered for many
reasons, including: ¢ a product candidate may in a preclinical study or clinical trial be shown to have harmful side effects or
other characteristics that indicate it is unlikely to be effective or otherwise does not meet applicable regulatory criteria; ¢
competitors may develop alternatives that render our product candidates obsolete or less attractive;  product candidates we
develop may nevertheless be covered by third parties’ patents or other proprietary rights; * a product candidate may not be
capable of being produced in commercial quantities at an acceptable cost, or at all; « a product candidate may not be accepted as
safe and effective by patients, the medical community or third party payors, if applicable; ¢ creation of intellectual property
rights, such as patents, which are necessary to protect our interests in a product candidate, can be challenging in relation to
pharmaceutical formulations and their uses with known active pharmaceutical ingredients and generally used combinations of
inactive ingredients approved by the FDA; ¢ intellectual property rights, such as patents, which are necessary to protect our
interests in a product candidate, may be difficult to obtain or unobtainable or if obtained may be difficult to enforce or
unenforceable; and ¢ intellectual property rights, such as patents, may fail to provide adequate protection, may be challenged and
one or more claims may be revoked or the patent may be held to be invalid.
programs—The development of these new chemical entities carries even greater risk and a hlgher probability of failure. Our
failure to successfully develop our product candidates will have a material adverse effect on our business and financial
condition. Our product candidates are in clinical eatlystages-of-development and may fail in development or suffer delays that




materially and adversely affect their viability. If we are unable to complete development of, or commercialize our product
candidates, or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed. Each of our product candidates
is in clinical the-earty-stage-ef-development. We are-preparing-to-initiate-initiated a Phase 2b trial for ¥ ¥IN26+-repibresib gel
in nonsegmental vitiligo and-afirst—in —human-June 2024 and a Phase +a-1b trial for VYN202 in February the-seeond-quarter
of2624-2025 . Our ability to achieve and sustain profitability depends on obtaining regulatory approvals for, and successfully
commercializing our product candidates, either alone or with third parties, and we cannot guarantee you that we will ever obtain
regulatory approval for any of our product candidates. We have limited experience in conducting and managing the clinical trials
necessary to obtain regulatory approvals including approval by the FDA. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the
commercial distribution of our product candidates, we or an existing or future collaborator must conduct extensive preclinical
tests and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in humans of our product candidates. We may not have the
resources to advance the development of our product candidates if we experience issues that delay or prevent their regulatory
approval, or our ability to commercialize them, including:  preclinical study results, including toxicology data, may show the
product candidate to be less effective than desired or to have harmful or problematic side effects; ¢ negative or inconclusive
results from our clinical trials, leading to a decision or requirement to conduct additional preclinical testing or clinical trials or
abandon a program; ¢ product- related side effects experienced by patients in our clinical trials or by individuals using drugs or
therapeutics similar to our product candidates; ¢ our third- party manufacturers’ inability to successfully manufacture our
product candidates in sufficient quantities or at all; * inability of any third- party contract manufacturer to scale up manufacturing
of our product candidates and those of our collaborators to supply the needs of clinical trials; ¢ delays in enrolling patients in our
clinical trials; « harmful side effects or inability of our product candidates to meet efficacy endpoints during clinical trials;
inadequate supply or quality of product candidate components or materials or other supplies necessary for the conduct of our
clinical trials; * greater than anticipated costs of our clinical trials; * manufacturing costs, formulation issues, pricing or
reimbursement issues, or other factors that no longer make a product candidate economically feasible; « delays and changes in
regulatory requirements, policy and guidelines, including the imposition of additional regulatory oversight around clinical
testing generally or with respect to our technology; and ¢ varying interpretations of our data by the FDA and similar foreign
regulatory agencies. Our inability to advance or complete the development of our product candidates, or significant delays in
doing so, could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. We
may encounter delays in enrolling patients and successfully completing clinical trials for our product candidates and may be
delayed in, or prevented from, commencing such trials due to factors that are largely beyond our control. We have in the past
experienced and may in the future experience delays in completing clinical trials and in commencing future clinical trials.
Clinical trials can be delayed or aborted for a variety of other reasons, including delay or failure to: * obtain regulatory approval
to commence a trial; * reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations (" CROs") and
clinical trial sites, the terms of which may be subject to extensive negotiation and vary significantly among different CROs and
trial sites; * obtain approval from an institutional review board (“ IRB ) at each site; ¢ enlist an adequate number of suitable
patients to participate in a trial; * have patients complete a trial or return for post- treatment follow- up; ¢ ensure clinical sites
observe trial protocol or continue to participate in a trial; * address any patient safety concerns that arise during the course of a
trial; » address any conflicts with new or existing laws or regulations; * add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; or
manufacture sufficient quantities of the product candidate for use in clinical trials. Patient enrollment is also a significant factor
in the timing of clinical trials and is affected by many factors, including the size and nature of the patient population, the
proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria for the trial, the design of the clinical trial, competing clinical trials
and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the potential advantages of the drug being studied in relation to available
alternatives, including any new drugs or treatments that may be approved for the indications we are investigating. We may be
delayed in commencing our clinical trials if the FDA, or other applicable regulatory authority, finds deficiencies or requests
additional information with respect to our INDs. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments
must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. An IND becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before
that time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to a proposed clinical trial and places the trial on clinical hold. In such a
case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical trial can begin. For ¥ ¥N262
example , our we-submitted-anIh he A 023-and-had-planne PhaselatrlalforVYNZOZ
was initially placed on a clinical trtat+ e 4 wevet,wereeentlyreeetv
mfermmg—usﬁat—etuhllhase%elﬁneal—tﬂal—ts—eﬁ—hold an ; hieh
delayed-oturplans-to-initiate-the-trial-. Following submission of We—have—eemp}eted—t-he—addltlonal nonchmcal study data, and
expeetto-submit-the requested-information-hold was lifted and we proceeded to conduct the FBA-by-trial, which was

completed in the fourth end-ofthe-firstquarter of 2024 f&efdeﬁeﬂ&&te—&xe—e}mwal—tﬂa{—mﬁe—seeeﬂd-qu&ﬁefeﬁe%—}f
eleared-by-the FBDA-. We may also encounter delays if a clinical trial or a clinical trial site is suspended or terminated by us,

the IRB of the institutions in which such trials are being conducted, by the trial’ s data safety monitoring board, or by the FDA.
Such authorities may suspend or terminate one or more of our clinical trials due to a number of factors, including our failure to
conduct the clinical trial in accordance with relevant regulatory requirements or clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial
operations or trial site by the FDA resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects,
failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a drug, changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of
adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. If we experience delays in carrying out or completing any clinical trial of our
product candidates, the commercial prospects of our product candidates may be harmed, and our ability to generate product
revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will
increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence
product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may significantly harm our business and financial condition. In




addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also
ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates. Drug development is very expensive, time-
consuming and uncertain. Our preclinical studies and clinical trials may fail to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of
our current or any future product candidates, or serious adverse side effects could be identified. Any of these outcomes could
prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization or harm our ability to pursue strategic alternatives for our product
candidates. Drug development is very expensive, time- consuming and difficult to design and implement, and its outcome is
inherently uncertain, particularly as it relates to new chemical entities. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the commercial
sale of a product candidate, we must demonstrate through preclinical studies and clinical trials that a product candidate is both
safe and effective for use in the target indication. Most product candidates that commence clinical trials are never approved by
regulatory authorities for commercialization. The clinical trials for these product candidates may take significantly longer than
expected to complete. In addition, we, any partner with which we may in the future collaborate, the FDA, an IRB or other
regulatory authorities, including state and local agencies and counterpart agencies in foreign countries, may prevent, suspend,
delay, require modifications to or terminate our clinical trials at any time, for various reasons, including: * lack of effectiveness
of any product candidate during clinical trials or the failure of a product candidate to meet specified endpoints; ¢ discovery of
serious or unexpected side effects experienced by trial participants, toxicities or other safety issues; * slower than expected rates
of subject recruitment and patient enrollment in clinical trials resulting from numerous factors, including the prevalence of
clinical trials for our competitors for their product candidates treating the same indication; * difficulty in retaining subjects who
have initiated participation in a clinical trial but may withdraw at any time due to adverse side effects from the therapy,
insufficient efficacy, fatigue with the clinical trial process or for any other reason; ¢ difficulty in obtaining IRB approval for
studies to be conducted at each site; * delays in manufacturing or obtaining, or inability to manufacture or obtain, sufficient
quantities of materials for use in clinical trials; * inadequacy of or changes in our manufacturing process or the product
formulation or method of delivery; * changes in applicable laws, regulations and regulatory policies; ¢ delays or failure in
reaching agreement on acceptable terms in clinical trial contracts or protocols with prospective CROs, clinical trial sites and
other third- party contractors; * inability to add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; * uncertainty regarding proper dosing; ¢
failure of our CROs or other third- party contractors to comply with contractual and regulatory requirements or to perform their
services in a timely or acceptable manner; ¢ failure by us, our employees, our CROs or their employees or any partner with which
we may collaborate or their employees to comply with applicable FDA or other regulatory requirements relating to the conduct
of clinical trials or the handling, storage, security and recordkeeping for drug and biologic products; « scheduling conflicts with
participating clinicians and clinical institutions; * failure to design appropriate clinical trial protocols; ¢ inability or
unwillingness of medical investigators to follow our clinical protocols; ¢ difficulty in maintaining contact with subjects during or
after treatment, which may result in incomplete data; and ¢ insufficient data to support regulatory approval. If we experience
delays in the completion of, or if we terminate, any of our future clinical trials, our business, financial condition, operating
results and prospects would be adversely affected. In addition, product candidates that initially showed promise in early stage
testing have later been found to cause side effects that prevented further development of the product candidate. For example,
some systemic BET inhibitors have been linked to tolerability issues, particularly in the gastrointestinal tract and bone marrow
suppressive effects like thrombocytopenia. If our product candidates are associated with side effects in preclinical studies and /
or clinical trials or have characteristics that are unexpected, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could
result, including:  our development costs could increase; * we may need to abandon development activities or limit
development to more narrow uses in which the side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more
acceptable from a risk- benefit perspective; « we may need to abandon the development or limit the further development of our
product candidates, including in various populations and for certain indications; * we could be sued and held liable for harm
caused to patients; * our reputation may suffer;  regulatory authorities may require that we suspend, discontinue, or limit our
clinical trials based on safety information; * regulatory authorities may withdraw approval to market such product; * regulatory
authorities may require additional warnings on the product labeling; * a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects
for distribution to patients may be required; and ¢ market acceptance of any products that do obtain regulatory approval could be
inhibited. Any of these events could prevent us from pursuing strategic alternatives, including identifying and consummating
transactions with third- party partners, to further develop, obtain marketing approval for and / or commercialize the particular
product candidate and could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. New chemical entities may
require more time and resources for development, testing and regulatory approval. Each of our BET inhibitor programs is-in-the
eatly-stages-of-development-involves a novel therapeutic approach and new chemical entity, requires significant further
research and development and regulatory approvals and is subject to the risks of failure inherent in the development of products
based on innovative approaches. New chemical entities derived from our InhiBET platform are molecules that have not
previously been approved and marketed as therapeutics. As a result, the product candidates from our InhiBET platform may
face greater risk of unanticipated safety issues or other side- effects, or may not demonstrate efficacy. For example, systemic
BET inhibitors have historically targeted both BD1 and BD2 less selectively, causing gastrointestinal toxicity and bone marrow
suppressive effects like thrombocytopenia. While we believe VYN202’ s high selectivity for BD2 may alleviate the therapeutic
limiting toxicities observed by other less BD2- selective BET inhibitors, we may need to spend more time and greater resources
verifying any toxicity associated with VYN202. Accordingly, the regulatory pathway for our new chemical entities may be
more demanding and take a longer period of time. Results obtained in preclinical studies and completed clinical trials may not
predict success in later clinical trials. Success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials
will be successful, and any future clinical trials that we may conduct may not demonstrate consistent or adequate efficacy and
safety to obtain regulatory approval to market our product candidates in any indication. Companies in the biopharmaceutical
industry frequently suffer significant setbacks in later- stage clinical trials, even after achieving promising results in preclinical



studies or earlier clinical trials. Phase 3 clinical trials often produce unsatisfactory results even though prior clinical trials were
successful. Any of these events could prevent us from pursuing strategic alternatives, including identifying and consummating
transactions with third- party partners, to further develop, obtain marketing approval for and / or commercialize a particular
product candidate and could significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects. Top = line and preliminary data
from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as additional data become available and are
subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data. We may publicly disclose top -
line or preliminary data from our clinical trials based on a preliminary analysis of then- available data. In that case, the results
and related findings and conclusions remain subject to change following a complete analysis of all data related to the trial. We
also make certain assumptions, estimations, calculations and conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have
received or had the opportunity to fully and carefully evaluate all data. As a result, the top - line or preliminary results that we
report may differ from future results of the same trials, or different conclusions or considerations may qualify such results, once
additional data have been received and fully evaluated. Top - line data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures
that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. Accordingly, top -
line and preliminary data should not be considered complete and should be viewed with caution until the final data are available.
We may also disclose interim data from our clinical trials. Interim data from clinical trials that we may complete are subject to
the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as subject enrollment continues and more subject data
become available. Adverse differences between interim, top - line or preliminary data and final data could significantly harm our
reputation and business prospects. Further, disclosure of interim, top = line or preliminary data by us or by our competitors could
result in volatility in the price of our common stock. Further, others, including regulatory agencies, may not accept or agree with
our assumptions, estimates, calculations, conclusions or analyses or may interpret or weigh the importance of data differently,
which could impact the potential of the particular program, the likelihood of marketing approval or commercialization of the
particular product candidate, any approved product, and our company in general. In addition, the information we choose to
publicly disclose regarding a particular study or clinical trial is derived from information that is typically extensive, and you or
others may not agree with what we determine is material or otherwise appropriate information to include in our disclosure, and
any information we determine not to disclose may ultimately be deemed significant with respect to future decisions,
conclusions, views, activities or otherwise regarding a particular program, product candidate or our business. If the interim, top -
line or preliminary data that we report differ from actual results, or if others, including regulatory authorities, disagree with the
conclusions reached, our ability to pursue strategic alternatives, including identifying and consummating transactions with third-
party partners to further develop, obtain marketing approval for and / or commercialize our product candidates may be harmed,
which could harm our business, operating results, prospects or financial condition. We have a limited history as a clinical- stage
biopharmaceutical company developing product candidates for immuno- inflammatory conditions, which may make it difficult
to assess our future viability. Our team has limited experience in developing drugs for the treatment of immuno- inflammatory
conditions. Consequently, any predictions you make about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could
be if we had a longer history of being a clinical- stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing drugs in this area. We
may also encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known or unknown factors in achieving
our business objectives. We may spend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to
capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.
We have chosen to initially evaluate ¥¥IN26+-repibresib gel in the treatment of nonsegmental vitiligo, and we intend to initially
evaluate VYN202 in the treatment of moderate- to- severe plaque psoriasis and , subject to adequate levels of funding,
moderate- to- severe adult- onset rheumatoid arthritis. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other
product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation
decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial drugs or profitable market opportunities. Our spending on
current and future development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any commercially viable
drugs. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may
relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through partnerships, licensing or other arrangements in cases in which it
would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product candidate.
We face competition from entities that have developed or may develop product candidates for the diseases addressed by our
product candidates, including companies developing novel treatments and technology platforms. If these companies develop
technologies or product candidates more rapidly than we do or their technologies are more effective, our ability to develop and
successfully commercialize product candidates may be adversely affected. The development and commercialization of drugs is
extremely competitive. Our product candidates, if approved, will face significant competition and our failure to effectively
compete may prevent us from achieving significant market penetration. Most of our competitors have significantly greater
resources than we do, and we may not be able to successfully compete. We compete with a variety of multinational
biopharmaceutical companies, specialized biotechnology companies and emerging biotechnology companies, as well as with
technologies and product candidates being developed at universities and other research institutions. Our competitors have
developed, are developing or will develop product candidates and processes competitive with our product candidates and
processes. Competitive therapeutic treatments, such as OPZELURA (ruxolitinib) cream, include those that have already been
approved and accepted by the medical community and any new treatments, including those based on novel technology
platforms that enter the market. We believe that a significant number of products are currently under development, and may
become commercially available in the future, for the treatment of conditions for which we are trying, or may try, to develop
product candidates. There is intense and rapidly evolving competition in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical fields.
Competition from many sources exists or may arise in the future. Our competitors include larger and better funded
biopharmaceutical, biotechnological and therapeutics companies, including companies focused on therapeutics for autoimmune



diseases. Moreover, we also compete with current and future therapeutics developed at universities and other research
institutions. Some of these companies are well- capitalized and, in contrast to us, have significant clinical experience, and may
include our existing or future collaborators. In addition, these companies compete with us in recruiting scientific and managerial
talent. Our success will depend partially on our ability to develop and commercialize therapeutics that are safer and more
effective than competing therapeutics. Our commercial opportunity and success will be reduced or eliminated if competing
therapeutics are safer, more effective, or less expensive than the therapeutics we develop. We have not obtained regulatory
approvals to market our product candidates, and we may be delayed in obtaining or fail to obtain such regulatory approvals and
to commercialize these product candidates. The process of developing, obtaining regulatory approval for and commercializing
our other product candidates is long, complex, costly and uncertain, and delays or failure can occur at any stage. Furthermore,
the research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, marketing, sale and distribution of drugs are subject to extensive and rigorous
regulation by the FDA. We are not permitted to market any of our product candidates in the United States until we receive
approval of the applicable NDA from the FDA. To gain approval of an NDA or other equivalent regulatory approval, we must
provide the FDA with clinical data and other information that demonstrates the continued safety and efficacy of the product for
the intended indication. Even if we believe our clinical trials were successful, the FDA may require that we conduct additional
clinical, nonclinical, manufacturing, validation or drug product quality studies and submit that data before considering or
reconsidering any NDA we may submit. Depending on the extent of these additional studies, approval of any applications that
we submit may be significantly delayed or may require us to expend more resources than we have available. It is also possible
that additional studies we conduct may not be considered sufficient by the FDA to provide regulatory approval. If any of these
outcomes occur, we would not receive approval for our other product candidates and may need to discontinue the development
of such product candidates. Even if our product candidates receive marketing approval, we may continue to face future
developmental and regulatory difficulties. In addition, we are subject to government regulations and we may experience delays
in obtaining required regulatory approvals to market our proposed product candidates. Even if we receive approval of any
regulatory filing for our product candidates, the FDA may grant approval contingent on the performance of additional costly
post- approval clinical trials or REMS to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product, which could negatively impact us by
reducing revenues or increasing expenses, and cause the product not to be commercially viable. Absence of long- term safety
data may further limit the approved uses of products. The FDA may also approve our product candidates for a more limited
indication or a narrower patient population than we originally requested, or may not approve the labeling that we believe is
necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of our product candidates. Furthermore, any such approved product
will remain subject to extensive regulatory requirements, including requirements relating to manufacturing, labeling, packaging,
adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion, distribution and recordkeeping. If we fail to comply with the regulatory
requirements of the FDA, or if we discover previously unknown problems with any approved commercial products,
manufacturers or manufacturing processes, we could be subject to administrative or judicially imposed sanctions or other
setbacks, which could require us to take corrective actions, including to: ¢ suspend or impose restrictions on operations,
including costly new manufacturing requirements;  refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications; ¢
suspend any ongoing clinical trials; ¢ suspend or withdraw marketing approval; * seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal
penalties or monetary fines; ¢ seize or detain products;  ban or restrict imports and exports; * issue warning letters or untitled
letters;  suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or * refuse to approve
pending applications or supplements to applications. In addition, various aspects of our operations are subject to federal, state or
local laws, rules and regulations, any of which may change from time to time. Costs arising out of any regulatory developments
could be time- consuming and expensive and could divert management resources and attention and, consequently, could
adversely affect our business operations and financial performance. We rely on third parties to conduct, supervise and monitor
our clinical studtes-trials , and if these third parties perform in an unsatisfactory manner, it may harm our business. We rely on
medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract laboratories, collaborative partners and other third parties, such as CROs, to
assist us in conducting our clinical trials for our other product candidates. While we will have agreements governing their
activities, we will have limited influence over their actual performance. We will control only certain aspects of our CROs’
activities. Nevertheless, we will be responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical stadies-trials is conducted in accordance
with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory and scientific standards, and our reliance on the CROs does not relieve us of our
regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs are required to comply with the FDA’ s and other regulatory authorities’ good
clinical practices (" GCPs") for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical studtes-trials to assure that the data
and reported results are credible and accurate, and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of clinical trial participants are
protected. If we or our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCPs, or if our CROs do not adequately monitor the conduct of
medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract laboratories or other third parties involved in our clinical trials, the
clinical data generated in our futareclinical studies-trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA and other regulatory
authorities may require us to perform additional clinical studtes-trials before approving any marketing applications. If the third
parties or consultants that assist us in conducting our clinical trials do not perform their contractual duties or obligations,
experience work stoppages, do not meet expected deadlines, terminate their agreements with us or need to be replaced, or if the
quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical trial protocols or
GCPs, or for any other reason, our clinical trial results may be negatively impacted and / or we may need to conduct
additional clinical trials or enter into new arrangements with alternative third parties, which could be difficult, costly or
impossible . As a result , and-our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated or may need to be repeated. If any of the
foregoing were to occur, we may not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, regulatory approval for the product
candidates being tested in such trials, and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize
these product candidates. Changes in methods of product candidate manufacturing or formulation may result in additional costs



or delays. As product candidates are developed through preclinical studies to later- stage clinical trials towards approval and
commercialization, it is common that various aspects of the development program, such as manufacturing methods and
formulation, are altered in an effort to optimize processes and results. For example, we are intend-to-evalaate-evaluating a gel
formulation of ¥¥IN26+-repibresib in our planned-Phase 2b trial rather than an ointment, which was used in our completed
Phase 1b trial. Such modifications carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives, and may also require
additional testing, FDA notification or FDA approval. Any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform
differently and affect the results of planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials conducted with the altered materials. This
could delay completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or more clinical
trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product candidates and jeopardize our ability to pursue strategic
alternatives, including identifying and consummating transactions with third- party partners to further develop, obtain marketing
approval for and / or commercialize our product candidates. Risks Related to ear-Our Financial Position and Need for Capital
We will need substantial additional funding to pursue our business objectives. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we
could be forced to curtail our planned operations. Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical testing and
clinical trials is a time- consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete. We may never generate the
necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval for and / or commercialize our product candidates or identify and
consummate transactions with third- party partners to further develop our product candidates. We expect to incur significant
expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future as we advance our product candidates from discovery through
preclinical and clinical development. In addition, we may not be able to identify and consummate transactions with third- party
partners to further develop, obtain marketing approval for and / or commercialize our product candidates, and our product
candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Furthermore, we incur and expect to continue to incur significant
costs associated with operating as a public company, including legal, accounting, investor relations and other expenses. We also
expect to add additional personnel to support our operational plans and strategic direction as needed. As of December 31, 2623
2024 , we had $93-61 . 3-5 million in cash, cash equivalents ;restrietedeashand marketable securities. We believe these
resources will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least 12 months
from the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K based on our current operating assumptions. These assumptions may prove
to be wrong, however, and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we expect. Changes may occur beyond our
control that would cause us to consume our available capital before that time, including changes in and progress of our
development activities, acquisitions of additional products or product candidates, and changes in regulation. Our future capital
requirements depend on many factors, including: * milestone payments associated with our development programs; * the
number and development requirements of the product candidates that we may pursue; * the scope, progress, results and costs of
preclinical development, laboratory testing and conducting preclinical and clinical trials for our product candidates; ¢ costs
associated with manufacturing and supplying our product candidates; ¢ the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of
our product candidates; ¢ the extent to which we in- license or acquire additional product candidates and technologies; * the
costs and timing of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property
rights and defending any intellectual property- related claims; ¢ the impact on the timing of our preclinical studies, on the
recruitment, enrollment, conduct and timing of our clinical trials, and on our business, due to external or macroeconomic factors;
* our headcount and associated costs as we expand our research and development infrastructure;  our ability to identify and
consummate transactions with third- party partners to further develop, obtain marketing approval for and / or commercialize our
product candidates, and earn revenue from such arrangements; and * the ongoing costs of operating as a public company.
Additional capital may not be available when we need it, on terms that are acceptable to us or at all. If adequate funds are not
available to us on a timely basis, we may be required to revise our operating plan in order to: « delay, limit, reduce or terminate
our research and development activities; or « delay, limit, reduce or terminate preclinical studies, clinical trials or other
development activities for our product candidates (including any planned clinical trials to pursue additional indications for
other product candidates) . [f we raise additional capital through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements
with third parties, we may have to relinquish certain valuable rights to our product candidates, technologies, future revenue
streams or research programs or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we raise additional capital through
public or private equity offerings, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted and the terms of any new
debt securities or equity securities may have a preference over our common stock. In addition, if we issue warrants or preferred
stock in connection with our financing activities, such securities may include terms that are unfavorable to our stockholders,
including anti- dilution provisions and other preferences. In addition, any holders of preferred stock may receive preferential
voting rights that are superior to the voting rights of holders of our common stock. If we raise additional capital through debt
financing, we may be subject to covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional
debt or making capital expenditures or specified financial ratios, any of which could restrict our ability to operate our business.
We have incurred significant losses since our inception and we anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses for the
foreseeable future, which could harm our future business prospects. We have historically incurred substantial net losses,
including net losses of $ 39. 8 million and $ 28. 5 milltenand-$23-2-million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022- respectively. As of December 31, 2023-2024 | we had an accumulated deficit of $ 694731 . 3-2 million. We expect
our losses to continue as we continue to devote a substantial portion of our resources to our research and development efforts.
These losses have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our working capital, total assets, and shareholders’ equity.
Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with our research and development, we are unable to predict when
we will become profitable, and we may never become profitable. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to
sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Our inability to achieve and then maintain profitability would
negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. We anticipate that our expenses will



increase substantially if and as we: ¢ continue to develop product candidates and conduct preclinical studies and clinical trials ;
initiate and continue research and development, including preclinical, clinical and discovery efforts for any future product
candidates ; * seek to identify additional product candidates ; * seek regulatory approvals for our product candidates that may
successfully complete clinical development ; * add personnel to support our product candidate development ; ¢ hire and retain
additional personnel, such as clinical, quality control, scientific, and administrative personnel ; * maintain, expand and protect
our intellectual property portfolio ; and ¢ acquire or in- license other product candidates and technologies. Our expenses could
increase beyond our expectations if we are required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities to perform clinical trials in
addition to those that we currently expect. SEC regulations limit the amount of funds we can raise during any 12- month period
pursuant to our shelf registration statement on Form S- 3. SEC regulations limit the amount that companies with a public float of
less than $ 75 million may raise during any 12- month period pursuant to a shelf registration statement on Form S- 3, referred to
as the baby shelf rules. As of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, we are subject to such rules. Under these rules, the
amount of funds we can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any 12- month period using our registration
statement on Form S- 3, including our at- the- market equity offering program, will be limited to one- third of the aggregate
market value of the shares of our common stock held by our non- affiliates. Therefore, we will be significantly limited in the
amount of proceeds we are able to raise by selling shares of our common stock using our Form S- 3 until such time as our public
float exceeds $ 75 million. Furthermore, if we are required to file a new registration statement on another form, we may incur
additional costs and be subject to delays due to review by the SEC staff. Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our
stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish proprietary rights. We currently expect to finance our cash needs
through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. On
March 1, 2024, we entered into a sales agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC, as sales agent ("' Cowen'') under
which we may offer and sell, from time to time at our sole discretion, shares of our common stock through Cowen in an
at- the- market offering having an aggregate offering price up to $ 50. 0 million. To the extent that we raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted and the terms of these
securities may include liquidation, anti- dilution protection or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a
stockholder. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to
take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. In addition, we may
opportunistically seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe that
we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic
alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future
revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are
otherwise unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce
or terminate our product development or grant rights to third parties to develop product candidates that we would otherwise
prefer to develop ourselves. Other Risks Related to Our Business and Financial Operations Collaboration arrangements that we
may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our
product candidates. We may seek collaboration arrangements with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies for the
development or eventual commercialization of our product candidates in the future. We may enter into arrangements on a
selective basis, depending on the merits of retaining certain rights ourselves compared to entering into selective collaboration
arrangements with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies internationally and possibly also in the United States. Any such
collaboration arrangements may not be successful. In addition, the success of future collaboration arrangements that we may
enter into will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of our collaborators. Collaborators generally have significant
discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations. When entering collaboration
arrangements, we are subject to a number of risks, including:  collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient
funding for a clinical trial, stop a clinical trial or abandon products, repeat or conduct new clinical trials, require a new
formulation of products for clinical testing, may decide not to pursue development and commercialization of a product or
product candidate or may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization programs based on clinical trial
results, changes in their strategic focus due to their acquisition of competitive products or their internal development of
competitive products, availability of funding or other external factors, such as a business combination that diverts resources or
creates competing priorities; ¢ any safety issues or adverse side effects that result from trials conducted by a collaborator will
adversely impact our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates; * any failure by a collaborator to
demonstrate efficacy of a product candidate in its clinical trials could decrease the perceived likelihood of success for our
clinical trials; * disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement regarding clinical development matters may lead
to delays in the development process or commercializing the applicable product candidate and, in some cases, termination of the
collaboration arrangement; ¢ collaboration arrangements are complex and time- consuming to negotiate, document and
implement, and we may not be successful in our efforts to establish and implement collaborations or other alternative
arrangements should we so chose to enter into such arrangements; ¢ collaborations with pharmaceutical or biotechnology
companies and other third parties often are terminated or allowed to expire by the other party and any such termination or
expiration would adversely affect us financially and could harm our business reputation; * collaboration agreements may be
terminated and, if terminated, may result in delays or the need for a new collaborator or additional capital to pursue further
development of our product candidates in certain markets; ¢ collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third
parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our product candidates; ¢ terms of any collaborations or other
arrangements that we may establish may not be favorable to us; * we could grant exclusive rights to our collaborators that would
prevent us from collaborating with others; « we will face, to the extent that we decide to enter into collaboration agreements,
significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators; ¢ collaborators may not properly use, manage, maintain or defend



our confidential information and intellectual property rights or may use our intellectual property or proprietary information in a
way that gives rise to actual or threatened litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary
information or expose us to potential liability; * collaborators may own or co- own intellectual property covering products that
results from our collaborating with them, and in such cases, we would not have the exclusive right to develop such intellectual
property and they may be able to develop such products without us; ¢ disputes may arise with respect to the ownership of any
intellectual property developed pursuant to our collaborations;  adverse regulatory determinations or other legal action may
interfere with the ability of a collaborator to conduct clinical trials or other development activity; ¢ one or more collaborators
may be subject to regulatory or legal action resulting from the failure to meet healthcare industry compliance requirements in the
conduct of clinical trials; and ¢ collaboration arrangements could be adversely impacted by changes in collaborators’ key
management personnel and other personnel that are administering collaboration agreements. We are subject to various risks and
uncertainties arising out of the completed divestiture of our commercial business, any of which could materially and adversely
affect our business and operations, and our stock price. We completed the sale of our prior commercial business in January
2022. Pursuant to the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement entered into in connection with the purchase of that business by
Journey Medical Corporation (" Journey"), we are eligible to receive sales milestone payments of up to $ 450. 0 million in the
aggregate upon the achievement of specified levels of net sales on a product- by- product basis, beginning with annual net sales
exceeding $ 100. 0 million. In addition, we are entitled to receive certain payments from any licensing or sublicensing of the
assets by Journey outside of the United States. Under the terms of the agreement, Journey does not have any diligence
obligations to achieve any such net sales milestones, and we can provide no assurance that such milestones will ever be met.
Furthermore, Journey may decide not to license or sublicense the assets in any territory outside of the United States, in which
case we would not receive any additional related payments. If any of the foregoing events occur, we will not realize all of the
benefits of the sale. In addition, we are still subject to potential liabilities relating to our historical commercial business
operations that were subject to the Asset Purchase Agreement. Under the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement, we retained
and are responsible for historical liabilities of the commercial business operations based on events occurring prior to the sale
other than those liabilities expressly assumed by Journey. For example, we remain liable for payment of product sales
provisions, such as distribution fees and trade discounts and allowances, rebates, chargebacks and other discounts and product
returns. See" Part II — Item 8. Financial Statements — Note 2 —— Significant Accounting Policies — Revenue Recognition —
Product Sales Provisions." We are also obligated to indemnify Journey against certain potential liabilities and for breaches of
certain representations, warranties and covenants under the agreement up to certain caps, and those liabilities may be set off
against any future payments owed to us by Journey. In addition to direct expenditures for damages, settlement and defense costs,
there is the possibility of adverse publicity as a result of any such claims, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business and stock price. In addition, we remain subject to potential investigation or inquiry by regulatory authorities with
respect to our legacy commercial business operations, which could result in additional distraction to our management and could
ultimately result in further liabilities. Our failure to successfully in- license, acquire, develop and market additional product
candidates or approved products could impair our ability to grow our business. We may in- license, acquire and develop
additional product candidates. The success of this strategy depends partly upon our ability to identify and select promising
pharmaceutical product candidates, negotiate licensing or acquisition agreements with their current owners and finance these
arrangements. The process of proposing, negotiating and implementing a license or acquisition of a product candidate is lengthy
and complex. Other companies, including some with substantially greater financial and other resources may compete with us for
the license or acquisition of product candidates. We have limited resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-
licensing of third- party product candidates, businesses and technologies and integrate them into our current infrastructure.
Moreover, we may devote resources to potential acquisitions or licensing opportunities that are never completed, or we may fail
to realize the anticipated benefits of such efforts. Additionally, we may not be able to acquire the rights to additional product
candidates on terms that we find acceptable, or at all. Further, any product candidate that we acquire may require additional
development efforts prior to commercial sale, including preclinical or clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable
foreign regulatory authorities. All product candidates are prone to risks of failure typical of pharmaceutical product
development, including the possibility that a product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for
approval by regulatory authorities. We may engage in strategic transactions, which could impact our liquidity, increase our
expenses and present significant distractions to our management. We may in- license and acquire product candidates or engage
in other strategic transactions. Additional potential transactions that we may consider include a variety of different business
arrangements, including out- licensing, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings, divestitures, business combinations
and investments. Any such transaction may require us to incur non- recurring or other charges, may increase our near- and long-
term expenditures and may pose significant integration challenges or disrupt our management or business, which could
adversely affect our operations and financial results. For example, these transactions entail numerous potential operational and
financial risks, including:  incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pay for acquisitions; ®
exposure to unknown liabilities; ¢ disruption of our business and diversion of our management’ s time and attention in order to
develop acquired products, product candidates or technologies; ¢ substantial acquisition and integration costs; ¢ write- downs of
assets or impairment charges; ¢ increased amortization expenses; * difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel
of any acquired businesses with our operations and personnel; « impairment of relationships with key suppliers, partners or
customers of any acquired businesses due to changes in management and ownership; and ¢ inability to retain our key employees
or those of any acquired businesses. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will undertake or successfully complete any
transactions of the nature described above, and any transaction that we do complete could harm our business, financial
condition, operating results and prospects. We may decide not to continue developing any of our product candidates at any time
during development or of any of our products after approval, which would reduce or eliminate our potential return on investment



for those product candidates or products. We have in the past decided and may again in the future decide to discontinue the
development of any of our product candidates in our pipeline or not to continue to commercialize any approved product. We
may discontinue development of other product candidates for a variety of reasons, such as the appearance of new technologies
that make our product less commercially viable, resource allocation management, an increase in competition from generic or
other competing products, changes in or failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, the discovery of unforeseen
side effects during clinical development or after the approved product has been marketed or the occurrence of adverse events at
arate or severity level that is greater than experienced in prior clinical trials. If we discontinue a program in which we have
invested significant resources, we will receive a limited return on our investment and we will have missed the opportunity to
have allocated those resources to other product candidates in our pipeline that may have had potentially more productive uses.
Supply interruptions may disrupt the availability of our product candidates and cause delays in conducting preclinical or clinical
activities. We depend on a limited number of manufacturing facilities to manufacture our product candidates. Numerous factors
could cause interruptions in the supply or manufacture of our product candidates, including: ¢ timing, scheduling and
prioritization of production by our contract manufacturers or a breach of our agreements by our contract manufacturers; * labor
interruptions; ¢ insufficient raw and intermediate materials necessary for production; ¢ changes in our sources for
manufacturing; * the timing and delivery of shipments; ¢ our failure to locate and obtain replacement suppliers and
manufacturers as needed on a timely basis; ¢ conditions affecting the cost and availability of raw materials, including
inflationary factors; and ¢ business interruptions resulting from geopolitical actions, including war, such as the current Russia-
Ukraine war and Israel- Hamas war, and terrorism, outbreak of a contagious disease, or natural disasters including earthquakes,
typhoons, floods and fires. Furthermore, the primary manufacturer of the active pharmaceutical ingredient (" API") in our
product candidates is located in China. Certain Chinese biotechnology companies and contract manufacturing
organizations may become subject to trade restrictions, sanctions, and other regulatory requirements by the U. S.
government, which could restrict or even prohibit our ability to work with such entities, thereby potentially disrupting
the supply of material to us. Such disruption could have adverse effects on the development of our product candidates
and our business operations. Therefore, we are exposed to the possibility of product supply disruption and increased costs in
the event of changes in the policies of the United States or Chinese governments or political unrest or unstable economic
conditions in China. If we are required to change manufacturers for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new
manufacturer maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all applicable regulations and
guidelines. Production of product is necessary to perform preclinical activities and clinical trials and successful registration
batches are necessary to file for approval to commercially market and sell product candidates. Delays in obtaining clinical
material or registration batches could adversely impact our clinical trials and delay regulatory approval for our product
candidates. We might not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss carryforwards and research and
development tax credit carryforwards. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards of § 334343 . +-4 million and $ 44-53 . -6 million, respectively, of which $ 44. 3 million will begin to expire in
2031 for federal and $ 24-53 . 3-6 million will begin to expire in 2040 for state purposes. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we
had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $ 6-7 . 9-2 million which will begin to expire in 2031. We have
no state research and development tax credit carryforwards. Portions of These-these net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable if we do not generate sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration.
Bader-eurrentdawsour-U. S. federal net operating losses incurred in the taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 may
be carried forward indefinitely, but the ability to utilize such federal net operating loss carryforwards to offset taxable income is
limited to 80 % of our current year taxable income. In addition, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and corresponding provisions of state law, if a corporation undergoes an “ ownership change ” (generally
defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change, by value, in its equity ownership by significant stockholders over a three-
year period) the corporation’ s ability to use its pre- change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre- change tax attributes
to offset its post- change income or tax liability may be limited. We have not completed a 382 study through December 31, 2623
2024 , however, we may have experienced ownership changes in the past, including in connection with the 2020 merger
between Menlo Fherapeuties-(our predecessor company) and Foamix PharmaeentiealsEtd- [n addition, our private placement
transaction in November 2023 likely resulted in an ownership change for purposes of Section 382. We may also experience
ownership changes in the future as a result of the subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which may be outside of our
control. As a result, even if we earn taxable income, our ability to use the-our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards
may be materially limited, which could harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations.
The Israeli Tax Authority may disagree with our conclusions regarding certain tax positions, resulting in unanticipated costs,
taxes or non- realization of expected benefits. In December 2020, we initiated a voluntary liquidation of our Israeli subsidiary in
order to consolidate the ownership of our intellectual property. In connection with the liquidation, the intellectual property and
other assets owned by our Israeli subsidiary were assigned to us. Based on our analysis, we notified the Israeli Tax Authority
that the gains realized by our Israeli subsidiary from the transfer of its assets to us were offset by net operating losses and that
the liquidation did not result in tax in Israel under Israeli tax law. In the event that the Israeli Tax Authority does not agree with
our analysis, we may be subject to a material tax liability. In addition, we may incur additional costs associated with defending
our position. Any such outcome may have a material adverse effect on our financial results. If we fail to attract and keep senior
management and key scientific personnel, we may be unable to successfully execute our strategy. Our success depends in part
on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management and clinical and scientific personnel. We
believe that our future success is highly dependent upon the contributions of our senior management. The loss of services of any
of these individuals could delay or prevent the successful preclinical and clinical development of our product pipeline.
Competition for qualified personnel in the pharmaceutical field is intense due to the limited number of individuals who possess



the skills and experience required by our industry. We may need to hire additional personnel as we expand our clinical
development activities. We may not be able to attract and retain quality personnel on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, to
the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or that
they have divulged proprietary or other confidential information, or that their former employers own their research output. We
may become subject to lawsuits or investigations that could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations
and financial condition. From time to time and in the ordinary course of our business, we may become involved in various
lawsuits, in addition to product liability lawsuits and lawsuits to protect and enforce our intellectual property. These lawsuits
may include claims initiated by our third- party collaborators, suppliers, manufacturers, former employees, contractors or
vendors and claims related to the sale of securities and related disclosure. In addition, we may become involved in an
investigation concerning , or indirectly related to, our business activities, including our previous commercial activities. All
such lawsuits and investigations are inherently unpredictable and, regardless of the merits of the claims, litigation may be
expensive, time- consuming and disruptive to our operations and distracting to management. If resolved against us, such lawsuits
could result in excessive verdicts, injunctive relief or other equitable relief that may affect how we operate our business.
Similarly, if we settle such lawsuits, it may affect how we operate our business. Future court decisions, alternative dispute
resolution awards, business expansion or legislative activity may increase our exposure to litigation and regulatory
investigations. In some cases, substantial non- economic remedies or punitive damages may be sought. Although we maintain
liability insurance coverage, including director and officer insurance with liability coverage limits, such coverage may not cover
any particular verdict, judgment or settlement that may be entered against us, or our officers and directors, and such coverage
may not prove to be adequate or such coverage may not continue to remain available on acceptable terms or at all. If we incur
liability that exceeds our insurance coverage or that is not within the scope of the coverage in lawsuits brought against us, it
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. If our information technology
systems or those of third parties upon which we rely or our data are, or were, compromised, we could experience adverse
consequences resulting from such compromise, including but not limited to regulatory investigations or actions, litigation, fines
and penalties, disruptions of our business operations, reputational harm, loss of revenue or profits and other adverse
consequence. In the ordinary course of our business, we and the third parties upon which we rely process proprietary,
confidential, and sensitive data, including personal data (such as health- related data), intellectual property, and trade secrets
(collectively, sensitive information). Despite the implementation of security measures, our information technology systems and
infrastructure, and those of our current and any future partners, contractors and consultants, are vulnerable to damage from
computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. The ever-
increasing use and evolution of technology, including cloud- based computing, creates opportunities for the unintentional
dissemination or intentional destruction of confidential information stored in our systems or in non- encrypted portable media or
storage devices. Cyber- attacks, malicious internet- based activity, online and offline fraud, and other similar activities threaten
the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our sensitive information and information technology systems, and those of the
third parties upon which we rely. Such threats are prevalent and continue to rise, are increasingly difficult to detect, and come
from a variety of sources, including traditional computer “ hackers,  threat actors, “ hacktivists, ”” organized criminal threat
actors, personnel (such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation states, and nation- state- supported actors. Some actors
now engage and are expected to continue to engage in cyber- attacks, including without limitation nation- state actors for
geopolitical reasons and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities. During times of war and other major
conflicts, we, the third parties upon which we rely, may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these attacks, including retaliatory
cyber- attacks, that could materially disrupt our systems and operations, supply chain, and ability to produce, sell and distribute
our goods and services. We and the third parties upon which we rely may be subject to a variety of evolving threats, including
but not limited to social- engineering attacks (including through phishing attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms),
malware (including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions), denial- of- service attacks (such as credential stuffing),
credential harvesting, personnel misconduct or error, ransomware attacks, supply- chain attacks, software bugs, server
malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss of data or other information technology assets, adware, telecommunications
failures, attacks enhanced or facilitated by artificial intelligence, and other similar threats. In particular, severe ransomware
attacks are becoming increasingly prevalent and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of sensitive data and
income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds. Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware
attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting
such payments. We are increasingly dependent upon information technology systems, infrastructure and data to operate our
business. Remote work has-beeome-more-eommen-and-has increased risks to our information technology systems and data, as
more of our employees utilize network connections, computers and devices outside our premises or network, including working
at home, while in transit and in public locations. Future or past business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could
expose us to additional cybersecurity risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be negatively affected by vulnerabilities
present in acquired or integrated entities’ systems and technologies. Furthermore, we may discover security issues that were not
found during due diligence of such acquired or integrated entities, and it may be difficult to integrate companies into our
information technology environment and security program. While we have not experienced any such material system failure,
accident or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could cause
damage or destroy assets, compromise business systems, result in proprietary information, trade secrets and other sensitive
information being altered, lost, stolen, or published and may result in loss of intellectual property and in employee or third- party
information being compromised, or otherwise disrupt business operations. For example, the loss of manufacturing records or
clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and
significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to



result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information,
we could incur liability and the further development of our current and any future product candidates could be delayed. Our
employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, CROs and any partners with which we may
collaborate may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and
requirements, which could have an adverse effect on our business. We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent
contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, CROs, distributors, prescribers, pharmacies and any partners with
which we may collaborate may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these persons could include
intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or unauthorized activity that violates: laws or regulations, including those laws
requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to the FDA or foreign regulatory authorities; manufacturing
standards; federal, state and foreign healthcare fraud and abuse laws and data privacy; or laws that require the true, complete and
accurate reporting of financial information or data. In particular, sales, marketing and other business arrangements in the
healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self- dealing and other abusive practices.
These laws may restrict or prohibit a wide range of business activities, including research, manufacturing, distribution, pricing,
discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commissions, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements.
Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, or illegal
misappropriation of drug product, which could result in regulatory sanctions or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure
to be in compliance with such laws or regulations, and serious harm to our reputation. In addition, federal procurement laws
impose substantial penalties for misconduct in connection with government contracts and require certain contractors to maintain
a code of business ethics and conduct. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending
ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil,
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and
other federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and
curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our operating results.
Unfavorable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. A
severe or prolonged economic downturn could result in a variety of risks to our business, including our ability to raise additional
capital when needed on acceptable terms, if at all. A weak or declining economy could also strain our suppliers, possibly
resulting in supply disruption and ultimately delaying our development activities. For example, inflation rates, particularly in the
United States and United Kingdom, have increased recently to levels not seen in years, and increased inflation may result in
increases in our operating costs (including our labor costs), reduced liquidity and limits on our ability to access credit or
otherwise raise capital. In addition, the Federal Reserve has raised, and may again raise, interest rates in response to concerns
about inflation, which coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets may have the effect of
further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks. Additionally, global commerce has experienced periods of
volatility and interruption following the invasion of Ukraine by Russia in February 2022 and the escalation of conflict in the
Middle East in October 2023. In early 2025, the U. S. government also began imposing tariffs on certain foreign products,
including products from China, which may lead to retaliatory tariff policies from other nations and result in increased
costs of conducting our business. Any of the foregoing could harm our business and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in
which the current economic climate and geopolltlcal and ﬁnancral market conditions could adversely 1mpact our busrness
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Additionally, any challenge to or investigation into our practices under these laws could cause adverse publicity and be costly to
respond to, and thus could harm our business. There are numerous U. S. federal, state, local and foreign health care fraud and
abuse laws pertaining to our business, including anti- kickback, false claims and physician transparency laws. Our business
practices and relationships with providers, patients and third- party payors are subject to scrutiny under these laws. These laws
may impact, among other things, our potential sales, marketing, patient assistance and education programs. We may also be
subject to patient information privacy and security regulation by both the federal government, states and foreign jurisdictions in
which we conduct our business. The healthcare laws and regulations that may affect our ability to operate include:  the U. S.
federal Anti- Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, soliciting, receiving, or
paying remuneration directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the
purchase, order or recommendation of goods or services for which payment may be made in whole or part by Medicare,
Medicaid or other federal health care programs. Remuneration has been broadly defined to include anything of value, including
cash, improper discounts, and free or reduced price items and services. The intent standard under the federal Anti- Kickback
Statute was amended by the ACA to a stricter standard such that a person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of
the statute or specific intent to violate it, in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the ACA provides that a claim
including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti- Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim
for purposes of the FCA. Additionally, many states have similar laws that apply to their state health care programs as well as
private payors. Violations of the federal or state anti- kickback laws can result in exclusion from federal and state health care
programs and substantial civil and criminal penalties; ¢ the federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary
penalties laws, including the FCA, prohibit, among other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to
be presented, false, fictitious or fraudulent claims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid or other federal healthcare programs,
and knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim to
avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. As a result of a modification made by the



Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, a claim includes *“ any request or demand  for money or property presented to
the federal government. Even where pharmaceutical companies do not submit claims directly to payors, they can be held liable
under these laws if they are deemed to “ cause ” the submission of false or fraudulent claims by, for example, providing
inaccurate billing or coding information to customers, promoting a product off- label, marketing products of sub- standard
quality, or, as noted above, paying a kickback that results in a claim for items or services. In addition, activities relating to the
reporting of wholesaler or estimated retail prices for pharmaceutical products, the reporting of prices used to calculate Medicaid
rebate information and other information affecting federal, state and third- party reimbursement for such products, and the sale
and marketing of such products, are subject to scrutiny under this law. For example, several pharmaceutical and other healthcare
companies have faced enforcement actions under these laws for allegedly inflating drug prices they report to pricing services,
which in turn were used by the government to set Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement rates, and for allegedly providing free
product to customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the product. Private individuals or
“ whistleblowers ” can bring FCA “ qui tam ” actions on behalf of the government and may share in recovered amounts. The
FCA has been used to prosecute persons submitting claims for payment that are inaccurate or fraudulent, that are for services not
provided as claimed, or for services that are not medically necessary. Proof of intent to deceive is not required to establish
liability under the civil False Claims Act; « HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things,
executing or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, including any third party payors,
knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a healthcare benefit program, willfully obstructing a criminal investigation
of a healthcare offense, and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any
materially false, fictitious or fraudulent statements or representations, or making false statements relating to healthcare benefits,
items or services. Similar to the federal Anti- Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the
statute or specific intent to violate it to have committed a violation;  HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and their respective
implementing regulations, including the Final Omnibus Rule published on January 25, 2013, which impose, among other things,
obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of
individually identifiable health information held by certain healthcare providers, health plans and healthcare clearinghouses,
known as ““ covered entities, ” and *“ business associates. ” Among other things, HITECH made certain aspects of HIPAA’ s
rules (notably the Security Rule) directly applicable to business associates- independent contractors or agents of covered entities
that receive or obtain individually identifiable health information in connection with providing a service on behalf of a covered
entity, and their covered subcontractors. HITECH also created four new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended HIPAA to
make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file
civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal court to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorney’ s fees and costs
associated with pursuing federal civil actions. The Department of Health and Human Services Office for Civil Rights (" OCR")
has increased its focus on compliance and continues to train state attorneys general for enforcement purposes. The OCR has
increased both its efforts to audit HIPAA compliance and its level of enforcement, with one penalty amounting to $ 16 million.
In addition, according to the United States Federal Trade Commission (" FTC") failing to take appropriate steps to keep
consumers’ personal information secure constitutes unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5 (a)
of the Federal Trade Commission Act (" FTCA") 15 USC § 45 (a). The FTC expects a company’ s data security measures to be
reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it holds, the size and complexity of its
business, and the cost of available tools to improve security and reduce vulnerabilities. Medical data is considered sensitive data
that merits stronger safeguards. The FTC’ s guidance for appropriately securing consumers’ personal information is similar to
what is required by the HIPAA Security Rule; ¢ the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act and its implementing regulations,
which require certain manufacturers of prescription drugs, devices and medical supplies for which payment is available under
Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’ s Health Insurance Program to annually report to CMS information related to payments and
other transfers of value to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain
other healthcare professionals (such as nurse practitioners and physicians assistants) and teaching hospitals, or to entities or
individuals at the request of, or designated on behalf of, the physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and
investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members. In addition, Section 6004 of the ACA requires
annual reporting of information about drug samples that manufacturers and authorized distributors provide to physicians; and *
analogous state, local and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti- kickback and false claims laws, and other states’ laws
addressing the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving
healthcare items or services reimbursed by non- governmental third party payors, including private insurers, and in some cases
that may apply regardless of payor, i. e., even if reimbursement is not available; state laws that require drug companies to
comply with the industry’ s voluntary compliance guidelines (the PARMA Code) and the applicable compliance program
guidance promulgated by the federal government (HHS- OIG) or otherwise prohibit or restrict gifts or payments that may be
made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state and local laws that require the licensure of sales
representatives; state laws that require drug manufacturers to report information related to drug pricing or payments and other
transfers of value to healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and pricing information; and state laws related to insurance
fraud in the case of claims involving private insurers. These and similar laws may be subject to amendment or reinterpretation,
and implementing regulations may be revised or reinterpreted, in ways that may significantly affect our business. State and
federal authorities have aggressively targeted pharmaceutical companies for alleged violations of these fraud and abuse laws
based on improper research or consulting contracts with doctors, certain marketing arrangements that rely on volume- based
pricing, off- label marketing schemes, and other improper promotional practices. Efforts to ensure that our business
arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is
possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes,



regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are
found to be in violation of any of the health regulatory laws described above or any other laws or regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to significant penalties, including criminal, civil and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement,
individual imprisonment, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, debarment from contracting with the
U. S. government, injunctions and private qui tam actions brought by individual whistleblowers in the name of the government.
Companies targeted in such actions have, among other consequences, paid substantial fines in the hundreds of millions of dollars
or more, have been forced to implement extensive corrective action plans, and have often become subject to consent decrees or
corporate integrity agreements that severely restrict the manner in which they conduct their business, including the requirement
of additional reporting and oversight obligations. Due to the breadth of these laws, the narrowness of statutory exceptions and
regulatory safe harbors available, and the range of interpretations to which they are subject, it is possible that some of our
current or future practices might be challenged under one or more of these laws. Responding to investigations, enforcement
actions and litigation can be time- and resource- consuming and can divert management’ s attention from the business. Any such
investigation, action, litigation or settlement could increase our costs or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business and
reputation. Even an unsuccessful challenge or investigation into our practices could cause adverse publicity and be costly to
respond to. In addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product candidates outside the U. S. will also likely
subject us to non- U. S. equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other non- U. S. laws. We and third
parties with whom we work are subject to stringent and evolving U. S. and foreign laws, regulations, and rules, contractual
obligations, industry standards, policies and other obligations related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure
to comply with such obligations could lead to regulatory investigations or actions; litigation (including class claims) and mass
arbitration demands; fines and penalties; disruptions of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits;
and other adverse business consequences. In the ordinary course of business, we collect, receive, store, process, generate, use,
transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of, transmit, and share (collectively, process) personal data and other
sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential business data, trade secrets, intellectual property, data we collect
about trial participants in connection with clinical trials, sensitive third- party data, business plans, transactions, and financial
information. ©ur-The data processing activities related to our work subject us and the third parties with whom we work to
numerous data privacy and security obligations, such as various laws, regulations, guidance, industry standards, external and
internal privacy and security policies, contractual requirements, and other obligations relating to data privacy and security. In
the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including data
breach notification laws, personal data privacy laws, consumer protection laws (e. g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade

Commission Act), and other similar laws. I-n—t-he—past—few—yeafs—ﬂuﬁaefeus—Numerous U. S. states —inelading-Califernia;
Virginta,-Cotorado,-Conneetieutand-Ytalr—have enacted comprehenswe privacy laws that impose certain obligations on

covered businesses, including providing specific disclosures in privacy notices and affording residents with certain rights
concerning their personal data. As applicable, such rights may include the right to access, correct, or delete certain personal data,
and to opt- out of certain data processing activities, such as targeted advertising, profiling, and automated decision- making. The
exercise of these rights may impact our business and ability to provide our products and services. Certain states also impose
stricter requirements for processing certain personal data, including sensitive information, such as conducting data privacy
impact assessments. These state laws allow for statutory fines for noncompliance. For example, the California Consumer
Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (* CPRA ”), (collectively, “ CCPA ”) applies to
personal data of consumers, business representatives, and employees who are California residents, and requires businesses to
provide specific disclosures in privacy notices and honor requests of such individuals to exercise certain privacy rights. The
CCPA provides for fines of up to $ 7, 500 per intentional violation and allows private litigants affected by certain data breaches
to recover significant statutory damages. Although the CCPA exempts some data processed in the context of clinical trials, the
CCPA increases compliance costs and potential liability with respect to other personal data we maintain about California
residents. Similar laws are being considered in several other states, as well as at the federal and local levels, and we expect more
states to pass similar laws in the future. While these states, like the CCPA, also exempt some data processed in the context of
clinical trials, these developments further complicate compliance efforts, and increase legal risk and compliance costs for us,
and the third parties upon whom we rely. Outside the United States, an increasing number of laws, regulations, and industry
standards govern data privacy and security. For example, the European Union’ s General Data Protection Regulation (“ EU
GDPR ”), the United Kingdom’ s GDPR (“ UK GDPR ”), Brazil’ s General Data Protection Law, and China’ s Personal
Information Protection Law (“ PIPL ) impose strict requirements for processing personal data. For example, under the GDPR,
companies may face temporary or definitive bans on data processing and other corrective actions; fines of up to 20 million Euros
under the EU GDPR, 17. 5 million pounds sterling under the UK GDPR or, in each case, 4 % of annual global revenue,
whichever is greater; or private litigation related to processing of personal data brought by classes of data subjects or consumer
protection organizations authorized at law to represent their interests. In the ordinary course of business, we may transfer
personal data from Europe and other jurisdictions to the United States or other countries. Europe and other jurisdictions have
enacted laws requiring data to be localized or limiting the transfer of personal data to other countries. In particular, the European
Economic Area (EEA) and the United Kingdom (UK) have significantly restricted the transfer of personal data to the United
States and other countries whose privacy laws it generally believes are inadequate. Other jurisdictions may adopt or have
already adopted similarly stringent interpretations-ofthetr-data localization and cross- border data transfer laws. Although there
are currently various mechanisms that may be used to transfer personal data from the EEA and UK to the United States in
compliance with law, such as the EEA standard contractual clauses, the UK’ s International Data Transfer Agreement /
Addendum, and the EU- U. S. Data Privacy Framework and the UK extension thereto (which allows for transfers to relevant U.
S.- based organizations who self- certify compliance and participate in the Framework), these mechanisms are subject to legal



challenges, and there is no assurance that we can satisfy or rely on these measures to lawfully transfer personal data to the
United States. If there is no lawful manner for us to transfer personal data from the EEA, the UK or other jurisdictions to the
United States, or if the requirements for a legally- compliant transfer are too onerous, we could face significant adverse
consequences, including the interruption or degradation of our operations, the need to relocate part of or all of our business or
data processing activities to other jurisdictions (such as Europe) at significant expense, increased exposure to regulatory actions,
substantial fines and penalties, the inability to transfer data and work with partners, vendors and other third parties, and
injunctions against our processing or transferring of personal data necessary to operate our business. Additionally, companies
that transfer personal data out of the EEA and UK to other jurisdictions, particularly to the United States, are subject to
increased scrutiny from regulators, individual litigants, and activist groups. When our employees and personnel use generative
artificial intelligence (““ Al ) technologies to perform their work, the disclosure and use of personal data in generative Al
technologies is subject to various privacy laws and other privacy obligations. Governments have passed and are likely to pass
additional laws regulating generative Al Our use of this technology could result in additional compliance costs, regulatory
investigations and actions, and lawsuits. If we are unable to use generative Al, it could make our business less efficient and
result in competitive disadvantages. Healthcare reforms by governmental authorities and related reductions in pharmaceutical
pricing, reimbursement and coverage by third party payors may adversely affect our business. We expect the healthcare industry
to face increased limitations on reimbursement, rebates and other payments as a result of healthcare reform, which could
adversely affect third party coverage of any future products and how much or under what circumstances healthcare providers
will prescribe or administer our products, if approved. In both the United States and other countries, sales of our products, if
approved, will depend in part upon the coverage and adequate reimbursement from third party payors, which include
governmental authorities, managed care organizations and other private health insurers. Third party payors include government
health administrative authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. The process for
determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a drug product may be separate from the process for setting the price or
reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the drug product. Third party payors may limit coverage to specific drug products
on an approved list, or formulary, which might not include all of the FDA- approved drug products for a particular indication.
Third party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the cost effectiveness of medical products and services.
A payor may not consider a product to be medically necessary or cost- effective. Moreover, a payor’ s decision to provide
coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will be approved, or that other payors will
similarly provide similar coverage for the product. Adequate third- party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to
maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development. Increasing
expenditures for healthcare have been the subject of considerable public attention in the United States. Both private and
government entities are seeking ways to reduce or contain healthcare costs. Numerous proposals that would effect changes in
the U. S. healthcare system have been introduced or proposed in Congress and in some state legislatures, including reducing
reimbursement for prescription products and reducing the levels at which consumers and healthcare providers are reimbursed
for purchases of pharmaceutical products. Cost reduction initiatives and changes in coverage implemented through legislation or
regulation could decrease utilization of and reimbursement for any approved products, which in turn would affect the price we
can receive for those products. Any reduction in reimbursement that results from federal legislation or regulation may also result
in a similar reduction in payments from private payors, as private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment
limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Significant developments that may adversely affect pricing in the United
States include the enactment of federal healthcare reform laws and regulations. Changes in the healthcare system enacted as part
of healthcare reform in the United States, as well as the increased purchasing power of entities that negotiate on behalf of
Medicare, Medicaid, and private sector beneficiaries, may result in increased pricing pressure by influencing, for instance, the
reimbursement policies of third party payors. While healthcare reform legislation , such as the ACA, may have increased the
number of patients who are expected to have insurance coverage for our product candidates, provisions such as the assessment
of a branded pharmaceutical manufacturer fee and an increase in the amount of rebates that manufacturers pay for coverage of
their drugs by Medicaid programs may have an adverse effect on us. It is uncertain how current and future reforms in these areas
will influence the future of our business operations and financial condition. Since its enactment, there have been judicial,

Congresswnal and pohtlcal challenges and amendments to certaln aspects of fhe—A&ﬁ—Fe%ex&mp}e—wﬁr}e—m—efﬁee—theﬂ-

August 16 2022 -Pfestdeﬁt—B-tdeﬂ—stgned—the Inﬂatlon Reductlon Act of 2022 (“ IRA ”) was s1gned into law, Wthh among
other things, extends enhanced subsidies for individuals purchasing health insurance coverage in ACA marketplaces through
plan year 2025. The IRA also eliminates the" donut hole" under the Medicare Part D program beginning in 2025 by
significantly lowering the beneficiary maximum out- of- pocket cost and creating a new manufacturer discount program. It is
possible that the ACA Affordable-CareAet-will be subject to judicial or Congressional challenges in the future. It is unclear
how any such challenges, if any, and additional reform measures of ether—- the second Trump administration efforts-to

medifyrepealandreplacethe ACA-will impact the ACA. Although we cannot predict thefermefanysuchreplacementofthe



ACA-may-take tfany;-orthe full effect on our business of the enactment of additional legislation pursuant to healthcare and
other legislative reform, we believe that legislation or regulations that would reduce reimbursement for, or restrict coverage of,
any future products could adversely affect how much or under what circumstances healthcare providers will prescribe or
administer any products we market in the future. This could materially and adversely affect our business by reducing our ability
to generate revenues, raise capital, obtain additional licensees, and market our products, if approved. In addition, we believe the
increasing emphasis on managed care in the United States has and will continue to put pressure on the price and usage of
pharmaceutical products, which may adversely impact product sales. Recently there has been heightened governmental scrutiny
over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U. S.
Congressional inquiries and proposed federal legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product
pricing, reduce the cost of certain products under Medicare, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient
programs, and reform government program rermbursement methodologre% For example the IRA-m—J-u-lry—292—1— among-t-he

expendrture srngle source drugs aﬂd—bre}egres—that have been on the market for at least 7 years covered under Medicare
(the “ Medicare Drug Price Negotiation Program ), and (ii) imposes rebates under Medicare Part B and Medicare Part D to
penalize price increases that outpace inflation. These provisions began to take effect progressively startirg-in fiscal year 2023.
On August 26-15 , 2623-2024 , HHS announced the Hist-agreed- upon prices of the first ten drugs that were wit-be-subject to
price negotiations, although the Medicare drag-Drug priee-Price negetiation-Negotiation program-Program is currently subject

to legal challenges. On January 17, fnresponse-to-the Biden-administrations-Oetober2022-2025 exeeutive-order;onFebruary
+4;2623-, HHS released-areportoutlining-three-new-medels-selected fifteen additional drugs covered under Part D for

testing-by-the-CMSInnevation-Center-whieh-price negotiation in 2025. Each year thereafter, more Part B and Part D
products will be—eva-}uated-eﬁ—become sub]ect to i-hene—— the Medlcare Drug Prlce Negotlatlon Program abﬁiﬁ'—te—leweﬁ-he

fefeﬂﬁ—measufes—tn—t-he—futufe— Further on December 7, 2023 fhe—Btdeﬁ—adﬂﬁmisfr&&en—a-nﬂeuﬁeed—an initiative to control the
price of prescription drugs through the use of march- in rights under the Bayh- Dole Act was announced . On December &,
2023, the National Institute of Standards and Technology published for comment a Draft Interagency Guidance Framework for
Considering the Exercise of March- In Rights which for the first time includes the price of a product as one factor an agency can
use when deciding to exercise march- in rights. While march- in rights have not previously been exercised, it is uncertain if that
will continue under the new framework. At the state level, individual states in the United States are also increasingly passing
legislation and implementing regulations designed to control product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement
constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures. It is
likely that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, particularly in light of the
recent U. S. Presidential and Congressional elections, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state
governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for a pharmaceutical
manufacturer’ s products or additional pricing pressure. Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms in the United States may
make it more difficult and costly for us to obtain regulatory clearance or approval of our product candidates and to produce,
market, and distribute our products after clearance or approval is obtained. From time to time, legislation is drafted and
introduced in Congress that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the regulatory clearance or approval,
manufacture, and marketing of regulated products or the reimbursement thereof. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are
often revised or reinterpreted by the FDA in ways that may significantly affect our business. Any new regulations or revisions or
reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times of any of our product candidates .
For example, the U. S. Supreme Court’ s June 2024 decision in Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo overturned the
longstanding Chevron doctrine, under which courts were required to give deference to regulatory agencies’ reasonable
interpretations of ambiguous federal statutes. The Loper decision could result in additional legal challenges to
regulations and decisions issued by federal agencies, including the FDA, on which we rely. Any such legal challenges, if
successful, could have a material impact on our business. Additionally, the Loper decision may result in increased
regulatory uncertainty, inconsistent judicial interpretations, and other impacts to the agency rulemaking process, any of
which could adversely impact our business and operations . We cannot determine what effect changes in regulations,
statutes, legal interpretation or policies, when and if promulgated, enacted or adopted may have on our business in the future.
Such changes could, inter alia, require: * changes to manufacturing methods; * recall, replacement, or discontinuance of
products; and ¢ additional recordkeeping. Each of these would likely entail substantial time and cost and could adversely affect
our business and our financial results. We and our contract manufacturers are subject to significant regulation with respect to
manufacturing of our product candidates. The manufacturing facilities on which we rely may not continue to meet regulatory
requirements and have limited capacity. We and the contract manufacturers for our product candidates are subject to extensive
regulation. Some components of a finished drug product used in late- stage clinical studies must be manufactured in accordance
with cGMP. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures (including record keeping) and the
implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational products and products
approved for sale. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of adventitious agents or other contaminants,
or to inadvertent changes in the properties or stability of our product and product candidates that may not be detectable in final
product testing. We or our contract manufacturers must supply all necessary documentation in support of regulatory applications



on a timely basis and where required, must adhere to the FDA’ s or other regulator’ s good laboratory practices and cGMP
regulations enforced by the FDA or other regulator through facilities inspection programs. Our facilities and quality systems and
the facilities and quality systems of some or all of our third- party contractors must pass a pre- approval inspection for
compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition of marketing approval of our product and potential products. In
addition, the regulatory authorities may, at any time, audit or inspect a manufacturing facility involved with the preparation of
our product candidates or the associated quality systems for compliance with the regulations applicable to the activities being
conducted. If these facilities do not pass a pre- approval plant inspection, FDA or other marketing approval of the products may
not be granted. The regulatory authorities also may, at any time following approval of a product for sale, audit the
manufacturing facilities of our third- party contractors. If any such inspection or audit identifies a failure to comply with
applicable regulations or if a violation of our product specifications or applicable regulations occurs independent of such an
inspection or audit, we or the relevant regulatory authority may require remedial measures that may be costly and / or time-
consuming for us or a third party to implement and that may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a clinical trial or
commercial sales or the temporary or permanent closure of a facility. Any such remedial measures imposed upon us or third
parties with whom we contract could materially harm our business. If we or any of our third- party manufacturers fail to
maintain regulatory compliance, the FDA or other regulators can impose regulatory sanctions including, among other things,
refusal to approve a pending application for a product, or revocation of a pre- existing approval. As a result, our business,
financial condition and results of operations may be materially harmed. Additionally, if supply from one approved manufacturer
is interrupted, there could be a significant disruption in supply. The number of manufacturers with the necessary manufacturing
capabilities is limited. Switching manufacturers may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in our desired
clinical timelines. These factors could cause the delay of clinical studies, regulatory submissions, or required approvals of any
future products, and cause us to incur higher costs. Furthermore, if our suppliers fail to meet contractual requirements and we
are unable to secure, validate and obtain approval of one or more replacement suppliers capable of production at a substantially
equivalent cost, our clinical studies may be delayed or we could lose potential revenues. Changes in funding for the FDA and
other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products
and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing
normal functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business. The ability of
the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding
levels, ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes.
Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding other
government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities is subject
to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow
the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and / or approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely
affect our business. For example, over the last several years, the U. S. government has shut down several times and certain
regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical government employees and stop critical activities. If a
prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our
regulatory submissions, and such delays could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, future government
shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and
continue our operations. We are subject to various U. S. and foreign anti- bribery and anti- corruption laws, and any violations
by us of such laws could result in substantial penalties. The U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (" FCPA"), and similar
worldwide anti- bribery and anti- corruption laws, generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from directly or
indirectly offering, making or authorizing improper payments or the provision of anything of value to government officials
for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the United
States to comply with accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly
reflect all transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of
internal accounting controls ferinternationat-eperations-. Our internal control policies and procedures may not protect us from
reckless or negligent acts committed by our employees, future distributors, licensees or agents. Violations of these laws, or
allegations of such violations, could result in fines, penalties or prosecution and have a negative impact on our business, results
of operations and reputation. Our business involves the use of hazardous materials and we and our third party manufacturers and
suppliers must comply with environmental laws and regulations, which can be expensive and restrict how we do business. Our
research and development activities and our third party subcontractors’ and suppliers’ activities involve the controlled storage,
use and disposal of hazardous materials owned by us, including key components of our product candidates, and other hazardous
compounds. We and our manufacturers and suppliers are subject to laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture,
storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials. In some cases, these hazardous materials are stored at our and our
subcontractors’ facilities pending their use and disposal. Despite our efforts, we cannot eliminate the risk of contamination. This
could cause an interruption of our development efforts and business operations, environmental damage resulting in costly clean-
up and liabilities under applicable laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and
specified waste products. Although we believe that the safety procedures utilized by us and our subcontractors and suppliers for
handling and disposing of these materials generally comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, this
may not be the case and there may be risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In such an event, we may
be held liable for any resulting damages and such liability could exceed our resources and state or federal or other applicable
authorities may curtail our use of certain materials and interrupt our business operations. Furthermore, environmental laws and
regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent. We cannot predict the impact of such
changes and cannot be certain of our future compliance. Sanctions and other trade control laws create the potential for



significant liabilities, penalties and reputational harm. We may be subject to national laws as well as international treaties and
conventions controlling imports, exports, re- export and diversion of goods, services and technology. These include import and
customs laws, export controls, trade embargoes and economic sanctions, denied party watch lists and anti- boycott measures
(collectively ““ Customs and Trade Controls ”) Applicable Customs and Trade Controls are administered by Israel-s-Ministry-of
Finaneethe U. S. Treasury’ s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), other U. S. agencies , Israel' s Ministry of Finance,
and other agencies of other jurisdictions where we do business. Customs and Trade Controls relate to a number of aspects of our
business, including most notably the sales of API as well as the licensing of intellectual property. Comphanee-with-Customs and
Trade Controls has been the subject of increasing focus and activity by regulatory authorities, both in the United States and
elsewhere, in recent years . Compliance with Customs and Trade Controls may create delays in the introduction of our
products in international markets or, in some cases, prevent the export of our products to some countries altogether.
Furthermore, Customs and Trade Controls may prohibit the provision of certain products and services to countries,
governments, and persons targeted by sanctions . Although we have policies and procedures designed to address compliance
with Customs and Trade Controls, actions by our employees, by third- party intermediaries or others acting on our behalf in
violation of relevant laws and regulations may expose us to liability and penalties for violations of Customs and Trade Controls
and accordingly may have a material adverse effect on our reputation and our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property If our efforts to obtain, protect or enforce our patents and other intellectual
property rights related to any of our product candidates are not adequate, we may not be able to compete effectively and we
otherwise may be harmed. Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection and other
intellectual property rights and to utilize trade secret protection for our intellectual property and proprietary technologies, our
product candidates and their uses, as well as our ability to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others. We
rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection, trademarks, domain names, trade dress, copyright, confidentiality
agreements, assignment of invention agreements and other contractual arrangements to protect the intellectual property related to
our programs. Limitations on the scope of our intellectual property rights may limit our ability to defend our product candidates
and to prevent third parties from designing around such rights and competing against us. Other parties may compete with us, for
example, by independently developing or obtaining competing compounds and formulations and methods of manufacture that
design around our various patent claims, or by using formulations from expired patents, but which may contain the same active
ingredients, and or by opposing our applications or seeking to invalidate our patents. In addition, other parties may seek to
impede us or limit our ability to operate, and or seek to compete with us, for example, by filing patent applications directed to
methods of manufacture of our compounds, directed to methods of use of our compounds, and or directed to formulations for use
Wlth our compounds. The pending patent applications in relation to ¥¥N28+-repibresib gel and VYN202 are primarily licensed
in frentthe-University-of Pundee-and--or-from Tay and are subject to the terms and conditions of the respective licenses. If we
were unable to comply with the license terms, we could be at risk of potentially forfeiting the licenses and rights to these
pending patent applications, which could revert back to the licensors, and we would then no longer be able to pursue these
programs. Our ability to file, prosecute and obtain issued patents in the US and in key foreign jurisdictions and the expiration
dates of such patents, if granted, will limit our ability to profit from the commercialization of our product candidates, if
approved, as may challenges to our patent applications and claims. Furthermore, any disclosure to or misappropriation by third
parties of our confidential or proprietary information could enable competitors to quickly duplicate or surpass our technological
achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in our market. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant
counterclaims alleging invalidity and / or unenforceability are commonplace. The outcome following legal assertions of
invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to validity, for example, there may be an invalidating prior art, of
which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity
and / or unenforceability against our intellectual property related to one or more of our product candidates, we would lose at least
part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on such products or product candidates. Such a loss of patent protection would
have a material adverse impact on our business. Our pending patent applications may not issue, or the scope of the claims of
patent applications that do issue may be too narrow or inadequate to provide or protect a competitive advantage. Even if these
patents do successfully issue, third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope of such granted patents or any
other granted patents we own or license, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable.
We have in- licensed intellectual property necessary to develop our BET inhibitor product candidates, and if we fail to comply
with our obligations under any of these arrangements, we could lose such intellectual property rights. We have in- licensed our
BET inhibitor compounds from Tay. Our arrangements impose various development, royalty and other obligations on us. If we
materially breach these obligations or if our counterparts fail to adequately perform their respective obligations, these exclusive
arrangements could be terminated, which would result in our inability to develop, manufacture and sell BET inhibitor products
that are covered by such intellectual property. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are
confidential for a period of time after filing, we cannot be certain that we or our licensor were the first to (i) file any patent
application related to our product candidates or (ii) conceive and invent any of the inventions claimed in our patents or patent
applications or in our licensed in patents or patent applications. The United States utilizes a “ first- to- file ” system for deciding
which party should be granted a patent when two or more patent applications are filed by different parties claiming the same
invention. A third party that files a patent application in the USPTO under the first- to- file system before us could be awarded a
patent covering an invention of ours even if we had made the invention before it was made by the third party. Other patent laws
limit where a patentee may file a patent infringement suit and provide opportunities for third parties to challenge any issued
patent in the USPTO. The USPTO Patent Trial and Appeal Board (PTAB) applies the same claim construction standard applied
by civil courts under 35 USC § 282 (b) in IPR, post- grant review, and the transitional program for covered business method
patents proceedings. The impact this may have in practice on the use and outcome of USPTO proceedings is uncertain. PTAB



proceedings continue to be a developing and uncertain area of practice and law. Because of lower costs and the fact that USPTO
statistics indicate that a high rate of challenged claims are being invalidated in these USPTO procedures, they may continue to
be a popular and effective means of challenging patents. Even where patent, trade secret and other intellectual property laws
provide protection, costly and time- consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our
proprietary rights, and the outcome of such litigation would be uncertain. Moreover, any actions we may bring to enforce our
intellectual property against our competitors could provoke actions or counterclaims against us, and our competitors have
intellectual property of their own, some of which include substantial patent portfolios. An unfavorable outcome could have a
material adverse effect on our business and could result in the challenged patent (s) or one or more of claims being interpreted
narrowly or invalidated, or held not to be infringed, or one or more of our patent applications may not be granted. We also rely
on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect our know- how, data and information e. g., prior to filing
patent applications and during the period before they are published. We additionally rely on trade secret protection and
confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary know- how that we consider may be maintained as a trade secret rather than the
subject of a patent application. We further rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary
know- how that may not be patentable, processes for which patents may be difficult to obtain or enforce and other elements of
our product development processes that involve proprietary know- how, information or technology that is not covered by
patents. We additionally rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary inventions and
related know- how before patent applications are filed and published. We also enter into and rely on, where appropriate,
common interest agreements to protect privileged confidential information. In an effort to protect our trade secrets and other
confidential information, we incorporate confidentiality provisions in all our employees’ agreements and require our
consultants, contractors and licensees to which we disclose such information to execute confidentiality agreements upon the
commencement of their relationships with us. These agreements require that confidential information, as defined in the
agreement and disclosed to the individual by us during the course of the individual’ s relationship with us, be kept confidential
and not disclosed to third parties for an agreed term. These agreements, however, may not provide us with adequate protection
against accidental or improper use or disclosure of confidential information, and these agreements may be breached. Adequate
remedies may not exist in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our confidential information. A breach of
confidentiality could significantly affect our competitive position and we could lose our trade secrets, or they could become
otherwise known, or be independently discovered by our competitors. Although we make efforts to protect our trade secrets and
other confidential information we cannot be certain that all parties that gain access to our proprietary information, or who may
be involved in the development of our intellectual property have entered into written confidentiality agreements, or that such
agreements will be sufficiently protective, or that they will not be breached. Also, to the extent that our employees, consultants
or contractors use any intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in any related
or resulting know- how and inventions. Additionally, others may independently develop the same or substantially equivalent
proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets and other confidential information. Any of
the foregoing could deteriorate our competitive advantages, undermine the trade secret and contractual protections afforded to
our confidential information and have material adverse effects on our business. We rely on information technology and access to
the internet. Loss of material on servers or the cloud, disruptions and or breaches of cybersecurity could deteriorate our
competitive advantages, undermine the trade secret and contractual protections afforded to our confidential information and have
material adverse effects on our business. Changes in U. S. or foreign patent law and practice could diminish the value of patents
in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates. As is the case with other companies in the markets in
which we participate, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. The strength of patents in
the pharmaceutical field involves complex legal and scientific questions and moreover in the United States and in many foreign
jurisdictions patent policy, practice and case law continues to evolve and change and the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability
and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. This uncertainty includes changes to the patent laws through one
or more of legislative action to change statutory patent law, rule changes and practice directions issued by National Patent
Offices, or court action that may reinterpret, limit or expand on existing law in ways affecting the scope or validity of granted
patents and what may be claimed in pending applications. Particularly in recent years in the United States, there have been
several major legislative developments and court decisions that have affected patent laws and how they are applied in significant
ways and there may be more developments in the future that may Weaken or undermlne our ab111ty to obtaln patents orto
enforce our ex1st1ng and future patents. example-a-b 5 eedHrthe-Un e

e pren ReY s-andne Stig v g5 Addltlonally, new guldellnes are issued by the
USPTO and by the F DA from time to tlme Wthh can nnpact patent practice in the pharmaceutical industry in significant ways .
Similarly, changes in patent law and regulations in other countries or jurisdictions or changes in the governmental
bodies that enforce them or changes in how the relevant governmental authority enforces patent laws or regulations may
weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce patents that we have licensed or that we may obtain in the future
. If we infringe or are alleged to infringe or otherwise violate intellectual property rights of third parties, our business could be
harmed. Our research and development activities may infringe or otherwise violate or be claimed to infringe or otherwise
violate patents owned or controlled by other parties. Competitors in the field of topical and oral drugs have developed and may
continue to develop large portfolios of patents and patent applications relating to our business. In particular, there are patents and
pending patent applications held by third parties that relate to new compounds that act as pan- BD BET inhibitors and also those
that relate to BD2- selective BET inhibitors, as well as to methods of manufacture and methods of use for indications we are
pursuing, or are considering to pursue with our ¥ ¥IN26+-repibresib and VYN202 product candidates. There may be granted



patents with claims that could be asserted against us in relation to such products or product candidates. There may also be
granted patents held by third parties that may be infringed or otherwise violated by our other product candidates and activities,
and we do not know whether or to what extent we may be infringing or otherwise violating third party patents. There may also
be third party patent applications, some of which may not yet have been published, which if approved and granted as patents
may be asserted against us in relation to our product candidates or activities. Patent applications can take years to issue and there
may be applications that are pending and in the course of prosecution claims may change or be added and there may be patents
and claims of which we are unaware that may later issue with claims that might be infringed by commercializing a product or
product candidate. We may fail to identify applications and granted patents that may be asserted against us in relation to our
product candidates or activities. Searches and analyses undertaken may miss or not uncover all potential and future threats. It
should be noted in this regard that no search is completely exhaustive. For example, a relevant patent or published application
could escape detection because of unusual terminology or use of terminology that is still evolving in developing technological
fields. Also, databases used in the searches may not be entirely complete. These third parties could bring claims against us that
would cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if successful against us, could cause us to pay substantial damages and legal
fees. These third parties could include non- practicing entities that have no relevant products or revenue. Further, if a patent
infringement suit were brought against us, we could be temporarily or permanently enjoined or otherwise forced to stop or delay
research, development, manufacturing or sales of the product or product candidate that is the subject of the suit. As a result of
patent infringement claims, or to avoid potential claims, we may choose or be required to seek licenses from third parties. These
licenses may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we are able to obtain a license, the license would likely
obligate us to pay license fees or royalties or both and may limit us in other ways, and the rights granted to us might be
nonexclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property, or such rights might be
restrictive and limit our present and future activities. Ultimately, we or a licensee could be prevented from commercializing a
product or be forced to cease some aspect of our business operations, if, as a result of actual or threatened patent infringement
claims, we are unable to enter into licenses on acceptable terms. There has been and there currently is substantial litigation and
other proceedings regarding patent and other intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical industry. Such litigation can be
very expensive, and the cost burden of intellectual property litigation may impact on our other activities. In addition to possible
infringement claims against us, we may become a party to other patent litigation and other proceedings, including interference,
derivation, review, re- examination or other post- grant proceedings declared or granted by the USPTO and similar proceedings
in foreign countries, regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our current or any future products. In some
jurisdictions, third party observations or pre- grant oppositions may be filed, for example in Europe, India and Israel. A third
party may initially sometimes choose to submit exploratory observations or oppositions in one or more foreign jurisdictions
prior to commencing proceedings in the United States, where the costs could be higher. The cost and burden to us of any patent
litigation or other proceeding, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain
the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources.
Patent litigation and other proceedings may also absorb significant management time. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation
and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings and their outcome could impair our ability to compete in the
marketplace and impose a substantial financial burden on us, and may further have an adverse effect on our ability to raise funds
to pursue research and development activities and clinical trials. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Furthermore, several of our employees were
previously employed at universities or other pharmaceutical companies, including potential competitors. While we take steps to
prevent our employees from using the proprietary information or know- how of others that is not in the public domain or that
has not already been independently developed by us earlier, we may be subject to claims that we or these employees have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed, confidential information, intellectual property, trade secrets or other proprietary
information of any such employee’ s former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims and, even if
we are successful in defending ourselves, could result in substantial costs to us or be distracting to our management. If we do not
succeed with respect to any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages and possible ongoing royalties, we may lose
valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Obtaining and maintaining our intellectual property protection, such as patent
protection, depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed
by governmental agencies, such as patent agencies, and our intellectual property protection, such as patent protection, could be
reduced or eliminated for non- compliance with these requirements. The USPTO and various foreign patent agencies require
compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other provisions to maintain patent applications and
issued patents. Noncompliance or late compliance with these requirements can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or
patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors
might be able to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case. Similarly, compliance with relevant
provisions is required to maintain trademark applications and registrations, while non- compliance can, likewise, result in loss of
rights. In some circumstances, however, we may allow intellectual property rights to become abandoned, such as, where they
are no longer considered of interest. We instruct foreign agents including translation agencies to prepare and file applications in
multiple jurisdictions. If an agent omitted to file the patent application and where appropriate the translation timely in
accordance with the national provisions or failed to translate the application accurately and or introduced errors into the
translation we may suffer loss of rights and we may not discover this until after the filing deadline has passed. If we are unable
to secure trademark registrations, secure appropriate domain names and protect our trademarks or trade dress from infringement,
our business prospects may be harmed. We own trademarks that identify “ VYNE ” and “ VYNE Therapeutics ” and have
submitted applications to register these trademarks in the United States and in various other jurisdictions. Similarly, we own
trademarks that represent our leaf logo which can be and is used with the “ VYNE ” and “ VYNE Therapeutics ” trademarks and



our VYNE identity and have submitted applications to register these leaf trademarks in the United States and in some other
jurisdictions. We have selected the trademark InhiBET for use in relation to our BET inhibitor programs and we have applied to
register the trademark in Israel and the United States. We have not yet selected or submitted trademark applications for a
proposed commercial trade name for any of our product candidates or activities in the United States or elsewhere and failure to
do so and secure registrations could adversely affect our business. Applications for trademarks may be rejected during
prosecution and we may be unable to overcome such proceedings or we may have to narrow or limit the scope of the
applications or rely on a lower level of protection provided by common law unregistered trademark rights, if any. Opposition or
cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, which may not survive such proceedings or we may have to
narrow or limit their scope. In the United States, the FDA evaluates and must approve any trademark we propose to use with
products for which we seek regulatory approval regardless of whether we have registered it, or applied to register it, as a
trademark. The FDA review will include an evaluation of potential for confusion with other product names. Selecting a product
trademark can be an expensive process. If the FDA objects to proposed trademarks this could delay regulatory approval and we
may be required to expend significant resources in an effort to identify suitable substitutes that would qualify as a registerable
trademark, not infringe any existing third party trademark rights and be acceptable to the FDA. Although we take steps to
monitor the possible infringement or misuse of our trademarks, it is possible that third parties may infringe, dilute or otherwise
violate our trademark rights. Any unauthorized use of our trademarks could harm our reputation or commercial interests. In
addition, our enforcement against third party infringers or violators may be unduly expensive and time- consuming, and the
outcome may be an inadequate remedy. Additionally, we have rights in certain domain names associated with our business. If
others seek to use domain names closely similar and we are not successful in asserting and protecting our rights it could
adversely affect our business. We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual
property or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive and time- consuming. Competitors may infringe our
intellectual property, including our patents or the patents of our licensors. As a result, we may be required to file infringement
claims to stop third party infringement or unauthorized use. This can be expensive and burdensome, particularly for a company
of our size, as well as time- consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent or certain
patent claims of ours are not valid, or are unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party or parties from using the
technology or method at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover its or their technology or method or that the
factors necessary to grant an injunction against an infringer are not satisfied. An adverse determination of any litigation or other
proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent
applications at risk of not issuing. Interference, derivation review, or other proceedings brought at the USPTO may be necessary
to determine the priority or patentability of inventions with respect to our patent applications or those of our licensors or
licensees. Litigation or USPTO proceedings brought by us may fail or may be invoked against us by third parties. Even if we
are successful in any proceedings (domestic or foreign, litigation or USPTO or foreign patent office or other proceedings) they
may result in substantial costs and distraction to our management. Moreover, proceedings may be appealed and obtaining a final
resolution can take a long time and substantial resources. We may not be able, alone or with our licensors or licensees, to prevent
misappropriation of our proprietary rights, particularly in countries where the laws may not protect such rights as fully as in the
United States. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount and extent of discovery required in connection with intellectual
property litigation or other proceedings, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by
disclosure during this type of litigation or proceedings. In addition, during the course of this kind of litigation or proceedings,
there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments or public
access to related documents. If investors perceive these results to be negative, the market price for our common stock could be
significantly harmed and this may be so even if the results are not considered material. We may not obtain intellectual property
rights or otherwise be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world. Filing, prosecuting and defending
patents on product candidates in all or most countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. We primarily file
patent applications in the United States and may file in some other selected jurisdictions on a case- by- case basis. In general, we
may on a case- by- case basis file national applications more narrowly in respect of patent applications directed to compositions
of matter and methods of treatment than for those concerning new chemical entities. As a result, our intellectual property rights
in countries outside the United States are generally significantly less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the
laws of some foreign countries and jurisdictions, particularly of certain developing countries and jurisdictions, do not protect
intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States, and these countries and jurisdictions
may limit the scope of what can be claimed, and in some cases may even force us to grant a compulsory license to competitors
or other third parties. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions outside the
United States, or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States or other
jurisdictions. Competitors may seek to exploit our technologies in jurisdictions where we have a patent application filed, for
example, as it has not been allowed or if allowed where they intend to challenge one or more granted claims. Competitors may
use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not sought or obtained patent protection to develop their own products and
further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but protection and enforcement
is not as strong or effective as that in the United States. These products may compete with our product candidates, if approved,
and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
Moreover, competitors or others may raise legal challenges to our intellectual property rights or may infringe upon our
intellectual property rights, including through means that may be difficult to prevent or detect. Many companies have
encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. In some foreign
jurisdictions the patent system, for example, may not allow certain types of claims that are acceptable in the United States or
may only accept claims of a narrower scope. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do



not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, especially those relating to pharmaceuticals and
methods of treatment, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or of other intellectual property
protection, misappropriation of intellectual property rights, or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary
rights generally. For example, some foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant
licenses to third parties. In addition, some countries limit the enforceability of patents against third parties, including
government agencies or government contractors. In such countries, patents may provide limited or no benefit. Proceedings to
enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at
risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims or issue proceedings against us. We may not prevail in any
lawsuits that we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Further,
third parties may prevail in their claims against us, which could potentially result in the award of injunctions or substantial
damages against us. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to
obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license. In addition, our ability to
protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely affected by unforeseen changes in domestic and foreign
intellectual property laws and practice. We may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete under applicable employment
laws. We generally enter into non- competition agreements as part of our employment agreements with our employees. These
agreements generally prohibit our employees, if they cease working for us, from competing directly with us or working for our
competitors or clients for a limited period. We may be unable to enforce these agreements under the laws of the jurisdictions in
which our employees work and it may be difficult for us to restrict our competitors from benefiting from the expertise our
former employees or consultants developed while working for us. Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock Our
stock price is volatile. The stock market in general, and the market for biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have
experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. For example,
our stock price, and the stock price of many other public companies, experienced a period of high volatility in recent years. Such
volatility resulted in rapid and substantial increases and decreases in our stock price that may or may not be related to our
operating performance or prospects. As a result of this volatility, stockholders may not be able to sell their common stock at or
above the price paid for the shares. In addition, in the past, stockholders have initiated class action lawsuits against
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including us, following periods of volatility in the market prices of these
companies’ common stock. If we are subject to future lawsuits we would be subject to additional risks as described in “ We may
become subject to lawsuits or investigations that could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations
and financial condition ” above. The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including: * our
ability to successfully develop our product candidates; * announcement of technological innovations or new products by us; ¢
development of technological innovations or new competitive products by others; * announcement of clinical trial results or any
other clinical data results we announce; * the commencement or enrollment of our ongoing clinical trials or any future clinical
trials we may conduct, or changes in the development status of our product candidates; * announcements of clinical trials results
by competitors; « adverse results from, delays in or termination of clinical trials; « any delay in our regulatory filings and any
adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect to the applicable regulatory authority’ s review of such
filings, including without limitation the FDA’ s issuance of a “ refusal to file ” letter or a request for additional information; ¢
adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive regulatory approval of product candidates; * failure to achieve a
publicly announced milestone; * unanticipated serious safety concerns; ¢ changes in financial estimates by us or by any securities
analysts who might cover our stock; ¢ future capital raising transactions; * conditions or trends in our industry; * changes in the
market valuations of similar companies; * stock market price and volume fluctuations of comparable companies and, in
particular, those that operate in the biopharmaceutical industry; * publication of research reports about us or our industry or
positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts; ¢ announcements by us or our
competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or divestitures; * announcements of investigations or regulatory
scrutiny of our operations or lawsuits filed against us; * investors’ general perception of our company and our business; ¢
recruitment or departure of key personnel; * overall performance of the equity markets; ¢ trading volume of our common stock; ¢
disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters and our ability to obtain patent
protection for our technologies; ¢ significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation; « the loss of or failure to obtain
material intellectual property rights; * our sale or proposed sale, or the sale by our significant stockholders, of our common stock
or other securities in the future; * general political and economic conditions; ¢ the sentiment of the retail investor community;
and ¢ other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control. Consequently, the current market price of our common
stock may not be indicative of future market prices, and we may be unable to sustain or increase the value of an investment in
our common stock. Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law may prevent or frustrate attempts by
our stockholders to change our management and hinder efforts to acquire a controlling interest in us, and the market price of our
common stock may be lower as a result. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws
contain provisions that could delay or prevent changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our
board of directors. These provisions include the following: ¢ a classified board of directors with three- year staggered terms,
which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors; * no cumulative
voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates; ¢ the exclusive
right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of
directors; © the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price
and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to



significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer; « the ability of our board of directors to alter our bylaws without
obtaining stockholder approval; ¢ the required approval of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the shares entitled to vote at an election of
directors to adopt, amend or repeal our bylaws or repeal the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation
regarding the election and removal of directors; ¢ a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces
stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders; ¢ the requirement that a special meeting of
stockholders may be called only by the chief executive officer or the president or the board of directors, which may delay the
ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and *
advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from
conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror’ s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.
In addition, these provisions would apply even if we were to receive an offer that some stockholders may consider beneficial.
We are also subject to the anti- takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under
Section 203, a corporation may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15 % or more of its capital
stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other exceptions, the board of directors has approved the
transaction. Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-
party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us. Our directors and executive officers may be
subject to litigation for a variety of claims or disputes. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by
Delaware law. In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated
bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our directors and officers provide that: + We
indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to
the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such
person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’ s conduct was unlawful.
* We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by
applicable law. « We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a
proceeding, except that such directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such
person is not entitled to indemnification. « We will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a
person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to
proceedings authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification. * The rights conferred in our
amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our
directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons. * We may not retroactively amend
our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees and
agents. While we maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, such insurance may not be adequate to cover all liabilities
that we may incur, which may reduce our available funds to satisfy third- party claims and could harm our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. Further, a stockholder’ s investment may be harmed to the extent that we pay the costs of
settlement and damage awards against our directors and executive officers as required by these indemnification provisions. Our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws contain exclusive forum selection
clauses, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors,
officers or employees. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of
fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, any action to interpret, apply, enforce, or determine
the validity of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or any action asserting
a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provide that
unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States is the
exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
against us, our officers, directors, employees or underwriters. These choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’ s
ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other
employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a
court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our
amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition. We are eligible to
report as a *“ smaller reporting company, ” and as a result of the reduced reporting requirements applicable to such companies,
our securities may be less attractive to investors. We are eligible to report as a smaller reporting company. For as long as we
continue to be eligible to report as a “ smaller reporting company, ”” we may take advantage of exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “ smaller reporting companies, ” including not
being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial
reporting, as well as reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements
and registration statements. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer a smaller reporting
company. We will remain a smaller reporting company until the last day of any fiscal year for so long as either (1) the market
value of our shares of common stock held by non- affiliates does not equal or exceed $ 250. 0 million as of the prior June 30th,
or (2) our annual revenues did not equal or exceed $ 100. 0 million during such completed fiscal year and the market value of



our shares of common stock held by non- affiliates did not equal or exceed $ 700. 0 million as of the prior June 30th. We cannot
predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find
our securities less attractive because we rely on any of these exemptions, there may be a less active trading market for our
securities and the price of our securities may be more volatile. General Risk Factors An active public market for our common
stock may not be sustained. Although our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market, an active trading market for
our common stock may not be sustained. The lack of an active market may impair the ability of holders of our common stock to
sell their shares at the time they wish to sell them or at a price that they consider reasonable. The lack of an active market may
also reduce the fair market value of our common stock, and may cause the trading price of our common stock to be more
volatile. The lack of an active market may contribute to volatility of our stock price and impair our ability to raise capital. If
equity research analysts do not publish research or reports, or publish unfavorable research or reports, about us, our business or
our market, our stock price and trading volume could decline. The trading market for our common stock may be influenced by
the research and reports that equity research analysts publish about us and our business. We do not have any control over the
analysts, or the content and opinions included in their reports. The price of our stock could decline if one or more equity
research analysts downgrade our stock or issue other unfavorable commentary or research. If one or more equity research
analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which in
turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. If our operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our
stock price will likely decline. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholders in the
public market could cause our stock price to fall. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public
market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that our directors, officers or holders of a large
number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. Moreover, certain holders of shares
of our common stock have rights, subject to certain conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares
or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. We have registered and
intend to continue to register all shares of common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans. Once we
register these shares, they can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to volume limitations applicable to
affiliates. We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock, and, consequently, our stockholders’ ability to
achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock. We do not currently intend to
pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to invest our future earnings, if
any, to fund our growth. Therefore, stockholders are not likely to receive any dividends on their common stock for the
foreseeable future. Since we do not intend to pay dividends, stockholders’ ability to receive a return on their investment will
depend on any future appreciation in the market value of our common stock. Our common stock may not appreciate or even
maintain the price at which our holders have purchased it. If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our
ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired. We are subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes- Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Stock Market ("
Nasdaq"). The Sarbanes- Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting. We must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control
over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in our
Form 10- K filing each year, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act. This requires that we incur substantial
additional professional fees and internal costs within our accounting and finance functions and that we expend significant
management efforts. We may identify weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures
that could result in a material misstatement of our financial statements. Our internal control over financial reporting will not
prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’ s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur
or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section
404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and effective internal controls, we
may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, the market price of our stock could
decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the stock exchange on which our common stock is listed, the
SEC, or other regulatory authorities. We incur significant costs and demands upon management as a result of being a public
company. As a public company listed in the United States, we incur significant additional legal, accounting and other costs, as
compared to the costs we incurred as a private company. These additional costs could negatively affect our financial results. In
addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including regulations
implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq, may increase legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-
consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations and, as a result, their application in
practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. We may experience
significantly increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’ s time and attention from our
primary business operations if we are required to invest significant resources to comply with new and evolving laws, regulations
and standards. If notwithstanding our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards, we fail to comply, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed. Failure to comply with these rules might
also make it more difficult for us to obtain some types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we
might be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on
our board of directors, on committees of our board of directors or as members of senior management. We are subject to risks
related to climate change in the long term. We are subject to transitional and physical risks related to climate change.



Transitional risks include, for example, a disorderly global transition away from fossil fuels that may result in increased energy
prices; customer preference for low or no- carbon products; stakeholder pressure to decarbonize assets; or new legal or
regulatory requirements that result in new or expanded carbon pricing, taxes, restrictions on greenhouse gas emissions, and
increased greenhouse gas disclosure and transparency. These risks could increase operating costs, including the cost of our
electricity and energy use, or other compliance costs. Physical risks to our operations include water stress and drought; flooding
and storm surge; wildfires; extreme temperatures and storms, which could impact trials, increase costs, or disrupt supply chains.
Our supply chain is likely subject to these same transitional and physical risks and would likely pass along any increased costs
to us. We do not anticipate that these risks will have a material financial impact to the company in the near term. Governmental
authorities, non- governmental organizations, customers, investors, employees, and other stakeholders are increasingly sensitive
to environmental, social and governance (ESG) matters, such as equitable access to medicines and vaccines, product quality and
safety, diversity, equity and inclusion, environmental stewardship, support for local communities, value chain environmental
and social due diligence, corporate governance and transparency, and addressing human capital factors in our operations. In
addition, governments and the public expect companies to report on our business practices with respect to human rights,
responsible sourcing and environmental impact, as well as the actions of our third- party contractors and suppliers around the
world. This focus on ESG matters may lead to new expectations or requirements that could result in increased costs associated
with research and development of our products. Our ability to compete could also be affected by changing customer preferences
and requirements, such as growing demand for companies to establish validated Net Zero emissions targets or offer more
sustainable products. If we do not meet, or are perceived not to meet, stakeholder expectations in key ESG areas, we risk
negative stakeholder reaction, including from proxy advisory services, as well as damage to our brand and reputation, or other
negative impacts on our business and operations. While we monitor ESG matters, we cannot be certain that we will manage
such matters successfully, or that we will successfully meet the expectations of investors, employees, consumers, governments
and other stakeholders. ITEM 1B- UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS None. ITEM 1C- CYBERSECURITY Risk
Management and Strategy We have implemented and maintain various information security processes designed to identify,
assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats to our critical computer networks, third party hosted services,
communications systems, hardware and software, and our critical data, including intellectual property and confidential
information that is proprietary, strategic or competitive in nature (“ Information Systems and Data ”’). We retain a chief
information consultant and a third- party security management vendor to help identify, assess and manage our cybersecurity
threats and risks. These partners identify and assess risks from cybersecurity threats by monitoring and evaluating our threat
environment using various methods, including, for example, automated tools, cybersecurity threat subscription services, threat
report analysis, internal and external audits, and threat and vulnerability assessments. Depending on the environment, we
implement and maintain various technical, physical, and organizational measures, processes, standards and policies designed to
manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our Information Systems and Data, including, for example,
incident detection and response policy, route risk assessments, data encryption, network security controls, data segregation,
access controls, physical security, asset management, tracking and disposal, systems monitoring, penetration testing, and
cybersecurity insurance. Our assessment and management of material risks from cybersecurity threats are integrated into our
overall risk management processes. For example, our security management partners work with our Chief Financial Officer to
prioritize our risk management processes and mitigate cybersecurity threats that are more likely to lead to a material impact to
our business. In addition, our Chief Financial Officer evaluates material risks from cybersecurity threats against our overall
business objectives and reports to the audit committee of the board of directors, which evaluates our overall enterprise risk. We
use third- party service providers to assist us from time to time to identify, assess, and manage material risks from cybersecurity
threats, including for example, professional services firms, cybersecurity software providers and penetration testing firms. These
third- parties also provide application and hosting services. We have a vendor management program to manage cybersecurity
risks associated with our use of these providers. The program includes risk assessments and audits for each vendor and a review
of each such vendor' s written security program. For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially
affect us and how they may do so, see our risk factors under Part I . Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, including" If our information technology systems or those third parties upon which we rely or our data, are or were
compromised, we could experience adverse consequences resulting from such compromise, including but not limited to
regulatory investigations or actions, litigation, fines and penalties, disruptions of our business operations, reputational harm, loss
of revenue or profits and other adverse consequences. ” Governance Our Board addresses our cybersecurity risk management as
part of its general oversight function. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing our cybersecurity risk management
processes, including oversight and mitigation of risks from cybersecurity threats. Our cybersecurity risk assessment and
management processes are implemented and maintained by our Chief Financial Officer who oversees the work performed by
our information security consultant and third- party managed service provider. Our information security consultant has over 40
years of experience in pharmaceutical information technology, including many years as a chief information officer. Our Chief
Financial Officer is responsible for hiring appropriate personnel, helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into our
overall risk management strategy, and communicating key priorities to relevant personnel. Our Chief Financial Officer, with
support from our information security partners, is responsible for approving budgets, helping prepare for cybersecurity
incidents, approving cybersecurity processes, and reviewing security assessments and other security- related reports. Our
cybersecurity incident response policy is designed to escalate certain cybersecurity incidents to members of management
depending on the circumstances, including the Chief Financial Officer and legal department. Our Chief Financial Officer works
with our incident response team to help mitigate and remediate cybersecurity incidents of which they are notified. In addition,
our incident response policy includes reporting to the Audit Committee for certain cybersecurity incidents. The Audit
Committee receives periodic reports from our Chief Financial Officer concerning our significant cybersecurity threats and risk



and the processes we have implemented to address them. The Audit Committee also receives various reports, summaries or
presentations related to cybersecurity threats, risk and mitigation. ITEM 2- PROPERTIES Our executive offices in the United
States are located in Bridgewater, New Jersey. We currently lease approximately 5, 755 square feet of office space under lease
agreements that expire on September 30, 2025. We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our current needs, and
that suitable additional alternative space will be available in the future on commercially reasonable terms for our potential
growth. ITEM 3- LEGAL PROCEEDINGS From time to time, we may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings
relating to claims that we consider to be arising from the ordinary course of our business. There are currently no claims or
actions pending against us that, in the opinion of our management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business.
ITEM 4- MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES Not applicable. PART II ITEM 5- MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’ S COMMON
EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES Our common
stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “ VYNE. ” On February 8, 2023, our board of directors
approved, and on February 10, 2023 we effected, a 1- for- 18 reverse stock split of our outstanding shares of common stock. No
fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split, and in lieu thereof, each stockholder holding fractional
shares was entitled to receive a cash payment (without interest or deduction) in an amount equal to such stockholder’ s
respective pro rata share of the total net proceeds from our transfer agent’ s sale of all fractional shares at the then- prevailing
prices on the open market. The par value of each share of common stock remained unchanged. A proportionate adjustment was
also made to the maximum number of shares issuable under our equity incentive plans. Unless noted, all references to shares of
common stock and per share amounts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K have been retroactively adjusted to reflect
the 1- for- 18 reverse stock split. Holders of Common Stock As of February 22-4 , 2624-2025 , there were 9-8 holders of record
of our common stock. This number does not include beneficial owners whose shares are held by nominees in street name.
Dividend Policy We have never declared or paid, and do not anticipate declaring or paying, in the foreseeable future, any cash
dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to support our operations
and finance the growth and development of our business. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made
at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial
condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business pro%pect% and other factors our board of directors may deem
relevant. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities In 3 An-agerega shares-of commer

sehetting-suehexehange- | TEM 6- [ RESERVED | ITEM 7- MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS You should read the following discussion and analysis of our
financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. The following discussion contains forward- looking statements that reflect our
plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward- looking statements.
Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on

Form 10 K, partlcularly in the iectlon entltled “Item lA Rlsk Factors ” Company Overview I-ﬂ—Augas-t—ZﬂE—l,—we—eﬁfefed—m-te—&

-in-ﬂamﬂaatefy—d-isease—()ur lead program is replbre51b gel (also known as VYN 201 ) a J:et-:a-l-l-y—toplcally admlmqtered small
molecule pan- BD BET inhibitor designed as a *“ soft ” drug to address diseases involving multiple, diverse mﬂammatory cell

signaling pathways while providing low systemic exposure. In preclinical testing, ¥¥N28+-repibresib produced consistent
reductions in pro- inflammatory and disease- related biomarkers and improvements in disease severity across a variety of
inflammatory and fibrotic preeclinical models. In November 2022, we initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial evaluating a topical
formulation of ¥¥IN26+-ferrepibresib first in healthy volunteers (Phase 1a) and the-then treatmentofin subjects (Phase
1b) with nonsegmental vitiligo (NSV), an immune- mediated condition that has a high unmet need and only one approved
therapy . In the first quarter of 2023, we announced positive preliminary safety and tolerability, including pharmaeekinetie-and
hematology data , and predicted pharmacokinetic results (minimal systemic exposures) from the Phase la portion of the
trial. We 1n1t1ated Fhe-firstnonsegmental-vittligo-patient-was-desed-in-the Phase 1b portion of the trial in NSV subjects in
January 2023 ;-and en-Oeteber-30;2023;-we-announced positive data from the Phase 1b trial +-in whteh-October 2023. We
showed significant clinical imprevementimprovements in vitiligo involving F—VASHwas-ebservedHrthe +45and2-%-dese
eohorts-face, which has the greatest psychosocial impact on patients, after 16 weeks of treatment which was assessed using
the Faclal- Vltlhgo Area Scorlng Index (" F- VASI"), a measure of severity of the condition on the face . We have-initiated
d+a nte-a tenger-duration-Phase 2b trial to-with repibresib gel in
N SV subjects in June 2024 The Phase 2b trlal isa randomlzed double- blind, vehicle- controlled trial evalaate
evaluating the optimal-dosing-andpeakcfficacy , safety and pharmacokinetics of once- daily repibresib gel in NSV subjects
in three dose cohorts (1 %, 2 % or 3 % concentrations) compared to vehicle over 24 weeks, followed by a 28- week active
treatment extension with subjects on vehicle crossing over to active doses. We enrolled approximately 45 patients wwith

aetive-or-stable-nonsegmental-vittige-in the-seeond-quarterof2024-with-each arm and expect to report top - line results from
the 24- week double- bhnd portlon of the trlal aﬁt—tei-pa-ted—m m1d 2025. have %seeeﬂd—pfegf&m—tsWN%@%—&ﬂ—efa-l—sm&H




(" SAD / MAD") nml of VYN202 n healthy Volunteeu and announced p0s1t1ve data from thls trlal n December t-he—seeeﬁd
guaarterof2024 ;. We observed that VYN202 had a favorable safety and tolerability profile with no drug- related adverse
events historically associated with earlier generation, less BD2- selective BET inhibitors. VYN202 also demonstrated
robust pharmacodynamic activity including evidence of target engagement and inhibition of several inflammatory
biomarkers relevant -te-p—— to -l-me—resu}ts—&rmerpated-lmmune- medlated dlsorders n ex v1vo stimulation assays the-seeond

half-of2624- We ate-initiated a Phase 1b trials—
trial in February 2025 in adult subjects with modemte to- severe plaque psormm The Phase 1b trial is a randomized,
double- blind, placebo- controlled trial of once daily treatment with VYN202 capsules dosed for 12 weeks, to primarily
evaluate the safety of VYN202 across four cohorts (0. 25 mg, 0. 5 mg, 1 mg doses and placebo), with secondary objectives
that include pharmacokinetics and preliminary evidence of efficacy via endpoints evaluating improvements from
baseline in PASI scores. The trial will also include a 4- week safety follow- up visit after completion of the 12- week
dosing period. We expect to enroll approximately 80 subjects with moderate- to- severe plaque psoriasis and to report
adult—onset rheumatoid-arthritis;with-fop - line results from antietpatedn-the seeond-hatf-placebo- controlled trial by the end
0f 2025 . Additionally, we anticipate that the data from the Phase 1b trial in plaque psoriasis subjects will provide key
insights into VYN202' s potential activity across a range of immune- mediated diseases . Sale of Legacy Commercial
Business In January 2022, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Journey Medical Corporation (" Journey")
pursuant to which we sold our Molecule Stabilizing Technology franchise, including our former products AMZEEQ, ZILXI,
and FCD105, referred to collectively as the MST Franchise, to Journey. The assets included certain contracts, including license
agreements, inventory and intellectual property related to the MST Franchise. We have classified the results of the MST
Franchise as discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and cash flows for
all periods presented in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. We received an upfront payment of $ 20. 0 million at the closing of
the sale of the MST franchise and an additional $ 5. 0 million deferred payment in January 2023. We are also eligible to receive
sales milestone payments of up to $ 450. 0 million in the aggregate upon the achievement of specified levels of net sales on a
product- by- product basis, beginning with annual net sales exceeding $ 100. 0 million, as well as certain payments from any
licensing or sublicensing of the purchased assets by Journey outside of the United States. Known Trends, Events and
Uncertainties Business and Macroeconomic Conditions Uncertainty in the global economy presents significant risks to our
business. We are subject to continuing risks and uncertainties in connection with the current macroeconomic environment,
including inflation, interest rates, financial market volatility and uncertainty, the impact of war or military conflict, including the
wars in Ukraine and the Middle East, rising tensions between China and Taiwan and the response thereto, public health
pandemics, and supply chain disruptions. Adverse effects of these large macroeconomic conditions have been prevalent in many
of the areas where we, our CROs, suppliers or third- party business partners conduct business and as a result, we have
experienced disruptions and may continue to experience more pronounced disruptions in our operations. In addition, financial
markets have experienced a period of high volatility due to these macroeconomic factors. The persistence of this volatility may
impact our ability to engage in capital market activities and adequately fund our operations. As of the filing date of this Annual
Report on Form 10- K, the extent to which these macroeconomic events and conditions may impact our financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity is uncertain. The effect of these macroeconomic events and conditions may not be fully
reflected in our results of operations and overall financial performance until future periods. See * Part [ ;77— Item 1A -, Risk
Factors  for further discussion of the possible impact of these macroeconomic conditions on our business. Agreements with
Tay Therapeutics Under the terms of -I-n—Apﬂ-l—Z-GQ—l—we—eﬂtefed—mfe—the Optlon A01eement our optlon (the" Oral Optlon")

with respect :Pay—gf&f&mg—us—&n—e*e}uewe-epﬁen—to obtaitre

al-Optior-was to expire on June 30 2022 (-t-he—@pﬁeﬂ
:Feﬂﬂ—)- but in June 2022 we and Tqy entered 1nt0 a J:et-teieletter Agfeemeﬂt—agreement {the~Tetter-Agreement)-to extend
the ept-teﬂ—optlon Ferarterm to F ebruary 28 2023 In F ebruary 2023 -Pufsu&nt—te—ﬂ&e—terms-ef—t-he—lzet-ter—z%greefﬂeﬂt— we 'pﬁ'td'

9&Febru&w—2—7—2—92—3—t-he—par&es—ente1ed into an addmonal -I:etter—letter agreement pursuant to which the option term was
further extended to April 30, 2023. We exercised the Oral Option for VYN202 on April 28, 2023. Pursuant to the
Repibresib License Agreement , we were granted a sublicense under certain intellectual property which was licensed to

Tay by the University of Dundee ( “ Dundee ” the"-Seeond-Eetter-Agreement™) pursuant to a certain license agreement



paid-Tay and Dundee effectlve
FLetter-Agreementthis-fee-was— as te—be—dedueted—frem—of July 24 2020 and amended and restated on October 8, 2021 ( the
upffeﬂt—fee—pa-td—by—us—te-“ Head Llcense ”) On February 13 2025, Tqy fel-lewmg—eufexefetse-e-ﬁthe—efal-&eﬁeﬂ—as

agreement for the 5vL\CN%O-l—termmatlon of the Head Llcense and as51gnment of such 1ntellectual property from Dundee to

Tay. Upon termination of the Head License, the Repibresib License Agreement grantingus-a-worldwide;exelasive-lieense

that-was accordingly amended to reflect the assignment of the intellectual property to Tay upon is-its payment in full

subl-teeﬁs&b-le—threug-h—mt&&p-le—ﬁefs—to expleﬁ—eeftafn—Dundee. The amendment does not change any of Tay’ s pan—BB-BET
Ey or VYNE’ s rights development; regulatory;-marketing

or obllgatlons under the Rep1bres1b -l-teeﬂsed-pfeduets—at—eu:r—se-le—eest

t-he—l-teeﬂsed-pfeduets— We mdde a cash pay ;
Teﬂﬂ—rn—Febru&ry%@%?y—to Tqy n Connectlon w 1th enterms_ into the VYN202 L1cense A;:reement —"l“—h-ts—paymeﬂt—was—reeefded

to mdl(e cash pdyments to Tay ot up to ‘l> 43. 75 million upon the achievement ot specmed clinical development and reéuldtory
approval milestones with respect to each licensed oral product in the United States for all indications , of which $ 1. 3 million
has been paid or accrued through December 31, 2024 . Tay is entitled to additional milestone payments upon the
achievement of regulatory approvals in certain non- U. S. jurisdictions. In addition, with-respeetto-anyproduets-Components of
Results of Operatlons Segment Results As of December 31, 2024 we adopted ASU 2023- 07 eemmerena-l-lze—uﬁder—t-he

nth-anniversary tal-sa , primarily through enhanced disclosures
about 51gn1ﬁcant segment expenses. The Company has 1dent1ﬁed (%)—ﬂ&e—e*ptr&tterre-ﬁﬂ&e—l&st—vahd—elatﬁref—ﬂ%e—heeﬂsed

o : 6 v-and (3)-the-expirattonofregulatory-exehastvity-reports as one
operatlng segment See" Note 15 — Segment Informatlon" for further detalls t-he—relevaﬂt—heeﬂsed-pfoduet—m—&re—relevaﬂt

Revenues Historically, we have generated revenues under development and l1eense dgteements including royalty payments
from sales of Finacea foam. We previously licensed the rights to Finacea to LEO Pharma A /S (" LEO Pharma"). This license
was not part of the sale of our commercial business to Journey. Royalty revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-were $ 0. 4-5 million and $ 0. 54 million, respectively, from LEO Pharma in connection with sales of Finacea.
Operating Expenses Research and development expenses Our research and dev elopment expenses relate prlmanly to the
development of ¥¥IN20+-repibresib and VYN202 sas-wel-asHh ; A
developing-. We charge all research and development expenses to opemtlons as they are mctnred Our total research and
development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-were $ 30. 9 million and $ 16. 3 mitlionand
$38—4-million, respectively. Research and development expenses consist primarily of: * employee- related expenses, including
salaries, benefits and related expenses, including share- based compensation expenses, for research and development personnel,;
* expenses incurred under agreements with third parties, including CROSs, subcontractors, suppliers and consultants that conduct
regulatory activities, clinical trials and preclinical studies; * expenses incurred to acquire, develop and manufacture clinical trial
materials; -faeil-rt-tes,—dqareet&t—teﬁ-aﬂd-et-heeexpenses —W-hteh—rnel-ude—d-rreet—and mllestone payments lncurred under
licensing agreements alloes 0 anee-offa tranee;-and-o operating-eosts-; © costs
associated with the creation, development and protection of 1ntellectudl propelty, and ° othe1 costs assoudted with preclmlcal
and clinical activities and regulatory operations +asne aterts o 8 A

. General and administrative expenses Our s_eneral dnd admmlstmtne expenses for the years ended December
31,2024 and 2023 and-2022-were $ 13. 4-2 million and $ +6-13 . 4 million, respectively. Our general and administrative
expenses consist principally of: « employee- related expenses, including salaries, benefits and related expenses, including share-
based compensation expenses; * fegat-and-professional fees for auditers-legal, auditing, tax and other consulting expenses; and
« facility, insurance, information technology , travel, and depreciation expenses. Other Income, net Other income, net primarily
consists of interest earned on our cash ane, cash equivalents and marketable securities as-well-as-foreignexchangerate-gains
anddesses-. Income Taxes and Net Operating Loss Carryforwards We have incurred significant net operating losses (“ NOLs ™)
since our inception. We expect to continue to incur NOLs until such a time when we generate adequate revenues for us to reach




profitability. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $ 33+-343 . +4
million and $ 4453 . 76 million, respectively, of which § 44. 3 million will begin to expire in 2031 for federal and $ 2453 . 3-6
million will begin to expire in 2040 for state purposes. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we had federal research and
development tax credit carryforwards of $ 6-7 . 9-2 million which will begin to expire in 2031. We have no state research and
development tax credit carryforwards. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , we had $ 367299 . 2-1 million in federal and state
NOLs with no limited period of use. NOLs and tax credit carryforwards are subject to review and possible adjustment by the
Internal Revenue Service and may become subject to an annual limitation in the event of certain cumulative changes in the
ownership interest of significant stockholders over a three- year period in excess of 50 %, as defined under Sections 382 and 383
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. This could limit the amount of tax attributes that can be utilized annually to
offset future taxable income or tax liabilities. The amount of the annual limitation is determined based on the value of our
company immediately prior to the ownership change. Subsequent ownership changes may further affect the limitation in future
years. State NOLs and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to similar limitations under state laws. We have not completed a
382 study through December 31, 2023-2024 , however, we may have experienced ownership changes in the past, including in
connection with the 2020 merger between Menlo Fherapenttes-(our predecessor company) and Foamix Pharmaeeuttealsttd-.
Our private placement transaction in November 2023 also likely resulted in an ownership change for purposes of Section 382.
We may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of the subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which
may be outside of our control. As a result, even if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use the NOL and tax credit
carryforwards may be materially limited, which could harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax
obligations. Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 2622-2023 Year Ended
December 31, Increase / (Decrease) Increase / (Decrease) (in thousands, except %) 202320622-20242023 $ % RevenuesRoyalty
revenues $ 501 $ 424 § 477-- 77 $-18. 2 % Total revenues501 424 77 18. 2 % Operating expensesResearch and
development30 946 16, 307 14 639 89 8 % General and adm1n1strat1ve13 192 13, 375 (53—183 ) (-1—1—1 )4}{1—’130%&-}

admmrstratwe—B%%’é—l—é%-S%’—Q—@-l—B—H—S— 4) % Total operatrng expeﬁses%9—expenses44 138 29, 682 34—7—7'2—6—999)—614
456 48 . 7 63" Operating loss (43, 637) (29, 258) B34;:2955;-63DH14,379 49 . 1 H-% Other income, ret-net3 , 834 1 ,
386 23631 62328+448 176 . 8-6 % Loss from continuing operations before income taxes ( 39, 803) (27, 872) 11 (—3—3— 931 42
OB2H6;-0600-(1F. 8 9% Income tax expense-expensed — 4 313>+ Loss from continuing operations ( 39, 807) (27, 872) 11
33, 935 42 9456;-073)-(1F. 8 9% Ineeme-oss-Loss y-from discontinued operations, net of income taxes ( 27) (580) 485
F35-( 553 H5345-) (16595 .43 ) 9% Net loss $ (39, 834) $ (28, 452) 23-8 11 , 382 40 246)-5;24222- 6-0 % * percentage not
meaningful Revenues totaled $ 0. 4-5 million and $ 0. 54 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-,
respectively, consisting of royalty revenue from our royalty agreement with LEO Pharma. Our reqearch and development
expenses for the year ended December 31, %92—3—2024 were $ 30 9 mllhon, representmg an 1ncrease of $ 14. 6 million, or 89.
8 %, compared to $ 16. 3 miHien ; O, 0 —4-million for the year
ended December 31, 2622-2023 . The deefease-mcrease was prrmarrly due to }ewerean increase of $ 11 7 million in expenses
for repibresib, an increase of $ 2. S million in expenses for VYN202 and an increase of $ 0. 8 million of cmployee- related
expenses following the hiring of additional research and development personnel. The $ 3-11 . 8-7 million and-deereased
spending-increase in expenses for FivXtH4-repibresib primarily relates to preparatory activity and ¥ ¥IN26+-clinical trial
costs incurred for our ongoing Phase 2b trial of repibresib in subjects with NSV. The $ 2. 75 million and-$22-mithen;
respeetively—The-deerease-increase in expenses for VYN202 is primarily associated with costs incurred for our Phase 1a
SAD / MAD trial which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2024. Both trials were initiated in June 2024. These
1ncreases were partrally oﬁset by -rnefeased-lower consultlng expenses forVYN202-0f § 6-0 . 74 million Hinrelading $4-0
W A VYN . Our general and administrative expenses for the

year ended December 31 2623-2024 were $ 13.42 mllhon repreqentrng a decrease of approximately $ 3—0 . 2 million, or +8-1

4 %, compared to $ +6-13 . 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 . The decrease was primarily driven by lewer
féﬁt—&ﬂd—éﬁfpﬁf&fé—tﬂﬁif&ﬁee-eﬂﬁs-&f-$ +0 . 69 million and-of employee related expenses, partially offset by deereased
increased consulting and professional fees of $ 40 . +8 million. Other income, net for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and-Beeember3+2022-was $ 3. 8 million and $ | 4-mithemand-$0- 4 million, respectively, primarily related to interest
income earned on cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Due to the sale of the MST Franchise during the first quarter
0f 2022, in accordance with ASC 205, Discontinued Operations, we have classified the results of the MST Franchise as
discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for all periods presented. See"
Note 4 ;— Discontinued Operations" in the consolidated financial statements. Liquidity and Capital Resources As-Sources of

-Beeeﬂabeﬁ}-l—quuldlty Slnce the sale of the MST Franchlse in J anuary %92—3—2022 we have had—eash—eas-h—etha-}eﬂts—

1ncur1ed losses and experlenced negative operatrng Caqh ﬂows since our 1nceptron and anticipate that we will Contlnue to incur
losses until such a time when our product candidates, if approved, are commercially successful, if at all. We will not generate
any revenue from any current or future product candidates unless and until we obtain regulatory approval and commercialize

%uch products As a result eﬂ—eetebeﬂ—’,'%e%— we w1ll need addltlonal capltal eﬁtefed—nﬁe—a—seetm&es-ptrrelﬁse—agfeerﬂeﬂt

nt-to fund our operations,
Wthh we agreed—te—sel—l—&nd—tssue—te—may obtam from addltlonal equlty or debt ﬁnancmgs, collaborations, licensing

arrangements or the-other sources. See Item 1A Purehasersiraprivate-placement-transaetion{the- PrivatePlacement-Risk



Factors " for addltlonal rlsks assoc1ated )—619—}9—652—543—sl=rafes—e-ﬁetﬂeeeﬂafneﬂ—steew}eaﬂd-€n9—\\ ith our substantlal capltal

requirements

sh&res—ét-he—PFe-—Fﬂﬂded—W&fr&ﬂts—)— As fl"—he—ptrfehase—pfwe—pefshﬁre—ol eefﬂmeﬁ—steelewas-December 31 2024 we had
cash, cash equlvalents, and marketable securltles of 5 2-61 . 5 mllllon and %45—pe1esh&fe—€t-heLSteeieP&Eehase—Ilftee—)—&ﬂd—

p ded - b tred-grossp d 2 million . We had no outstandmg debt
as of December 31 2024 For the year ended December 31 2024 we mcurred a net loss of $ 39. 8 million and used $ 34. 0
million of cash in operations. Based on our current operating plan, we believe our existing cash, cash equivalents, and

marketable securltles are sufficient to fund our operatmg and capltal expenditure requlrements for a perlod of at least 12

ﬁnanclal statements mcluded in this Annual Report on Form 10- K . ll our av dlldblL cash, cash equivalents, restrieted-eash
and marketable securities are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may need to raise additional capital to fund
our operations. No assurance can be given as to whether additional needed financing will be available on terms acceptable to us,
if at all. If sufficient funds on acceptable terms are not available when needed, we may be required to suspend or forego certain

planned activities. Failure to manage discretionary spending or raise additional financing, as needed, would adversely impact our
ability to achieve our intended business objectives and have an adverse effect on our results of operations and future prospects.

Our sources of funding for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are further evaluated in the cash flow section
below. Other than our obligations pursuant to the Tay License Agreements, we have no ongoing material financial
commitments that may affect our liquidity over the next five years. See the section titled “ Development and License
Agreements — Agreements with Tay > for additional discussion of our financial obligations under the Tay License
Agreements. Future Funding Requirements V¢ believe-do not expect to generate any product revenue unless and until
we obtain regulatory approval of and commercialize any of our product candidates, and we do not know when, ot or if
existing-eash-, eashrequivalents-that will occur. Until we can generate significant revenue from product sales , restrieted
eastrif ever, we will continue to require substantial additional capital to develop our current and matrketable-future
product candidates and fund operations for the foreseeable future. We expect our expenses to increase substantially in
connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we advance the preclinical activities and studies and initiate
clinical trials. We are subject to all the risks incident in the development of new biopharmaceutical products, and we
may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays, and other unknown factors that may harm our
business. In order to complete the development of repibresib and VYN202 (including making milestone payments
pursuant to the repibresib License Agreement and VYN202 License Agreement), or any future product candidates, we
will require substantial additional capital. Accordingly, we expect to seek to raise any necessary additional capital
through private or public equity or debt financings, loans or other capital sources, which could include income from
collaborations, partnerships or other marketing, distribution, licensing or other strategic arrangements with third
parties, or from grants. To the extent that we raise additional capital through equity financings or convertible debt
securities are-suffietent-to-fund-, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be et or could be diluted, and the terms
of these securities may include liquidation, voting or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our common
stockholders. Debt financing and equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting
or restricting our ability to take specific actions, including restricting our operating-operations and limiting our ability to
incur liens, issue additional debt, pay dividends, repurchase our common stock, make certain investments or engage in
merger, consolidation, licensing, or asset sale transactions. If we raise capital expenditurerequirements-through
collaborations, partnerships, and other similar arrangements with third parties, we may be required to grant rights to
develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. We may be
unable to raise additional capital from these sources on favorable terms, for—- or a-peried-ofat teast+2-months-from-all. In
addition, the date-amount of issuanee-of the-audited-eonselidated-finaneial-proceeds we may be able to raise pursuant to our
shelf registration statements— statement inehided-ir-on Form S- 3 is limited. As of the filing of this Annual Report on Form
10- K Funding Requirements Our present and future programs-funding requirements will depend on a number of
factors,including the following:e costs associated with the research and development of product candidates :° the time and
costs involved in obtaining regulatory approval for our other pipeline product candidates and any delays we may encounter as a
ILSI.ll[ of ev 01\ ing 1Leu1alo1y quuuemcnts or d([\ erse 1esults with respeel to any of lhesc ploduu candldales * terms and timing

te—s-u-ppeft—eﬂr—epef&t-teﬂs?—the—number of pOlCHlldl new ploducls we identify and deude lo dev elop and ° the costs involved in
filing and prosecuting patent applications and obtaining,maintaining and enforcing patents or defending against claims or
111[1mszemenls IJISLd bv lhud palues and license IOydlllCS or othu amounts we mdy be required to pay to obhun 110111% to Ihnd

as a result of mdny factors uurullly unknown to us, dnd any such ehange may affect our undme 1Lqunemenls We may Iherelmc
need to seek additional capital sooner than planned,through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources,such as
strategic collaborations or additional license arrangements.Such financings may result in dilution to stockholders,imposition of
debt covenants and repayment obligations or other restrictions that may affect our business.For more information as to the risks
associated with our future funding needs,see “ Partd—TItem 1 A —— Risk Factors ” included herein. . Cash Flows The
1'0110\\ ing table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-: Year Ended December
1, 20232622Net-20242023Net cash (used in) / provided by: (in thousands) Operating activities $ (25-33 , 34+972 ) $ (2925,
%99—341 ) Investing activities23, 365 (57, 354) Financing activities ( 141 57-354-) 82 15667 Finaneing-aetivities§2-, 394 +;



653-Net cash used in operating activities During the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash used in operating activities
was $ 34. 0 million and primarily reflected our net loss of $ 39. 8 million adjusted for non- cash share- based
compensation expense of $ 3. 3 million, partially offset by the amortization of premium on marketable securities of $ 2. 4
million. The remainder of the cash used in operations was due to net changes in assets and liabilities, which was largely
driven by a $ 6. 0 million increase in trade payables, accrued expenses, employee related obligations and other long-
term liabilities. This increase was primarily comprised of accruals related to fees for contract research organizations,
investigative sites, and other service providers that assist in conducting preclinical research studies and clinical trials.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was § 25. 3 million and primarily reflected our
net loss of $ 28. 5 million adjusted for non- cash items of $ 3. 1 million primarily related to steeleshare - based compensation
expense. The remainder of the cash used in operations was driven by net changes in assets and liabilities. Net cash provided by

(used 1n) 1nvest1ng activities Durmg the year ended Decembe1 31 %922—2024 —ﬁet—eash—used-rrreperafmg—aeﬁﬂttes—was%%%

actlvmes was 5 +5-23 . 74 mllhon and cons1sted of $ 84 0 mllllon of proceeds recelved from the sale and maturlty of
marketable securities, partially offset by $ 60. 5 million paid for the purchase of marketable securities and $ 0. 1 million
paid for the purchase of property and equipment. During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in investing
activities was primarity-driven by the resalt-purchase of ret-proeeeds-marketable securities of $ 62. 4 million, partially
offset by the receipt of the deferred payment from Journey in January 2023 of $ S. 0 million in connection with the
disposittenrsale of the MST Franchise. Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities During the year ended December
31, 2024, net cash used in financing activities related to $ 0. 1 million of withholdings from the exercise of options and
issuance of shares for share- based compensation arrangements. During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash
provided by financing activities was $ 82. 4 million and consisted primarily of net proceeds of $ 82. 7 million from thePrivate
Placentent-our issuance and sale of common stock and pre- funded warrants and $ 0. 2 million of proceeds received from
the sales of common stock under our at- the- market equity offering program, partially offset by $ 0. 4 million paid for the
redemption of previously outstanding convertible preferred stock. Puring-Cash and Funding Sources Our sources of funding

in the year ended December 31, 2022-2024 consisted primarily of neteashprovided-by-finaneingaetivities-was-$ +84 . 70
million ﬂﬂd—W&S—pfrm&ﬂ'}y—aﬁﬂbﬁt&b}e-fe-ﬂ%e-tSSﬂaﬂee-Of proceeds recelved from eemrﬂeﬁ—steeleuﬂder—eu%at-—the —sale and
maturity of marketmarketable securities ety g ;
Gash—aﬁd—thd-rﬁg—Seﬂrees—Oul sources of tundlng in the year ended Decembel 31, 2023 totaled $ 87
8 million and consisted primarily of net proceeds of $ 82. 7 million from our issuance and sale of common stock and pre-
funded warrants, $ 5 0 million i in proceeds from the deferred payment from the sale of the MST F ranchlse and $ 0 2

eredtﬁ—&r&%may—a—ffeefewahqtﬂdtﬁhever—the-ﬂexkﬁve—ye&rs— Contractual Obhgdtlons Lease ( ommltments +In November 2022
we transitioned to a smaller corporate headquarters and signed a Sublease Agreement (the “ Sublease ) to sublease
approximately 5, 755 square feet of office space (the “ Leased Premises ) in Bridgewater, New Jersey through September 30,
2023. We signed a Lease Agreement (the “ Master Lease ) to lease the Leased Premises following the termination of the
Sublease through September 30, 2025. We have aggregate operating lease obligations of § 0. 2-1 million threugh-that-date-at
December 31, 2024 . R & D Commitments +We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with CROs, contract
manufacturing organizations and other service providers for clinical trials, preclinical studies and testing, manufacturing and
other services and products for operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination upon notice, and therefore
we believe that our non- cancelable obligations under these agreements are not material. Funding Requirements Our present and
future funding...... — Risk Factors * included herein. Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements As of December 31, 2623-2024 , we did
not have any off- balance sheet arrangements. €yberseenrityCritical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and
Estimates We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States. The preparation of consolidated financial statements also requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could
differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the extent that there are differences between our estimates
and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be
affected. While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in * Note 2 — s*~Significant Accounting Policies, ”
to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K, we believe that the following accounting
policies are the most critical to assist stockholders and investors reading the consolidated financial statements in fully
understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of operations. These policies relate to significant areas
involving management’ s judgments and estimates and that require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as



payments made to our vendors w1ll exceed eeﬁsehéa’fed—baﬂ}&nee—sheefs—fer—thc level of service prov1ded and result in a
prepayment of the expense. In accruing expenses, we estimate the time periods-- period presented-over which services will
be performed and the level of effort to be expended in each period . AH-If the actual timing of the performance of services
or the level of effort varies from the estimate, we adjust the accrual or the amount of the prepaid expense accordingly.
Although we do not expect our estimates to be materially different from amounts actually netaded-- incurred i1, our

understanding of the netes-to-the-consolidated-finanetal-statements-status and timing of services performed relate-relative to
eontintingoperations-unless-otherwise-the actual status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in

reporting higher or lower amounts in any particular period. To date, there have noted--- not been any material
adjustments to our prior estimates of accrued research and development expenses . Recently Issued Accounting
Pronouncements Certain recently issued accounting pronouncements are discussed in ¢ Note 2 — s*-Significant Accounting
Policies, ” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. ITEM 7A- QUANTITATIVE
AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK As a “ smaller reporting company, ” as defined by Item 10 of
Regulation S- K, we are not required to provide quantitative or qualitative disclosures about market risk. ITEM 8- FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA VYNE THERAPEUTI( S INC. CONSOLIDATED FINANC IAL
STATEMENTS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023-2024 INDEX Hers d y g




---- PageReport of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Baker Tilly US, LLP, Tewksbury, MA, PCAOB ID 23) F-
1Consolidated Balance SheetsF- 2Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive LossF- 3Consolidated Statements
of Changes in Mezzanine Equity and Shareholders’ EquityF- 4Consolidated Statements of Cash FlowsF- 5Notes to Consolidated
Financial StatementsF- 7 To the Beard-ofDireetors-and-Shareholders-shareholders and the board of directors of VYNE
Therapeutics Inc. Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
VYNE Therapeutics Inc. and-ts-stbstdiaries-(the “ Company ) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, and-the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in mezzanine equity and shareholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the ““ consolidated financial statements ). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Basis for Opinion These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“ PCAOB ) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits— audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company' s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audits included performing procedures to assess
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matters Critical audit matters
are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there
are no critical audit matters. / s / Baker Tilly US, LLP We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 2022. Tewksbury,
Massachusetts March 6, 2025 F- 1 ;72624F—4F-2-CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (U. S. dollars in thousands)
December 3420232022 AssetsCurrent-3120242023AssetsCurrent Asscts: Cash and cash equivalents $ 368-19 , 628-926 $ 30,
968-620 Restricted eash54-- cash 67— 54 Investment in marketable securities (Note 6) 41, 590 62, 633 —Ameunt-due-from
sale-of MSTFranehise—5;-000-Prepaid and other current assets2, 921 2, 656 2;-386-Total Current Assets95-Assets64 , 437 95 |
963 38;275-Non- current Assets: Property and equipment, net (Note 7) 113 — Operating lease right of use assets (Note 9)93
207 —Non- current prepaid expenses and other assetst-assets2 , 262 1, 515 2;483-Total Non- current Assetst-Assets2 , 468 1

, 722 25483-Total Assets $ 66,905 $ 97, 685 -$—49—7§8—L1ab111t1e% sMezzanine-Equity-and Sharcholders’ EquityCurrent
Llablhtre% Trade payables $ 2,707 $ 1, 659 $2,386-Accrued expenses (Note 8) 9,272 4, 119 4,38F+-Employee- related
obligations1, 428 1, 645 H%&bﬁﬁy—feﬁemp%eyee—sever&ﬁee—beﬂeﬁfs—Z@é{)peratmg lease liabilities (Note 9) 99 115
Other current liabilities1, 313 — Total Current £tabtittes7Liabilities14 , 819 7 , 538 9;-345-L ong- term Liabilities: Non-
current operating lease liabilities (Note 9) — 99 Other liabilities — 1 theiehabﬂ-rt-tes-l— 313 —Total Long- term Liabiitiest—
Llabllltles — 1 412 —Total ']:lﬁb-l-l-lﬁeS'S-Llabllltlesl4 819 8, 950 9;345-Commitments and Contrngencres (Note 1 1)
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3—1—292—2—fespeetwel-yh€Nete—H9—2—l—l—Shareholderq Equrty Preferred stoc 0. 0001 par Value 20 OOO OOO qhare%
authorized at December 31, 2024 and 2023 aﬂd—Beeem-ber—?}HG%%—fespeetﬁe}y— no shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-Deeember3+2022,respeetively-— — Common stock: $ 0. 0001 par value; 150, 000, 000
shares authorized at December 31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 2622-2023 ; 14, 830, 013 and 14, 098, 888 and-3;229;-704
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,2024 and 2023 aﬁd—Beeeﬁ&ber—}l,—Z@QQ—, respectivelyl —1 Additional paid- in
eapital786-capital783 , 235 780 , 044 693;:-937Accumulated other comprehensive ireeme26-income20 —26 Accumulated
deficit (694731 . 336-170 ) (662-691 . 735-336 ) Total Sharcholders' Equity88-Equity52 , 086 88 , 735 3+262-Total
Liabilities yMezzanine Bauity-and Sharcholders” Equity $ 66,905 $ 97, 685 $48,758-The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these consolidated financial statements . F-2 VYNE THERAPEUTICS INC . CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (U. S. dollars in thousands, except per share data) Year ended December 31,
20232022ReventtesRoyalty—--- 20242023RevenuesRoyalty revenues § 501 $ 424 $477-Total Reventes424-477revenues501
424 Operating expensesResearch Expenses:Researeh-and developmentt6-development30 , 946 16 , 307 +8;385-General and
administrativel3, 192 13, 375 +6;387Total operating expenses44, 138 29, 682 Opcrating Expenses29;-682-34;-772-Operating
Fossloss (43, 637) (29, 258 H345:295-) Other income, fret-net3 , 834 1 , 386 363-Loss from continuing operations before
income taxes (2739 , 872803 ) (33-27 , 932-872 ) Income tax e*peﬁse—expense4 — 43-Loss from continuing operations ( 39,
807) (27, 872) 33;945Loss Hneeme-from discontinued operations, net of income taxes ( 27) (580) +6;735-Net Loss-loss $
(39, 834) $ (28, 452 y$23;240-) Loss per share from continuing operations, basic and diluted $ (2-0 . 72-93 ) § (462 . 65-72)
Loss Hneemeper share from discontinued operations, basic and diluted $ — $ (0. 06) $3-3FLoss per share , basic and diluted



$(20.7893)% (F2.2878) Weighted average shares outstanding- basic and diluted 42, 589 10, 273 3;486-Other
comprehensive (loss) income: Unrealized (losses) gatn-gains on marketable securities, net of tax of $ 0 (6) 926— 26 —Total
other comprehensive (loss) treeme26--- income —(6) 26 Comprehensive loss $ ( 28-39 , 426-840 ) § (2328 , 246-426 ) F- 3
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEZZANINE EQUITY AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Mezzanine Equity (Convertible Preferred Stock) Common stockAdditional paid- incapital Accumulatedother
comprehensiveincomeAccumulated deficitTotal Shareholders' EquityNumber of sharesAmountsNumber of

shalesAmountsAmountiBALANCE AT DECEMBER 31 %92—1—$+97-6%‘H—$é—$—68-8—1§6—$—$—€6%9%25¥$48—6%6

Neot]
Nettoss

+o2
—%%}%G)MGE—A—T—BEGEM-BE—R—H—ZOZB 000§ 211 3, 229 704 §—35$693,9375 —§$ (662,735 $
31,202 CHANGES DURING 2023: Vesting of restricted stock units, net of withholding for tax, and shares issued under

employee share purchase plan — — 50, 214 — (18) — — (18) SteeleShare - based compensation — — — — 3, 305 — — 3,
305 Redemption of convertible preferred stock (3, 000) (211) — — — — (149) (149) Issuance of common stock in at- the-
market offering, net of $ 5 in issuance costs — — 34, 589 — 156 — — 156 Issuance of common stock and pre- funded
warrants in Private Placement, net of $ 5, 486 in issuance costs — — 10, 652, 543 1 82, 664 — — 82, 665 Cashless exercise of
pre- funded warrants — — 131, 838 — — — — — Unrealized gains from marketable securities — — — — — 26 — 26 Net
loss —————— (28, 452) (28, 452) BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023 — $ — 14, 098, 888 $ 1 $ 780, 044 $ 26 $
(691, 336) $ 88, 735 CHANGES DURING 2024: Vesting of restricted stock units, net of withholding for tax, and shares
issued under employee share purchase plan — — 91, 302 — (112) — — (112) Share- based compensation — — — — 3,
303 — — 3, 303 Cashless exercise of pre- funded warrants — — 639,823 — — — — — Unrealized losses from
marketable securities —— — — — (6) — (6) Netloss — — — — — (39, 834) (39, 834) BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31,
2024 —9$—14,830,013%1 $ 783,235%$20$ (731, 170) $ 52, 086 - 4 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS Year ended December 3 1, 26232022€ash-20242023Cash Flows From Operating Activities: Net loss $ ( 28-39 , 452
834)5 (2—3—28 216-452) AdJustments required to reconcﬂe net loss to net cash used inoperating actlvmes Pepreetation

Gatn—eﬁ—ﬂ%e—saI&ef—&w—PqulFfaﬂehﬁP%Sﬁ—Amortlzatlon of premlum or discount on marketable securities ( 2, 443) (
255) —Umeahzed (losses) gains on casheqtn—va-leﬂts-lm equivalents —(1) 1 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade receivables, prepaid expenses and other current assets and operating lease
right of use assets (899) 405 asset405+H21+0-Deereasenrtrade-Trade payables, accrued expenses, employee related

obligations ;Habilityforemployeeseveranee-benefits-and other long- term tabilittes-liabilities6 , 012 (559) Operating lease

liabilities ( 114 8;:-681-) 214 Inerease(deerease)-in-operatinglease-tabiities2H4-349)-Net cash used in operating activities ( 25
33 ,341+972 ) (2925 ,2066-341 ) Cash Flows From Investing Activities: Purchase of property and equipment (117) —

Proceeds from the sale of the MST ¥ranehiseS-- Franchise — 5 , 000 +5-Proceeds from the sale and maturity of marketable
securities84 , 667000 — Purchases of marketable securities ( 60, 518) (62, 354) —Net cash provided by (used in) previded
by-investing aetivittes-activities23 , 365 (57, 354) +5;-667-Cash Flows From Financing Activities: Proceeds related to the
issuance of common shares and pre- funded warrants through private placement, net of issuance eests82-- costs — 82 , 665 —
Proceeds related to the issuance of common shares through at- the- market offerings, net of issuance eestst56---- costs — 156 1;
470-Redemption ypreeeeds-of convertible preferred stock — (360) 2H-Withholdings from exercise of options and issuance of
shares for steeleshare - based compensation arrangements, net (67141 ) (28-67 ) Net cash (used in) provided by financing
aetivities§2--- activities (141) 82 , 394 +5-653-Decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 36410, 748 ) ( 301 H5-886
) Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year30, 674 30, 975 42,-855-Cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash at end of the year $ 36-19 , 674-926 $ 30, 975-674 Cash and cash equivalents36-equivalents19 , 926 30 , 620 36;-968
Restricted eash54—- cash 67— 54 Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 36-19 , 674926 § 30, 975674 F- 5 Year
ended December 31, 20232022Supplementary—--- 20242023Supplementary information on investing and financing activities
not involving cash flows: Accretion of preferred stock $ — $ 149 $—Issuance of vested shares under employee share purchase
plan $ 30 § 48 -$—3—7’—€aslﬁess—exeferse-Addltlons to operatmg lease rlght of use assets warrants-$132-$—Ameunt-duefrom
5207 -$—Add1t10m to operating lease

i -' 0 ton: tved 6-F- 6VYNE
THERAPEUTI(S INC. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS (U. S dollars in thousands, except
share and per share amounts) NOTE 1- NATURE OF OPERATIONS VYNE Therapeutics Inc. (the" Company") is a clinical-
stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing preprietary;tnnovative-and-differentiated therapies to treat chronic
-fer—ﬂ&e—t-fe&ﬁﬂeﬂt—e-ﬁmﬂrm&ﬂe—mﬂammatory and immune- medlated conditions w1th high unmet need . The InrAugust2024;
the-Company entered with-Tay ownas-has IndDermEimited"Tay');providing
ﬂ&e—@eﬁrp&ny—vv‘rﬂa—excluiwe WorIdWlde r10ht§ to research, develop and commeICIahze products containing small molecule
bromodomain and extra- terminal domain (“ BET ”) inhibitors for the treatment of any disease, disorder or condition in humans ,
which the Company licensed from Tay Therapeutics Ltd., formerly known as In4Derm Ltd (" Tay") . Through its-the
Company’ s access to this library of new ehemteal-small molecule BET inhibiter-inhibitors eempeunds-, which comprise the
Company' s InhiBET ™ portfolio , the Company plans to develop product candidates for a diverse set of therapeutic
indications. The Based-enrdata—generated-to-date;the-Company has chosen to initially focus its nittal-development cfforts for
this-platfornrwith these molecules on seleettherapentie-areastmrimmuno-immune - mediated inflammatory disease-diseases ,




which are not being targeted by current BET inhibitors in development . The Company &’ s lead program is repibresib gel
(also known as VYN201 ), a teealy-topically administered , small molecule pan- bremedomain-BD *)-BET inhibitor
designed as a ““ soft ” drug to address diseases involving multiple, diverse inflammatory cell signaling pathways while providing
low systemic exposure. In preclinical testing, ¥ AN284-repibresib produced consistent reductions in pro- inflammatory and
disease- related biomarkers and improvements in disease severity across a variety of inflammatory and fibrotic preclinical
models. The Company ~is currently evaluating repibresib gel in a Phase 2b trial for the treatment of NSV. The Company’
s second program is VYN202, an oral , small molecule BD2- selective BET inhibitor. VYN202 has been designed to achieve
potential class- leading potency and 9e1ect1v1ty tfor BD2 vs. BD | y;maximum-poteney-versus-BD2-and-optimal-oral
bioavailability-. By max1mlzmg BDZ %electhlty, the Company beheve% VYN202 has the potential to be a potent oral
immunomodulator mere v y option for both acute control and chronic
management of #mine-immune - mediated mﬂammatorytnd-teaﬁeﬂs—~ conditions , where-without the damaging
hematologic and gastrointestinal adverse cffects associated with earlier generation systemic pan- BD BET inhibitors that
were being developed in oncologic settings. The Company has completed a Phase la smgle ascending dose / multiple
ascending dose (" SAD / MAD") trial of unres d 8 o v mor-VYN202 in healthy
volunteers and announced positive data from this trial in December 2024 The Company initiated a Phase 1b trial in
February 2025 in adult subjects with moderate- to- severe plaque psoriasis . The Company intends to advance its product
candidates through further phases of clinical development toward regulatory approval. As part of #s-the strategy to maximize
the value of #s-the pipeline, the Company may partner with larger pharmaceutical companies to expand and accelerate the
development of #s-programs and explore other indications and therapeutic areas outside of #ts-the core focus in immunelogy
immune- mediated diseases . For additional information regarding the sale of the Company' s legacy commercial business (the"
MST Franchise") to Journey Medical Corporation ("' Journey") in January 2022 and the Company' s licensing arrangements
with Tay, see" —Note 3 —— Strategic Agreements." The Company is a Delaware corporation, has its principal executive
offices in Bridgewater, New Jersey and operates as one business segment. Reverse stock split and recasting of per- share
amounts On February 8, 2023, the Company' s board of directors approved a 1- for- 18 reverse stock split of its outstanding
shares of common stock. The reverse stock split was effected on February 10, 2023 at 5: 01 p. m. Eastern time. At the effective
time, every 18 issued and outstanding shares of the Company' s common stock were converted into one share of common stock.
No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split, and in lieu thereof, each steekholder-holding-holder
of fractional shares was entitled to receive a cash payment (without interest or deduction) from the Company' s transfer agent
in an amount equal to such steeldrelder-holder ’ s respective pro rata share of the total net proceeds from the Company’ s
transfer agent' s sale of all fractional shares at the then- prevailing prices on the open market. A proportionate adjustment was
also made to the maximum number of shares issuable under the Company”’ s 2019 Equity Incentive Plan, 2018 Omnibus
Incentive Plan and 2019 Employee Share Purchase Plan. The number of authorized shares of the Company' s common stock and
the par value of each share of common stock remained unchanged. Unless noted, all common shares and per share amounts
contained in the consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the 1- for- 18 reverse stock split. F-
7 Securities Purchase Agreement On October 27, 2023, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the
Securities Purchase Agreement ”’) with certain institutional and other accredited investors (collectively, the “ Purchasers ),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue to the Purchasers in a private placement transaction (the * Private
Placement ) (i) 10, 652, 543 shares of the Company’ s common stock and (ii) with respect to certain Purchasers, pre- funded
warrants to purchase 28, 614, 437 shares of F=#common stock in lieu of shares (the “ Pre- Funded Warrants ’). The purchase
price per share of common stock was $ 2. 245 per share (the “ Stock Purchase Price ") and the purchase price for the Pre-
Funded Warrants was the Stock Purchase Price minus $ 0. 0001 per Pre- Funded Warrant. On November 1, 2023, the Company
received gross proceeds of $ 88. 2 million from the Private Placement , before deducting fees to the placement agent and
offering expenses payable by the Company . This transaction resulted in $ 5. 5 million of issuance costs and net proceeds of §
82. 7 million as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2823-2024 , the Company had cash, cash equivalents srestrieted
eas-h—and marketable securities of § 93—61 -3—5 mllhon and an accumulated deﬁc1t of § 69-1—731 3—2 m11110n —FeH-he—year—eﬂded

The Company had no outqtandmg debt as of December 31, %92—3—2024 For the year ended December 31 2024 the
Company incurred a net loss of $ 39. 8 million and used $ 34. 0 million of cash in operations . Other than in connection with
its legacy commercial business that was sold in January 2022 . the Company has funded its operations primarily through
private and public placements of its equity, debt and warrants and through fees, cost reimbursements and payments received
from its licensees. The Company has incurred losses and experienced negative operating cash flows since its inception and
anticipates that it will continue to incur losses until such a time when its product candidates, if approved, are commercially
successful, if at all. The Company will not generate any revenue from any current or future product candidates unless and until it
obtains regulatory approval and commercializes such products. If the Company' s available cash, cash equivalents ;restrieted
eash-and marketable securities are insufficient to satisfy its liquidity requirements, the Company may need to raise additional
capital to fund its operations. No assurance can be given as to whether additional needed financing will be available on terms
acceptable to the Company, if at all. If sufficient funds on acceptable terms are not available when needed, the Company may be
required to suspend or forego certain planned activities. Failure to manage discretionary spending or raise additional financing,
as needed, would adversely impact the Company’ s ability to achieve its intended business objectives and have an adverse effect
on its results of operations and future prospects. Fre-In addition, the amount of proceeds the Company may be able to raise
pursuant to its shelf registration statement on Form S- 3 is limited. As of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, the
Company is subject to the general instructions of Form S- 3 known as the" baby shelf rules." Under these rules, the amount of



funds the Company can raise through primary public offerings of securities in any 12- month period using its registration
statement on Form S- 3 is limited to one- third of the aggregate market value of the shares of the Company' s common stock
held by its non- affiliates. Therefore, the Company will be limited in the amount of proceeds it is able to raise by selling shares
of common stock using its Form S- 3 until such time as the Company' s public float exceeds $ 75. 0 million. In accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) Subtopic 205- 40, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’ s Ability to
Continue as a Going Concern, the Company has evaluated whether there are conditions and events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’ s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that its
audited consolidated financial statements are issued. As of the report date, the Company believes its existing cash, cash
equivalents srestrietedeash-and marketable securities are sufficient to fund its operating and capital expenditure requirements
for a period of at least 12 months from the date of issuance of these audited consolidated financial statements. NOTE 2-
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES =+a. Basis of presentation The Company’ s consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“ U. S. GAAP 7). b.
Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. F- 8 c. Use of estimates The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with U. S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the F—8-date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such
estimates and assumptions include pfeduet—fetums—aﬂd—research and development accruals Actual results could differ from the
Company sestlmatesd etg eneyTranstation 6 d-batanees-ortginally .

e*peﬂses—as—appfepﬂate—e—Cash and cash equrvalents The Company cons1ders as-cash equ1valents to be all short term h1ghly
liquid investments, which include short- term bank deposits, treasury bills and money market funds with original maturities of
three months or less from the date of purchase that are not restricted as to withdrawal or use and are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash. fe . Restricted Cash As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the Company had no and less
than $ 0. 1 million of restricted cash , respectively, ef—$—9—l—m-1-l-l-}en—represent1ng bank guarantees. g-f . Marketable securities
Marketable securities with original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year from
the balance sheet date are classified as short- term. Marketable securities with remaining maturities of greater than one year
from the balance sheet date are classified as long- term. The Company classifies all marketable securities as available- for- sale
debt securities. The Company’ s marketable securities are measured and reported at fair value using either quoted prices in
active markets for identical securities or quoted prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar securities. Unrealized
gains and losses are reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The cost of securities sold is determined on a
specific identification basis, and realized gains and losses, if any, are included in other income, net within the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss. kg . Property and equipment 5-Property and equipment are stated at cost, net
of accumulated depreciation and-amertization—. 23 The Company’ s property and equipment are depreciated by the straight- line
method on the basis of their estimated useful life. Estimated useful lives Annuatrates-of depreetationrare as follows: Estimated

Useful LlfeOfﬁce -I:l-feeemputefs%-q—yeafslsabef&teﬂﬁ—equ1pment5 —}4—yeafsefﬁee—&mfufe—aﬂd-eqmpmeﬁt4—l-4—years h
est-rmated—useful—lrfe—e-ﬁt-he—tmpfeyemeﬂts—l— lmpa1rment of long- hved assets The Company tests long lived assets for

impairment whenever events or circumstances present an indication of impairment. If the sum of expected future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) of the assets is less than the carrying amount ¥-9-of such assets, an impairment loss
would be recognized. The assets would be written down to their estimated fair values, calculated based on the present value of
expected future cash flows (discounted cash flows), or some other fair value measure. i . Credit losses An allowance is
maintained for potential credit losses in accordance with accounting standards update (" ASU") No. 2016- 13. The Company
evaluates its allowance based on expected losses rather than incurred losses, which is known as the current expected credit loss
(“ CECL ) model. The allowance is determined using the loss rate approach and is measured on a collective (pool) basis when
similar risk characteristics exist. Where financial instruments do not share risk characteristics, they are evaluated on an
individual basis. The allowance is based on relevant available information, from internal and external sources, F- 9 relating to
past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts —. Trade receivable balances are written off against the
allowance when it is deemed probable that the receivable will not be collected. Trade receivables, net are stated net of reserves
for certain sales allowances and credit losses. Credit losses were not material for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022- kj . Leases The Company' s lease portfolio mainly consists of office space. Leases are classified as either finance or
operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. Operating lease assets
represent the Company’ s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term whereas lease liabilities represent the Company’ s
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement
date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight- line basis over the expected
lease term. +k . Contingencies Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, which may
result in a loss to the Company, but which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The
Company’ s management assesses such contingent liabilities and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment.




In assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against the Company or unasserted claims that may
result in such proceedings, the Company’ s management evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted
claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought. Management applies the guidance
in ASC 450- 20- 25 when assessing losses resulting from contingencies. If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is
probable that a material loss has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be estimated, then the estimated liability is
recorded as accrued expenses in the Company’ s financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potential material loss
contingency is not probable but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent
liability, together with an estimate of the range of possible loss if determinable and material are disclosed. Loss contingencies
considered to be remote by management are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case the guarantees
are disclosed. sl . Share- based compensation The Company accounts for employees’ and directors’ share- based payment
awards classified as equity awards using the grant- date fair value method. The fair value of share- based payment transactions is
recognized as an expense over the requisite service period using the straight- line method. Forfeitures are recognized as they
occur. Share- based payments related to the employee share purchase plan (“ ESPP ) are recognized based on the fair value of
each award estimated on the first day of the offering period and recognized as an expense over the offering period using the
straight- line method. The Company elected to recognize compensation costs for awards conditioned only on continued service
that have a graded vesting schedule using the straight- line method. m £=46-#-. Revenue recognition The Company accounts for
its revenue transactions under Financial Accounting Standards Board (" FASB") Accounting Standards Codification (" ASC")
Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. In accordance with ASC Topic 606, the Company recognizes revenues
when its customers obtain control of its product for an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive from its
customers in exchange for that product. To determine revenue recognition for contracts that are determined to be in scope of
ASC Topic 606, the Company performs the following five steps: (i) identify the contract (s) with a customer; (ii) identify the
performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies F- 10 the performance
obligation. The Company only applies the five- step model to contracts when it is probable that the Company will collect the
consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods or services it transfers to the customer. Once the contract is determined
to be within the scope of ASC Topic 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within each contract and
determines those that are performance obligations and assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company
then recognizes as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when
such performance obligation is satisfied. Following As-a-result-efthe disposition of the MST Franchise in January 2022, the
Company does nie-not have tonger-has-any revenue generating products; however, #-stittthe Company may receive royalty
revenues from the sale of specified products (see " Note 4 7— Discontinued Operations " ). Royalty Revenues and
Collaboration Agreements The Company is entitled to royalty payments with respect to sales of Finacea foam. The a-produet
developed-by-a-customer-in-eotaborattonwith-the-Company previously licensed the rights to Finacea foam to LEO Pharma
A /S (" LEO Pharma") . This-preduetFinacea foam was not part of the MST Franchise that was sold in January 2022.
Royaltres are recognrzed as revenue when the product is sold by the-eustomer-LEO Pharma . For Reventesinthe-ameountof$
the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , royalty revenues were $ 0.
5 million and %92%$ 0. 4 million , respectively. For collaboration agreements under ASC 606, the Company identifies the
contract, identifies the performance obligations, determines the transaction price, allocates the contract transaction price to the
performance obligations, and recognizes the revenue when (or as) the performance obligation is satisfied. The Company
identifies the performance obligations included within the agreement and evaluate which performance obligations are distinct.
Upfront payments for licenses are evaluated to determine if the license is capable of being distinct from the obligations to
participate on certain development and / or commercialization committees with the collaboration partners and supply
manufactured drug product for clinical trials. For performance obligations that are satisfied over time, the Company utilizes the
input method and revenue is recognized by consistently applying a method of measuring progress toward complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. The Company periodically reviews #s-estimated periods of performance based on the progress
under each arrangement and accounts for the impact of any changes in estimated periods of performance on a prospective basis.
Milestone payments are a form of variable consideration as the payments are contingent upon achievement of a
substantive event. Milestone payments are estimated and are included in the transaction price when the Company determines
that it is probable that there will not be a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized in future periods. Preduet
Reventres;net-The Company =' s net product revenues were generated through sales of AMZEEQ, which was approved by the
FDA in October 2019 and was commercially launched in the United States in January 2020, and ZILXI, which was approved by
the FDA in May 2020 and was commercially launched in the United States in October 2020. The Company sold the MST
Franchrse on January 12 2022 and as such, the Company no longer generates revenue from the sale of these products. Fhe




Provisions f01 dlsmbutlon fees trade dlscounts and Chalgebdcks related to the sales 0fAMZEEQ and ZILXI are Ieﬂected as
a reduction to trade receivables, net on the consolidated balance sheet. All other provisions, including rebates, other discounts
and return provisions are reflected as a liability within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet. The revenue reserve
aeeraatliability was S 2. 1 million and $ 2. 3 million and-$2FmiHien-as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-Beeember3t;
2022, respectively. Under the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company retained and is responsible for historical
lmbllmes of the Commercml busmess operations based on events occurring prior to the sale other than those lldbllltles expressly

and Contract Liabilities The Company did not have any contract assets (unbllled receivables) related to ploduet sales as of
December 31, 2024 or 2023 2022~ as customer invoicing generally eeetared-occurred before or at the time of revenue
recognition. Fhe-Similarly, the Company did not have any contract assets (unbilled receivables) related to its Heense-royalty
revenues as of December 31, 2024 or 2023 or2622-. F- 11 The Company did not have any contract liabilities as of December
31, 2024 or 2023 or2622-, as the Company did not receive payments in advance of fulfilling its performance obligations to its
customers. e-n . Collaboration arrangements The Company analyzes its collaboration arrangements to assess whether they are
within the scope of ASC Topic 808, Collaborative Arrangements (ASC 808), to determine whether such arrangements involve
joint operating activities performed by parties that are both active participants in the activities and exposed to significant risks
and rewards that are dependent on the commercial success of such activities. To the extent the arrangement is within the scope
of ASC 808, the Company will assess whether aspects of the arrangement between it and their collaboration partner are within

the scope of othe1 accounting literature. -p-o Resea-feh—&ﬂd—éeve}epme&t—eesfs—[{esearc h and dev elopment expenses All-l-ﬂel-ude

Sﬂppl-iesrs&l&ﬁesrs’h&feA%sed-eefﬂpeﬂs&&eﬁ—expenses ayre-ta 5
equipment-and-eonsulting-fees—Aleeostsassociated with research and éeve}ep-meﬂ-tﬁ development are expensed as mcurled G
Research and development expenses include expenses directly attributable to conducting the Company' s research and
development programs, including expenses incurred under arrangements with third parties, such as contract research
organizations, contract development and manufacturing organizations and consultants as well as the cost of clinical
trials, clinical trial supplies, salaries, share- based compensation expenses, payroll taxes and other employee benefits.
Expenses are considered incurred based on the evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks under each
contract using information and data provided by the service providers and vendors or the Company' s estimate of the
level of service that has been performed at each reporting date, whereas payments are dictated by the terms of each
agreement, such as the successful enrollment of a certain number of patients, site initiation, and the completion of clinical
trial milestones. As such, depending on the timing of the payment relative to the receipt of goods or services, management
may record prepaid expenses, accrued expenses, or other assets. p . Fair value measurement Fair value is based on the price
that would be received from the sale of an asset or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between




market participants at the measurement date. In order to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements, the
guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into
three broad levels, which are described as follows: Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at
the measurement date for assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs. Level 2:
Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but corroborated by market data or active market data
of similar or identical assets or liabilities. Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The
fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation
techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible and
considers counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value. £#q . Income taxes +F=43--Deferred taxes Income taxes are
computed using the asset and liability method. Under the asset and liability method, deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured
using the currently enacted tax rates and laws. A valuation allowance is recognized to the extent F- 12 that it is more likely than
not that the deferred taxes will not be realized in the foreseeable future. Given the Company’ s losses, the Company has
provided a full valuation allowance with respect to its deferred tax assets. «=-Uncertainty in income tax The Company follows a
two- step approach in recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained
based on technical merits. If this threshold is met, the second step is to measure the tax position as the largest amount that has
more than a 50 % likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. s . Net loss per share Net loss per share, basic and
diluted, is computed on the basis of the net loss from continuing operations for the period divided by the weighted average
number of shares of common shares-stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is based upon the weighted
average number of shares of common stock and of common stock equivalents outstanding when dilutive . The Company has
issued the Pre- Funded Warrants, which do not expire until they are exercised in full (see' Note 12 — Mezzanine Equity
and Shareholder' s Equity'). Pursuant to the guidance of ASC 260- 10, the Company concluded that because the equity-
classified Pre- Funded Warrants were immediately exercisable for little or no cash consideration, due to the non-
substantive exercise price, all of the necessary conditions for issuance of the underlying shares of common stock had
been met when the Pre- Funded Warrants were issued. Therefore, the underlying shares of common stock should be
included in the denominator for both the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock for the year
ended December 31, 2024 . The following stock options, restricted stock units (“ RSUs ”’) and warrants were excluded from the
calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect would have been anti- dilutive for the periods presented {data

presented-as-numbers-ofshares) Year ended December 31, (in numbers of shares) 262320220utstanding——--
202420230utstandmg stock optlons and RSUs 2, 335 019 1, 205, 51( %—1—3—493—Warrant§27 509 27, 509-t—Btseenﬂ-ﬂue&

Concentration of credit risks F 1nanc1al instruments that potentlally subject the Company to concentration of credit rlqk con%l%t
principally of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities and accounts receivables. The Company deposits
cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions and, as a matter of policy, limits the amounts of credit exposure
to any single financial institution. In addition, all marketable securities carry a high credit rating or are government insured. The
Company has not experienced any material credit losses in these accounts and does not believe it is exposed to significant credit
risk on these instruments. Existing royalty receivables relate to one customer, but do not present a credit risk due to their
immaterial nature. There was no Restrieted-restricted cash as of December 31, 2023-2024 , thereby was-$-0—-milienwhich
doesnotpresentpresenting a-no credit risk due-to-its-immateriatnatare- vt . Employee Retention Tax Credit In March 2020,
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “ CARES Act ”’) was signed into law, providing numerous tax
provisions and other stimulus measures, including employee retention tax credits (“ ERTC ). The ERTC was a refundable tax
credit against certain employment taxes for qualifying businesses retaining employees on their payroll during the COVID- 19
pandemic and allowed eligible employers to claim a refundable tax credit against the employer share of Social Security tax
equal to 70 % of the qualified wages they paid to employees, initially from March 27, 2020 until June 30, 2021, and extended
through September 30, 2021. During 2022, the Company filed returns with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and claimed



credits totaling $ 1. 3 million. During the first quarter of 2023, the Company received the full $ 1. 3 million. As there is no
authoritative guidance under U. S. GAAP on accounting for government assistance to for- profit business entities, the F- 13
Company has accounted for the ERTC by analogy to International Accounting Standard, Accounting for Government Grants
and Disclosure of Government Assistance (“ IAS 20 ). The ERTC filings remain open to examination by the IRS until April
2025, and as such the Company has recorded the $ 1. 3 million received within other current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2623-2024 until such a time that the Company has reasonable assurance that the conditions
associated with the grants have been met. #u . Warrants The Company accounts for warrants as either equity- classified or
liability- classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant’ s specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in
ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ ASC 480 ) and ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ ASC
815 ). The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the
definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whetherthe-warrants-meet all of the requirements for equity classification
under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’ s own common stock, among other conditions for
equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant
issuance and as of each subsequent reporting period end date while the warrants are outstanding. For issued warrants that meet
all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid- in capital
at the time of issuance. For issued warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to
be recorded at their initial fair value on the date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair
value of the warrants are recognized as a non- cash gain or loss on the statements of operations. Liability- classified warrants are
required to be accounted for at fair value both on the date of issuance and on subsequent accounting period ending dates, with
all changes in fair value after the issuance date recorded as a component of other income, net in the statements of operations. As
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , all of the Company' s outstanding warrants were equity- classified warrants. %v . Newly
issued and recently adopted accounting pronouncements: Recent Accounting Guidance Issued «In June 2016, the FASB issued
ASU Aceounting-Standards-Ypdate-No. 2016- 13, “ Financial Instruments- Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments ” (ASU 2016- 13), which requires companies to measure credit losses of financial instruments,
including customer accounts receivable and marketable securities, utilizing a methodology that reflects expected credit losses
and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates.
Subsequent to the issuance of ASU 2016- 13, the FASB issued several additional ASUs Aeeounting-Standard-UpdatesF—5-to
clarify implementation guidance, provide narrow- scope improvements and provide additional disclosure guidance. As a smaller
reporting company, the Company adopted ASU 2016- 13 effective January 1, 2023, and there was no material impact on the
consohdated ﬁnanelal statements upon adoptlon In Mafeh—December %92-9—2022 the FASB 1ssued Aeeeﬂﬂt-rﬁg—Staﬁdafds
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-St&ndafds—deate—No 2022 06," Reference Rate Ref01m (Toplc 848): Deferral ofthe Sunset Date of Toplc 848” (ASU 2022—
06), which provides extension of the sunset date of Topic 848 from December 31, 2022 7to December 31, 2024. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2020- 04 and ASU 2022- 06 on its consolidated financial statements. Currently, the
Company does not expect the adoption of the new standard to have a material impact to the consolidated financial statements. In

AtgustNovember 2026-2023 |, the FASB issued ASU No. 2626-2023 - 66-07 , “Debt-" Segment Reporting (Topic 280) —
-Bebt—wrﬂa—eeﬂ*efsten—&nd-et-heﬁaﬁens-lmprovements to Reportable Segment Dlsclosures" ( -Subtepte—47—9—ASU 2023 26

i 0 h prlmarlly through t-he—A—S-H—requﬁes—enhanced
dlselosures about eeﬁvef&b}e—rnsﬁﬂments—mgmﬁcant segment expenses The amendments are effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2024 . The
Company adopted the standard ASH2620--66-as of Janwary+December 31 , 2022-2024 and-. See Note 15 in there—- the
accompanying notes to was-no-matertalimpaetenr-the consolidated financial statements— statement upen-adoption-for further
information . In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023- 09," Income Taxes (Topic 740) — Improvements to Income
Tax Disclosures" (" ASU 2023- 09"), which is intended to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax
disclosures. Public business entities are required to adopt this standard for annual fiscal periods beginning after December 31,
2024 and early adoption is permitted . The Company is evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance will have on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024- 03,"
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) — Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses" ("' ASU 2024- 03"), to improve
financial reporting by requiring disclosures in the notes to financial F- 14 statements about specific types of expenses
included in the expense captions presented on the face of the statement of operations. The requirements of the ASU, as
clarified by ASU 2025- 01 issued in January 2025, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December



15, 2026 and for interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The
requirements will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application . The Company is evaluating the
impact the adoption of this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. NOTE 3-
STRATEGIC AGREEMENTS In April 2021, the Company entered into an Evaluation and Option Agreement (the “ Option
Agreement ) with Tay. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, Tay granted the Company an exclusive option to obtain certain
exclusive worldwide rights to research, develop and commercialize products containing Tay’ s BET inhibitor compounds for the
treatment of any disease, disorder or condition in humans. Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company agreed to use
commercially reasonable efforts to stabilize, develop and manufacture a product with a pan- BD BET inhibitor as its active
ingredient and Tay agreed to provide a mutually agreed data package and select new chemical entity development candidate
from its highly selective BET inhibitor compounds (the" Oral BETi Compounds"). The Company paid a $ 1. 0 million non-
refundable cash payment to Tay upon execution of the Option Agreement, 50 % of which was to be used by Tay in the
development of the Oral BETi Compounds. Under the terms of the Option Agreement, the Company' s option (the" Oral
Option") with respect to the Oral BETi Compounds was to expire on June 30, 2022 (the" Option Term"), but in June 2022, the
Company and Tay entered into a Letter Agreement (the “ Letter Agreement ™) to extend the Option Term to February 28, 2023.
Pursuant to the terms of the Letter Agreement, the Company paid Tay $ 386, 366 (£ 300, 000) on June 28, 2022 to extend the
Option Term. In addition, on August 29, 2022, the Company made a second payment to Tay of $ 997, 407 (£ 850, 000) pursuant
to the terms of the Letter Agreement following the discovery of potential Oral BETi Compounds for further development. Both
payments were recorded as research and development expense. On February 27, 2023, the parties entered into an additional
Letter Agreement (the" Second Letter Agreement") pursuant to which the Option Term was extended to April 30, 2023. As
consideration for the extension of the Option Term, the Company paid Tay $ 250, 000 upon the execution of the Second Letter
Agreement. Per the terms of the Second Letter Agreement, this fee was deducted from the upfront fee paid by the Company to
Tay following the Company' s exercise of the Oral Option, as described below. On August 6, 2021, the Company exercised its
option with respect to the ¥¥N26+-repibresib program and, on August 9, 2021, the parties entered into a License Agreement
(the “ ¥¥N26+-Repibresib License Agreement ) granting the Company a worldwide, exclusive license that is sublicensable
through multiple tiers to exploit certain of Tay’ s pan- BD BET inhibitor compounds in all fields. The Company has the sole
responsibility for development, regulatory, marketing and commercialization activities to be conducted for the licensed products
at its sole cost and discretion. The Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and, if approved,
commercialize such products. Pursuant to the ¥¥N268+Repibresib License Agreement, a joint development committee
consisting of one representative from each party reviews the progress of the development plan for the licensed products.
Pursuant to the ¥¥N26+Repibresib License Agreement, the Company may develop a product that contains or incorporates a
specific BET inhibitor, whether alone or in combination with other active ingredients, in any form, formulation, presentation, or
dosage, and for any mode of administration. The Company made a $ 0. 5 million cash payment to Tay in connection with
entering into the ¥¥N26+-Repibresib License Agreement. Pursuant to the ¥¥IN26+-Repibresib License Agreement, the
Company has agreed to make cash payments to Tay of up to $ 15. 75 million upon the achievement of specified clinical
development and regulatory approval milestones with respect to each licensed topical product in the United States e-ﬁu-p—te*ﬁ—lé—
F5-mithen-for all indications , of which $ 1. 8 million has been paid or accrued through December 31, 2024 . Tay is entitled
to additional milestone payments upon the achievement of regulatory approvals in certain non- U. S. jurisdictions. In addition,
with respect to any products the Company commercializes under the ¥AN26+-Repibresib License Agreement, the Company
will pay tiered royalties to Tay on net sales of such licensed products by the Company, its affiliates, or sublicensees, of 5 %, 7. 5
% and 10 % based on tiered annual net sales bands subject to specified reductions. The Company is ebligated-Pursuant to pay
royaltiestanti-the latest-Repibresib License Agreement, VYNE was granted a sublicense under certain intellectual
property whlch was llcensed to Tay by the Unlver51ty of Dundee (+“ Dundee ” ) pursuant to a certain the-tenth

v license produet-agreement between Tay and Dundee
effective as of July 24 2020 and amended and restated on October 8, 2021 ( 2-the “ Head License ” ) . On February 13,
2025, Tay and Dundee entered into an agreement for the expiration-termination of the Head tast-valid-elainroftheteensed
- License and assignment of such intellectual property from Dundee to Tay. Upon termination of the Head License, the
Repibresib License Agreement was accordingly amended to reflect the assignment of the intellectual property to Tay
upon its pateﬂt—payment in full to Dundee The amendment does not change any of Tay’ s or VYNE’ s rights eovering-sueh

: y y - or obligations under the relevant

Rep1bres1b heensed» Llcense Agreementpfeduet—m—t-he—fe}evaﬁt—eeﬁﬂﬁey— eﬂ—a—except that any references to the Head
Heensed-- License produet—were removed and any obligations owed by
VYNE to Dundee with respect to repibresib are now owed to Tay . On April 28, 2023, the Company exercised the Oral
Option and entered into a license agreement (the" VYN202 License Agreement") with Tay granting the Company a worldwide,
exclusive license that is sublicensable through multiple tiers to exploit certain of Tay’ s Oral BETi Compounds in all fields. The
Company has the sole responsibility for development, regulatory, marketing and commercialization activities to be conducted
for the licensed products at the sole cost and discretion of the Company, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
develop and, if approved, commercialize such products. VYNE may sublicense its rights to a third party without Tay’ s consent.
Pursuant to the License Agreement, a joint development committee consisting of one representative from each party reviews the
progress of the development plan for the licensed products. The Company made a cash payment of $ 3. 75 million, after
deducting the $ 250, 000 paid in February 2023, to Tay in connection with entering into the VYN202 License Agreement. This
payment was recorded as a research and development expense in the period paid. Pursuant to the terms of the VYN202 License
Agreement, the Company agreed to make cash payments to Tay of up to $ 43. 75 million upon the achievement of specified
clinical development and regulatory approval milestones with respect to each licensed oral product in the United States for all




indications , of which $ 1. 3 million has been paid or accrued through December 31, 2024 . Tay is entitled to additional
milestone payments upon the achievement of regulatory approvals in certain non- U. S. jurisdictions. In addition, with respect to
any products the Company commercializes under the VYN202 License Agreement, the Company will pay tiered royalties to
Tay on net sales of such licensed products by the Company, its affiliates, or sublicensees, of 5 %, 7. 5 % and 10 % based on
tiered annual net sales bands subject to specified reductions. The Company is obligated to pay royalties until the latest of (1) the
tenth anniversary of the first commercial sale of the relevant licensed product, (2) the expiration of the last valid claim of the
licensed patent rights covering such licensed product in such country and (3) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity for the
relevant licensed product in the relevant country, on a licensed product- by- licensed product and country- by- country basis.
Sale of the MST Franchise On January 12, 2022, VYNE entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “ Purchase Agreement
) Wlth J ourney Medtea-l-eefpef&t-ten—(i}eﬁmeyl)—purﬁuam to Wthh the Company sold its Meleewle-StabilizingTeehnology
vely he<“MST Franchise 2};-to Journey. The assets
included Certam contracts 1nclud1ng the heense agreement Wlth Cutla Thelapeutle% (HK) Limited (“ Cutia ™), inventory and
intellectual property related to the MST Franchise (together, the *“ Assets ). Pursuant to the Agreement, Journey assumed
certain liabilities of the MST Franchise. There were no current or long- term liabilities recorded by the Company which were
transferred to Journey. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company received an upfront payment of $ 20. 0 million at the
closing of the sale of the MST franchise and received an additional $ 5. 0 million deferred payment in January 2023. The
Company is also eligible to receive sales milestone payments of up to $ 450. 0 million in the aggregate upon the achievement of
specified levels of net sales on a product- by- product basis, beginning with annual net sales exceeding $ 100. 0 million (with
products covered in three categories (1) AMZEEQ (and certain modifications), (2) ZILXI (and certain modifications), and (3)
FCD105 €and other products covered by the patents being transferred, including certain modifications). In addition, the
Company is entitled to receive certain payments from any licensing or sublicensing of the assets by Journey outside of the
United States. F- 15 NOTE 4 — DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS The Company determined that the sale of the MST Franchise
represented a strategic shift that had a major effect on the business and therefore the MST Franchise met the criteria for
classification as discontinued operations. Accordingly the MST Franchise is reported as discontinued operations in accordance
with ASC 205- 20, Discontinued Operations. Fhe-Company-treeognized-In accordance with ASC 205- 20, only expenses
specifically identifiable and related to 2 gain-en-business to be disposed may be presented in discontinued operations. As
such, the sale-ef- general and administrative expenses in discontinued operations include corporate costs incurred directly
to solely support the MST Franchise upetretosing-. The negative product sales for the years— year ended December 31, 2023
was and2022-were-primarily attributable to a change in the product returns provision following the sale of the MST Franchise.
The following table presents the combined results of discontinued operations of the MST Franchise: Year ended December 31,
(in thousands) 26232022Preduet-20242023Product sales, net $ — § (525) $-5-844)-Costofgoodsseld—80-Operating
expenses: Setinggeneral-General and administrativeS5-administrative27 259-55 Total operating expensesS5-expenses27 259

55 Loss from dlseontmued opelatlonq before taxes (27) (580) (—2—}83)—Gatn—eﬁ—&xe—sa}e—ef—&xe—M-SfPFf&ﬂehﬁe—l—2—9+8

fe—se%e&y—sappeffﬂ&e—M—ST—Ffaﬁe%ﬁseJPhe—petermal—mlleqtone payments for %ale% of ZILXI, AMZEEQ and F CDIOS repreqent
contingent consideration. Contingent consideration has been accounted for as a gain contingency in accordance with ASC 450,
Contingencies, and will be recognized in earnings in the period when realizable. NOTE 5- FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Company’ s financial assets that are measured at fair value as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are classified in the tables
below in one of the three categories described in" Note 2 (gp ) —— Fair value measurement" above: December 31, 2623-2024
(in thousands) Level 1Level 2Level 3TotalCash and cash equivalents $ 19,926 $ — $ — $ 19, 926 Marketable securities —
41, 590 — 41, 590 Total assets $ 19,926 $ 41,590 $ — $ 61, 516 December 31, 2023 (in thousands) Level 1Level 2Level
3TotalCash and cash cquivalents $ 20, 353 $ 10,267 $ — $ 30, 620 Malketable §eCLlr1t1€§ — 62 633 — 62, 633 Total assets $
20,353 $ 72, 900 $ — $ 93, 253 . ; i A

payable% and accrued expenses. The fair Value of these ﬁnan01a1 instruments approxunates thelr carrying values due to their
short- term nature. In determining the fair value of its Level 2 investments, the Company relied on quoted prices for identical
securities in markets that are not active. These quoted prices were obtained by the Company with the assistance of a third- party
pricing service based on available trade, bid and other observable market data for identical securities. F- 16FOAMIX
PHARMACEUTICALS LTD. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) (U. S.
dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts) NOTE 6- MARKETABLE SECURITIES As Marketable
seeunrities-as-of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , marketable securities consisted of U. S. Government and agency bends-debt



securities as well as U. S. Treasury bills —Fhe cid d s b G 5
following tables sets forth the Company’ s 1narketable securities: Decembet 31 (1n thousands) %92—3-9—20242023U S.
Government and agency bends-debt securities $ 10,572 $ 31, 886 U. S. Tredsury biHs30-bills31, 018 30, 747 Total $ 41, 590
$ 62, 633 As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fairvake;amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, and—gross unrealized losses
and fair value were as follows: December 31, 2023-2024 (in thousands) Amortized CostGross Unrealized GainGross
UnrealizedLossFairValueU. S . Government and agency bends3+debt securities $ 10,568 $ 4 $ — $ 10, 572 U. S. Treasury
bills31, 002 16 — 31, 018 Total $ 41,570 $ 20 $ — $ 41, 590 December 31, 2023 (in thousands) Amortized CostGross
Unrealized GainGross UnrealizedLossFairValueU. S. Government and agency debt securities $ 31 . 866 $ 30 $ (10) $ 31,
886 U. S. Treasury bills30, 742 5 — 30, 747 Total $ 62, 608 $ 35 $ (10) $ 62, 633 As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $ 41. 6
million and $ 62. 6 million , respectively, of the marketable securities were in an unrealized gain position. The Company
determined that unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities were primarily due to interest rate changes. No allowance
for credit losses related to any of these securities was recorded for the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. All
maturities are less than 12 months. NOTE 7- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Buring-The followmg table sets forth the year
ended—Company s property and equ1pment net as of December 3 1, 2—92—2—2024 the-Company-disposed-of fixed-assets-in

he ethey December 3 1, 2022-related-to-the-write-
(in thousands) 20240ffice equlpment $ 117 Property and equlpmentl 17 Less Accumulated depreclatlon (4) Property
and equlpment net $ 113 The Company had no property and equ1pment as ofF of December 31 2023 of—}abera-tery—&nd

rts-of-o orts— F- 17 Deptecmtlon expense totaled zero-$ 4 thousand and $ 0 —1-
ﬂa-rl-l-lon—tm the years ended Decembe1 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively , which is included within general and
administrative expenses on the consohdated statements of operations and comprehensive loss . NOTE 8- ACCRUED
EXPENSES Accrued expenses consisted of the following: F=—8-December 3 1, 26232022Produet-(in thousands)
20242023Product sales provisions (1) $ 2, 256-107 S 2, 695-250 Research and development390---- development 987-(2) 6, 622
990 Professional serviees648-- services491 519-648 Other231—- Other52 486-231 Total Aeerned-accrued Expenses-expenses $
9,272 5 4, 119 $4-(1) Comprised primarily of liabilities related to product returns associated with the MST Franchise.
(2) Comprised primarily of accruals related to fees for contract research organizations . 38+investigative sites, and other
service providers that assist in conducting preclinical research studies and clinical trials. NOTE 9 - OPERATING LEASE
As of Decembet 31, %92—3—2024 the C ompany had an operating lease for 1ts pl‘lllClpdl executive ottlce in Bl‘ldLerteI New

%92—2—111 November 2022, the C ompany transitioned to a smaller corporate headqucutels and sts_ned a Sublease A(neement (the “
Sublease ) to sublease approximately 5, 755 square feet of office space (the “ Leased Premises ) in Bridgewater, New Jersey
through September 30, 2023. -I-n—add-rt-ton—F ollowing the termination of the Sublease , the Company signed a Lease Agreement
(the “ Master Lease ) to lease the Leased Premises -foﬂowrng—ﬂ&e—termmattefrof—ﬂ%e—Sub}ease—thtouOh September 30, 2025. The
Company recorded a right of use asset of $ 0. 2 million and ltablllty of $ 0. 3 million at the commencement date of the Master
Leaseon()ctoberl 2023 —Fhe stease-agreemer § tsra as-a-one-yearlease-tha

or—habrl-t-ty— The components ot lease expense are as tollows Year ended December 31 (1n thousands) ¥ear—2024Year Ended
Deeember31;20623Year Ended-Deeember31,20220perating-20230perating lcase expense $ 126 $§ 32 $2F-Short- term lease
expense $— 86 $24F-Variable lease expense-expensel0-$-(106) $-69-Total lease expense $ 136 $ 102 $55FVariable lease
expense primarily consists of utility and other common area maintenance (" CAM") charges. For the year ended December 31,
2023 the variable lease expenses included a reversal of immaterial expense related to CAM charges. Lease expense is included
within general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements ot opetdtlons and comprehenswe loss
Supplemental Operating-operating cash flows information is for-am e A m tabitities-are
as follows: F=49-Year Ended-ended December 31, (in thousands) 2024Year Ended 20230pemt1ng 1e"lses $ 126 $ 25 F- 18
Supplemental consolidated balance sheet information related to leases are-is as follows: (in thousands) December 31,
2024December 31, 2023Operating lease right- of- use assets $ 93 $ 207O0perating lease liabilities $ 99 $ 214Weighted average
remaining lease term—l—termﬂ 751 . 75Weighted average discount rate8. 00 % Fhere-were-no-tight—8. 00 % Maturities of —use
assets-or-lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022-2024 —Maturities-oftease-habilittes-are as follows: 2624-(in thousands) Year
ended December 31, 20242025 $ 101 -1—26—2-925-1-92—Totdl lease payments228-payments101 [ess imputed interest (+4-2 ) Total
lease Hability-liability99 Total $244-Current-operatingteasetiabilittesH5Nen—current operating lease Habilitiesd9--- liabilities
FotaHease hability-$ 244-99 NOTE 10- EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN The Company makes retirement savings plans
available to all of its employees and those of its subsidiary, which are intended to qualify as deferred compensation plans under
Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “ 401 (k) Plans ). The Company made contributions to these 401 (k) Plans
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-0f § 0. 1 million in each period. NOTE 11 — COMMITMENTS
AND CONTINGENCIES Litigation and contingencies The Company may periodically become subject to legal proceedings and
claims arising in connection with its business. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , there were no claims or actions pending against




the Company that, in the opinion of management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. NOTE 12-
MEZZANINE AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company' s Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (as amended, the" Certificate of Incorporation") authorized the Company to issue 20, 000, 000
shares of preferred stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share. There were no zere-and-3;-006-shares of Series-A-CeonvertiblePreferred
preferred Stoekstock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-Deeember3+;2622;respeetively-. Shares
of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. The voting powers (if any), preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions of any series of F—26-preferred
stock will be set forth in a Certificate of Designation filed pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, as determined by
the Company' s Board of Directors. On November 11, 2022, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the
Purchase Agreement ) with Mutual Fund Series Trust, on behalf of AlphaCentric LifeSci Healthcare Fund ( the-* Purehaser
AlphaCentric "), pursuant to which the Company issued on November 14, 2022, in a private placement transaction, an
aggregate of 3, 000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share (the “ Series A Preferred ), for
an aggregate subscription amount equal to $ 300, 000. This transaction resulted in $ 89, 000 of issuance costs and net proceeds
of $ 211, 000. The Company determined that the Series A Preferred should be classified as Mezzanine Equity (temporary equity
outside of permanent equity), because the Series A Preferred more closely aligned with debt as the intent was for redemption by
either the holder or the Company due to the favorable redemption terms. F- 19 The Purchase Agreement required that the
Company convene a meeting of stockholders for the purpose of presenting to-the-Company—s-steekholders-a proposal (the
Proposal ) authorizing the Company' s board of directors to approve a reverse stock split of its outstanding €emimen-common
Steelestock , with the recommendation of the board of directors that the Proposal be approved, and that the Company use
reasonable best efforts to obtain approval of the Proposal. The meeting was convened on January 12, 2023, and the Proposal
was approved. Additionally, the Purchase Agreement contained customary representations, warranties and agreements of the
Company and AlphaCentric thePurehaser-, and customary indemnification rights and obligations of the parties. Pursuant to the
Purchase Agreement, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (the “ Certificate of Designation ”’) with the Secretary of State of Delaware on November 14, 2022
designating 3, 000 shares out of the authorized but unissued shares of its preferred stock as Series A Preferred with a par value
of $ 0. 0001 per share and establishing the rights, preferences and limitations of the Series A Preferred. The Certificate of
Designation provided, among other things, that except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of Designation or as otherwise
required by law, the Series A Preferred would have no voting rights (other than the right to vote as a class on certain matters as
provided in the Certificate of Designation). However, pursuant to the Certificate of Designation, each share of Series A
Preferred entitled the holder thereof (i) to vote on the Proposal and any proposal to adjourn any meeting of stockholders called
for the purpose of voting on the Proposal, and (ii) to 1, 000, 000 votes per share of Series A Preferred on the Proposal and any
such adjournment proposal. The Series A Preferred should, except as required by law, vote together with the common stock (and
other issued and outstanding shares of preferred stock entitled to vote), as a single class; provided, however, that such shares of
Series A Preferred should, to the extent cast on the Proposal or any such adjournment proposal, be automatically and without
further action of the holders thereof voted in the same proportion as the shares of common stock (excluding abstentions and any
shares of common stock that are not voted) and any other issued and outstanding shares of preferred stock of the Company
entitled to vote (other than the Series A Preferred or shares of such other preferred stock, if any, not voted) are voted on the
Proposal. In addition, the Series A Preferred were entitled to customary dividends and distributions when and if paid on shares
of the common stock and were entitled to the voting rights discussed above. The Series A Preferred had preference over the
common stock with respect to distribution of assets or available proceeds, as applicable, in the event of any voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or any other deemed liquidation event. The shares of Series
A Preferred were convertible at the option of the holder, at a conversion price of $ 4. 68 per share (as adjusted for the reverse
stock split), into shares of the Company’ s common stock, at any time and from time to time from and after 15 business days
following the earlier of (i) the date of the approval of the Proposal or (ii) the date the Company otherwise satisfied the Nasdaq
listing requirements. The Company had the right to redeem the Series A Preferred at any time during the 15 business days
following the approval of the Proposal (the" Company Redemption Period") at 120 % of the stated value. Each holder of Series
A Preferred had the right to require the Company to redeem all or a portion of the Series A Preferred held by such holder
following the expiration of the Company Redemption Period at 130 % of the stated value. In addition, the Company would
automatically redeem all of the Series A Preferred within five business days following a delisting event as specified in the
Certificate of Designation at 130 % of the stated value. On January 17, 2023, the Company redeemed all outstanding shares of
its Series A Preferred, for an aggregate of $ 360, 000 paid to AlphaCentric thesete-holder-ofthe-SeriesAPreferred- The
redemption payment represented 120 % of the stated value of the Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to the Certificate of
Designation. F=24-On January 17, 2023, the Company filed a Certificate of Elimination (the “ Certificate ”’) with the Secretary
of State of the State of Delaware with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock . The Certificate (i) eliminated the previous
designation of 3, 000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock from the Company’ s Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, none of which were outstanding at the time of filing, and (ii) caused such shares of Series A Preferred Stock to
resume their status as authorized but unissued and non- designated shares of preferred stock. Pursuant to the Certificate of
Incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue 150, 000, 000 shares of common stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share. Each
share of common stock is entitled to one vote. The holders of common stock are also entitled to receive dividends whenever
funds are legally available and when and if declared by the board of directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes
of preferred stock outstanding. The Company has never declared any dividends on common stock. F- 20 On February 8, 2023,
the Company' s Board of Directors approved a 1- for- 18 reverse stock split of the Company' s outstanding shares of common
stock. The reverse stock split was effected on February 10, 2023 at-5:-8+p-—m-—FEastern-time-. At the effective time, every 18



issued and outstanding shares of the Company' s common stock were converted into one share of common stock. No fractional
shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split, and in lieu thereof, each steekhelder-helding-holder of fractional
shares was entitled to receive a cash payment (without interest or deduction) in an amount equal to such steekheotder-holder ’ s
respective pro rata share of the total net proceeds from the Company’ s transfer agent' s sale of all fractional shares at the then-
prevailing prices on the open market. The number of authorized shares of the Company' s common stock and the par value of
each share of common stock remained unchanged. Fhe-Unless noted, all common stock and per share amounts contained in
the consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the 1- for- 18 reverse stock split. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company had reserved shares of common stock for future issuance as follows: ¥earended-(in
numbers of shares) December 31, 2023Shares-2024Shares underlying outstanding pre-Pre - fanded-Funded warrants
Warrants 28-27 ., 482-842 . 594-740 Common stock optlons outstandlng (N ote 13) 1 584 304 Sharei available for future
grant under 2023 Plan (Note 13) 1,429-574 , 557 856-Commen-stee ding Outstanding
restricted stock units (Note 13) 466-750 , 979-715 Shares avarlable for grant under the Employee Stock Purchaie Plan (Note 13)
+64-87 , 202-122 Shares underlying other outstanding warrants 27, 509 36-Shares available for future grant under 2024
Inducement Plan (Note 13) 131 , 946-866 , 677948 Issuanee-Issuances of common stock and warrants At- the- Market
Equity Offering Pregrams— Program On August 12, 2021, the Company entered into a sales agreement (the" Cantor Sales
Agreement") with Cantor Fitzgerald to sell shares of the Company' s common stock, from time to time, with aggregate gross
sales proceeds of up to $ 50. 0 million through an at- the- market equity offering program under which Cantor Fitzgerald would
act as the Company' s sales agent. Cantor Fitzgerald was entitled to compensation for its services equal to up to 3. 0 % of the
gross proeeed% of any shares of common stock sold under the Cantor Sales Agreement Durmg the year ended December 31,

he-Can es eeten A retp re-the-yes ,2023 theCompany
issued and sold 34, 589 shares of common stock at a Werghted average per ihare price 0f$ 4. 66 pursuant to the Cantor Sales
Agreement for $ 0. 2 million in net proceeds. On February 27, 2024, the Company delivered notice to Cantor Fitzgerald to
terminate the Cantor Sales Agreement. The Company cannot make any future sales of its common stock pursuant to the Cantor
Sales Agreement. F=22-On March 1, 2024, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “ Cowen Sales Agreement ) with
Cowen and Company, LLC, as sales agent (“ Cowen ) under which the Company may offer and sell, from time to time at its
sole discretion, shares of the Company' s common stock through Cowen in an at- the- market offering having an aggregate
offering price up to $ 50. 0 million. Cowen is entitled to compensation for its services equal to 3. 0 % of the gross proceeds of
any shares of common stock sold under the Cowen Sales Agreement -Sa-}es—pufsuant—te-The Company dld not sell any shares
of common stock under the Cowen Sales Agreement durmg FREY

5 2024 ;the-Company

v rotte reotrPa ninating—th y Prlvate Placement On October 27, 2023, the
Company entered into the Securities Purchaie Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue to the
Purchasers in the Private Placement (i) 10, 652, 543 shares of the Company’ s common stock and (ii) with respect to certain
Purchasers, Pre- Funded Warrants to purchase 28, 614, 437 shares of common stock in lieu of shares. The Stock Purchase Price
of eommensteek-was § 2. 245 per share and the purchase price for the Pre- Funded Warrants was the Stock Purchase Price
minus $ 0. 0001 per Pre- Funded Warrant. On November 1, 2023, the Company received gross proceeds of $ 88. 2 million from
the Private Placement. This transaction resulted in § 5. 5 million of issuance costs and net proceedq of $ 82.7 mrlhon as—ef

exercr%ed in full. The Pre Funded Warrants may not be exercised if the aggregate number of shares of common stock
beneficially owned by the holder thereof immediately following such exercise would exceed a specified beneficial ownership
limitation; provided, however, that a holder may increase or decrease the beneficial ownership limitation by giving 60 days’
notice to the Company, but not to exceed any percentage in excess of 19. 99 %. As of December 31, 2023, 28-131 , 482-843 of
Pre- Funded Warrants were exercised pursuant to a net exercise mechanism. During the year ended December 31 , 594
2024, 639, 854 of Pre- Funded Warrants were exercised pursuant to a net exerclse mechanism. As of December 31 2024

27, 842, 740 Pre- Funded Warrants remained outstanding. v
Warrants-were-exereised—Other Warrants As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 a-nd—BeeembeHH@Q% the Company had
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 27, 509 shares of the Company’ s common stock outstanding, with exercise prices of $ 8.
40 and-$-76-78-as-of Deeember31;,2023-and 2022 respeetively-, and an expiration date of July 29, 2026. These warrants were
issued by Foamix (as defined below) in connection with a financing in July 2019 and were subsequently assumed by the
Company in connection with the Merger (as defined below). Pursuant to the warrant certificate, the exercise price of the warrant
will be proportionally adjusted in the event that the Company distributes-issues common stock at a price per share less than the



exercise price (the" Down Round Feature"). During the sears— year ended December 31, 2023 and2622-, the Down Round
Feature was triggered due to the price per share received from the issuances of common stock. The Company calculated the
value of the effect of Down Round Feature measured as the difference between the warrants’ fair value, using the Black-
Scholes- Merton option- pricing model, before and after the Down Round Feature was triggered using the original exercise price
and the new exercise price. The difference in fair value of the effect of the Down Round Feature was immaterial and had an
immaterial impact on net loss per share in the perteds— period presented. The F=23-exercise price will continue to be adjusted in
the event the Company issues additional shares of common stock below the then- current exercise price, in accordance with the
terms of the warrants. The Pre- Funded Warrants and Warrants-warrants are classified as a component of permanent equity
because they are freestanding financial instruments that are legally detachable and separately exercisable from the shares of
common stock with which they were issued, are immediately exercisable, do not embody an obligation for the Company to
repurchase its shares, and permit the holders to receive a fixed number of shares of common stock upon exercise. In addition, the
Pre- Funded Warrants and Warrants-warrants do not provide any guarantee of value or return. NOTE 13- SHARE- BASED
COMPENSATION 2023 Equity Incentive Plan The -OnDeeember13;2023;the-Company maintains “s-steelhelders
approved-the Cempany-s-2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the" 2023 Plan") and —Fhe-Company-previously maintained the 2019
Equity Incentive Plan (the “ 2019 Plan ”’) and 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the" 2018 Plan"). Following stockholder approval
during the year ended December 31, 2023 , any shares then available for future grant under the 2019 Plan and 2018 Plan were
allocated to the 2023 Plan and no further grants could be made under the 2018 Plan and the 2019 Plan. In December 2024,
stockholders approved a proposal to amend the 2023 Plan to further increase shares available for grant under the 2023
Plan by 1, 520 000 shares As of December 31, %92—3—2024 1, -1%9-574 $56-557 shares remained issuable under the 2023
Plan h an-. 2024-IndueementPlan-On February 28, 2024, the
Board approved the Company s 2024 lnducement Plan (the Inducement Plan"). Pursuant to the Inducement Plan and Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5635 (c) (4), the Company is permitted to grant equity awards as an inducement material to an individual' s entering
into employment with the Company, subject to certain conditions (" Inducement Grants"). In November 2024, the Board
reduced the number of shares available to be issued under the Inducement Plan to one share. As of February 28
December 31, 2024, there was one wete-506,-000-shares— share available for future Inducement Grants. 20+9-Employee-Share
-P-&fehase—P—lan—The Company has adopted an Employee Share Purchase Plan (" ESPP") pursuant to which quallﬁed employees
(as defined in the ESPP) may elect to purchase designated shares of the Company’ s common stock at a price equal to 85 % of
the lesser of the F- 22 fair market value of the common stock at the beginning or end of each semi- annual share purchase
period (“ Purchase Period ”’). Employees are permitted to purchase the number of shares purchasable with up to 15 % of the
earnings paid (as such term is defined in the ESPP) to each of the participating employees during the Purchase Period, subject to
certain limitations under Section 423 of the U. S. Internal Revenue Code. As of December 31, 2623;+04,262-2024 , 87, 122
shares remained available for grant under the ESPP. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, 14, 080
and 15, 261 and-F-549-shares were issued-to-purchased by employees pursuant to the ESPP, respectively. Options and
Restricted Stock Units (" RSUs") granted to employees and directors For +Ia-the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622-, the Company granted options and RSUs to employees and directors as follows: Year ended December 31, 2024Award
amountExercise price rangeVesting periodExpirationOptions870, 000 $ 1. 96- $ 2. 401 year- 4 years10 yearsRSUs435,
000 — 4 years — Year ended December 31, 2023 Award amountExercise price rangeVesting periodExpirationOptions535,
000 $ 2. 701 year 4 yearle yearsRSUs435 000 —4 years — Durmg the years F—24-earended December 31, 2024 and

W G g REP $6+-the fair value of options and RSUs
granted to employees and dlrectors was $ 5—2 62-6 mlll1on and $ -1-9-2 98+-year—4 million yearsto-yearsRSHs40-,
respectlvely 3%9—4—yeafs—The farr value of ﬁpﬁeﬂs—and-RSUs granted is based on the share price on grant date to

t-he—s-h&fe—pﬂee—en—gf&nt—date— The fair value of each option granted is estlmated uslng the Black Scholes optlon pricing
method. The volatility is based on a combination of historical volatilities of companies in comparable stages as well as
companies in the industry, by statistical analysis of daily share pricing model. The risk- free interest rate assumption is based on
observed interest rates appropriate for the expected term of the options granted in dollar terms. The Company’ s management
uses the expected term of each option as its expected life. The expected term of the options granted represents the period of time
that granted options are expected to remain outstanding and is based on the simplified method. Under the simplified method, the
expected life of an option is presumed to be the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. The
Company used the simplified method due to the lack of sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon
which to otherwise estimate the expected life of the stock options. The underlying data used for computing the fair value of the
options are as follows: Year ended December 31, 20232022 Fair-value-of stoek-option-20242023Exercise price $ 1. 96- $ 2. 40
+-52. 2—3—$—3%§-—$—7—49-Bi—ﬂdeﬂd—70Dlv1dendyteld9—~ yield — % 68— % Expected volatility 104. 00 %- 105. 73 % 104. 42
%- 105. 64 % F3+F0-%—F4—40-%Risk- free interest rated-rate3 . 95 %-4. 32 % 4 . 04 %5220-%2-92-% Expected term6
years6 years F- 23 Modification of share- based compensation =On November 10, 2019, Menlo Therapeutics Inc. (" Menlo")
entered into a merger agreement (the" Merger Agreement") with Foamix Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (" Foamix") and Giants Merger
Subsidiary Ltd., a wholly- owned subsidiary of Menlo (" Merger Sub"). On March 9, 2020, Merger Sub merged with and into
Foamix, with Foamix surviving as a wholly- owned subsidiary of Menlo (the" Merger"). The combined company changed its
name to VYNE in September 2020. Pursuant to the Merger, all outstanding options and RSUs granted by Foamix were
exchanged for stock options and RSUs of Menlo’ s common stock according to the exchange ratio set forth in the Merger
Agreement. In addition, for each option and RSU the holder received a contingent stock right (" CSR"). This transaction was
considered to be a modification under ASC 718, Compensation- Stock Compensation. The modification did not affect the



remaining requisite service period. As a result of the modification, for outstanding options and RSUs granted to Foamix
employees and consultants, the Company recorded immaterial incremental compensation expense. On April 6, 2020, pursuant to
the terms of the agreement governing the CSRs, each CSR was converted into 1. 2082 shares of Menlo common stock, resulting
in an effective exchange ratio in the Merger of 1. 8006 shares of Menlo common stock for each Foamix ordinary share. As a
result of the modification, for outstanding options and RSUs granted to Foamix employees and consultants, the Company
recorded incremental compensation expense of $ 7 thousand and $ 46 thousand and-$-0-2-millten-for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 aﬁd—Beeeﬁ‘tber—Zv—l—Z@QQ— respectrvely A&ef—Beeeﬁ&ber%&—Z@Q%—bhereﬁs—aﬁﬂrﬂmafeﬂal—amemﬁ—ef

ﬂ&efhed—eve%fhe—ne*t—;*eﬂ-r.—F——Zé—Summary of outstandrng and exercrsable optlons and RSUS :—The followrng table summarizes
stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 : Number of optionsWeighted Average Exercise
PriceOutstanding at December 31, 2022229-2023744 , 787-537 $ 438-40 . 92-Granted535-65 Granted870 , 000 2. 76-27
Forfeited (425 , 429572 ) 722 . 8194 Expired (+6-4 . $23-661 ) +73-222 . 42-61 Outstanding at December 31, 2623744-20241
,537-584,304 $ 46-19 . 65 Exercisable at December 31, 2023476-2024397 , 688-143 $ +51+-70 . 47-32 The weighted average
grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $ 1. 6 million and $ 1. 2
million, respectively. The weighted average remaining contractual term of outstanding and exercisable options as of December
31,2023-2024 was 8. 85-62 years and 5-7 . 74-06 years, respectively. Total unrecognized share- based compensation for options
at December 31, 2023-2024 was $ 2-1 . 3-9 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3-2 .
43-76 ycars. Fhere-- The wasno-intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable options was $ 1. 3 million and $ 134 thousand,
respectively, as of December 31, 2823-2024 . The following table summarizes RSU activity for the year ended December 31,
2623-2024 : Number of RSUsWeighted Average Grant Date Fair ValueOutstanding at December 3 1, 262283-2023460 , 6+6-979
$ 434 . 3699 Awarded435, 000 2. 78-33 Vested (53-119 , 845-724 ) 42-9 . 79-76 Forfeited (3-25 , 792-540 ) 49-2 . 88-79
Outstanding at December 31, 2023460-2024750 , 979-715 $ 42 . 99-77 The weighted average remaining contractual term of
outstanding RSUs as of December 31, 2023-2024 was 2-1 . +6-52 years. Total unrecognized compensation expense related to the
unvested portion of the RSUs at December 31, 2023-2024 was $ 2-1 . 3-8 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 3. 88-11 years. F- 24 Share- based compensation expenses +The following table illustrates the
allocation of share- based compensation within-expense on the line items on the statements of operations and comprehensive
loss : Year ended December 31, (in thousands) 26232022Researeh—--- 20242023Research and development expensesS34-;
230-$ 548 $ 534 General and admnﬂsfr&fwe-admmlstratlveZ e*peﬂses% 755 2 771 Total $ 3, 303 $ 419-Discentinted
OperationsE—352)3, 305 4 ris eitares—NOTE 14- INCOME
TAX +F—26-The loss before income taxes and the related tax (beneﬁt) expense is as follows: Year ended December 31, (in
thousands) 202320224neeme-20242023Income (loss) before income taxes: Domestic $ (28-39 , 459-830 ) § (23-28 , 47—2—459 )
Foretgn7 Foreign 279-— 7 Total loss before taxes $ (28-39 , 452-830 ) § (23-28 , $93-452 ) Current taxes: Federal $ — $
(123) $-State4 2 Foreign — 121 -S’c&te%—B—Fefetgn—l%l—Total current taxes $ 4 § — $43-A reconciliation of income taxes at
the U. S. federal statutory rate to the provision for income taxes is as follows: Year ended December 31, 28232022Federat
20242023Federal income tax provision at statutory rate21. 00 % 21. 00 % State income tax provision, net of federal benefit (0.
01) % (0.64-01 ) % Permanent differences (0. 5706 ) % (+0 . 52-57 ) % Change in valuation allowances (20. 42-94 ) % ( 49-20
. 49-42 ) %-Other—9%—" Effective income tax rate —39%~0. 8501 ) % — % The income tax expense for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-differed from the amounts computed by applying the U. S. federal income tax rate of 21
% to loss before tax expense as a result of nondeductible expenses, changes in state effective tax rates, foreign taxes, tax credits
generated, true up of net operating loss carryforwards, and increase in the Company’ s valuation allowance. The Company
applies the elements of ASC 740- 10 regarding accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. This clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in financial statements and required impact of a tax position to be recognized in the
financial statements if that position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority. Included in ©ther-other
Hiabilities-liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets are the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $ 2.
6 million and $ 2. 5 million ard-$2-9-millten-as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and20822-, respectively, net of the federal
benefit, which is offset by a valuation allowance. The Company’ s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to tax
matters within the income tax provision. Tax years beginning in 2643-2020 are generally subject to examination by taxing
authorities, although net F- 25 operating losses from all years are subject to examinations and adjustments for at least three years
following the year in which the attributes are used. The significant components of the Company' s deferred tax assets and
liabilities are as follows: F=2FDecember 31, (in thousands) 20232022Peferred----- 20242023Deferred tax assets: Net operating
loss carryforwards $ 72-75 , 568-922 § 72, 993-508 Tax credit earryforwardsé-carryforwards7 , 171 6 , 851 F794-Section 174
expenses7-expensesl4 , 720 7 , 775 3;-529-Share- based eempensationrt-compensation2 , 217 1, 988 2,-66+Accrued expenses
and ether65+-other649 586-651 Total gro%q deferred tax assets%9—assets100 679 89 773 -86—8—7—3—Le§9 - Valuatron allowance (
100, 679) ( 89, 773) {86 e A v e d-ta es:
-R—tght—efuse—asseﬁ—?etai—grees—defeﬁed—ta?&habﬂiﬁes—Net deferred tax assets $ — $ — Reahzatron of deferred tax
assets is contingent upon sufficient future taxable income during the period that deductible temporary differences and carry
forward losses are expected to be available to reduce taxable income. As the achievement of required future taxable income is
not likely, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance. At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-, the Company
recorded a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets of $ 100. 7 million and $ 89. 8 mitherand$86—9-million,
respectively. The change in the valuation allowance during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-was an
increase of $ 2-10 . 9 million and $ 42 . 3-9 million, respectively. A valuation allowance has been recorded since, in the
judgment of management, these assets are not more likely than not to be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets
is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during periods in which those temporary differences and




carryforwards become deductible or are utilized. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company had federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards of § 334-343 . 4+-4 million and $ 4453 . 76 million, respectively, of which $ 44. 3 million will
begin to expire in 2031 for federal and $ 24-53 . 3-6 million will begin to expire in 2040 for state purposes. As of December 31,
2623-2024 , the Company had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of $ 6-7 . 8-2 million which will begin
to expire in 2031. The Company has no state research and development tax credit carryforwards. As a result of U. S. tax reform
legislation, federal net operating losses generated beginning in 2018 and subsequent years carryforward indefinitely, however,
the Company has federal net operating losses that pre- date U. S. tax reform legislation which begin to expire in 2031 and
federal credit carryforwards that begin to expire in 203 1. State net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2031, and the
state credit carryforwards began to expire in 2031. Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 subject the future
utilization of net operating losses and certain other tax attributes, such as research and development tax credits, to an annual
limitation in the event of certain ownership changes, as defined. The Company has not completed a 382 study through
December 31, 2023-2024 , however, it may have experienced ownership changes in the past, including in connection with the
Merger. In addition, the Private Placement likely resulted in an ownership change for purposes of Section 382 and therefore the
Company may be materially limited in the amount of NOL and R & D tax credit available for utilization in the future. The
Company generated research and development tax credits but has not conducted a study to document the qualified activities.
This study may result in an adjustment to the Company’ s research and development credit carryforwards; however, until a
study is completed and any adjustment is known, a partial reserve has been presented as an uncertain tax position which is offset
against the gross research and development deferred tax asset. A full valuation allowance has been provided against the
Company’ s research and development credits and, if an adjustment is required, this would be offset by an adjustment to the
deferred tax asset established for the research and development credit carryforwards and the valuation allowance. Uncertain tax
positions: F28-ASC No. 740, Income Taxes, requires significant judgment in determining what constitutes an individual tax
position as well as assessing the outcome of each tax position. Changes in judgment as to recognition or measurement of tax
positions can materially affect the estimate of the effective tax rate and consequently, affect the operating results of the
Company F- 26 The following table summanzes the activ 1ty of the Company S unrecogmzed tax benefits (m thousands)

3 3 e Ftations atanee-a $ 2, 854 Addmon% f01 prior year
posmonsl() Addmons for current year positions105 Reductions related to explratlon of statute of limitations (520) Balance at
December 31, 2023 $ 2, 458 Reductions for prior year positions (3) Additions for current year positions111 Balance at
December 31, 2024 § 2, 566 NOTE 15- SEGMENT INFORMATION The Company operates in one operating segment,
and therefore one reportable segment, focused on the development of differentiated therapies to treat chronic
inflammatory and immune- mediated conditions of high unmet need. This determination, that the Company operates as
a single operating segment, is consistent with the financial information regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating
Decision Maker (“ CODM ”) for purposes of evaluating performance, allocating resources, and planning and forecasting
for future periods. The Company' s Chief Executive Officer (“ CEO ”) is the CODM. The accounting policies for the
single operating segment are the same as those described in “ Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies. ” The CODM
uses net loss based on net loss that is reported on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss to
allocate resources (including employees, property, and financial resources), predominantly during the annual budget and
forecasting process. The Company’ s CODM views specific program spend within research and development expenses as
well as overall general and administrative expenses as significant segment expenses. As a pre- product revenue company,
the CODM also considers budget versus actual results for expenses that are deemed significant and cash forecast models
for assessing performance and to decide the level of investment in the Company’ s operating and capital allocation
activities. Further, the measure of segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance sheet as total consolidated
assets. All long- lived assets are held in the United States. All revenues are generated in the US. The following table
presents segment revenue and significant expenses regularly reviewed by the CODM for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 (in thousands): F- 27 Year ended December 31, 20242023Royalty revenues $ 501 $ 424 Operating
expensesResearch and development: Repibresib (VYN201) 16, 271 4, 593 VYN20211, 262 8, 770 Other segment items *
3, 413 2, 944 General and administrativel3, 192 13, 375 Total operating expenses44, 138 29 , 682 Operating loss (43, 637)
(29, 258) Other income, net3, 834 1, 386 Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (39, 803) (27, 872) Income
tax expense4 — Loss from continuing operations (39, 807) (27, 872) Loss from discontinued operations, net of income
taxes (27) (580) Net loss $ (39, 834) $ (28, 452) * Other segment items relate to research and development expenses that
cannot be directly allocated to one specific product candidate, such as employee- related expenses, consulting, quality
control, regulatory, and general IP legal expenses. Accordingly, the Company manages its operations as a single
operating and reportable segment, and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are presented as a single
reportable segment. F- 28 [TEM 9- CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE ITEM 9A- CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and
Procedures We maintain “ disclosure controls and procedures, ” as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the
Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’
s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the company’ s management, including its
chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer




and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Exchange Act and regulations promulgated thereunder) as of December 31, 2823
2024 . Based on such evaluation, those officers have concluded that, as of December 31, 2623-2024 , our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There were no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2623-2024 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Management’
s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over our financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a- 15 (f) or
15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’ s principal executive
and financial officers and effected by the Company’ s board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes and includes those policies and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (b) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the Company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’ s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Our
management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2623-2024 . In
making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013). Based on our assessment, management
concluded that, as of December 31, 2823-2024 , our mternal control over ﬁnan01a1 reportlng was effective based on the%e

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS N0t apphcable PART 111
ITEM 10- DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE Executive Officers and Directors
The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers and members of our Board of Directors (the" Board™)
as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. NameAgePosition (s) Executive Officers and Employee DirectorDavid
DomzalskiS7Prestdent- DomzalskiS8President , Chief Executive Officer and DirectorTyler Zerenda38C€hief-Zeronda39Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurerlain Stuart, Ph. D. 5+€hief-52Chief Scientific OfficerMutya Harseh49€hief HarschS0Chief
Legal Officer, General Counsel and SecretaryNon- Employee DirectorsSharon Barbart69BireetorSteven
Barbari70DirectorSteven Basta58DirectorChristine-BastaS9Director Christine Borowski, Ph. D. 46Bireetor-47Director
Anthony Brune67DireetorPatriel-Bruno68DirectorPatrick FePere68kead-LePore69Lead Independent DirectorElisabeth
Sandoval Eitte62Bireetor-Little63Director David Domzalski has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer and as a
director since March 2020. From July 2017 until the March 2020 closing of the Merger between Menlo and Foamix, Mr.
Domzalski served as the Chief Executive Officer of Foamix. He also served as a director of Foamix from 2018 to the closing of
the Merger. Mr. Domzalski’ s tenure with Foamix began in 2014 when he served as President of its U. S. subsidiary. Prior
From2009-t0 20483-that , Mr. Domzalski was the Vice President of Sales and Marketing at LEO Pharma, Inc . from 2009 to
2013 . Mr. Domzalski holds a B. A. in economics and political science from Muhlenberg College in Allentown, Pennsylvania.
We believe Mr. Domzalski is qualified to serve on our Board given his leadership position with our company and Foamix, and
his extensive experience in operating and leadership roles in the pharmaceutical industry. Tyler Zeronda was appointed as our
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in March 2022 and previously served as our Interim Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
beginning in June 2021. Mr. Zeronda has been responsible for all finance activities related to our commercial operations,



financial planning, treasury, risk management and supply chain matters. Mr. Zeronda joined Foamix in April 2019, and
from the closing of the Merger in 2020 until June 2021, Mr. Zeronda served as our Vice President of Finance. From 2013 untit
to April 2019, Mr. Zeronda held positions of increasing responsibility in finance at the publicly held company Aerie
Pharmaceuticals Inc., culminating in his role as Director of Finance. Prior to joining Aerie, Mr. Zeronda was previeusty
employed at the accounting firm Ernst & Young LLP where he focused on assurance services for companies in the healthcare
industry. Mr. Zeronda received his Master-of-Setenee-M. S. in accounting from the University of Virginia. He holds a B. A. in
economics and business from Lafayette College and is licensed as a Certified Public Accountant in the state of New York. Iain
Stuart, Ph. D. has served as our Chief Scientific Officer since the closing of the Merger . From January 2019 until the closing
of the Merger in 2020 , havingpreviousty-Dr. Stuart served as Foamix’ s Chief Scientific Officer sineeJantary26+9-, Senior
Vice President of Research & Development from 2017 to January 2019 and Vice President of Clinical Development from 2016
to 2017. Prior to joining Foamix, Dr. Stuart held several positions, including Vice President of Medical Strategy and Scientific
Affairs, at LEO Pharma Inc. from 2008 to 2016. Dr. Stuart holds a Ph. D. from Glasgow Caledonian University in Scotland.
Mutya Harsch has served as our Chief Legal Officer, General Counsel and Secretary since the closing of the Merger, having
previously served with Foamix since 2018, most recently as General Counsel and Chief Legal Officer. Ms. Harsch has-ever26
years-offegatexperieniee;previously hetding-held positions as Special Counsel, Mergers & Acquisitions at Cooley LLP from
2015 to 2017 and as a corporate lawyer at Davis Polk & Wardwell from 2005 to 2015. From October 2021 to June 2023, she
served on the board of directors of the publicly held company Satsuma Pharmaceuticals Inc. Ms. Harsch received her J. D. and
B. A. from the University of California at Berkeley. Sharon Barbari has served on our Board since the closing of the Merger,
having previously served as a director of Foamix sttee-from January 2019 to the closing of the Merger in 2020 . From 2004 to
2017, Ms. Barbari served as Chief Financial Officer at Cytokinetics. From 2002 to 2004, she served as-as Chief Financial
Officer and Senior Vice President of Finance and Administration at InterMune. From 1998 to 2002, she served in senior
financial roles at Gilead Sciences, including as Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Barbari was also employed as Vice President of
Strategic Planning at Foote, Cone & Belding Healthcare. She began her career at Syntex Corporation / Roche Pharmaceuticals,
where she held various roles of increasing responsibility from 1972 to 1996. Ms. Barbari earrentlyserves-served on the board of
directors of the publicly held company Agile Therapeutics from June 2020 until its merger with Exeltis Project, Inc., a U. S.
subsidiary of Insud Pharma, S. L., in August 2024 . She previously was a board member for the Association of Bioscience
Finance Officers Northern California Chapter, Phytogen Life Sciences and Sonoma Pharmaceuticals. In 2017, Ms. Barbari was
a recipient of the YWCA Silicon Valley Tribute to Women Awards. She received her B. S. in accounting from San Jose State
University. We believe Ms. Barbari is qualified to serve on our Board because of her financial executive and leadership roles in
various biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. Steven Basta has served on our Board since 2015. He-Mr. Basta served
with Menlo as our President and Chief Executive Officer from 2015 until the closing of the Merger. Mr. Basta has served as the
Chief Executive Officer of SaNOtize Research and Development Corp. since September 2023. From December 2020 until
October 2022, Mr. Basta served as the Chief Executive Officer of Mahana Therapeutics, a privately held digital therapeutics
company. From 2011 to 2015, Mr. Basta served as Chief Executive Officer of AlterG, a privately held medical device company.
From 2002 to 2010, Mr. Basta served as Chief Executive Officer of BioForm Medical, a publicly held medical aesthetics
company acquired by Merz, and from 2010 to 2011 served as Chief Executive Officer of its successor Merz Aesthetics. He has
served on the board of DermBiont, Inc., a privately held pharmaceutical company, since 2020 , and —Mr—Basta-has served as
chairman of the board of directors of [llumisonics, a privately held company, since November 2023. Mr. Basta served as a
director of the publicly held company Viveve Medical from 2018 until March 2023, including as Chairman of the Board
beginning in January 2019. Mr. Basta received a B. A. from The Johns Hopkins University and an M. B. A. from the Kellogg
Graduate School of Management at Northwestern University. We believe Mr. Basta is qualified to serve on our Board because
of his extensive experience in leadership and management roles at various life sciences companies. Christine Borowski, Ph. D.
has served on our Board since January 2024. Dr. Borowski has served as Principal VieePresident-at Access Biotechnology
Industries; Ine—(“Aeeess Bio)since January 2622-2024 , and previously served as Vice President (from January 2022) and
Senior Associate (from July 2019) at Access Blotechnology B-xe—beg-rn-1=rmg—m—}u+y—2-9—l—9— Prior to that, Dr. Borowski worked on
therapeutics company creation at Apple Tree Partners from 2017 to May 2019. Before joining Apple Tree Partners, Dr.
Borowski worked as an editor at several scientific journals, most recently as Chief Editor of Nature Medicine from 2014 to
2017. She earned a B. S. in Biology from the University of Kentucky, a Ph. D. in Immunology from Harvard University, and
completed her postdoctoral work on natural killer T cell development at the University of Chicago. Dr. Borowski was appointed
to the Board in connection with Access Bie-Biotechnelogy ' s equity investment in eur-the eempany-Company ~s-in November
2023. We believe Dr. Borowski is qualified to serve on our Board because of her expertise in immunology and extensive
experience in the biopharmaceutical industry. Anthony Bruno has served on our Board since the closing of the Merger, having
previously served as a director of Foamix sitee-from 2018 to the closing of the Merger in 2020 . Prior to his retirement in
2018, Mr. Bruno served as a strategic consultant to Foamix from 2014 to 2018 and to a number of healthcare- focused
investment funds between 2011 and 2018. He was employed at Warner Chilcott from 2000 to 2011, most recently as Executive
Vice President, with responsibility for all business development activities including product acquisitions and divestitures as well
as licensing agreements. Mr. Bruno also spent 16 years at Warner Lambert, holding several positions of increasing strategic
responsibility. Mr. Bruno began his career as an associate with the law firm of Shearman & Sterling. Mr. Bruno holds a B. A. in
Political Science from Syracuse University and a J. D. from The George Washington University Law School. We believe Mr.
Bruno is qualified to serve on our Board given his experience as an accomplished pharmaceutical executive with broad expertise
in the legal, business development, and corporate development functions, as well as his significant experience in product
licensing and M & A transactions. Patrick LePore has served on our Board since September 2020 and was appointed as our lead
independent director in February 2021. Mr. LePore served as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of the publicly



held company Par Pharmaceutical Companies, Inc. from 2006 until its acquisition by private equity investor TPG Capital in
2012. He remained as chairman of the new company where he led the sale of the company to Endo Phamaeeutteals
Pharmaceuticals in 2015. Mr. LePore began his career with Hoffmann- LaRoche. He later founded Boron, LePore &
Associates, a medical communications company, which he took public in 1997 and which was eventually sold to Cardinal
Health. Within the past five years, Mr. LePore served as Chairman of the Board of the publicly held pharmaceutical company
Lannett Company, Inc and as a director of the publicly held companies Matinas BioPharma Holdings, Inc., PharMerica
Corporation and Innoviva, Inc. He also previously served as a trustee of Villanova University, from which he holds a bachelor’ s
degree. He holds a Master of Business Administration from Farleigh Dickinson University. We believe Mr. LePore is qualified
to serve on our Board given his extensive experience as a senior level executive and board member for several companies in the
pharmaceutical sector. Elisabeth Sandoval Little has served on our Board since March 2019. Ms. Sandoval Little currently
serves as a consultant to the pharmaceutical industry. From 2016 to 2019, she served as the Chief Commercial Officer and
Executive Vice President of Corporate Strategy for Alder Biopharmaceuticals, a publicly held biopharmaceutical company.
From 2012 to 2015, Ms. Sandoval Little was Chief Commercial Officer for KYTHERA Biopharmaceuticals until KYTHERA’ s
acquisition by Allergan. Ms. Sandoval Little previously served as Vice President of Marketing for Bausch and Lomb Surgical
and Vice President of Global Marketing at Allergan with responsibility for the Medical Aesthetics division. She spent over 20
years at Allergan in sales and marketing leadership roles in the specialties of dermatology, neurology, and aesthetics. Ms.
Sandoval Little began her career in research and development at Johnson & Johnson’ s Ethicon division. Ms. Sandoval Little
currently serves on the board of directors of the publicly held company PROCEPT BioRobotics Corporation and the privately
held company Feldan Therapeutics, and previously served on the board of directors of the publicly held company Satsuma
Pharmaceuticals from May 2019 until June 2023 and the publicly held company Intersect ENT, Inc. from April 2021 until its
acquisition by Medtronic plc in May 2022. She holds an M. B. A. from Pepperdine University and a B. S. in biology from the
University of California, Irvine. We believe that Ms. Sandoval Little is qualified to serve on our Board because of her extensive
background working in the dermatology industry and her experience in strategic planning, business transactions, sales operations
and executive leadership. Corporate Governance Guidelines The Board has documented our governance practices in our
corporate governance guidelines to assure that the Board will have the necessary authority and practices in place to review and
evaluate our business operations as needed and to make decisions that are independent of our management. The guidelines are
also intended to align the interests of directors and management with those of our stockholders. The corporate governance
guidelines set forth certain practices the Board will follow with respect to Board composition, Board committees, Board
nomination, director qualifications and evaluation of the Board and committees. The corporate governance guidelines and the
charter for each committee of the Board described below may be viewed on the" Corporate Governance" section of our"
Investors & Media" page on our corporate website located at vynetherapeutics. com. Leadership Structure of the Board Our
amended and restated bylaws and corporate governance guidelines provide our Board with flexibility to designate the position of
Chairman of the Board, and if so, to combine or separate the positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, or
to appoint a lead director in accordance with its determination that utilizing a particular structure would be in the best interests of
the Company. Upon the recommendation of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, our Board has appointed
Patrick LePore to serve as our lead independent director. The Board determined that the appointment of a lead independent
director was in our best interests and those of our stockholders as it strengthens the Board' s independence and commitment to
strong governance practices. Role of Board in Risk Oversight Process Risk assessment and oversight are an integral part of our
governance and management processes. Our Board encourages management to promote a culture that incorporates risk
management into our corporate strategy and day- to- day business operations. Management discusses strategic and operational
risks at regular management meetings, and conducts specific strategic planning and review sessions during the year that include
a focused discussion and analysis of the risks facing us. Throughout the year, senior management reviews these risks with the
Board at regular Board meetings as part of management presentations that focus on particular business functions, operations or
strategies, and presents the steps taken by management to mitigate or eliminate such risks. Committees of the Board of Directors
The Board has a standing Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee. The Board may establish other committees to facilitate the management of our business. The current composition
and functions of each committee are described below. NameAuditCompensationNominating and Corporate GovernanceDavid
Domzalski — — — Sharon BarbariX * X — Steven BastaX — — Christine Borowski, Ph. D. — — XAnthony Bruno — XX *
Patrick LePore — — XElisabeth Sandoval LittleXX * — * Committee Chairperson Below is a description of each committee of
the Board. Our Audit Committee oversees our corporate accounting and financial reporting process. Among other matters, the
Audit Committee: * appoints our independent registered public accounting firm;  evaluates the independent registered public
accounting firm’ s qualifications, independence and performance; * determines the engagement of the independent registered
public accounting firm; ¢ reviews and approves the scope of the annual audit and the audit fee; ¢ discusses with management
and the independent registered public accounting firm the results of the annual audit and the review of our quarterly financial
statements; ¢ approves the retention of the independent registered public accounting firm to perform any proposed permissible
non - audit services; * monitors the rotation of partners of the independent registered public accounting firm on our engagement
team in accordance with requirements established by the SEC; ¢ is responsible for reviewing our financial statements and our
management’ s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations to be included in our annual and quarterly
reports to be filed with the SEC; « reviews our critical accounting policies and estimates; and * reviews the Audit Committee
charter and the committee’ s performance at least annually. The current members of our Audit Committee are Mses. Barbari and
Sandoval Little and Mr. Basta, with Ms. Barbari serving as chairperson of the committee. All members of our Audit Committee
meet the requirements for financial literacy under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and Nasdaq. Our Board has
determined that each of Ms. Barbari and Mr. Basta qualifies as an audit committee financial expert under the applicable rules of



the SEC and has the requisite financial sophistication as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of Nasdaq. Under the
rules of the SEC, members of the Audit Committee must also meet heightened independence standards. Our Board has
determined that Mses. Barbari and Sandoval Little and Mr. Basta are independent under the applicable rules of the SEC and
Nasdaq. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter, available on our corporate website, that satisfies the applicable
standards of the rules of the SEC and Nasdaq. Our Compensation Committee oversees policies and makes determinations
relating to compensation and benefits of our current and prospective officers, directors and employees. The Compensation
Committee periodically evaluates the performance of our Company, and where appropriate, our officers, in light of the goals and
objectives it has established, and determines and approves, or may recommend to the Board to approve, the bonus award, if any,
payable to these officers. The Compensation Committee may establish compensation and make bonus awards to our chief
executive officer directly or may make recommendations to the Board regarding compensation and bonus awards payable to our
chief executive officer. Our Compensation Committee also reviews director compensation and makes recommendations to the
Board regarding director compensation. The Compensation Committee also reviews and approves or makes recommendations to
our Board regarding the issuance of stock options and other awards under our stock plans. The Compensation Committee will
periodically review and evaluate the performance of the Compensation Committee and its members, including compliance by
the Compensation Committee with its charter. The current members of our Compensation Committee are Mses. Barbari and
Sandoval Little and Mr. Bruno, with Ms. Sandoval Little serving as the chairperson of the committee. Our Board has
determined that each of Mses. Barbari and Sandoval and Mr. Bruno is independent under the applicable rules and regulations of
Nasdaq and is a *“ non- employee director ” as defined in Rule 16b- 3 promulgated under the Exchange Act. Our executive
officers submit proposals to the Board and the Compensation Committee regarding our executive compensation. Our Chief
Executive Officer also annually reviews the performance of each executive officer and makes recommendations regarding their
compensation. The Compensation Committee considers those recommendations in determining base salaries, adjustments to
base salaries, annual cash bonus program targets and awards and equity awards, if any, for the executive officers and other
members of senior management. The Compensation Committee has evaluated the independence of its compensation consultant,
considering the independence factors specified in the listing requirements of Nasdaq and concluded that their work for the
Compensation Committee does not raise any conflicts of interest. The Compensation Committee operates under a written
charter, available on our corporate website, that satisfies the applicable standards of the rules of the SEC and Nasdagq.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for
making recommendations to our Board regarding candidates for directorships and the size and composition of our Board. In
addition, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for overseeing our corporate governance policies
and reporting and making recommendations to our Board concerning governance matters. The current members of our
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are Dr. Borowski and Messrs. Bruno and LePore, with Mr. Bruno serving as
the chairperson of the committee. Our Board has determined that each of Dr. Borowski and Messrs. Bruno and LePore is an
independent director under the applicable rules and regulations of Nasdaq relating to nominating and corporate governance
committee independence. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates under a written charter, available on
our corporate website, that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and Nasdaq. Our Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing with the Board, on an annual basis, the appropriate characteristics, skills
and experience required for the Board as a whole and its individual members. In evaluating the suitability of individual
candidates (both new candidates and current members), the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, in
recommending candidates for election, and the Board, in approving (and, in the case of vacancies, appointing) such candidates,
may take into account many factors, including: « the candidate’ s experience in corporate management, such as serving as an
officer or former officer of a publicly held company; ¢ the candidate’ s experience as a board member of another publicly held
company; * the candidate’ s professional and academic experience relevant to our industry; ¢ the strength of the candidate’ s
leadership skills; ¢ the candidate’ s experience in finance and accounting and / or executive compensation practices; and ¢
whether the candidate has the time required for preparation, participation and attendance at Board meetings and committee
meetings, if applicable. Currently, our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and Board evaluate each individual in
the context of the Board as a whole, with the objective of assembling a group that can best maximize the success of the business
and represent stockholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment using its diversity of experience in these areas. The
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider individuals who are properly proposed by stockholders to
serve on the Board in accordance with laws and regulations established by the SEC and the Nasdaq listing requirements, our
bylaws and applicable corporate law, and make recommendations to the Board regarding such individuals based on the
established criteria for members of our Board. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may consider in the
future whether we should adopt a more formal policy regarding stockholder nominations. Stockholder Communications with the
Board of Directors The Board will consider any written or electronic communication from our stockholders to the Board, a
committee of the Board or any individual director. Any stockholder who wishes to communicate to the Board, a committee of
the Board or any individual director should submit written or electronic communications to our corporate secretary at our
principal executive offices, which shall include contact information for such stockholder. All communications from
stockholders received shall be forwarded by our secretary to the Board, a committee of the Board or an individual director, as
appropriate, on a periodic basis, but in any event no later than the Board’ s next scheduled meeting. The Board, a committee of
the Board, or individual directors, as appropriate, will consider and review carefully any communications from stockholders
forwarded by our secretary. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics that
applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including those officers responsible for financial reporting. Our code of
business conduct and ethics is available on the" Corporate Governance" section of our" Investors & Media" page on our
corporate website located at vynetherapeutics. com. Any amendments to the code, or any waivers of its requirements, will be



disclosed on our website. The reference to our web address does not constitute incorporation by reference of the information
contained at or available through our website. Insider Trading Policy and Prohibition on Margin Accounts and Hedging and
Similar Transactions Our employees and directors are subject to an insider trading policy . This policy governs the purchase,
sale, and / or other dispositions of the Company’ s securities by directors, officers and employees that is designed to
promote compliance with insider trading laws . ameng-rules and regulations, as well as procedures designed to further
other—- the things-foregoing purposes. In addition , it is the Company’ s intent to comply with applicable laws and
regulations relating to insider trading. This policy also prohibits themr-directors, officers and employees from holding our
securities in a margin account or pledging our securities as collateral for a loan. In addition, our insider trading policy prohibits
employees and directors from engaging in put or call options, short selling, or similar hedging activities involving our stock. We
prohibit these transactions because they may reduce the individual® s incentive to improve our performance, focus the individual
on short- term performance at the expense of long- term objectives, and misalign the individual’ s interests with those of our
stockholders generally . The policy is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10- K . ITEM [ 1- EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION The following is a discussion of compensation arrangements of our named executive officers (" NEOs"). As
a “ smaller reporting company ” as defined under SEC rules, we have elected to comply with the scaled disclosure requirements
applicable to such companies. Our NEOs for the year ended December 31, 20232024 were: * David Domzalski, President and
Chief Executive Officer; ¢ lain Stuart, Chief Scientific Officer; and * Mutya Harsch, Chief Legal Officer, General Counsel and
Secretary. Summary Compensation Table The following table sets forth the compensation information for our NEOs for the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622- Name and Principal PositionYearSalary ($) Bonus ($) €5-Non- equity
Incentive Compensation ($) (21 ) Stock Awards ($) (3-2 ) Option Awards ($) (3-2 ) All Other Compensation ($) (43 ) Total
Compensation ($) David Demzalski2023637Domzalski2024637 , 560 — 361, 497 524, 250 436, 500 13, 800 1, 973, 607
President and Chief Executive Officer2023637 , 560 382, 536 573 804 607, 500 501, 750 13,200 2, 716, 350 Prestdent-and
Iain Stuart202445S, 555 — 172, 200 145, 625 121, 250 13, 800 908, 430 Chicf Exeeutive-Scientific Officer2022637
Officer2023421 , 811 168 566—325-, 156-196-724 253 , 5641+28-086 168 , 6441+2-750 139, 375 13 , 200 1, 293-164 , 464Hain
Stuart2623421+-946 Mutya Harsch2024443 | $H+168-280 — 167 , 724-253-560 145 , 686-168-625 121 , 250 756143937513,
2661800 891 , 515 +64;-946-Chicf Setentifie-Offteer2622421-Legal Officer , General Counsel and Secretary2023382 $H—
5 5 . 594 (5) 168 869 253, 302 168, 750 139 375 13 200 1, 126,

> )

diseus‘steﬁ—reg&fd-rﬁg—t-hese—pﬁfmeﬁtsé—The amounts reported in thrq Column reﬂect cash bonu%e% earned pursuant to the

achievement of our corporate objectives for the applicable year. 3-See “ Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation
Table — Non- Equity Incentive Plan Compensation ” for additional discussion regarding the 2024 cash bonuses . (2)
Represents the grant date fair value of the restricted stock units and stock options granted in accordance with ASC 718. The
assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair values are set forth in Note 13 to the conselidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. 4=(3) Reflects employer matching contributions to each individual' s 401 (k)
plan. $-Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table We periodically review compensation for our executive
officers.In setting executive base salaries and bonuses and granting equity incentive awards,we consider compensation for
comparable positions in the market,the historical compensation levels of our executives,individual performance as compared to
our expectations and objectives,our desire to motivate our employees to achieve short- and long- term results that are in the best
interests of our stockholders and a long- term commitment to our company.We do not target a specific competitive position or a
specific mix of compensation among base salary,bonus or long- term incentives.Our Compensation Committee typically reviews
and discusses management’ s proposed compensation with the Chief Executive Officer for all executives other than the Chief
Executive Officer.Based on those discussions and its discretion,the Compensation Committee then recommends the
compensation for each executive officer.Our Compensation Committee,without members of management present,discusses and
ultimately approves the compensation of our executive officers.In 2023 the Compensation Committee retained F.W.Cook & Co.
(" F.W.Cook"),a compensation consulting firm,to evaluate and make recommendations with respect to our executive
compensation program and retention incentives.F.W.Cook' s engagement included assisting the Compensation Committee with
developing retention incentives for our employees,the selection of a peer group of companies for benchmarking purposes,an
analysis of our existing executive compensation,including our equity incentive plan and equity award granting practices,and an
analysis of our director compensation policy.In 2023,F.W.Cook presented the Compensation Committee with data about the
compensation paid by our peer group of companies and other employers,who we believe compete with us for executives,updated
the Compensation Committee on new developments in areas that fall within the Compensation Committee’ s jurisdiction and
advised the Compensation Committee regarding all of its responsibilities.F.W.Cook served at the pleasure of the Compensation
Committee rather than us,and the consultant’ s fees were approved by the Compensation Committee. Annual Base Salary The
base salary for each of Mr-Pemzalski;-our NEOs €EO;remained unchanged from 2022 through 2023.Ms.Harsch was on a
reduced schedule from July 2023 through August 2624-2023 and-2625- MrDuring such time,Ms . Bomzalski's-annuat
Harsch maintained her responsibilities as Chief Legal Officer,General Counsel and Secretary of the Company and was
paid 25 % of her base salary for the period 2025-remains-$-637560-. at-b :
421811 2023t0-$-455;555-n 2024 Fer 2024~ Ms. Harsch was on a reduced %chedule from July 2023 through Augu%t 2023
During such time, Ms. Harsch maintained her responsibilities as Chief Legal Officer, General Counsel and Secretary of the
Company and was paid 25 % of her base salary for the period. Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table We......
her base salary for the period. Dr. Stuart' s and Mq Hamch' s annual base %alarres for %9%4—2025 are $ 455—471 555—499 and $
443-458 | 286-795 | respectively. M - : :




CempensattorrMr. Domzalski' s eligibility to receive his target annual bonus, which is currently 60 % of his base salary, is based
solely on the achievement of corporate performance objectives. For Ms. Harsch' s and Dr. Stuart' s target bonus, which is
currently 40 % of their respective base salaries, the bonus amounts earned are based 75 % on the achievement of corporate
performance objectives and 25 % on the achievement of individual performance objectives. Each of our NEOs has a maximum
bonus opportunity equal to 200 % of their target bonus. For the 2623-2024 bonuses, the corporate performance objectives
included the advancement of our biotech strategy through organic development of existing products and opportunistic
transactions and partnerships. The corporate objectives also included the achievement of certain research and development
Tbustress-develepment-and financial objectives. In February 2024-2025 , our Compensation Committee assessed the level of
achievement of corporate and individual perfonnance objectiv es md conﬂdered among other thmgs the increase achtevement
of proof—of—eoneept-data-in th 2 atterrof-our share price
and erganizationras-aresultofthe wa&te—P-}aeemeﬂt—lmproved strength of our management team and board through the
hiring of additional research and development colleagues and the addition of Ms. Borowski to our Board of Directors . In
addition, the Compensation Committee considered the level of achievement of certain milestones related to repibresib gel
including the initiation of the Phase 2b trial and the completion of enrollment of subjects with NSV in the trial. The
Compensation Committee also considered the advancement of VYN202 including the clearance of our IND and
successful completion of the Phase 1a SAD / MAD trial in healthy volunteers. The Compensation Committee also
determined that Dr. Stuart and Ms. Harsch had fully achieved all individual objectives. After applying such levels of
achievement to the applicable weightings, the Compensation Committee, in consultation with F. W. Cook, awarded each of Mr.
Domzalski, Dr. Stuart and Ms. Harsch +56-94. § % of their respective target bonus. The actual bonus amounts paid for 2024 are
reflected in the *“ Non- Equity Incentive Compensation ” column of the Summary Compensation Table above. We maintain a tax
- qualified retirement plan that provides eligible U. S. employees, including our NEOs, with an opportunity to save for
retirement on a tax- advantaged basis. Eligible employees are able to defer eligible compensation subject to applicable annual
Internal Revenue Code (the “ Code ”) limits. Currently, we match each eligible employee’ s contributions up to 4 % of total
eligible compensation. Employees’ pre - tax contributions are allocated to each participant’ s individual account and are then
invested in selected investment alternatives according to the participants’ directions. Employees are immediately and fully
vested in their contributions. The 401 (k) plan is intended to be qualified under Section 401 (a) of the Code with the 401 (k)
plan’ s related trust intended to be tax exempt under Section 501 (a) of the Code. As a tax - qualified retirement plan,
contributions to the 401 (k) plan and earnings on those contributions are not taxable to the employees until distributed from the
401 (k) plan. Employee Benefits and Perquisites All of our full - time employees, including our NEOs, are eligible to participate
in our health and welfare plans, including medical, dental and vision benefits, medical and dependent care flexible spending
accounts, short - term and long - term disability insurance and life insurance. In addition, all of our employees are eligible to
participate in our Employee Share Purchase Plan, which allows them to purchase shares of our common stock at a 15 % discount
to prevailing market prices, subject to certain terms and conditions. We do not provide our NEOs with perquisites or other
personal benefits, other than the retirement, health and welfare benefits that apply uniformly to all of our employees. Equity-
Based Awards Since December 2023, equity- based awards to our NEOs have been made under our 2023 Plan. The
equity- based incentive awards granted to our NEOs are designed to align the interests of our NEOs with those of our
stockholders. Generally, the vesting of equity awards is tied to each officer’ s continuous service with us and serves as an
additional retention measure. Our executives generally are awarded an initial new hire grant upon commencement of
employment. Additional grants may occur periodically in order to specifically incentivize executives with respect to
achieving certain corporate goals or to reward executives for exceptional performance. On Mareh9-December 11 , 2023,
the Compensation Committee approved eashretentionpayments-the grant of restricted stock units and options to our
employees under our 2023 Plan, including members of management, for at+-both 2023 and 2024. The Compensation
Committee determined that such grants were appropriate to provide long- term incentives that align the interests of our
the Company’ s employees with inelading-the NEOs-interests of stockholders . In making its decision, the Compensation
Committee Fireonsultationrwith F—W-—Ceek—considered : (i) that our the-timitednumberefemployces were not previously
awarded equity compensation remaining-at-the-Company-and-the-inerease-in each-employee-sresponsibilities-the first
quarter of 2023, consistent with past practice ; (ii) that the ownership percentage in the Company for our Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and other NEOs based on total shares outstanding (inclusive of shares
underlying pre- funded warrants) was significantly lower than ownership percentages for such officers at peer
companies; (iii) given the small size of our workforce, the impact of the loss of any employee, especially members of
management, on our ability to execute our corporate objectives for 2623-2024 and beyond ; and ( #itiv ) our recent financing
activities and the limited-increased total number of shares avaitablefor-grantunder-outstanding, inclusive of shares
underlying the pre- funded warrants that were issued to shareholders in 26+8Planrand26+9-Plan-at-sueh-time—Adfter
eonstdering-the foregoing-private placement. For Mr. Domzalski , the Compensation Committee approved a-eashretention
ptan-the grant of 225, 000 restricted stock units and options to purchase 225, 000 shares with the-goat-a grant date of
eneotraging-theretention-December 13, 2023, and a grant of empleyees-225, 000 restricted stock units and options to
purchase 225, 000 shares with a grant date of January 1, 2024. For each of Ms. Harsch and Dr. Stuart, the
Compensation Committee approved the grant of 62, 500 restricted stock units and options to purchase 62, 500 shares
with a grant date of December 13, 2023, and a grant of 62, S00 restricted stock units and options to purchase 62, 500
shares with a grant date of January 1, 2024. These equity awards vest over a four- year period, with 25 % vesting on the
first anniversary of the last day of the quarter in which the grant was made, and 6. 25 % vesting every quarter
thereafter, in each case, subject to the executive’ s continued service to the Company through the vesting date expeeted
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followmg table sets forth all outqtandlng equlty awardq held by eaeh of t-he—our NEOs as of December 31, %92—3—2024 Optlon
AwardsShare AwardsNameGrant Pate{HNamber-DateNumber of Securities Underlying Unexercised Optloni
ExercisableNumber of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options UnexercisableOption Exercise Price ($) Option Expiration
DateNumber of Shares or Units of Shares That Have Not Vested (#) Market Value of Shares or Units of Shares That Have Not
Vested (2-5) ($) David Pemzalskie-Domzalskill A9-/2044468—319-686+9-/2024——H-/ 10 /20155, 922 — 285. 8411
/10/2025 ——3/1/20161,500 —241.923/1/2026 ——2/21/20171, 784 — 408. 962 / 21 /2027——8/8 /20178,

19 . , . , .
—2/24 /2626520206 , 648376024 — 161. 282 / 24 / 2636+6+3752030 — — 5/ 6/ 26268-20209 , 443 — 264+1+79-140.
405/ 6 / 26364- 2030 — — 186-2-749-2 / 22 / 2024H3-202118 , 765-6-686 1 , 224-243 (1) 149. 942 /22 / 263+2-2031533 (1) 1
, 786 667-6;244-9 /2 /202117,795 —30.249 /2 /2031 — — 3/ 17 /20227202211 , 5949931 5 , 755-418 (2) 10. 983 / 17/
26329-20325 , 75722420 (2) 18 , 734-157 12/ 13 / 2623-202356 —225-, 666-250 168, 750 (3) 2. 7012/ 13 / 2633225
2033168, 750 (3) 565,313 1/1 /2024 — 225, 000 524-(4) 2. 331 /1 /2034225 , 256-000 (4) 753, 750 lain Stuartll / 15/
20161, 000 — 342. 0011 /15/2026 — —8/8/2017325 —216. 008 / 8 /202 .162/27/2028
——1/6+1/20191,900 — 151.201 /1 /2029 — —2/24 /20202, 259456-409 — 161. 282 / 24 / 263664 2030 +49— —
5/66-6/20201, 367494-561 — 140. 405 / 6 / 26036494-452-2030 — — 2 / 22 / 20242-20213 , 665-549 236 ( | ) s1486-149. 942/
22 /203+565-2031101 ( | - 4+##) 338 9/2/20213, 380 — 30.249/2 /2031 — — 3 /17 /2022420222 , 825-866 1,300 (2 ) 5
344-10. 983 / 17 / 2032220321 , 344+-5-300 (2) 4 , 455355 12 / 13 / 2623-202315 —, 62-625 46 , 566-875 (3) 2. 7012/ 13/
263362203346 , 875 (3) 157,031 1/1 /2024 — 62, 500 +45+(4) 2. 331 /1 /203462 , 625-500 (4) 209, 375 Mutya Harsch2 /
27/20181,250 —254.162/27 /2028 ——1/1/20191, 758 — 151.201 /1 /2029 — — 2 /24 /20202, 25545646+409 —
161 . 282 /24 / 263664-—-- 2030 +49— — 5/ 6 / 2026420202 , 824-258+46-082 — 140 . 405 / 6 / 2036260-666-2030 — — 2 /
22 /20242-20213 , 665-549 236 ( | ) 7486-149. 942/ 22 / 283+565-2031101 ( | 4+7#+) 338 9/2 /20213, 380 — 30.249/2/
2031 ——3/17/20224-20222 , 825-865 1, 300 ( 2 ) 5346-10. 983 / 17 / 20322-20321 , 34+5-300 (2) 4 . 455355 12/ 13/
2623-202315 —, 62-625 46 . 560-875 (3) 2. 7012 / 13 / 203362 203346 , 875 (3) 157,031 1 /1 /2024 — 62 ., 500 +45:-625-(4)
2.331/1 —Equttry—/ 203462, 500 (4) 209 375 (1) Thls avvaf&s» award ves{—vested eveiea—feufyefnepeﬂed-zs % on March 31,
2022 , with 6. 25 % vesting on ATHVerse A % :
quarter thereafter through March 31, 2025 subJect to the executlve s contmuous service through each apphcable vestmg
date . (2 ) This award vested 25 % on March 31, 2023, with 6 . 25 % vesting every quarter thereafter through March 31,
2026, subject to the executive’ s continuous service through each applicable vesting date. (3) This award vested 25 % on
December 31, 2024, with 6. 25 % vesting every quarter thereafter through December 31, 2027, subject to the executive’ s
continuous service through each applicable vesting date. (4) This award vests 25 % on March 31, 2025, with 6. 25 %
vesting every quarter thereafter through March 31, 2028, subject to the executive’ s continuous service through each
applicable vesting date. (5) The market value is based on the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2623-2024 .
Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Officers We have entered into agreements with each of our named
executive officers in connection with his or her employment with us. These agreements set forth the terms and conditions of
employment of each NEO, including base salary, target bonus and standard employee benefit plan participation. Our Board or
the Compensation Committee reviews each NEO’ s base salary and other compensation from time to time to ensure
compensation adequately reflects the NEO’ s qualifications, experience, role and responsibilities. The following summaries of
the compensation arrangements do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to each agreement.
David Domzalski, President and Chief Executive Officer The terms of Mr. Domzalski’ s employment are governed by his Offer
Letter, dated as of March 25, 2020. Mr. Domzalski’ s annual base salary is currently $ 637, 560. Mr. Domzalski is also eligible
to receive an annual cash target bonus of 60 % of his base salary, up to the maximum bonus opportunity allowable under the
applicable annual bonus plan or program in effect from time to time (such maximum bonus opportunity currently being 200 %
of the target bonus), subject to the achievement of Company performance criteria determined by the Board or the Compensation
Committee. Mr. Domzalski’ s Offer Letter provides that if Mr. Domzalski’ s employment is terminated by us without Cause or
he resigns for Good Reason (each as defined below), then, subject to his execution and non- revocation of a release of claims,
Mr. Domzalski will be entitled to receive (i) a severance payment equal to 100 % of his annual base salary then in effect, (ii)
payment of COBRA premiums for healthcare plan continuation at active employee rates for 12 months following the date of
termination and (iii) full accelerated vesting of all of outstanding and unvested stock options and restricted stock units on the
date of termination, with such stock options remaining exercisable for 90 days following the date of termination. If Mr.
Domzalski’ s employment is terminated by us without Cause or he resigns for Good Reason, in each case, within 12 months
following a Change in Control (as defined in the 2019 Plan), then, subject to his execution and non- revocation of a release of
claims, Mr. Domzalski will be entitled to receive (i) a severance payment equal to 1. 5 times the sum of his base salary and
target bonus for the year of termination, (ii) a prorated target annual bonus payment for the year of termination, (iii) payment of
COBRA premiums for healthcare plan continuation at active employee rates for 18 months following the date of termination
and (iv) full accelerated vesting of all of outstanding and unvested stock options and restricted stock units on the date of




termination, with such stock options remaining exercisable for 90 days following the date of termination. For purposes of Mr.
Domgzalski’ s Offer Letter: “ Cause ” means (1) the executive’ s commission of an act of fraud or dishonesty in the course of his
employment; (2) his indictment, conviction or entering of a plea of nolo contendere for a crime constituting a felony; (3) his
gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with his employment; (4) his willful and continued failure to substantially
perform his duties; (5) his breach of any of the restrictive covenants; or (6) a material breach of this agreement or any other
agreement, plan or arrangement by and between Mr. Domzalski and us or any of our subsidiaries and affiliates or any of our
policies or those of our subsidiaries and affiliates by Mr. Domzalski. “ Good Reason ” means (i) a material diminution in his
base salary or target bonus (provided that failure to earn a bonus equal to or in excess of the target bonus by reason of failure to
achieve applicable performance goals shall not be deemed Good Reason); (ii) a material diminution of his position,
responsibilities, duties or authorities from those in effect as of the effective date; (iii) any change in reporting structure such that
he is required to report to someone other than the Board; (iv) any material breach by us of our obligations under the Offer
Letter; or (v) a change in his primary work location that increases his commute by more than 50 miles, in each case subject to
certain notice and cure periods. We must provide Mr. Domzalski with 30 days’ notice prior to a termination without Cause, and
he must provide us with 30 days’ notice prior to any resignation for Good Reason. The terms of Dr. Stuart’ s employment are
governed by his Offer Letter, dated as of March 7, 2022. Dr. Stuart’ s annual base salary is currently $ 455-471 , 555-499 . Dr.
Stuart is also eligible to receive an annual target bonus of 40 % of his annual base salary, up to the maximum bonus opportunity
allowable under the applicable annual bonus plan or program in effect from time to time (such maximum bonus opportunity
currently being 200 % of the target bonus). His eligibility for such annual target bonus, and the amount of such annual target
bonus, is subject to the achievement of corporate performance goals and his achievement of individual performance targets and
milestone criteria, as determined by the Chief Executive Officer, in accordance with our bonus plan. In the event of a
termination of his employment without Cause (as defined in the 2019 Plan) or if he resigns for Good Reason, subject to Dr.
Stuart’ s execution of a release of claims, Dr. Stuart will receive (i) a lump sum severance payment equal to 75 % of his base
salary then in effect and (ii) payment of COBRA premiums for healthcare plan continuation at active employee rates for nine
months following the date of termination, provided that our obligation under clause (ii) shall terminate on the earlier of (x) the
date on which he enrolls in a group health plan offered by another employer and (y) the date on which he is no longer eligible
for continuation coverage under COBRA. In addition, if Dr. Stuart’ s employment is terminated by us without Cause or if he
terminates his employment with Good Reason within the twelve month period after a Change of Control, he will be entitled to
receive a change of control payment equal to (i) one times the sum of his then current base salary plus his target bonus, (ii) his
pro rata target bonus for the year of termination, and (iii) payment of COBRA premiums for healthcare plan continuation at
active employee rates for 12 months following the date of termination, provided that our obligation under clause (iii) shall
terminate on the earlier of (x) the date on which he enrolls in a group health plan offered by another employer and (y) the date
on which he is no longer eligible for continuation coverage under COBRA. In addition, in the event of such a termination, all of
Dr. Stuart’ s unvested stock options and restricted stock units will become fully vested. For purposes of Dr. Stuart’ s Offer
Letter, “ Good Reason ” means: (i) a material reduction in his base salary; (ii) a material reduction in his target annual bonus
opportunity; (iii) a relocation of his principal place of employment by more than 25 miles provided that such relocation
increases his daily commute; or (iv) an adverse change in his position, including title, reporting relationship (s), authority, duties
or responsibilities, in each case subject to certain notice and cure periods. We must provide Dr. Stuart with 30 days’ notice prior
to a termination without Cause, and he must provide us with 30 days’ notice prior to any resignation for Good Reason. Dr.
Stuart’ s Offer Letter also contains customary confidentiality, non- competition and non- solicitation covenants. Mutya Harsch,
Chief Legal Officer, General Counsel and Secretary The terms of Ms. Harsch’ s employment are governed by her Offer Letter,
dated as of April 7, 2021. Ms. Harsch’ s annual base salary is currently $ 443-458 , 286-795 . Ms. Harsch is also eligible to
receive an annual target bonus of 40 % of her annual base salary, up to the maximum bonus opportunity allowable under the
applicable annual bonus plan or program in effect from time to time (such maximum bonus opportunity currently being 200 %
of the target bonus). Her eligibility for such annual target bonus, and the amount of such annual target bonus, is subject to the
achievement of corporate performance goals and her achievement of individual performance targets and milestone criteria, as
determined by the Chief Executive Officer, in accordance with our bonus plan. The Offer Letter provides that, in the event of a
termination of her employment without Cause (as defined in the 2019 Plan), subject to Ms. Harsch’ s execution of a release of
claims, Ms. Harsch will receive (i) a lump sum severance payment equal to 75 % of her base salary then in effect and (ii)
payment of COBRA premiums for healthcare plan continuation at active employee rates for nine months following the date of
termination, provided that our obligation under clause (ii) shall terminate on the earlier of (x) the date on which she enrolls in a
group health plan offered by another employer and (y) the date on which she is no longer eligible for continuation coverage
under COBRA. In addition, if Ms. Harsch’ s employment is terminated by us without Cause or she terminates her employment
with Good Reason within the twelve month period after a Change of Control (as defined in the 2019 Plan), she will be entitled
to receive a change of control payment equal to (i) one times the sum of her then current base salary plus her target bonus, (ii)
her pro rata target bonus for the year of termination, and (iii) payment of COBRA premiums for healthcare plan continuation at
active employee rates for 12 months following the date of termination, provided that our obligation under clause (iii) shall
terminate on the earlier of (x) the date on which she enrolls in a group health plan offered by another employer and (y) the date
on which she is no longer eligible for continuation coverage under COBRA. In addition, in the event of such a termination, all of
Ms. Harsch’ s unvested stock options and restricted stock units will become fully vested. For purposes of Ms. Harsch’ s Offer
Letter, “ Good Reason ” means: (i) a material reduction in her base salary; (ii) a material reduction in her target annual bonus
opportunity; (iii) a relocation of her principal place of employment by more than twenty—five-25 ymiles provided that such
relocation increases her daily commute; or (iv) an adverse change in her position, including title, reporting relationship (s),
authority, duties or responsibilities, in each case subject to certain notice and cure periods. We must provide Ms. Harsch with 30



days’ notice prior to a termination without Cause, and she must provide us with 30 days’ notice prior to any resignation for
Good Reason. Ms. Harsch’ s Offer Letter also contains customary confidentiality, non- competition and non- solicitation
covenants. Clawback Policies In May 2021, the Board adopted a compensation clawback policy with respect to compensation
paid to our executive officers. Under the terms of the policy, compensation can be recovered for a financial restatement or
materially inaccurate performance calculation. In this case, we may seek recoupment of short and long- term cash or equity
incentive compensation (including time- and performance- based awards) awarded after the effective date of the policy. In
addition, compensation may be recovered for willful misconduct or gross negligence that results in material adverse reputational
or economic impact on us. In this case, we may seek recoupment of 100 % of incentive compensation for *“ Cause ” and if no “
Cause, ” recoupment is based on the impact of the triggering event, if quantifiable at the Compensation Committee’ s discretion.
In addition, in November 2023 we adopted an additional clawback policy as required by the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act and related stock exchange listing standards. The policy adopted in November 2023 is filed as an
exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Policies and Practices Related to the Grant of Certain Equity Awards Close in
Time to the Release of Material Nonpublic Information From time to time, we grant equity awards, including stock
options, to our employees, including our named executive officers. Historically, we have typically granted new- hire
option awards on, or within the calendar quarter of, a new hire' s employment start date and annual refresh employee
option grants in the first quarter of each fiscal year, which refresh grants are typically approved at a regularly scheduled
meeting of the Compensation Committee occurring in such quarter. Also, non- employee directors receive automatic
grants of initial and annual stock option awards, at the time of a director’ s initial appointment or election to the board
and at the time of each annual meeting of our stockholders, respectively, pursuant to our non- employee director
compensation policy, as further described under the heading, “ Director Compensation — Non- Employee Director
Compensation Policy ” below. We do not otherwise maintain any written policies on the timing of awards of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, or similar instruments with option- like features. The Compensation Committee
considers whether there is any material nonpublic information (“ MNPI ) about our company when determining the
timing of stock option grants and does not seek to time the award of stock options in relation to our public disclosure of
MNPI. We have not timed the release of MNPI for the purpose of affecting the value of executive compensation. The
following table is being provided pursuant to Item 402 (x) (2) of Regulation S- K. Name (a) Grant date (b) Number of
securities underlying the award (c) Exercise price of the award ($ / Sh) (d) Grant date fair value of the award (e)
Percentage change in the closing market price of the securities underlying the award between the trading day ending
immediately prior to the disclosure of material nonpublic information and the trading day beginning immediately
following the disclosure of material nonpublic information (f) (1) David DomzalskiJanuary 1, 2024225, 000 $ 2. 33 $ 436,
500 1. 3 % Iain StuartJanuary 1, 202462, 500 $ 2. 33 $ 121, 500 1. 3 % Mutya HarschJanuary 1, 202462, 500 $ 2. 33 $
121, 500 1. 3 % (1) The option grants reported in this table were made two business days before the Company filed a
Form 8- K under Item 5. 02 reporting the previously disclosed appointment of Dr. Christine Borowski as a non-
employee director of the Company. Non- Employee Director Compensation Policy Our Board adopted a non- employee
director compensation policy effective as of December 11, 2023. Set forth below is a summary of the compensation paid to
the non- executive members of the Board during 2623-2024 pursuant to the policy . [nitial Equity Grants. Each non- employee
director who joins the Board will receive, upon appointment, options to purchase shares of our common stock representing two
times the annual grant described below. The options will vest and become exercisable as to one- third of the shares on each of
the first three anniversaries of the date of grant, subject to the director' s continued service through each applicable vesting date.
Annual Grant. Each non- executive director who has served as a director on our Board for at least six months will be granted
options to purchase an amount of shares of our common stock representing 0. 846-047 % of the shares outstanding (inclusive of
pre- funded warrants) on the date of our annual meeting of stockholders. The options vest on the one- year anniversary of the
date of grant. The exercise price per share of each option granted as described above will be equal to the per share fair market
value of our stock on the date of grant. Each such option will have a term of ten years from the date of grant, subject to earlier
termination in connection with a termination of the non- employee director’ s service with us. In the event of a change of control
transaction, any unvested portion of an equity award granted under this policy will fully vest and become exercisable
immediately prior to the effective date of such transaction, subject to the non- employee director’ s continuous service with us on
the effective date of such transaction. Annual Cash Retainers. Each of our non- employee directors receives an annual cash
retainer of $ 40, 000, payable quarterly in arrears, prorated based on the days served in the applicable fiscal quarter. In addition
to the annual cash retainer, each of our non- employee directors receives fees for their service as a member or chair of a
committee of our Board as set forth in the table below: Additional annual retainer fees for service as a member or chair of the
following committees (with chair fees inclusive of fees for service as a member) : MemberChairAudit Committee $ 10, 000 $
20, 000 Compensation Committee $ 7, 500 $ 15, 000 Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee $ 5, 000 $ 10, 000 In
addition, if a non- employee director is appointed to serve in a leadership position on the Board, such non- employee director
will be entitled to receive additional annual cash compensation of $ 40, 000 for service as non- employee chair of the Board or $
25, 000 for service as lead independent director. We also reimburse all of our non- employee directors for their reasonable and
customary business expenses incurred in connection with their service as a director. None of our non- employee directors may
receive cash and equity- based compensation (calculated based on grant date fair value) exceeding, in the aggregate, $ 750, 000
in any calendar year or $ 1, 000, 000 in the calendar year a director is first appointed or elected to the Board. One- Time
Option Grant On January 1, 2024, our Compensation Committee granted each non- executive director (except for Ms.
Borowski) a one- time option grant for 20, 000 shares of our common stock, which will vest on January 1, 2025, subject
to each director’ s continuous service through such date. The Compensation Committee granted these one- time awards
following consultation with the Company’ s independent compensation consultant, taking into consideration that all



equity awards for directors were significantly underwater and that in light of the Company’ s recent financing (among
other things), director stock ownership levels, based on the total shares outstanding inclusive of shares underlying pre-
funded warrants, were well below the target levels for the Company’ s peer companies . Director Compensation Table The
following table sets forth information for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 regarding the compensation awarded
to, earned by or paid to our non - executive directors. NameFees Earned or Paid in Cash ($) Option Awards ($) (1) (2) Total
Compensation ($) Sharon Barbari72- Barbari67 , 566-788 76, 200 43-143 , 988 660-11+6;100-Steven Basta46-Basta49 , 66643
42576 , 666-83-200 125 , 666-625 Christine Borowski (3) 44, 712 115, 400 160, 112 Anthony Bruno57, 500 43-76 , 666016+
200 133 , +66-700 Patrick EePore80-LePore70 , 660-43-575 76 , 6661+23-200 146 , 666-775 Elisabeth Sandoval Little65, 000 43
76 , 6601+68-200 141 , 666-200 (1) Represent the grant date fair value of stock options granted as computed in accordance with
ASC 718. The assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value are set forth in Note 13 to the financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. (2) Each of our non- employee directors was granted an option to purchase 20,
000 shares of our common stock on December 43-12 , 2823-2024 at an exercise price of § 2. 76-40. (3) Dr. Borowski was
appointed as a director, effective January 1, 2024. The amount reported in the Option Awards column includes the grant
date fair value of the initial grant made to Dr. Borowski when she joined the Board . As of December 31, 2823-2024 , our
non- employee directors held the following equity awards: NameShares Underlying Outstanding OptionsSharon Barbari23
Barbari63 , 407 Steven Basta34-Basta74 , 285 Christine Borowski60, 000 Anthony Brane23-Bruno63 ., 213 Patrick LePere22
- LePore62 , 901 Elisabeth Sandoval Hittle23-Little63 , 837 ITEM 12- SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS The following table sets
forth information relating to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of February 14, 2624-2025 , by: « each person, or
group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5 % of our outstanding shares of common stock;  each
of our directors;  each of our named executive officers; and ¢ all of our current directors and executive officers as a group. The
number of shares beneficially owned by each entity, person, director or executive officer is determined in accordance with the
rules of the SEC, and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under such
rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares over which the individual has sole or shared voting power or investment power
as well as any shares that the individual has the right to acquire within 60 days after February 14, 2624-202S through the
exercise of any stock option, warrants or other rights. Except as otherwise indicated, and subject to applicable community
property laws, the persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock
held by that person. The percentage of shares beneficially owned is computed on the basis of +4-15 , 698-209 , 888-862 shares of
our common stock outstanding as of February 14, 2624-2025 . Shares of our common stock that a person has the right to acquire
within 60 days after February 14, 2624-2025 are deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of the
person holding such rights, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person, except with respect to the percentage ownership of all directors and executive officers as a group. Unless otherwise
indicated below, the address for each beneficial owner listed is ¢ / 0 VYNE Therapeutics Inc., 685 Route 202 / 206 N., Suite
301, Bridgewater, NJ 08807. Name of Beneficial OwnerNumber ofShares Ownedand Nature ofBeneficialOwnershipPercent of
Class5 % and Greater Stockholders: Al Biotechnology LLC (1) 1, 408-519 , 478-465 9. 99 % Cormorant Global Healthcare
Master Fund, LP (2) 1, 408519 , 478465 9. 99 % Eventide Healthcare Innovation Fund I LP (3) 1, 488519 , 478465 9. 99 %
Citadel CEMF Investments Ltd. (4) 1, 181, 088 87 . 3877 % Named Executive Officers and Directors: David Domzalski (5)
H9-370 , 769-%-498 2. 39 % Mutya Harsch (6) 37106 , 497508 * lain Stuart (7) 23-92 , 828-501 * Steven Basta (8) 2461 , 735
* Sharon Barbari (9) 4-44 , 448 * Anthony Bruno (10) 5-45, 088 * Patrick LePore (11) 39-94 , 373 * Elisabeth Sandoval Little
(12) 3-43 , 837 * Christine Borowski —(13) 13, 334 * All current directors and executive officers as a group (10 persons) (43
14 ) 255933 , 9721842 5 . 9-86 % * Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1 % of the total outstanding common stock. (1)
This information has been obtained from a Schedule 13D filed on November 13, 2023 by Al Biotechnology LLC, Access
Industries Holdings LLC (" AIH"), Access Industries Management, LLC (" AIM") and Mr. Len Blavatnik. Consists of (i) 1, 116,
585 shares of common stock and (ii) 204402 , §93-880 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded
Warrants. Such amount does not include 7, 580-389 , 555-568 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded
Warrants because they are subject to limitations on exercisability if such exercise would result in entities affiliated with Al
Biotechnology LLC beneficially owning more than 9. 99 % of our common stock then issued and outstanding after giving effect
to such exercise. AIH directly controls all of the outstanding voting interest in Al Biotechnology LLC. AIM controls AIH. Len
Blavatnik controls AIM and holds a majority of the outstanding voting interests in AIH. By virtue of the foregoing, each of Len
Blavatnik, AIM and AIH may be deemed to have voting and investment power over the Shares held by Al Biotechnology LLC.
The business address of each of Al Biotechnology LLC, AIM, AIH and Len Blavatnik is ¢ / o Access Industries, Inc. 40 West
57th Street, 28th Floor, New York, NY 10019. (2) This information has been obtained from a Schedule 13G filed on November
13, 2023 by Cormorant Global Healthcare Master Fund, LP (" Cormorant LP"), Cormorant Global Healthcare GP, LLC ("
Cormorant GP"), Cormorant Asset Management, LP (" Cormorant AM LP") and Bihua Chen. Consists of 1, 394, 336 shares of
common stock held by Cormorant LP and +4-12§ , +42-129 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded
Warrants. Such amount does not include 3-2 , 946-935 , 86+-014 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded
Warrants because they are subject to limitations on exercisability if such exercise would result in entities affiliated with
Cormorant LP beneficially owning more than 9. 99 % of our common stock then issued and outstanding after giving effect to
such exercise. Cormorant GP serves as the General Partner of Cormorant LP. Cormorant AM LP serves as the investment
manager to Cormorant LP. Bihua Chen serves as the Managing Member of Cormorant GP and the General Partner of Cormorant
AM LP (together with Cormorant LP, the" Cormorant Entities"). By virtue of the foregoing, each of Bihua Chen and the
Cormorant Entities may be deemed to have voting and investment power over the shares held by Cormorant LP. The business
address of each of Bihua Chen and the Cormorant Entities is 200 Clarendon St., 52nd Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02116. (3)



This information has been obtained from a Schedule 13G filed on November 13, 2023 by Eventide Asset Management, LLC ("
EAM"), Finny Kuruvilla and Robin John. Consists of 1, 394, 336 shares of common stock held by Eventide Healthcare
Innovation Fund I LP (" Eventide LP") and +4-125 , +42-129 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded
Warrants. Such amount does not include 5, 293-162 , 274284 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of Pre- Funded
Warrants because they are subject to limitations on exercisability if such exercise would result in entities affiliated with
Eventide LP beneficially owning more than 9. 99 % of our common stock then issued and outstanding after giving effect to such
exercise. Eventide Healthcare Innovation GP LLC (" Eventide GP") is the General Partner of Eventide LP. EAM is the
Managing Member of Eventide GP. Robin John is the chief executive officer of EAM. Finny Kuruvilla and Kyle Rasbach are
members of Eventide LP’ s investment committee. By virtue of the foregoing, each of Mr. John, EAM and Eventide GP may be
deemed to have, and Mr. Kuruvilla and Mr. Rasbach may be deemed to share, voting and investment power over the Shares
held by Eventide LP. The business address of each of Eventide LP, Eventide GP, EAM, Mr. John, Mr. Kuruvilla and Mr.
Rasbach is Eventide Healthcare Innovation Fund I LP ¢/ o Eventide Asset Management, LLC, 1 International Place, Suite 4210,
Boston, MA 02110. (4) This information has been obtained from a Schedule 13G / A filed on February 14, 2024 by Citadel
Advisors LLC (“ Citadel Advisors ™), Citadel Advisors Holdings LP (“ CAH ), Citadel GP LLC (“ CGP ”), Citadel Securities
LLC (* Citadel Securities ), Citadel Securities Group LP, Citadel Securities GP LLC and Mr. Kenneth Griffin. Consists of 1,
181, 088 shares of common stock held by Citadel CEMF Investments Ltd. (" CCIL") and Citadel Securities. Citadel Advisors is
the portfolio manager of CCIL. CAH is the sole member of Citadel Advisors. CGP is the General Partner of CAH. Kenneth
Griffin owns a controlling interest in CGP. Mr. Griffin, as the owner of a controlling interest in CGP, may be deemed to have
shared power to vote and / or shared power to dispose of the securities held by CCIL. This disclosure shall not be construed as
an admission that Mr. Griffin or any of the Citadel related entities listed above is the beneficial owner of any securities of the
Company other than the securities actually owned by such person (if any). The business address of CCIL is ¢ / o Citadel
Enterprise Americas LLC, Southeast Financial Center, 200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Suite 3300, Miami, FL 33131. (5) Includes 82, 3%
370 43Fshares of common stock aned-85-, 572216, 199 shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable
within 60 days of February 14, 2025, and 71, 929 shares of common stock underlying restricted stock units that are
scheduled to have-vested-or-witk-vest within 60 days of February 14, 2024-2025 . (6) Includes 24-33 , 265-553 shares of
common stock and+6-, 232-52, 945 shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable within 60 days of
February 14, 2025, and 20, 010 shares of common stock underlying restricted stock units that are scheduled to have-vestee
or-wil-vest within 60 days of February 14, 2624-2025 . (7) Includes #+19 , +56-217 shares of common stock and-+6-, 678-53, 392
shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2025, and 19, 892 shares of
common stock underlying restricted stock units that are scheduled to have-vested-or-wit-vest within 60 days of February 14,
2624-2025 . (8) Consists of (i) 2, 585-842 shares of common stock, (ii) 3, 601 shares of common stock held by The Shelter Trust
under the Basta Revocable Trust (the ““ Shelter Trust ™), (iii) 1, 264-007 shares of common stock held by the Basta Revocable
Trust dated August 4, 2017 (the “ Basta Trust ™), and (iv) +4-54 , 285 shares of common stock underlying options that are
exercisable have-vested-or-willvest-within 60 days of February 14, 2024-2025 . As the trustee of each of the Shelter Trust and
the Basta Trust, Mr. Basta has voting and investment power over the shares of common stock held by each of the Shelter Trust
and the Basta Trust. (9) Includes 1, 041 shares of common stock and 3-43 , 407 shares of common stock underlying options that
are exercisable ha-ve—vesfed—er—er—vest—Wlthm 60 days of February 14, 2624-2025 . (10) Includes 1, 875 shares of common
stock and 3-43 , 213 shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable have-vested-or-willvest-within 60 days of
February 14, 2624-2025 . (11) Includes 36-51 , 472 shares of common stock and 2-42 , 901 shares of common stock underlying
options that are exercisable have—vesfed—ef—wﬂ-l—ves{—wnhm 60 days of February 14, %92-4—2025 (12) Includes 3-43 , 837 shares
of common stock underlying options that have-vested-or-will-are exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2025. (13)
Includes 13, 334 shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable within 60 days of February 14, 2025.
(14) Includes 607, 734 shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable within 60 days of February 14,
2025 and 111, 831 shares of common stock underlylng restrlcted stock units that are scheduled to vest Wlthln 60 day@ of
February 14, 2024-2025 - ; elunderlying strie s-thath
%sted—eﬁ*rH*est—wr&r&ré@-&ays—e-ﬁFebfuafy—}He%# Securmeq Authorlzed for Issuance Under Equ1ty Compen%atlon Planq
The following table contains information about our equlty compensation plans as of December 31, 2823-2024 . Plan
CategoryNumber ofsecuritiesto be issued uponexercme ofoutstandingoptions, warrantsand rights and vesting of RSHsH
Weighted- RSUsWeighted - averageexercise price ofoutstanding options, warrants and rights and-wetghted—average-grant-date
priee-of RSUsNumber—--- Number of securitiesremaining availablefor future issuanceunder eqtityeompensationplans
equitycompensationplansEquity (2)Eeuity-compensation plans approved by securityholders 2, 205, 019 ( 1 ) ;205516-5 27
12 . 6296 1, 2314661 , 658-679 (3) Equity compensation plans not approved bysecurity hetders-holders130 —, 000 (2) S
1. 96 1 (4) FotaH-Total2 , 205335 , 546-019 $ 2714 . 6292 1, 231661 , 058-680 (1) Includes all ametmfs—awards outstanding
under the 2023 Eeuitytneentive-Plan , the 2019 LZGQ—}—Planl)—t-he—ZGH—eq&w—Iﬂeent-we—P-}aﬁ— the 2018 Omnibusineentive
Plan, the Foamix Pharmaceuticals Ltd. 2015 Israeli Share Incentive Plan, the Tigercat Pharma, Inc. 2011 Stock Incentive Plan or
the Foamix Pharmaceutlcal@ Ltd. 2009 I%raeh Share Optlon Plan (collectively, the" Prior Plans"). We As-eofDeeember13;2623;
q W may no longer issue awards pursuant to any of the Prior Plans.
Welghted average exercise prlce gives effect to outstandmg restricted stock units, which have no exercise price.
Excluding the restricted stock units, the weighted average exercise price would be $ 19. 65 per share. For a description of
the material terms of our equity plan, see “ Item 8 — Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 13 — Share-
Based Compensation. ” (2) Includes stock options outstanding under our Inducement Plan. For a description of the
material terms of our equity plans, see “ Item 8 — Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Note 13 — Share-
Based Compensation. ” (3) Includes 1. +29-574 , 856-557 shares available for future issuance under the 2023 Plan and +64+-87




, 262-122 shares available for future purchase under the 2649-Employee-ESPP, and one Share-share Parehase-available for
future grant under the Inducement Plan. (4) Includes 1 share available for future issuance under our Inducement Plan.
ITEM 13- CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE Policies
and Procedures for Related Party Transactions Our Board has adopted a written related person transaction policy setting forth
the policies and procedures for the review and approval or ratification of related person transactions. This policy covers, with
certain exceptions set forth in Item 404 of Regulation S- K under the Securities Act, any transaction, arrangement or
relationship, or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships in which we were or are to be a participant,
where the amount involved exceeds $ 120, 000 and a related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest,
including without limitation purchases of goods or services by or from the related person or entities in which the related person
has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebtedness and employment by us of a related person. In reviewing and
approving any such transactions, our Audit Committee considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including but not limited
to whether the transaction is on terms comparable to those that could be obtained in an arm’ s length transaction with an
unrelated third party and the extent of the related person’ s interest in the transaction. Certain Related Party Transactions The
following is a description of transactions since January 1, 2023 during-ourtasttwo-fisealyears-to which we have been a party,
in which the amount involved exceeds $ 120, 000, and in which any of our directors, executive officers or beneficial owners of
more than 5 % of our eapital-steek-voting securities , or an affiliate or immediate family member thereof, had or will have a
direct or indirect material interest. Director and Executive Officer Compensation Please see “ Director Compensation ” and
Executive Compensation ” for information regarding the compensation of our directors and executive officers. Employment
Agreements We have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers. For more information regarding these
agreements, see" Item 11. Executive Compensation." Indemnification Agreements and Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. These agreements
require us to, among other things, indemnify each director and executive officer to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law,
including indemnification of expenses such as attorneys’ fees, judgments, penalties fines and settlement amounts incurred by the
director or executive officer in any action or proceeding, including any action or proceeding by or in right of us, arising out of
the person’ s services as a director or executive officer. We have obtained an insurance policy that insures our directors and
officers against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under applicable securities laws. Independence of Board of
Directors and its Committees Under Nasdaq listing standards, independent directors must comprise a majority of a listed
company’ s board of directors within a specified period of the closing of our initial public offering. In addition, the rules of
Nasdaq require that, subject to specified exceptions, each member of a listed company’ s audit, compensation and nominating
and corporate governance committees be independent. Under the rules of Nasdaq, a director will only qualify as an *
independent director ” if, in the opinion of that company’ s board of directors, the director does not have a relationship that
would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. Audit committee
members must also satisfy the independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A- 3 under the Exchange Act. In order to be considered
independent for purposes of Rule 10A- 3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her
capacity as a member of the audit committee, the board of directors or any other board committee: (1) accept, directly or
indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or (2) be an
affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries. We currently satisfy the audit committee independence
requirements of Rule 10A- 3. Additionally, compensation committee members must not have a relationship with us that is
material to the director’ s ability to be independent from management in connection with the duties of a compensation committee
member. Our Board has undertaken a review of the independence of each director and considered whether each director has a
material relationship with us that could compromise his or her ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his or her
responsibilities. As a result of this review, our Board determined that each of our directors, except for Mr. Domzalski as our
chief executive officer, is an independent director as defined under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the
listing requirements and rules of Nasdaq. ITEM 14- PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES Baker Tilly US,
LLP served as our principal independent registered public accounting firm for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
a-nd—ZGQQ— The following table provides information regarding fees paid by us to Baker Tilly US, LLP aﬁd—B—T—I—nePweﬂeﬁﬂﬁs
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2622-: Year ended December 31, 26232622
20242023 (U. S. dollars in thousands) Audit fees (1) $ 359 $ 379 $355-Tax fees (2) 4 16 +5-Total Fees $ 363 $ 395 $370
(1) Includes professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual
financial statements, the review of our interim financial statements and fees for registration statements, comfort letters and
statutory audits. (2) Includes professional services rendered for tax compliance services. Our audit committee’ s specific
responsibilities in carrying out its oversight of the quality and integrity of our accounting, auditing and reporting practices
include the approval of audit and non- audit services to be provided by the external auditor. The audit committee pre- approves
all non- audit services provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm. PART IV ITEM 15- EXHIBITS
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a) Documents Filed as Part of This Report 1. Financial statements. See Index
to Financial Statements under Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, which is incorporated herein by reference.
2. Financial statement schedules. No schedules are applicable or required, or the information is included in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto. 3. Exhibits. See Item 15 (b) below. (b) Exhibits Incorporation by ReferenceExhibit
NumberDescription Of DocumentFormSEC File No. ExhibitFiling DateFiled Herewith3. 1 (a) Amended and Restated

Certlﬁcate of Incorporatlon 10- KOOl 383563. lMarch 17, 20223 1 (b) Certlﬁcate of -Bestgﬂat-reﬂ—e—ﬁpfefefenees—kghts—aﬁd

the Amended and Restated Certlﬁcate of Incorporatlon 8- K001- 383563 lF ebruary 10 20233 2Amended and Restated



Bylaws. 10- Q001- 383563. 2November 14, 20224. 1Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. 10- KOO1- 383564. 1March 14, 20234. 2Second Amended and Restated Warrant, by and among VYNE
Therapeutics Inc. and Perceptive Credit Holdings II, LP. 10- Q001- 383564. 1May 11, 20204. 3Second Amended and Restated
Warrant, by and among VYNE Therapeutics Inc. and Orbimed Royalty & Credit Opportunities III, LP. 10- Q001- 383564.
2May 11, 20204. 4Form of Pre- Funded Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. 8- K001- 383564. 10ctober 30, 202310. 1 { *
License Agreement (Topical), dated as of August 9, 2021, by and between In4Derm Limited and VYNE Therapeutics Inc. 10-
QO001- 3835610. INovember, 10, 26242021104+8-. 2 T * License Agreement (Oral), dated as of April 28, 2023, by and between
Tay Therapeutics and VYNE Therapeutics Inc. 10- Q001- 3835610. 1August 14, 202310. 3Sales Agreement, dated as of March
1, 2024, by and between VYNE Therapeutics Inc. and Cowen and Company, LLC. %36 10- K001- 3835610. 3March 1,
202410 . 4 # 2009 Israeli Share Option Plan. F- 1/ A001- 3662110. 1September 3, 26444+6--- 2014 10 . 5 (a) # 2011 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended. S- 1001-3835610. 4 (a) December 28, 201710. 5 (b) # Amendment to 2011 Stock Incentive Plan. S-
1001-3835610. 4 (b) December 28, 201710. 5 (c) # Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2011 Stock Incentive Plan. S-
1001-3835610. 4 (c) December 28, 201710. 5 (d) # Form of Immediately Exercisable Stock Option Agreement under 2011
Stock Incentive Plan. S- 1001- 3835610. 4 (d) December 28, 201710. 6 # 2015 Israeli Share Incentive Plan. F- 3001- 3662110.
20ctober 21, 201510. 7 (a) # 2018 Omnibus Incentive Plan. S- 1/ A001- 3835610. 5 (a) January 12, 201810. 7 (b) # Form of
Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. S- 1/ A001- 3835610. 5 (b)
January 12, 201810. 7 (c) # Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the
2018 Equity Incentive Plan. 10- K0O1- 3835610. 11 (c) March 4, 202110. 8 (a) # 2019 Equity Incentive Plan. 10- Q001-
3835610. 5May 11, 202010. 8 (b) # Form of Share Option Grant Notice and Option Agreement under the 2019 Equity Incentive
Plan for U. S. and Israeli Employees. 10- Q001- 3835610. 8May 11, 202010. 8 (c¢) # Form of Restricted Share Unit Grant Notice
and Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan for U. S. and Israeli Employees. 10- Q001-
3835610. 9May 11, 202010. 9 # 2019 Employee Share Purchase Plan. 10- Q001- 3835610. 10May 11, 202010. 10 # Offer
Letter, dated as of March 25, 2020, by and between VYNE Pharmaceuticals Inc. and David Domzalski. 10- Q001- 3835610.
13May 11, 202010. 11 # Offer Letter, dated as of April 7, 2021, by and between VYNE Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Mutya Harsch.
10- Q001- 3835610. 2May 6, 202110. 12 # Offer Letter, dated as of March 7, 2022, by and between VYNE Pharmaceuticals Inc.
and lain Stuart. 10- KOO1- 3835610. 12March 17, 2822-202210 +9-. 13 # Offer Letter, dated as of March 15, 2022, by and
between VYNE Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Tyler Zeronda. 10- K001- 3835610. 13March 17, 202210. 14Form of Securities
Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 27, 2023, by and among VYNE Therapeutics Inc. and the Purchasers. 8- K001-
3835610. 10ctober 30, 202310. 15Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 27, 2023, by and among VYNE
Therapeutics Inc. and the Purchasers. 8- KOO1- 3835610. 20ctober 30, 202310. 16 (a) # VYNE Therapeutics Inc. 2023 Equity
Incentive Plan. 8- KOO1- 3835610. 1December 13, 28234+0—- 2023 10 . 16 (b) # Form of Director Option Grant Notice and
Option Agreement under the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan8- K001- 3835610. 2December 13, 202310. 16 (c) # Form of Employee
Option Grant Notice and Option Agreement under the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan. 8- K001- 3835610. 3December 13, 202310.
16 (d) # Form of Employee Restricted Share Unit Grant Notice and Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement under the 2023
Equity Incentive Plan. 8- K001- 3835610. 4December 13, 202310. 17 # Non- Employee Director Compensation Policy. 10-
K001- 3835610. 17March 1, 202410. 18First amendment to VYNE Therapeutics Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan8- K001-
3835610. 1December 12, 202410. 19 + * Amendment to License Agreement (Topical) dated as February 12, 2025, by and
between Tay Therapeutics Inc. and VYNE Therapeutics Inc. X19Insider Trading Policy. X21. 1List of Subsidiaries of
VYNE Therapeutics Inc. X23. 1Consent of independent registered public accounting firm. X24. 1Power of Attorney (included
on signature page). X31. 1Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of
2002X31. 2Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002X32. 1 * *
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002X32. 2 * * Certification
of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002X97. 1 # VYNE Therapeutics Inc.
Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy, dated November 8, 2023. X464 10- K001- 3835697. 1March 1, 2024101 .
INSXBRL Instance Document- the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document. X101. SCHXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema DocumentX101. CALXBRL
Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase DocumentX101. DEFXBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition DocumentX101.
LABXBRL Taxonomy Extension Label DeeumentXt6+--- DocumentX 101 . PREXBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase
DocumentX104Cover Page Interactive Data Filed (embedded within the XBRL document) * Exhibits and schedules omitted
pursuant to Item 601 (a) (5) of Regulation S- K. { Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Item 601 (b)
(10) (iv) of Regulation S- K because the identified confidential portions are not material and are of the type that the registrant
treats as private or confidential. # Indicates management contract or compensatory plan. * * These certifications are not deemed
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or
after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10- K are not intended to provide factual
information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents themselves, and you
should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by us in these agreements or
other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the
actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time. ITEM 16- FORM 10- K SUMMARY None.
SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. Dated: March +-6 , 2624-2025
VYNE Therapeutics Inc. By: / s / David DomzalskiDavid DomzalskiChief Executive Officer KNOW ALL MEN AND



WOMEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints David Domzalski
and-, Tyler Zeronda and Mutya Harsch , and each of them, his or her attorney- in- fact and agent, each with the power of
substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10- K, and
to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the U. S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys- in- fact, or his or her or their substitute or substitutes, may
do or cause to be done by virtue thereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. SignatureTitleDate / s / David
DomzalskiDirector and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) March 4-6 , 2024Bavtd-2025David Domzalski / s
Tyler ZerondaChief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) March +-6 , 2024Fer
2025Tyler Zeronda / s / Sharon BarbariDirectorMarch 46 , 2024Sharen-2025Sharon Barbari / s / Steven BastaDirectorMarch +
6 , 2624Steven-2025Steven Basta / s / Christine BorowskiDirectorMarch +-6 , 2624€hristine-2025Christine Borowski / s
Anthony BrunoDirectorMarch +6 , 2624Antheny-2025Anthony Bruno /s / Patrick LePoreDirectorMarch +6 , 2024Patriek
2025Patrick [cPore /s / Elisabeth Sandoval LittleDirectorMarch 4-6 , 2024E}sabetl-2025Elisabeth Sandoval Little $56-Tay
Therapeutics Lthundee Un1vers1ty Incubat0r3 James Llndsay PlaceDundeeDDl 5JJ 685 Route 202 / 206 Suite 301
Attention v v . Chief
Scientific Ofﬁcer With copy by emall to: Iain Stuart (Ialn Stuart @ VYNEtx com) Wlth copy to: Attention: General
Counsel With copy by email to: Mutya Harsch (Mutya. Harsch @ VYNEtx. com) Licence Agreement (Topical) —
Termination of Head Licence 12 February 2025 Dear Sir or Madam, With reference to our recent discussions regarding
the License Agreement (Topical) between Tay Therapeutics Inc. (“ Tay ) and VY NE Therapeutics Inc. ( “ VYNE ”) dated
9 August 2021 (the “ Agreement ), we are writing to record our mutual agreement as stated below. Unless they are
defined with a capital letter, all terms set forth in this letter agreement shall bear the meaning set forth in the
Agreement. Pursuant to the Agreement, VYNE has been granted a sublicense under certain intellectual property which
was licensed to Tay by the University of Dundee (“ Dundee ) pursuant to that certain licence agreement between Tay
and Dundee effective as of 24 July 2020 and amended and restated on 8 October 2021 (the “ Head License ). Tay and
Dundee now wish to enter into an agreement for the termination of the Head License and assignment of such intellectual
property from Dundee and Tay. Accordingly, in consideration of the payment by Tay to VYNE of the sum of one pound
sterling (£ 1) receipt of which is acknowledged, Tay and VYNE hereby acknowledge and agree to the following: 1. With
effect from the date of termination of the Head License by written agreement of Tay and Dundee, the Agreement shall be
deemed to be amended as follows: a. The entire text of Section 1. 36 is deleted and replaced with the words" Not used".
b. The last sentence of Section 2. 2 (Sublicenses) is deleted. c. The last four sentences of Section 2. 3 (Retained Rights) are
deleted. d. Section 8. 8 (Audits) is deemed to be amended such that the rights of Dundee thereunder shall cease to apply
on and from the date that is six (6) years after the date of termination of the Head License. e. Section 9. 2. 1 (In4Derm
Patents and Joint Patents) is deleted and replaced with the following new Section 9. 2. 1: “ 9. 2. 1 In4Derm Patents and
Joint Patents. (a) VYNE has the first right, but not the obligation, through the use of internal counsel, or outside counsel
reasonably acceptable to In4Derm, to prepare, file, prosecute, and maintain the In4Derm Patents (on behalf of and in the
name of In4Derm) and the Joint Patents worldwide, at VYNE’ s expense; including, for clarity, the In4Derm Patent
entitled ¢ Compounds comprising n- methyl- 2- pyridone, and pharmaceutically acceptable salts’ (PCT / EP2020 /
061173) and any national or regional filings, continuations, continuations in part, extensions, reissues, divisions, and any
patents, supplementary protection certificates and similar rights that are based on or derive priority from the foregoing
(together, the “ Assigned Patent Rights ). To the extent, if any, there are one or more Compounds not Covered by an
In4Derm Patent or Joint Patent at the Effective Date, In4Derm shall promptly cooperate and assist VYNE in preparing
and filing one or more patent applications claiming such Compounds and shall disclose the Compounds and related
information in at least sufficient detail to permit an understanding of the nature of the inventions in relation to the
Compounds by a practitioner reasonably skilled in the relevant technical or scientific area and to enable preparation and
filing of said applications. (b) VYNE shall keep In4Derm reasonably informed of all material steps with regard to the
preparation, filing, prosecution, and maintenance of the In4Derm Patents and the Joint Patents, including by providing
In4Derm with a copy of material communications to and from any patent authority regarding such Patents, and by
providing In4Derm drafts of any material filings or responses to be made to such patent authorities sufficiently in
advance of submitting such filings or responses so as to allow for a reasonable opportunity for In4Derm to review and
comment thereon. VYNE shall consider in good faith the requests and suggestions of In4Derm with respect to such
VYNE drafts and with respect to strategies for filing and prosecuting such Patents. (c) If (i) VYNE decides not to
prepare, file, prosecute, or maintain any In4Derm Patent (other than an Assigned Patent Right) or Joint Patent in a
Country and there are no other In4Derm Patents or Joint Patents in such Country, or (ii) VYNE decides not to prepare,
file, prosecute, or maintain any Assigned Patent Right in a Country, VYNE shall provide reasonable prior written notice
to In4Derm of such intention (which notice shall, in any event, be given no later than sixty (60) days prior to the next
deadline for any action that may be taken with respect to such In4Derm Patent or Joint Patent in such Country), and
In4Derm shall thereupon have the option, in its sole discretion, to assume the control and direction of the preparation,
filing, prosecution, and maintenance of such Patent at its sole cost and expense in such Country. Upon In4Derm’ s
written acceptance of such option, In4Derm shall assume the responsibility and control for the preparation, filing,
prosecution, and maintenance of such In4Derm Patent or Joint Patent, as applicable. In such event, VYNE shall
reasonably cooperate with In4Derm with respect to such Patent in such Country as provided under Section 9. 2. 3. ” f.
The first sentence of Section 9. 3. 2 (In4Derm Patents and Joint Patents) is deleted and replaced with the following
sentence: “ VYNE has the first right, but not the obligation, to prosecute any such infringement of In4Derm Patents




(including, for clarity, the Assigned Patent Rights) and Joint Patents at its sole expense. ” g. The second sentence of
Section 9. 3. 2 (In4Derm Patents and Joint Patents) is deleted. h. The first sentence of Section 9. S. 2 (In4Derm Patents
and Joint Patents), is deleted and replaced with the following sentence: “ VYNE has the first right, but not the obligation,
to defend and control the defense of the validity and enforceability of the In4Derm Patents (including, for clarity, the
Assigned Patent Rights) and the Joint Patents at its own expense. ” i. The second sentence of Section 9. 5. 2 (In4Derm
Patents and Joint Patents) is deleted. j. The entire text of Section 11. 2. 11 is deleted and replaced with the words" Not
used''; k. The entire text of Section 13. 6 (Termination of the Head Licence) is deleted and replaced with the words" Not
used". I. In Section 13. 7. 10 (Royalties), the following words are deleted: “ or Section 13. 6 (Termination of the Head
Licence) ”. 2. Except as set out in paragraph 1 of this letter agreement, all terms and conditions of the Agreement shall
continue in full force and effect. 3. The parties intend this letter agreement to be legally binding. 4. In the event of any
conflict between this letter agreement and the Agreement, this letter agreement shall prevail. 5. The provisions of the
Agreement relating to governing law and dispute resolution shall apply equally to the construction of, and resolution of
disputes arising out of or in connection with, this letter agreement. 6. This letter agreement may be executed in one or
more counterparts in original, facsimile, PDF, or other electronic format, each of which shall be an original, and all of
which together shall constitute one instrument. Please confirm your agreement by signing this letter agreement and
returning a signed copy to us. On behalf of Tay Therapeutics Limited / s / Andrew Woodland

Name: Andrew Woodland Title: Chief Executive Officer Agreed on behalf of
VYNE Therapeutics Inc. / s / David Domzalski Name: David Domzalski Date: 12-
Feb- 25 /s / Mutya Harsch Name: Mutya Harsch Title: General Counsel and Chief Legal Officer INSIDER TRADING
POLICY (Effective as of March 19, 2020, as amended from time to time) Explanatory Note While the provisions of
Section D of this policy only apply to the Company’ s officers, directors and employees (collectively, ¢ Restricted Persons
”), Sections A, B, C and E of this policy apply to all employees, consultants who may become aware of material non-
public information (“ designated consultants ), and service providers of the Company. Accordingly, all employees,
directors, designated consultants and service providers are required to read this policy in its entirety and submit a signed
Acknowledgement Form attached as Exhibit B hereto certifying that they received, read, understand and agree to
comply with the terms of this policy in its entirety. Introduction Federal and state laws prohibit purchasing, selling or
making other transfers of securities by persons who have material information about the applicable company that is not
generally known or available to the public and owe a fiduciary duty to the applicable company. These laws also prohibit
such persons with such material non- public information from disclosing this information to others who trade. In
addition, the Company’ s directors and officers are subject to laws requiring them to file ownership reports and changes
to those reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934. Section 16 directors and officers are also subject to laws requiring them to disgorge net profits on trading in the
Company’ s equity securities within a six- month period. The Company’ s Section 16 directors and officers (the “ Section
16 directors and officers ) are listed on Exhibit A to this Policy and shall be amended from time to time by the
Company’ s Board of Directors. In light of these prohibitions, VYNE Therapeutics Inc., together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “ C ompany ), eonfirms-its-agreement-has adopted the following policy ( as amended from time to time,
this *“ Agreement-Policy ) regarding trading in securities by its directors (including, for the avoidance of doubt, observers
to the board of directors), officers, employees, designated consultants and service providers. This Policy also applies to
anyone who lives in your household (other than household employees), corporations or other business entities controlled
or managed by you, and trusts for which you are the trustee or have a beneficial pecuniary interest (collectively,
Restricted Affiliates ). In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no person subject to this policy who, in the
course of his or her relationship with the Cewenand-Company, E€-1earns of any confidential information that is
material to another publicly traded company, including but not limited to a partner or collaborator of the Company or
an economically- linked company such as a competitor of the Company may trade in that other company’ s securities
until the information becomes public or is no longer material to that other company. The Company may also determine
that other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as designated consultants and agents who have access to material
non- public information. We designed this Policy to promote compliance with the federal securities laws and to protect
the Company and you from the serious liabilities and penalties that can result from violations of these laws. You,
however, are responsible for ensuring that you do not violate federal or state securities laws or this Policy. Keep in mind
that the Securities and Exchange Commission (“ €Cowen-SEC ) ;-and federal prosecutors may presume that trading by
family members is based on information you supphed and may treat any such trades as -fe-l-}ews—l—lf you had traded
yourself . If you have any questlons about 6 y-ag 6 it
thetermrefthis Policy or Ag ; h-heretn

particular transaction may—tssue—and—sel—l—t-hm&gh—@eweﬁ— you should contact aet-rng—as—ageﬂt—&nd+efpﬂnetpa-l—shafes—€t-heﬁ
Placement-Shares=)-ofthe Company’ s Chief Executive Officer (the “ CEO ”), the Chief Financial Officer (the “ CFO ”)
or the Company’ s General Counsel (the “ GC ”). Insider Trading Penalties The penalties for violating insider trading
laws and this Policy are severe. If you violate the federal insider trading laws, you may have to pay civil fines of up to
three times (x 3) the profit gained or loss avoided by such trading, as well as criminal fines of up to $ 5, 000, 000 for
individuals and of up to $ 25, 000, 000 for non- natural persons. Persons found liable for tipping material nonpublic
information, even if they did not trade themselves, may be liable for the amount of any profit gained or loss avoided by
everyone in the chain of tippees as well as a penalty of up to three times (x3) that amount. You also may have to serve a
jail sentence of up to 20 years. In addition, the Company could be subject to paying a civil fine of up to three times (x 3)
the profit gained or loss avoided as a result of your insider trading violations, and a criminal penalty of up to $ 5, 000,




000 for individuals and of up to $ 25, 000, 000 for non- natural persons. The Company could also be forced to disclose
non- public information before it would be obligated or prepared to do so, which could damage the Company’ s
competitive position, jeopardize important or strategic plans and threaten or eliminate opportunities such as acquisitions
or financings. In addition to penalties, firms or persons sanctioned for violations of securities laws may be limited from
engaging in other types of business in the future, e. g., many regulated industries will not permit such firms or persons to
engage in regulated activity. Further, for a Company director, officer or employee to even be accused of securities law
violations would have very damaging effects on the Company’ s reputation. Because a violation of these laws or this
Policy poses significant risks to the Company, any violation of this Policy may result in immediate disciplinary measures
being taken against you, including potential termination of employment or service with the Company. The SEC, the
NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (“ NASDAQ ”) and state regulators (as well as the N. Y. Attorney General and the
Department of Justice) use sophisticated surveillance techniques to uncover insider trading and are very effective at
detecting and pursuing insider trading cases. The SEC has successfully prosecuted cases against employees trading
through foreign accounts, trading by family members and friends, and trading involving only a small number of shares.
The size of the transaction or the amount of profit received does not have to be large to result in prosecution. Therefore,
it is important that you understand the breadth of activities that constitute illegal insider trading. You must carefully
read this Policy and follow its directives at all times. You are responsible for ensuring the compliance of any family
member, household member or entity whose transactions are subject to this Policy. Accordingly, you should make your
family and household members aware of the need to confer with you before they trade in Company securities. Failure to
adhere to this Policy or certify as to the matters contained in the acknowledgment form attached as Exhibit B to this
Policy may result in immediate disciplinary measures being taken against you including, where appropriate, termination
of employment or service with the Company. If you become aware of a possible insider trading violation, you should
immediately report the potential violation to the CEO, CFO or the GC. A. Insider Trading Policy This Policy prohibits:
(1) trading when you have material non- public information, (2) “ tipping > (as explained below), and (3) speculative
trading. Please be aware that these restrictions will continue to apply to you after the termination of your employment or
service with the Company. The restrictions will apply for so long as you are in possession of material non- public
information about the Company or any other company obtained during your employment or service with the Company.
1. Trading When You Are Aware of Material Non- Public Information is Prohibited You may not purchase or sell shares
or other securities of any company, including the Company, when you are aware of material non- public information
about that company. This Policy against “ insider trading ” applies to purchases and sales (at the times described in this
Policy) of the Company securities, as well as to purchases and sales of securities of any other company. The “ Company
securities ” may include common stock, patr-options for common stock, restricted common stock, restricted common stock
units, debt securities and any other securities of the Company, such as preferred stock, warrants and convertible
debentures, as well as derivative securities relating to the Company securities, including securities convertible or
exchangeable into, or whose valuc $-0-is derived by the value of, the Company securities, whether or not issued by the
Company . 966+per-* Purchase ” and “ sale ” are defined broadly under the federal securities law:  “ Purchase ”
includes not only the actual purchase of a security, but any contract to purchase or otherwise acquire a security for
value. ¢ “ Sale ” includes not only the actual sale of a security, but any contract to sell or otherwise dispose of a security
for value. In light of the broad range of transactions that these definitions pick up, it is important to understand that the
restrictions in this policy apply, among other things, to the following types of “ purchases ” and “ sales ”: * conventional
cash- for- share-shares transactions; « making gifts of the Company securities ( including charitable donations); ° using
the Company’ securities to secure a loan (see Section A. 3. below — Gemmeﬁ—SteeleSpeculatlve Trading is Prohibited

haViﬂg—an—&ggregate—e-f-fermg—pﬂee— broker- as51sted cashless exerc1ses of ﬂp—te—$—59—999—999—€t-heLM-a*rmtnﬂ—Ametmti)—

fited;-; » engaging in short sales and other hedglng transactlons, °a sale of the Company securltles obtalned through the
exercise of employee stock options granted by the Company ; and * purchases and sales of derivative aftersaehRegistration
Statement-has-beenrdeelared-effeetive-by-the-Seeurities-securities and-Exehange-Commissten{ e. g., options, warrants,
convertible securities, share appreciation rights or any similar security with a value derived from the value of an equity
security), including exchange traded options and the-other convertible securities. The restrictions in this policy do not,
however, apply to (1) the exercrse of the Company stock optrons, whether for cashoron a* Gem-ﬂﬂssreﬂ—net exercise

defined lxlm\ ,as long as none of the underlylng option shares are subsequently sold on the open market (n) the vesting
of stock optlons, restricted stock or restricted stock units, (iii) the withholding of shares to isste-satisfy a tax withholding
obligation upon the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units or (iv) the sale of shares on the open market to
cover tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units, so long as the “ sell to
cover ” transaction is conducted in accordance with the Company’ s non- discretionary policy to sell shares for tax
withholding purposes. Therefore, you may freely exercise your stock options for cash, engage in “ net exercises ” and
have the Company withhold or sell shares (in accordance with the Company’ s non- discretionary policy to sell shares) to
satisfy your tax obligations without violating this Policy. Note that a “ net exercise ” (which is permitted without
restriction) is the use of the underlying shares to pay the Company the exercise price or tax withholding obligation,
without any open market transaction, whereas a broker- assisted cashless exercise (which is subject to the restrictions in



this Policy if it is exercised outside of the Company’ s non- discretionary policy to sell shares for tax withholding
purposes) involves the broker selling some or all of the shares underlying the option on the open market. 2. “ Tipping ”
is Prohibited You may not disclose to anyone, including without limitation family members and co- workers (except as
may be required by your job position), any material non- public information about the Company and its securities or
any other company and its securities. This includes refraining from making purchase, sell or hold recommendations to
anyone about the Company or any other company while in possession of material non- public information. This practice,
known as “ tipping, > also violates the federal securities laws, and can result in the same civil and criminal penalties that
apply if you engage in insider trading directly, even if you do not receive any money or derive any benefit from the trade
made by persons to whom you passed material non- public information. This Policy does not restrict legitimate business
communications on a “ need to know ” basis, where you have a basis to expect that the other person will not trade while
in possession of the information. 3. Speculative Trading is Prohibited You are encouraged to consider a purchase of the
Company securities as a long- term investment, and through ownership, to develop an alignment of interest with the
performance and prospects of the Company. Consistent with that philosophy, you are prohibited (subject to Section 4
below) from engaging in any speculative trading involving the Company securities, including without limitation: ¢
purchasing or selling ¢ put’ options, ¢ call’ options or other publicly- traded options on the Company securities; or *
engaging in short sales of the Company securities (which are illegal for Section 16 officers and directors). 4. Hedging
Transactions Certain forms of hedging or monetization transactions, such as zero- cost collars, variable forwards, equity
swaps, and exchange funds, allow an officer, director, designated consultant or employee to lock in much of the value of
his or her shareholdings, often in exchange for all or part of the potential for upside appreciation in the shares. These
transactions allow the officer, director, designated consultant or employee to continue to own the covered securities, but
without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the officer, director or employee may no longer have
the same objectives as the Company’ s other stockholders. For this reason, officers, directors, designated consultants and
employees are discouraged from entering into such transactions. The Board may determine, from time to time, to limit
or prohibit officers, directors, designated consultants or employees from entering into such transactions. 5. Margin
Accounts and Pledges Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker
without the customer’ s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or
hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin
sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of material non- public information or otherwise
is not permitted to trade in Company securities, directors, officers, designated consultants and other employees are
prohibited from holding Company securities in a margin account or pledging Company securities as collateral for a
loan. These restrictions on the use of margin accounts and pledging by officers, directors, designated consultants and
employees will apply as of the effective date of this Policy. Margin accounts and pledging arrangements in existence as of
the effective date of this Policy may continue until the-they Common-Stoek-expire in accordance with the current terms of
the accounts or arrangements, as the case maybe. An exception to this prohibition may be granted where a person wishes
to pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan (not including margin debt) and clearly demonstrates the financial
capacity to repay the loan without resort to the pledged securities. Any person who wishes to pledge Company securities
as collateral for a loan must submit a request for approval to the CFO at least two weeks prior to the proposed execution
of documents evidencing the proposed pledge. 6. Standing and Limit Orders You may not place standing or limit orders
on Company securities except pursuant to the procedures described in the Section D. 4 below entitled “ Policies and
Procedures — When and How to Trade the Company Securities — Rule 10b5- 1 Trading Plans. ” Standing and limit
orders create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts because there is no
control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker
could execute a transaction when a director, officer or other employee or service provider is in possession of material
non- public information . The Company shal-teinaeeordanee-with-therefore discourages placing standing or limit
orders on the previstons-ofthe-Company’ s Seeunrities-securities Aet-of1933;-. If a person subject to this policy determines
that they must use a standmg order or hmlt order (other than under an approved procedure as provided in Section D. 4
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should be hmlted to short duratlon and the person using such standlng order or limit order is required to cancel such
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or Dlsclosure of Material Non- Public Information is Prohibited You must maintain the confidentiality of the Company
information for competitive, security and other business reasons, as well as to comply with securities laws. All
information you learn about the Company or its business plans is potentially non- public information until we publicly




disclose it. You should treat this information as confidential and proprietary to the Company. You may not disclose it to
others, such as family members, other relatives, or business or social acquaintances. You also may not discuss the
Company or its business in any “ chat room ”, “ talkback ” commentary or similar internet- based forum, including
anonymously or by use of an alias. Also, legal rules govern the timing and nature of our disclosure of material
information to outsiders and the public. Violation of these rules could result in substantial liability for you, the Company
and its management. For this reason, we permit only specifically designated representatives of the Company, as
identified below, to discuss the Company with the news media, securities analysts and investors. 2. Third Party Inquiries
If you receive any inquiries about the Company from third parties such as industry analysts or members of the financial
or business media, you should direct the-them Commisstonpursuant-to Rute-424-the CFO or GC. C. What is “ Material
Non- Public Information ”? 1. Material Information Information is generally considered material if there is a likelihood
that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an investment decision to purchase, sell or hold
securities. It includes any information that could reasonably affect the price of a security and may be either positive or
negative information. Although the materiality of information may vary depending on the circumstances of each case, be
assured it will be scrutinized by federal, state and NASDAQ investigators with “ 20 / 20 hindsight. ” Consequently, any
appearance of impropriety should be avoided, and the particular facts of each such situation should be carefully
reviewed. You should always err on the side of caution by deciding that the information is material and not trade. The
following pieces of information about a company are likely to be considered material: » earnings, revenues, expenses,
dividends, cash- flows from operations, liquidity and other non- public financial information; ¢ financial projections,
including affirmations of prior earnings guidance and whether a company will or will not meet earnings expectations; ¢
unexpected financial results and unexpected events affecting such results; » mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, joint
ventures, divestitures or other changes in assets or business; * launch of new products or new versions of existing
products, accomplishment of significant milestones in product or intellectual property development ( b-such as
registration or grant of patents ) under, achievement of scientific or engineering breakthroughs, results of preclinical and
clinical studies and trials relating to products or product candidates, timelines for pre- clinical studies or clinical trials,
or the-other developments from research efforts; ¢ bank borrowings or financing transactions, including proposed new
ﬁnancmg, refinancing or capital market transactions and actual or potential liquidity problems; * events regarding a
company’ s Seeurittes-securities Aet-(including, without limitation, defaults on debt securities, redemptions of securities,
repurchase plans, changes in dividends or dividend policy, stock splits, changes in rights of security holders, and public
or private sales of additional securities); * major incidents; * changes in or curtailment of operations or of significant
facilities; * acquisitions or dispositions of assets, divisions or companies; * gain or loss of a significant licensor, licensee or
supplier; ¢ changes or new corporate partner relationships or collaborations. * developments regarding or-our deemed-to
joint venture partners, agents, distributors, customers or targets for acquisition or investment (including the entry into,
amendment or loss of an important contract or other arrangement with any of the foregoing); ¢ information concerning
changes in senior management, key personnel or the composition of the Board of Directors, including information
concerning the business and personal lives of the foregoing; ¢ changes in compensation policy; * a change in auditors or
an auditor notification that a company may no longer rely on an audit report; * threatened or pending litigation, and
developments in ongoing material litigation and other contingencies; * regulatory proceedings and governmental
investigations; and * bankruptcy, corporate restructuring or receivership. This list is not exhaustive and, depending
upon the circumstances, other information may be material. In short, if you would consider the information relevant in
making an investment decision, you should assume it is material. Even if you would not consider the information
relevant in maklng an 1nvestment dec1s10n, but believe that a thlrd p&ft—party might consider it relevant efsueh

6 6 6 Aet, or-you should assume it is material. Remember
that both p0s1t1ve and negatlve 1nf0rmat10n may be materlal 1nformat10n You should always treat information as
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full trading days following its release. For example, if we announce material nonpublic information before trading
begins on Wednesday, then you may execute a transaction in our securities on Friday; if we announce material
nonpublic information after trading ends on Wednesday, then you may execute a transaction in our securities on
Monday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company may determine that a longer waiting period should
apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information. If you are unsure or have questions, please call the CFO
or GC for advice. D. When and How to Trade the Company Securities 1. Overview All Restricted Persons, as well as
their respective Restricted Affiliates, must comply with the restrictions detailed below. Specifically, Restricted Persons
and each of their Restricted Affiliates may only purchase or sell the Company’ s securities if all of the following three
requirements are satisfied: (1) you are not aware of material non- public information as described above, (2) the trading
window is not currently restricted as described below, and (2) the trade was pre- cleared under the Company’ s
mandatory pre- clearance policy as detailed below. In addition, Restricted Persons and their Restricted Affiliates may
only purchase or sell securities of public companies in which the Company has a material interest or relationship, or is
contemplating having a material interest or relationship (namely, a material interest or relationship (actual or
contemplated) in the Company’ s business partners, agents, distributors, customers or acquisition or investment targets,
which we collectively refer to herein as “ Restricted Companies ), if the following two requirements are satisfied: (1) you
are not aware of material non- public information relating to the Restricted Companies; and (2) the trade was pre-
cleared under the Company’ s mandatory pre- clearance policy as detailed below. Before you purchase or sell the
Company’ s securities or securities of any Restricted Company, you should bear in mind a potential liquidity trap that
you could face: you could receive permission to purchase a security or have your interest in a security vest, but later be
refused permission to sell it (or exercise and then sell it), at least temporarily, because the trading window is restricted at
that time or you do not receive pre- clearance from the CEO or CFO. These situations are frequently beyond the control
of the Company, and could lock you into an unwanted investment for a considerable period of time. This risk is an
inherent, and necessary, part of the Company’ s policy with respect to trading the Company’ s securities and securities
of Restricted Companies. 2. Restricted Trading Bays-Period Restricted Persons may only purchase or sell the Company’
securities if they are not aware of material non- public information about the Company or such Restricted Company. In
addition, Restricted Persons must pre- clear all purchases and sales with the CEO or CFO. From time to time, the
Company may restrict trading from time to time either with or without prior notice for a defined period of time (a «
Restricted Trading Period ) due to material non- public information developments, including in anticipation of the
announcement of clinical trial results. In such an event, the CEO, CFO or GC may notify particular individuals or the
Company as a whole that a Restricted Trading Period has been imposed and they should not engage in any Bring—Dewn
Date-purchase or sale of the Company securities (trading restrictions may also be imposed on securities of one or more
Restricted Companies if regested-the material non- public information pertains to such Restricted Companies), and
such individuals should not disclose to others the fact that a Restricted Trading Period has been imposed. If you are in
doubt whether the Company is in a Restricted Trading Period, consult the CEO, CFO or GC. Even during a Restricted
Trading Period, you may exercise the Company stock options if no shares are to be sold (or exercise a “ net exercise ”
right or tax withholding right pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to



satisfy tax withholding obligations); you may not, however, effect sales of the underlying shares issued upon the exercise
of stock options (including same- day sales and “ cashless exercises ). Generally, all pending purchase / sale orders
regarding the Company securities must be executed outside of any Restricted Trading Period or otherwise cancelled
when a Restricted Trading Period has been imposed. In addition, even if a Restricted Trading Period has been imposed,
you may purchase and sell Company securities pursuant to a Qualified Rule 10b5- 1 Plan, as discussed below. If you
expect a need to sell the Company securities at a specific time in the future, you may wish to consider entering into such
a plan. Under certain circumstances, you may also be permitted to gift or make charitable donations of the Company
securities when a Restricted Trading Period is imposed, provided any such gift or donation is pre- approved by Cowen
the CEO or CFO and you are not in possession of material non- public information at the time of the gift or contribution
. 3. Mandatory Pre- Clearance Procedures The requirententCompany requires all Restricted Persons who are not in
possession of material non- public information and who wish to engage provide-a—eertifteate-underthis-Seetion7-( m-or have
a Restricted Affiliate who wishes to engage ) shalt-in any purchase or sale involving the Company securities or securities
of Restricted Companies (including any option exercise, share purchase, share sale, gift, loan, pledge, hedge, contribution
to a trust, or any other transfer or acquisition), to first obtain pre- clearance of the purchase or sale from the CEO or
CFO unless the purchase or sale is pursuant to a Qualified Rule 10bS- 1 Plan, as discussed below. A request for pre-

clearance should be autem&&eal—ly—wawed—submltted to the CEO fe-l“ or CFO &ﬂy—Bﬂﬂg-—BeWﬂ—B&fe—eeeﬂHtﬂg—dl least &
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the proposed purchase or sale, unless the CEO or CFO agrees to which-a shorter
period. The CEO or CFO will then determine whether the purchase or sale may proceed and will promptly notify you of
this determination. When making a pre- clearance request, you need to be certain to include all relevant information
concerning the proposed purchase or sale and how best to be reached. The CEO or CFO may withhold clearance for the
proposed purchase or sale, in his discretion, for various reasons including the following: * you may possess material non-
public information; ¢ the Company is ebligatedto-delivera-—eertifieate-in a Restricted Trading Period; ¢ the ferm-attached
herete-purchase or sale does not comply with Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933, as Exhibit7amended, and other legal
requirements; * the purchase or sale could result in adverse publicity or have a material adverse impact on trading in the
Company’ securities or the Company; ¢ you are subject to Section 16 ( #r-a ) for-whieh-of the Exchange Act and sufficient
advance notice had ne-not been given watver-is-applieable;the-Company-shal-eatse-to be-furnished-allow time to prepare
Cowenr(a)a-writtenopintonrand review a Form 4; ¢ the purchase or sale could result in liability to you under the short-

swing trading rules of Section 16 (b) a-negative-assuraneetetter-of CooteyEP-the Exchange Act ( see below); or ¢ other
relevant considerations cause the purchase or sale to be inappropriate. Please be aware that, if the clearance of a
proposed purchase or sale is withheld by the CEO or CFO, the decision cannot be “ overruled Company-Counsel-" by any
member Yand-a-writtenropinton-of management. In Foley-&FLardner EEP-(“InteHeetual-Property-Counsel;-or-other—- the
event of a disagreement regarding a proposed purchase or sale, the CEO or CFO may be required to report the proposed
purchase or sale to the Audlt Commlttee of the Board of Dlrectors The CEO or CFO and the Audlt Commlttee may

-Bewaa—Bate—\\ nh lc\pccl to wh-reh—a pre- clearance request You may not in any event engage in the Gernpan-y—proposed
purchase or sale until a request has been pre- cleared in writing. If a purchase or sale is approved under ebligated-to
delivera-eertifieate-in-the form-attached-hereto-as-Exhibit7pre- clearance policy, the purchase or sale must be executed
within ﬁve fn—S )-fe%wh-teh—ne—waweebusmess days after the approval is obtalned Notw1thstand1ng app-l-te&b-le—t-he
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subsequently revokes h1s approval e S
be-performed-heretunder-, or (iii) anyo d etrrder-a Restrlcted Tradmg Period is
subsequently imposed. If a purchase or sale is not -ful-ﬁ-l-}ed—efcompleted within the period described above ( +vor if the
CEO or CFO revokes his approval or a Restricted Trading Period has been imposed ), the purchase or sale must be
cleared again with the CEO or CFO before it may be executed. Once any suspenston-transaction takes place, the
applicable Restricted Person must immediately notify the CEO, CFO or Himitation-GC. If a proposed purchase or sale is
not approved under the pre- clearance policy, you should refrain from initiating any trade in the Company securities,
and you should not inform anyone within or outside of the Company of the restriction. 4. Rule 10bS- 1 Trading Plans
Rule 10b5- 1 adopted by the SEC provides an affirmative defense to insider trading irthe-Placement-Shares-that is
available to a person making a purchase or irsale of securitics generall-who demonstrates that the purchase or sale was
effected pursuant to a pre- arranged “ trading plan ” that meets certain conditions. Notwithstanding the other provisions
of this Policy, you may purchase or sell the Company securities and securities of Restricted Companies regardless of
whether you may be aware of material en-non Nasdag- public information at the time of trading, provided that the
purchase or sale is made pursuant to a trading plan validly established in compliance with the provisions of Rule 10b5- 1
and the following criteria are satisfied (a “ Qualified Rule 10b5- 1 Plan ”): ¢ you must enter into the plan (including any
amendments or terminations thereof) only during a time when you are not aware of material non- public information
relating to the Company or the securities subject to this policy; ¢ the plan must be a written plan or binding contract (i.
e., the plan may not consist of an oral arrangement or order to purchase or sell the Company securities in the future)
that does not allow you to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect the trade; * the plan
must specify the amount, price and date of trades, or include a written formula, algorithm or computer program for
their determination. Alternatively, you could delegate trading decisions to a third party who, at the time of trading did
not have, and was not influenced by anyone who had, material non- public information; and ¢ the plan is pre- cleared in
advance by the CEO, CFO or GC as described below. In addition, a Qualified Rule 10bS- 1 Plan must comply with all
other applicable disclosure and other requirements under federal and state securities laws. The Company may also
require that all Qualified Rule 10b5- 1 Plans include additional safeguards for the benefit of the Company (e. g.,
customary lockup commitments associated with underwritings of the Company securities). Trades effected pursuant to a
Qualified Rule 10bS- 1 Plan will not require further pre- clearance at the time of the trade if the plan complies with the
requirements set forth above. You may not alter or deviate from the terms of a Qualified Rule 10b5- 1 Plan and you may
not engage in any corresponding or hedging transactions. If you wish to implement, amend or terminate a Qualified
Rule 10bS- 1 Plan, you must first have the plan (or any amendment or proposal to terminate) pre- cleared by the CEO,
CFO or GC. Again, a Qualified Rule 10bS- 1 Plan may only be entered into, amended or terminated during a time when
you are not aware of material non- public information and if the Company is not in a Restricted Trading Period. In pre-
clearing the implementation, amendment or termination of a Qualified Rule 10b5- 1 Plan, the CEO, CFO or GC shall not
be responsible for determining whether such plan is in compliance with the provisions of Rule 10b5- 1. Compliance with
Rule 10bS- 1 is solely your responsibility, and we recommend you consult with your advisors regarding compliance. S.
Post- Termination Transactions The Policy continues to apply to your transactions in the Company securities even after
you have eeeurred-terminated employment or service with the Company . Anysuel-If you are in possession of material
non- public information when your employment or service terminates, you may not trade in the Company securities until
that information has become public or is no longer material. 6. Domestic Relations Order This policy does not apply to
the acquisition or disposition of the Company securities pursuant to a domestic relations order, as defined in the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or
the rules thereunder. E. Reporting Violations / Seeking Advice Anyone who engages in insider trading or otherwise
violates this policy may be subject to both civil liability and criminal penalties. Violators also risk disciplinary action by
the Company, including termination shalt-be-withouttiabiity-of employment. You should refer suspected violation of this
Policy to the CEO, CF O or GC. F or assistance with any of party-to-any-other—- the matters discussed in this Policy party

, Seetton-9-(Indemnifieation-please contact the CEO, CFO or GC.

Amendments The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and updating its policies and procedures. The

Company therefore reserves the rlght to and—amend Geﬂtﬂbu-t-teﬂa— alter or -Seeﬁeﬂ—l-e—éRepfeseﬂt&t-reﬂs—aﬂdﬁgfeemeﬁts—te




%H%H—G@Q—z—fax—ne— 646-66%-—1—1—39—EXHIBIT A SECTION 16 DIRECTORS & OFFICERS NamePosmonSteven
BastaElisabeth Sandoval LittleAnthony BrunoSharon BarbariPatrick LePoreChristine BorowskiDavid DomzalskiTyler
ZerondaMutya Harschlain StuartDirectorDirectorDirectorDirectorDirectorDirectorCEO , Attention—President and
DirectorCFO and TreasurerChief Legal Officer, Secretary and (mnual Counsel Chlef Sclentlﬁc Ofﬁcer EXHIBIT B
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM The undersigned , a director ema 0
€emp&ny— sha-H—be—dehﬁ»‘efed-te-ofﬁcer, employee, service provnder or desngnated consultant of VYI\E Thuapeums In

"O




fPhef&pebtt-tes—I-ﬂe—HhL “ ( ompany ”’) as applncable&ﬂd—eeweﬁ—aﬂd—eemp&ny— bb%eewefi—)-&a-ted—M&feh—He%éﬂae—
Agfeemeﬂtﬁ—l—hcmbv feqﬂest—eﬁ—beha-l-ﬁe-ﬁ ertifies and represents to the Company that Cewensel-ap-te-{shares-ofthe— he
-- she has received , read at-a-minimum-marketpriee-of$

certh d VYNE Thuapeums
lnc Ins1der Trading Pollcy a—Be}a-w&fe-eefpefaﬁeﬂ—effectlve as of March 19, 2020 as amended from time to time (




agrees to comply, and has complled with the Pollcy in its entlrety (including, if you are a Restricted Person, obtaining
pre- clearance of all transactions in the Company securities and securities of Restrlcted Compames, as such terms are

ef—Beeeﬁa-ber—l—l%@%Zv—Hhe iE—’Et-‘eet-rv‘e—Ba’feL)—’Fh-ts—P0l1cy e

A NE-Pharmaceuticals Inc. (
Dela\\ale) h S e anrd-disso dary- ExhlbltB 1 CONSENT OF
INDEPENDENT RE(JISTERED PUBLI( AC( OUNT[N(} FIRM We consent to the incorporation by reference in the
Registration Statements on Form S- 3 (Nos. 333- 277609 and 333- 275507 and-333-25584+) and Form S- 8 (Nos. 333-
277608, 333- 283940, 333- 276027, 333- 263654, 333- 253883, 333- 237041, 333- 229975, and 333-222758) of VYNE
Therapeutics Inc., of our report dated March +6 , 2624-202S , relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in
this Annual Report on Form 10- K. / s / Baker Tilly US, LLP Exhibit 31. 1 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER I, David Domzalski, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10- K of VYNE Therapeutics Inc.; 2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant' s other certifying officer (s) and I are
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e)
and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for
the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to




be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (¢)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant' s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant' s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant' s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting;
and 5. The registrant' s other certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant' s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant' s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant' s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting. Date: March +-6 , 2624B¥
202SBy : / s / David DomzalskiDavid DomzalskiPrincipal Executive Officer Exhibit 31. 2 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER I, Tyler Zeronda, certify that: Date: March +6 , 2624B¥2025By : / s / Tyler ZerondaTyler
ZerondaPrincipal Financial Officer Exhibit 32. 1 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In
connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of VYNE Therapeutics Inc. (the" Company") for the year ended December
31,2623-2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the" Report"), I, David Domzalski, President and Chief
Executive Officer and principal executive officer, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for the purposes of 18 U. S. C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act 0of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: (1) The Report fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) The information
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March +6 , 2624B5-2025By : / s / David DomzalskiDavid DomzalskiChief Executive Officer This certification
accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required
by the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. Exhibit 32. 2 CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO In connection with the Annual Report on
Form 10- K of VYNE Therapeutics Inc. (the" Company") for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the" Report"), I, Tyler Zeronda, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and principal financial
officer, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of 18 U. S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge: NOVEMBER-8;20231IntroduetionThe-Compensation










